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4s model
Ensure that in all our activities, we satisfy and fulfill our responsibilities towards consumers, shareholders, employees 

and wider society, while balancing the interests of these key stakeholder groups.

 This enables sustainable profit growth in the mid- to long-term by:

	 •	Continuously	offering	additional	value	and	satisfaction	to	consumers

	 •		Maintaining	a	mid-	to	long-term	perspective	and	prioritizing	business	investment	

for future growth

 Firm belief that the “4S” model will increase the company’s value in the 

mid- to long-term, and is consequently in the best interest of all stakeholders, 

including our shareholders 

158-187
FaCT SheeTS

Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this report to “we,” “us,” “our,” 
“Japan Tobacco,” “JT” or “ the JT Group” are to Japan Tobacco Inc. and its consoli-
dated subsidiaries. References to “JTI” are to Japan Tobacco International, JT Group’s 
international tobacco business, and those subsidiaries of JT Group’s international 
tobacco business.

Forward-looking and Cautionary Statements 
This report contains forward-looking statements about our industry, business, plans and 
objectives, financial condition and results of operations that are based on our current 
expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections. These statements discuss future 
expectations, identify strategies, discuss market trends, contain projections of results of 
operations or of our financial condition, or state other forward-looking information. 

These forward-looking statements are subject to various known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially 
from those suggested by any forward-looking statement. These forward-looking 
statements	are	not	intended	to	be	construed	as	our	assurance	for	it	to	materialize	in	
the future, we assume no duty or obligation to update any forward-looking statement 
or to advise of any change in the assumptions and factors on which they are based. 
Risks, uncertainties or other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those expressed in any forward-looking statement include, without limitation:
1 health concerns relating to the use of tobacco products;
2 legal or regulatory developments and changes, including, without limitation, tax 

increases and restrictions on the sale, marketing and usage of tobacco products, and 
governmental investigations and privately imposed smoking restrictions;

3 litigation in Japan and elsewhere;
4 our ability to further diversify our business beyond the tobacco industry;
5 our ability to successfully expand internationally and make investments outside of 

Japan;
6 competition and changing consumer preferences;
7 the impact of any acquisitions or similar transactions;
8 local and global economic conditions; and
9  fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the costs of raw materials. 

Unless otherwise specified in this annual report, the information herein is as of June 
22, 2012. 
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Financial Highlights
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Fiscal year ended March 31, 2012

Business Scale: The JT Group’s total tobacco sales volume in Japan and abroad 
comes to approximately 534 billion cigarettes per year, representing 8.3% of the 
global market. In addition to the domestic and  international tobacco businesses, 
the JT Group engages in the pharmaceutical and food businesses, and its annual 
revenue stand at approximately ¥2,034 billion, and adjusted EBITDA at more than 
¥570 billion.

Profitability: With the high profitability of the tobacco business, ROE stands 
at around 20%.

Per Share Profits: EPS and adjusted EPS grew as a result of an increase in 
Adjusted EBITDA and profit attributable to owners of the parent company, 
despite revenue decreasing slightly.

Stability: Free cash flow increased to approximately ¥450 billion supported by a 
stable cash flow generated by the tobacco business and one-time effect from 
excise tax payable which is carried forward to the fiscal year ending March 2013. 
D/E Ratio is about 0.3 times.

Return of Profits to Shareholders: The  per share dividend was set at ¥10,000. 
The dividend payout ratio is 29.7%.

*1	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	
on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

*2 Adjusted EPS = (Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent company + impair-
ment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs ± tax and minority 
interests adjustments) / diluted weighted average common shares (excluding shares 
held as treasury shares)

Business Scale Revenue 

2,033.8 Billions of yen 

Adjusted EBITDA*1 

577.1 Billions of yen 

Profitability ROE 

20.3 % 

Per Share Data Diluted EPS 

33,687.78 yen up 32.6% 

Adjusted EPS*2 

30,530.39 yen up 17.9% 

Stability Free Cash Flow 

451.3 Billions of yen 

D/E Ratio 

0.31 times 

Return of Profits 
to Shareholders

The Per Share Dividend 

10,000 yen 

The Dividend Payout Ratio 

29.7% (under IFRS) 

30.7%  (under JGAAP Excluding the Impact of Good-

will	Amortization)

JT Group Sales Volume 
 
Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business 

108.4 Billions of cigarettes 

International Tobacco Business 

425.7 Billions of cigarettes 

JT Group Share in Global Cigarette Market  
(Source: Euromonitor)

8.3 %

Financial data disclosed herein are rounded.
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 Operating Income / Operating Profit
  Net Income / Profit  
(Attributable to Owners of Parent Company)
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Interest-bearing Debt and D/E Ratio

(Billions of yen/times)

Net Sales / Revenue

(Billions of yen)

EBITDA / Adjusted EBITDA

(Billions of yen)

Free Cash Flow

(Billions of yen)

EPS (Diluted)

(Yen)

Operating Income and Net Income / Operating Profit 
and Profit (Attributable to Owners of Parent Company)
(Billions of yen)

Total Equity and ROE

(Billions of yen/%)

Cash Dividends Applicable to the Year

(Yen)

Dividend Payout Ratio on a Consolidated Basis

(%)

 Total Equity    ROE

Please see Note 2 on page 4.

 EPS 
 EPS	(excluding	the	impact	of	goodwill	amortization)

 Interest-bearing Debt    D/E Ratio

 Dividend Payout Ratio
  Dividend Payout Ratio  
(excluding	the	impact	of	goodwill	amortization)

Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31

Financial data disclosed herein are rounded.
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Billions of yen
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2012

(JGAAP) (JGAAP) (JGAAP) (JGAAP) (JGAAP) (IFRS)

For the year:
Net sales/Revenue (Note 1) ¥ 6,409.7 ¥ 6,832.3 ¥ 6,134.7 ¥ 2,432.6 ¥ 2,547.1 ¥ 2,033.8 

Japanese Domestic Tobacco 3,362.4 3,200.5 3,042.8 1,027.9 1,147.5 646.2
International Tobacco 2,640.0 3,118.3 2,633.6 963.5 966.3 966.3
Pharmaceutical 49.1 56.8 44.1 47.0 50.6 47.4
Food 336.4 436.0 394.7 375.0 367.0 359.4
Others 21.9 20.8 19.5 19.2 15.7 14.6

Adjusted net sales/Core revenue (Note 2)
Japanese Domestic Tobacco 715.0 648.8 616.0 617.9 596.8 611.9
International Tobacco 946.0 1,080.8 906.8 887.8 894.6 894.6

Operating income/Operating profit (Note 3) 430.6 363.8 296.5 333.2 374.7 459.2
Japanese Domestic Tobacco 222.3 188.3 198.7 212.9 229.6 209.3
International Tobacco 205.4 174.8 136.9 164.1 185.3 252.4
Pharmaceutical (9.6) 1.0 (13.6) (17.4) (16.1) (13.5)
Food 0.7 (11.5) (13.7) (9.4) (6.3) 2.0
Others 10.4 9.7 10.6 10.0 7.7 26.0
Elimination/Corporate 1.4 1.5 (22.4) (26.9) (25.6) (17.0)

EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA (Note 3, Note 4) 602.1 646.2 526.7 542.6 581.1 577.1
Japanese Domestic Tobacco 306.7 272.3 251.3 257.7 272.5 262.3
International Tobacco 270.8 338.0 277.7 293.0 312.6 314.8
Pharmaceutical (6.3) 4.9 (9.7) (13.3) (12.3) (10.0)
Food 8.4 17.0 14.5 17.3 21.5 20.0
Others 22.1 13.1 13.3 12.9 10.8 10.6
Elimination/Corporate 0.5 0.9 (20.4) (25.0) (24.0) (20.4)

Depreciation and amortization (Note 4) 171.5 282.4 230.2 209.4 206.4 118.8
Net income/Profit (attributable to owners of the parent 
company) (Note 5) 238.7 123.4 138.4 145.4 227.4 320.9

Free cash flow (FCF) (Note 6) (1,493.7) 240.2 250.7 299.8 452.4 451.3
At year-end:
Total assets ¥ 5,087.2 ¥ 3,879.8 ¥ 3,872.6 ¥ 3,544.1 ¥ 3,472.6 ¥ 3,667.0 
Interest-bearing debt (Note 7) 1,389.3 996.1 874.3 708.7 505.2 502.4
Liabilities 2,932.6 2,255.5 2,149.3 1,972.4 1,862.1 1,952.4
Total equity 2,154.6 1,624.3 1,723.3 1,571.8 1,610.5 1,714.6
Ratios:
ROE (Note 8) 11.8% 6.8% 8.6% 9.2% 15.0% 20.3%
ROA (Note 9) 10.5% 8.4% 7.8% 9.1% 10.8% 12.7%
Equity ratio (Note 10) 40.8% 40.0% 42.6% 42.2% 44.0% 44.6%
Amounts per share: (in yen)
Diluted EPS (Note 11) 24,916 12,880 14,449 15,179 23,873 33,688
Equity per share/Equity attributable to owners of the 
parent company per share (Note 12) 216,707 162,088 172,140 156,997 160,571 171,617

Dividend per share 4,800 5,400 5,800 6,800 10,000 10,000
Payout ratio before goodwill amortization/Payout ratio 
(Note 13) 19.0% 22.6% 23.6% 27.9% 30.7% 29.7%

Consolidated Five-Year Financial Summary
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31

Notes: 1. (JGAAP) 2008–2010: Including the tobacco excise taxes 
2011–2012: Excluding the tobacco excise taxes  
(IFRS): Excluding tobacco excise taxes and agent transactions

 2. (JGAAP) 2008: Excluding imported tobacco in the Japanese domestic tobacco and distribu-
tion business in the international tobacco, respectively.  
2009–2012: Excluding the imported tobacco, domestic duty free, the China division and other 
miscellaneous items in the Japanese domestic tobacco business, in addition to the distribution, 
contract manufacturing and other peripheral businesses in the international tobacco business.  
(IFRS): Excluding revenue from distribution business of imported tobacco in the Japanese 
domestic tobacco business, in addition to the distribution, contract manufacturing, and other 
peripheral businesses in the international tobacco business.

 3. 2010–: Before payment of royalty fees for the international tobacco business and before 
receipt of royalty fees for the domestic tobacco business. Also the allocation method for 
overhead costs and CAPEX was partially changed.

	 4.	(JGAAP)	2008–2012:	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	and	amortization	 
Depreciation	and	amortization	=	depreciation	of	tangible	fixed	assets	+	amortization	of	
intangible	fixed	assets	+	amortization	of	long-term	prepaid	expenses	+	amortization	of	
goodwill  
(IFRS):	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	
losses on goodwill ± restructuring related income and costs 
Depreciation	and	amortization	=	depreciation	of	tangible	fixed	assets	+	amortization	of	
intangible fixed assets

 5. (IFRS): Under IFRS, profit is presented before deducting non-controlling interests. For 
comparison we show the profit attributable to the owners of the parent company

 6. FCF = (cash flow from operating activities + cash flow from investing activities) excluding the 
following items:  
From “cash flow from operating activities”: dividends received / interest received and its tax 
effect / interest paid and its tax effect  
From “cash flow from investing activities”: cash outflow from purchase of marketable 
securities / proceeds from sales of marketable securities / cash outflow from purchases of 
investment securities / proceeds from sales of investment securities / others (but not 
business-related investment securities, which are included in the investment securities item)

 7. 2009–: Including lease obligation
 8. (JGAAP) 2008–2012: Return on equity  

(IFRS) Return on equity (attributable to owners of the parent company)
 9. ROA = (Operating income + financial profit) / Total assets
 10. (JGAAP) 2008–2012: Equity ratio  

(IFRS) Equity (attributable to owners of the parent company) ratio
 11. (IFRS) Based on profit attributable to owners of the parent company
 12. (IFRS) Based on equity attributable to owners of the parent company
	 13.	(JGAAP)	2008–2012:	Dividend	payout	ratio	before	goodwill	amortization	 

(IFRS) Based on profit attributable to owners of the parent company
 14. Financial data disclosed herein are basically rounded
 15. (JGAAP) From the year ended March 31 2012, tobacco excise taxes are excluded from sales 

and cost of goods sales.  
We implemented IFRS to the JT International S.A. and other overseas subsidiaries.  
Due to this change, we disclose the retroactive adjustment data for the year ended March 
31 2011.
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To Our Stakeholders

In recent years, the JT Group has faced a challenging business environment due to external factors including the global economic 

crisis, tobacco excise tax hikes and industry contraction in a number of markets, increasing regulatory pressure, as well as the Great 

East Japan Earthquake. However, we have successfully responded to those disruptive events and continued to make effective invest-

ments for the future. As a result, the JT Group gained strong business momentum and achieved results that far surpass the Group-

wide EBITDA target under JT-11, our three-year medium-term management plan which ended March 2012. The major lesson learned 

over the plan period is the importance for the JT Group to expand the scope of anticipated contingencies in order to deal with increas-

ing uncertainties and enhance its adaptability. In other words we further improved our ability to respond quickly and flexibly to unfore-

seen changes and events.

In parallel to our efforts to enhance adaptability, we reinforced the “4S” model as a management principle. This model 

requires us to fulfill our responsibility towards four classes of stakeholders—consumers, shareholders, employees and society, 

with a particular emphasis on consumers—in a well-balanced and high level manner, thereby increasing satisfaction for all of 

them. Under the “4S” model, it is important to attain sustainable profit growth, and to that end, it is essential to steadily make 

business investments for future profit growth with a mid- to long-term perspective. In addition, we believe the pursuit of the 

“4S” model will lead to a consistent increase in corporate value in the mid- to long term, and therefore that it is the best 

approach to serve the interests of all stakeholders.

In the future, we will continue to conduct business with a strong resolve to attain sustainable profit growth in the mid- to long term.

 June 2012

Hiroshi Kimura
Chairman of the Board

Mitsuomi Koizumi
President and CEO and
Representative Director

Hiroshi Kimura
Chairman of the Board

Mitsuomi Koizumi
President and CEO and
Representative Director
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CEO Interview

RESuLTS OF ThE JT-11 MID-TERM MANAGEMENT PLAN

Question 1.  Could you outline the results that you have achieved under JT-11, your previous mid-term 
management plan?

Answer 1.  Our results surpassed the JT-11 targets as a result of strong business momentum, despite the 
challenging environment.

During the JT-11 period, we faced a challenging business 

environment but thanks to our strong business momen-

tum, we achieved the JT-11 targets set three years ago, 

including those for the consolidated EBITDA growth rate 

and dividend payout ratio.

Compared to the 2009 forecast, the starting point of 

JT-11, our consolidated EBITDA exceeded our target 

reaching 8.3% CAGR.

Mitsuomi Koizumi
President and CEO and  
Representative Director

500

550

600

494.9

581.1

FY3/2012FY3/2010
Plan

EBITDA (J-GAAP, at constant rates of exchange)
(Billions of yen)

JT-11 target  
CAGR 5%  
(545.7 billion)

CAGR 
+8.3%
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The main drivers were: 

The Japanese domestic tobacco business overcame unforeseen challenges in the business environment 

and achieved EBITDA growth of 6.3% CAGR, well above the flat growth forecast made at the beginning of 

FY3/2010. One driver was the introduction of a strategic pricing initiative, confirming the future profit growth 

potential of the Japanese domestic tobacco business.

The international tobacco business reached an EBITDA growth of 10.3% CAGR, at constant rates of 

exchange, demonstrating its continued and strong profit growth momentum driven by pricing, share gains 

and Global Flagship Brands (GFB) volume growth.

The pharmaceutical business enhanced its pipeline of compounds in late stages of development, in line 

with JT-11 targets.

In the food business, the “Roots” flagship brand 

drove strong and steady results for the beverage busi-

ness. Combined with strengthening business fundamen-

tals in the processed food business, profitability is 

improving.

We increased the dividend per share to 10,000 yen 

for the fiscal year ended March 2012, in order to achieve 

the dividend payout ratio target of 30% before goodwill 

amortization.

JAPANESE DOMESTIC TOBACCO BuSINESS

Question 2. Could you comment on the Japanese domestic tobacco business?

Answer 2.  Despite the intensifying competition, we aim to further expand our domestic market share by 
continuing efforts to strengthen our competitiveness.

In the Japanese domestic market, sales volume declined as a result of the contracting adult population, 

growing awareness about health risks associated with smoking, tightening of regulations, the tax and price 

increases of October 2010 and the impact of the Great East Japan Earthquake. However, our profits 

increased in the fiscal year ended March 2012 driven by our successful strategic pricing at the time of the 

excise increase. Although we were forced to temporarily suspend shipments after the Great East Japan 

Earthquake, we regained market share quickly by aggressively implementing measures to enhance brand 

equity, while trying to promptly restore the damaged supply chains. Since August 2011, when we regained 

sufficient capacity to ensure stable supply, we have introduced new products and rejuvenated existing ones 

in an aggressive and effective manner. In addition, we implemented various initiatives, including sales pro-

motion activities at retail stores, improving visuals at point of sales and one-to-one communication with 

consumers, such as direct mail. Consequently, our domestic market share, which suffered a steep tempo-

rary drop after the earthquake, recovered to 60% in March 2012 on a monthly sales basis. Despite the inten-

sifying competition, we regard the 60% share as a way-point on our journey and aim to further expand our 

domestic market share by continuing efforts to strengthen our competitiveness.

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

10

20

30

40

5,800

23.6 10,000

30.7

FY3/2012FY3/2010
Plan

Dividend Payout Ratio (J-GAAP)
(Yen) (%)

JT-11 target 30%

Dividend payout ratio (excluding 
goodwill amortization)

DPS
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InternatIonal tobacco busIness

Question 3.  Can you please expand on the good performance of your international tobacco business?

Answer 3.  By focusing on building a strong brand portfolio and executing a top-line growth strategy, 
the international tobacco business has achieved robust growth.

Although its total shipment volume declined slightly in 2011, the international tobacco business maintained 

strong business momentum, led by favorable pricing, share gains in key markets and the growth of our 

GFBs. These factors, combined with favorable exchange rate movements between the dollar and local cur-

rencies, enabled the international tobacco business to post robust revenue and profit growth.

The share gains in key markets resulted from our continuous investments in business operations and 

brand development. In addition to strategic focus on top-line growth, we are also making various invest-

ments to broaden the earnings base in the future, including increasing our presence in emerging markets 

and developing next-generation products. Through these continued efforts, we will maintain strong growth 

in the future.

new ManageMent Plan

Question 4. Please explain the main focus of your new management plan.

Answer 4. We will enhance adaptability with a view to attaining sustainable profit growth.

We expect that the business environment surrounding the JT Group will become 

increasingly uncertain. To conduct business on a global scale and attain sustain-

able profit growth in this environment, we recognize that enhancing adaptability is 

an important task.

With this in mind, in our new management plan starting in April 2012, we 

have shifted from the previous management plan format of a three-year fixed 

plan to a three-year rolling plan subject to annual updating, in order to respond 

to unexpected changes with a greater sense of urgency. Nonetheless, we will 

continue to provide numerical annual forecasts, in line with our current practice. 

In addition, we will provide guidance as to the mid- to long-term directions of 

business performance benchmarks.

In parallel, we will continue pursuing our management principle, based on the 

“4S” model. This management principle is shared and well-rooted among our 

senior officers and employees around the world, including JTI.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012008



Question 5. Please describe your basic strategy for achieving business targets.

Answer 5.  To achieve business targets the JT Group places strategic emphasis on quality top-
line growth, as well as strengthening cost competitiveness and the underlying 
business foundations.

Each of our business units places particular strategic emphasis on achieving quality top-line growth. For 

example, under the GFB strategy, the international tobacco business will concentrate resources on key 

brands and implement a number of initiatives to increase value added product offerings. Product innova-

tion, in particular, is increasingly important if we are to outperform competitors in a context of intensifying 

competition. So all of our business units will step up efforts in this respect.

In addition we will strengthen the business foundations that underlie our quality top-line growth and cost 

competitiveness initiatives. For this reason it is critical to identify changes in the business environment and 

to keep ourselves ready to rise to challenges without being constrained by precedents. From that perspec-

tive, we will strive for continuous improvement to enhance our cost competitiveness.

We	will	maximize	synergies	by	leveraging	the	diversity	of	our	global	footprint	as	represented	by	our	

worldwide business operations, which are spread over more than 120 countries, our global workforce, 

which represents more than 100 nationalities, and by promoting collaboration on a global scale.

Finally, we strongly believe that the quality of human resources is the key to business performance. 

Therefore, we will strengthen human resource development and enhance our ability to recruit, develop and 

retain employees on a global basis.

uSE OF FuNDS

Question 6. Could you share with us your planned use of funds?

Answer 6.  We place priority on business investments for future growth and also seek to ensure an 
attractive level of shareholder returns.

Regarding the allocation of resources over the mid- to long-term, based on the “4S” model, we will 

place priority on making business investments that will lead to sustainable profit growth. In particular, 

our top priority will be making investments to strengthen the competitiveness of the tobacco business. 

As for the pharmaceutical and food businesses, the focus will be on strengthening their foundations so 

as to ensure that they will contribute to the JT Group’s profits in the future.

At the same time, we will seek to make our shareholder returns more attractive.

We will set a competitive dividend payout ratio target compared with global FMCG players in a variety 

of sectors. 

We will aim to reach a dividend payout ratio of 40% by the fiscal year ending March 2014 and then 

increase it in the mid-term to 50%, a level comparable to the ratios for global FMCG players. This exceeds 

the current dividend payout ratio for the fiscal year ended March 2012.

If the government releases some of its holdings of JT shares in the fiscal year ending March 2013, we 

intend to buy back a certain amount of our shares in order to mitigate the equity market impact and to 

enhance adjusted EPS growth. For this reason, we are considering allocating up to approximately 250 billion 

yen for a share buyback program.
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 Resources will be allocated over the mid- to long term based on the “4S” model

Business Plan 2012

n Investment in our business for sustainable future profit growth will be prioritized
n In addition, we will improve the attractiveness of our shareholder return

Business Investment

•	 	Prioritize	investments	in	the	tobacco	business	to	further	enhance	competitiveness
•	 	Focus	investments	on	business	fundamentals	in	the	pharmaceutical	and	food	businesses	to	strengthen	profit	contribution	for	

the Group

Shareholder Return

•	 Set	targets	for	dividend	payout	ratio	and	adjusted	EPS	growth	rate
	 ✓	 Benchmark dividend payout ratio against global FMCG players
	 ✓	 Grow adjusted EPS mainly through business growth, while considering share buyback as a complementary initiative
	 ✓	 Consider to buy back a certain amount of shares in the event of government share offering in FY3/2013 to mitigate equity market impact
	 ✓	 Consider partial buyback in case of further government share offerings in the future

n  Adjusted EBITDA Growth Rate and Dividend Payout Ratio 
remain our key performance indicators

n  Additional focus on Adjusted EPS Growth Rate

Consolidated Profit Target
Adjusted EBITDA Growth Rate at Constant Rates of Exchange

•		Mid	to	high	single-digit	growth	per	annum	over	the	mid-	to	
long-term

Shareholder Return
Dividend Payout Ratio

•		40%	by	fiscal	year	ending	March	2014,	subsequently	aiming	to	
reach 50% in the mid-term

Adjusted EPS Growth Rate at Constant Rates of Exchange

•		High	single-digit	growth	per	annum	in	the	mid-	to	long-term

  New mid- to long-term targets go beyond 
the JT-11 targets

Adjusted EBITDA growth rate and consolidated divi-
dend payout ratio remain our key performance indica-
tors. In addition, from the fiscal year ending March 
2013, we will also monitor the adjusted EPS growth 
rate to ensure an attractive level of shareholder returns. 

 Targets by business unit are set to achieve the Group-wide objectives

The tobacco business continues to be our core profit generator and profit growth engine. We will strive to establish profitability for the 
pharmaceutical business and increase the contribution of the food business to the Group’s profit.

TOBACCO BuSINESS

Role of Tobacco Business and  
Mid- to Long-term Directional Guidance

n  Grow adjusted EBITDA at mid to high single-digit rate per 
annum over the mid- to long-term in the core business and 
profit growth engine of the JT Group

	 •		Japanese	domestic:	highly	competitive	platform	of	
profitability

	 •		International:	profit	growth	engine,	generating	more	than	
50% of the Group profit

 
Business Target

n	Strive for quality top-line growth

	 •		Further	strengthen	the	equity	of	our	brands,	with	focus	on	
our core brands

	 •	Grow	or	maintain	market	share	in	existing	key	markets

	 •	Broaden	the	geographical	base

	 •	Develop	emerging	product	categories

n		Strengthen	business	sustainability	and	optimize	our	supply	chain
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PhARMACEuTICAL BuSINESS

FOOD BuSINESS

Role of Pharmaceutical Business and  
Mid- to Long-term Directional Guidance

n  Strive to establish profitability through rapid and efficient 
market launch of compounds in late phases of clinical trials

Role of Food Business and  
Mid- to Long-term Directional Guidance

n  Strengthen profit generation capability through continuous 
improvement, and to contribute to the Group profit

	 •		Beverage	business:	enhance	brand	equity,	with	a	focus	on	
”Roots,” and strengthen trade marketing capabilities

	 •		Processed	Food	Business:	achieve	operating	profit	margin	
on par with, or above, industry average over the mid-term

 
Business Target

n  Rapid and efficient market launch of compounds in late 
phases of clinical trials

n	Focus on R&D of next generation strategic compounds

Business Target

n  Strive for quality top-line growth

	 •		Beverage	business:	Enhance	and	develop	brand	equity,	
with a focus on ”Roots”

	 •		Processed	food	business:	Focus	on	staple	food	with	
stronger product portfolio and trade marketing capabilities

n	Strive for stronger cost competitiveness

	 •	Contain	procurement	cost	of	raw	materials

	 •	Effective	and	efficient	execution	of	expenses

  Proactive plans to enhance corporate governance as a global company

 Targets for the fiscal year ending March 2013

Major Initiatives

n	Evolve disclosure standards
	 •	IFRS	adoption	from	the	fiscal	year	ended	March	2012
	 •		Harmonization	of	the	accounting	period	throughout	the	Group	starting	from	January	2015

n  Appoint two independent and external members to the Board of Directors at the June 2012 Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting

n	Further expand Corporate Social Responsibility activities

Consolidated Profit Target  *IFRS

FY3/2012 Actual FY3/2013 Forecast Growth rate
at constant rates of 

exchange

Adjusted EBITDA (Billions of yen) 577.1 595.0 3.1% 5.2%

Shareholder Return *IFRS

FY3/2012 Actual FY3/2013 Forecast Change

Dividend payout ratio 29.7% 35.9% 6.2ppt

Dividend per share (Yen) 10,000 12,000 2,000

*A 200 for 1 stock split is planned, effective as of July 1, 2012. The above numbers do not take account of this planned stock split
*Dividend per share target will be revised based on the status of the share buyback
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2,033.8

–3.9

–8.0

+3.3

–96.7

+99.4

–19.6

2,059.4

2,020 2,040 2,060 2,080 2,100 2,120 2,140 2,160

520 530 540 550 560 570 590580 600 610 620

577.1

+1.2

+2.3

–0.3

–31.3

+5.0

+63.2

+15.1

522.0

Revenue 2

(Billions of yen)

 Revenue decreased in the Japanese domestic tobacco business, as pricing effect was not sufficient to compensate for the volume decline 
from the tax hike and the earthquake impact.

 Dollar-based revenue increased in the international tobacco business driven by pricing and improved GFB mix. Yen-based revenue also 
increased, despite the impact of strong yen.

 Revenue in the pharmaceutical business increased due primarily to good sales performance at Torii Pharmaceutical.
 Revenue in the beverage business increased from steady performance of “Roots.” In the processed food business, sales of staple food 
products	(frozen	noodles,	packed	cooked	rice,	frozen	baked	bread)	increased.	However,	overall,	revenue	in	the	food	business	declined,	due	to	
the exclusion of some subsidiaries in the processed food business.

2 Excludes tobacco excise taxes and agency transactions.

Actual Results
Decrease
Increase (Decrease in case of expense)

Adjusted EBITDA 3

(Billions of yen)

 Adjusted EBITDA in the Japanese domestic business increased as pricing effect and others more than compensated for the effect of the 
volume decline.

 Dollar-based adjusted EBITDA increased in the international tobacco business, driven by top-line gains. The yen-based adjusted EBITDA also 
increased despite the effect of strong yen.

 Adjusted EBITDA in the pharmaceutical business declined due to increase in R&D expenses, as a result of advances in compound 
development.

 Adjusted EBITDA in the food business increased overall from increase in sales of “Roots” in the beverage business as well as from improved 
profitability in the processed food business, arising from increase in sales of higher-margin staple food products and cost cutting efforts.

3	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	+	amortization	of	intangible	fixed	assets	+	impairment	losses	on	goodwill	±	restructuring-related	income	and	costs

FY3/2011

Japanese domestic tobacco

International tobacco at constant currency

International tobacco Forex impact at local 
currency vs USD

International tobacco Forex impact at JPY vs USD

Pharmaceutical

Food

Others

FY3/2012

Analysis of the Results of FY3/2012 1

1 International tobacco business: Year ended Dec. 2010 and Year ended Dec. 2011

FY3/2011

Japanese domestic tobacco

International tobacco  
at constant USD vs JPY

Food

Others

FY3/2012

Pharmaceutical

International tobacco Forex impact 
at JPY vs USD
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370 390380 410 420400 430 440 450 460 470

459.2

+2.8

+55.1

401.3

220 250 260240230 270 280 310300290 320

+21.4

–1.7

+57.9

243.3

320.9

 Profit before taxation increased from increase in operating profit as well as from a decrease in income tax expense caused by factors including 
tax deductions made in the current fiscal year for loss on valuation of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates recorded on the non-consolidated 
statement of income for the prior fiscal year.

4 As profit under IFRS includes profit attributable to non-controlling interest, profit attributable to owners of the parent are shown here.

Profit (attributable to owners of the parent) 4

(Billions of yen)

FY3/2011

Operating profit

Financial income / financial cost

Income tax / Profit attributable to 
non-controlling interest

FY3/2012

 Operating profit increased, as cooperation fee payment to leaf farmers for termination of farming in the Japanese domestic tobacco busi-
ness and restructuring expenses in the international tobacco business were more than offset by, pricing in the Japanese domestic and inter-
national tobacco business; increase in gains from sale of non-current assets; and the absence of a regulatory fine in Canada in the prior fiscal 
year.

Operating Profit
(Billions of yen)

FY3/2011

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjustment total

FY3/2012

Breakdown of Revenue
(Billions of yen)

FY3/2011 FY3/2012

Revenue 2,059.4 2,033.8

Japanese domestic tobacco 665.8 646.2

Core Revenue5 632.2 611.9

International tobacco6 963.5 966.3

Core Revenue7 887.8 894.6

Pharmaceutical 44.1 47.4

Food 367.5 359.4

Others 18.5 14.6
5 Excluding revenue from distribution business of imported tobacco.
6 International tobacco business: Year ended Dec. 2010 and Year ended Dec. 2011
7 Excluding revenues from distribution, contract manufacturing and other peripheral business.

Actual Results
Decrease
Increase (Decrease in case of expense)
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3,400 3,450 3,500 3,550 3,600 3,650 3,700 3,750 3,800 3,850 3,900

3,667.0

–27.9

–66.1

–29.3

+16.6

–42.0

+160.5

3,655.2

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Assets)
(Billions of yen)

 Total assets increased primarily from increase in cash and cash equivalents, despite decrease in goodwill from forex effect, decrease in trade-
mark	from	forex	effect	and	amortization,	and	decrease	in	inventory.

Cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Trademark

Goodwill

Other assets

FY3/2012

FY3/2011

3,400 3,450 3,500 3,550 3,600 3,650 3,7503,700 3,800 3,850 3,900

–73.0

3,655.2

+134.4

–18.1

–130.0

+234.5

–131.7

+8.8

3,667.0

–13.1

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Debt and Equity)
(Billions of yen)

 Total liabilities decreased as increase in national tobacco tax payable (primarily the effect of the last day of the fiscal year being a holiday) was 
compensated by decrease in bonds and loans payable. Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations decreased, however total 
equity increased from increase in retained earnings.

FY3/2011

Bonds

Trade and other payables

Other liabilities

Retained earnings

Exchange differences on translation  
of foreign operations

Other equity total

FY3/2012

National tobacco tax payable, etc

Loans payable

Adjusted EBITDA by Business Segment
(Billions of yen)

FY3/2011 FY3/2012

Consolidated operating profit 401.3 459.2 
Adjustment total 8 120.7 118.0 
Consolidated: Adjusted EBITDA 522.0 577.1 

Japanese domestic tobacco: Operating profit 202.3 209.3 
Adjustment total 8 44.8 53.0 
Japanese domestic tobacco: Adjusted EBITDA 247.2 262.3 

International tobacco: Operating profit 9 225.9 252.4 
Adjustment total 8 52.0 62.4 
International tobacco: Adjusted EBITDA 277.9 314.8 

Pharmaceutical: Operating profit –13.3 –13.5 
Adjustment total 8 3.5 3.5 
Pharmaceutical: Adjusted EBITDA –9.8 –10.0 

Food: Operating profit –3.6 2.0 
Adjustment total 8 21.4 18.0 
Food: Adjusted EBITDA 17.7 20.0 

Others / Elimination: Operating profit –9.9 9.0 
Adjustment total 8 –1.1 –18.9 
Others / Elimination: Adjusted EBITDA –11.0 –9.8 

8	Depreciation	and	amortization,	impairment	losses	on	goodwill,	restructuring-related	
income and costs.

9 International tobacco business: Year ended Dec. 2010 and Year ended Dec. 2011

Average Exchange Rate

2010 Jan. to Dec. 
average

2011 Jan. to Dec. 
average

YEN/USD 87.79 79.8
RUB/USD 30.36 29.4
GBP/USD 0.65 0.63
EUR/USD 0.75 0.72
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
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2008 2009
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2010
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2011
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IFRS

200

800

600

400

1,000

715.0
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2012

Source: TIOJ

At a Glance

Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business 

We expect the Japanese domestic tobacco business to be a 
highly competitive platform of profitability.

JT Group
The performance of the JT Group has exceeded our 
expectations in FY3/2012, successfully closing our 
JT-11 management plan.

In our new management plan, the tobacco business 
will remain the core profit generator and the profit 
growth engine of the JT Group. As such it aims to grow 
adjusted EBITDA at mid- to high single-digit rate per 
annum over the mid- to long-term. We expect the 
Japanese domestic tobacco business to be a highly com-
petitive platform of profitability and the international 
tobacco business to continue to be the profit growth 
engine. The pharmaceutical business will strive to 
strengthen its earnings base through speedy and smooth 
market launch of compounds in late-stage development. 
The food business will make constant improvement 
efforts and seek to strengthen profit-generating capa-
bilities in beverages, processed food and seasonings.

Regarding mid- to long-term resource allocation, 
based on our management principles, we will place top 
priority on business investments that will lead to sus-
tainable profit growth. Therefore we will prioritize 
investments in the tobacco business to further enhance 
competitiveness. As for the pharmaceutical and food 
businesses, investments will be focused on business 
fundamentals to further strengthen their profit contri-
bution to the Group.

see page 018

Revenue Breakdown by Business Segment (FY3/2012) under IFRS

Japanese 
Domestic  
Tobacco 
business

31.8%

Others

0.7%
Food business

17.7%

pharmaceutical  
business

2.3%

international
Tobacco business 

47.5%

Total Market
(Billions of cigarettes)

Sales Volume
(Billions of cigarettes)

Net Sales Excluding Excise Tax/Core Revenue
(Billions of yen)

EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA
(Billions of yen)

Note:	 •		2008:	Excluding	revenue	from	the	imported	tobacco.
	 •		2009–2012:	Excluding	revenues	from	the	imported	tobacco,	domestic	duty	free,	the	

China Division, and other miscellaneous.
	 •		Figures	for	fiscal	year	ended	3/2012	reported	under	IFRS	excludes	revenue	from	

distribution of imported tobacco in the Japanese domestic tobacco business.

Note:	 •		2008–2009:	After	royalty	acceptance.
	 •		2010–2012:	Before	royalty	acceptance,	we	have	changed	the	allocation	method	of	

the overhead expenses from 2010.
	 •		Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	+	amortization	of	intangible	fixed	

assets + impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs.

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)
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International Tobacco Business

The consolidated financial results for the fiscal year ended March 2012 include the 
international tobacco business results for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2011.

Generating more than 50% of the Group profit, we expect the 
international tobacco business to continue to be the profit 
growth engine.

Pharmaceutical Business 

We will strive to establish profitability through rapid and effi-
cient market launch of compounds in late phases of clinical trials.

Food Business 

The beverage business will strive to enhance brand equity, with 
a focus on “Roots,” and strengthen trade marketing capabili-
ties. The processed food business will aim to achieve operating 
profit margin on par with, or above, industry average over the 
medium term.

see page 022
see page 028

see page 030

Note:  2009–2012: Including cigars, pipe tobacco and snus but excludes contract manufac-
tured products.

Note:	 	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	+	amortization	of	intangible	fixed	
assets + impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs.

Note:	 •		2008:	Excluding	revenue	from	distribution.
	 •		2009–2012:	Excluding	revenues	from	distribution,	contract	manufacturing	and	other	

peripheral business.
	 •		As	of	2012,	JT	International	S.A	and	other	overseas	subsidiaries	have	adopted	IFRS	

and the figure for 2011 is shown with retrospective application.

Note:	 •		2008–2009:	After	royalty	payment.
	 •		2010–2012:	Before	royalty	payment.
	 •		Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	+	amortization	of	intangible	fixed	

assets + impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs.

Note:	 	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	operating	income	+	depreciation	+	amortization	of	intangible	fixed	
assets + impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs.

Total Shipment Volumes
(Billions of cigarettes)

GFB Shipment Volumes
(Billions of cigarettes)

Net Sales Excluding Excise Tax/Core Revenue
(Millions of US dollars)

EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA
(Millions of US dollars)

EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA
(Billions of yen)

Net Sales/Revenue
(Billions of yen)

Net Sales/Revenue
(Billions of yen)

EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA
(Billions of yen)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)

(Fiscal years ended March 31)
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247.2

−93.6 +99.1

−2.1

+11.5 262.3

0

100

200

300

+0.2

632.2

−120.1
+99.8

611.9

400

450

550

500

600

650

+0.1

(Billions of yen) (Billions of yen)

FY3/2012 Business Performance Summary

Sales Volume

  108.4 billion cigarettes  Down 19.5% 

Core Revenue1

 ¥ 611.9 billion  Down  3.2% 

Adjusted EBITDA2

 ¥ 262.3 billion  Up 6.1% 

1 Excluding revenue from distribution of imported tobacco in the Japanese 
domestic tobacco business.

2	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	
impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

Review of Operations

The role of the Japanese domestic tobacco business is to 
be a highly competitive platform of profitability.

It has overcome challenges in the Japanese domestic 
market, such as the steep tax hike of October 2010 and 
the Great East Japan Earthquake of 2011. We have 
confirmed the future profit potential of this business as 
it has attained profit growth despite a sharp sales 
volume decline.

We aim to enhance brand equity and win increased 
consumer favor by active and effective launches of new 
products with a focus on our key brands, coupled with 
sales promotion and other activities.

In addition, we will strive for quality top-line growth 
by continuing efforts to regain market share.

Akira Saeki
President, Tobacco Business

 Revenue declined as the pricing effect was not suffi-
cient to compensate for the volume decline.

 adjusted ebiTDa increased as the pricing effect and 
others more than compensated for the effect of the 
volume decline.

Core revenue1 Adjusted EBITDA2

Japanese Domestic 
Tobacco Business

1 Excluding revenue from distribution of imported tobacco in the Japanese domestic tobacco business.
2	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	on	goodwill	±	restructuring-related	income	and	costs

FY3/2011
Volume effect

Price and 

product mix 

effect

FY3/2012OTP/

Domestic duty free/

China Division

FY3/2011 Cost
Volume 

effect Price and 

product mix 

effect

Sales 

promotion and 

others

FY3/2012others
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Mild Seven Family
•	 The	Mild	Seven	family	has	won	numerous	loyal	consumers	since	its	launch	in	June	1977.

•	 	As	Japan’s	major	cigarette	brand,	Mild	Seven	has	consistently	commanded	the	No.	11 share in the 

Japanese market for more than 30 years since 1978.

•	 	Today,	the	Mild	Seven	family	encompasses	24	products	(as	of	May	31,	2012),	reflecting	the	evolution	that	it	has	undergone	in	

step with the changing times and brand expansion.

Seven Stars Family
•	 	Launched	in	1969,	Seven	Stars	featured	Japan’s	first	domestically	produced	charcoal	filter	in	pursuit	

of better taste.

•	 	Since	its	launch,	Seven	Stars	has	consistently	offered	unique	value	in	terms	of	taste,	aroma,	and	product	design.

•	 	The	Seven	Stars	family	comprises	a	lineup	of	9	products	(as	of	May	31,	2012)	centered	on	Seven	Stars,	which	recorded	the	

top1 performance by brand in the fiscal year ended March 2012. The Seven Stars family continues to capture a growing share 

of the market.

Pianissimo Family
•	 	In	August	1995,	the	Pianissimo	family	saw	the	launch	of	Japan’s	first	1	mg-tar	menthol	cigarette	

product featuring reduced odor and smoke2.

•	 	Pianissimo,	an	FSK	(Filter	Super	King)	slim	menthol	product,	has	continued	to	achieve	growth	after	undergoing	the	first	brand	

integration on the Japanese tobacco market in the fiscal year ended March 2010.

•	 	The	Pianissimo	family,	a	core	JT	tobacco	franchise,	features	a	diverse	lineup	of	8	products	(as	of	May	31,	2012),	centered	on	

Pianissimo Aria Menthol, the No. 11 1mg menthol product.
1 Source: TIOJ
2 Less smoke is released from the tip of the cigarette based on a visual comparison with conventional JT cigarette products.

 Market share temporarily declined due to the brief suspension of supply of products after the great east Japan earth-
quake and the subsequent shipment limits on the range of brands and the volume of products that remained in place 
until July 2011.

 Since the supply of all brands resumed in July 2011 and 
the shipment volume limits for all brands were 
removed in august, we have steadily regained market 
share by active and effective launches of new products 
with a focus on our key brands, coupled with sales pro-
motion and other activities.

 in March 2012, we achieved the market share target of 
60% on a monthly basis.

Market share reached 60% for the single month of March, steadily recovering from the earthquake impact

Introducing new products, mainly of key brands, in an aggressive and effective manner

New Products Launched in FY3/2012

Features of Key Brands

August  2011 Seven Stars Cutting Menthol 

November  2011 Pianissimo ViV Menthol

December  2011 Zerostyle Bitter Leaf

January  2012 Mild Seven Style Plus 6

January  2012 Mild Seven Style Plus One

February  2012 The Peace

March  2012 Mild Seven Impact Menthol Box
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Product Strategy
Our product strategy will focus on enhancing the brand equity so 

as to provide value commensurate with the price, and building a 

brand portfolio that offers a wide selection of products. To that 

end, we will strive to enhance product innovation (enhance R&D 

capability), broaden the scope of brand extension and strengthen 

the programs to improve package design and other product fea-

tures so as to maintain and expand our market share.

Distribution Strategy
The greatest challenge for our distribution strategy is to secure 

overwhelming superiority in product exposure at retail stores.

We will strive to secure product exposure in ways suited to 

the characteristics of each store type by making suggestions for 

store remodeling that will give more visibility to products and by 

introducing display boxes. As for sales through vending 

machines, we will strive to make efficient allocation while 

making investments necessary for increasing the attractiveness 

of our products.

Marketing Strategy
Our	marketing	force,	the	vast	size	of	which	eclipses	the	mar-

keting teams of our competitors, satisfies the multitude and 

variety of needs of retailers scattered across the country. We 

will continue to engage in efficient and effective marketing 

activities in ways linked to our product and distribution strate-

gies, while complying with regulations and rules such as restric-

tions on tobacco advertising and prevention of youth smoking.

 Optimizing our marketing mix toward sustainable growth through the provision of quality and services commensu-
rate with the price

Strategies and specific measures

Improving Quality and Productivity
We	will	implement	measures	to	maximize	consumer	satisfaction,	

including constantly improving product quality and strengthening 

the shipment assurance system. As part of this effort, we will 

renew the process of raw materials processing and introduce a 

new tobacco blending method and a new tobacco processing 

technology so that we can satisfy customers’ diverse preferences 

by providing products with a wide variety of tastes and aromas.

We will continue to strive toward an even more cost-efficient 

operating structure.

Strengthen Business Sustainability and Optimize Our 
Supply Chain
Based on the lessons learned from the Great East Japan Earth-

quake, we will strive to improve the sustainability of our business 

and at the same time strengthen our competitiveness.

Fulfilling Our Responsibility as the Market Leader
We will continue to fulfill our responsibilities as the leading 

tobacco company in the Japanese market by endeavoring to 

achieve a harmonious coexistence between smokers and non-

smokers. We will also engage in initiatives to improve smoking 

manners and strive harder to secure and create space and oppor-

tunity for smoking, for example, by helping to provide comfort-

able smoking areas.

As a Platform of Productivity
We will ensure that the Japanese domestic tobacco business 

remains a highly competitive platform of profitability by overcoming 

challenges in the Japanese domestic market, such as the continu-

ing decline in total tobacco demand and intensifying competition.
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Seven Stars

Pianissimo

The first super slim product from the Seven Stars family. Because it is a super slim product, 
the Seven Stars Cutting Menthol package is extremely thin and portable even though it fits 
20 cigarettes.
Equipped with the “flavor thread filter,” this super slim product offers a rich and sharp men-
thol flavor that leaves a sharp sensation. 
While the basic color of the new product is silver, in the center we feature a large star, which 
is the symbol of the Seven Stars brand, highlighting the simple yet original design. 
A star-themed design is also featured prominently in the tipping paper that covers the filter 
and tobacco.

Expansion Initiatives
Special package for a limited period of time as active and effective promotions.

Pianissimo ViV Menthol is JT’s first product to feature the ‘‘Breath Sparkling Shot’’ capsule in 
the filter. 
Before crushing the capsule, the cigarette gives you a fresh menthol taste with mint flavor. 
After crushing the capsule, you can enjoy a somewhat sweet, strong menthol flavor with a 
refreshingly clean taste.
In addition, crushing the ‘‘Breath Sparkling Shot’’ capsule leaves you with a clearer aftertaste.

Expansion Initiatives
Special package for a limited period of time as active and effective promotions.

Topics: Launching new products and expansion initiatives with focus on key brands

Mild Seven

The	first	slim-sized	products	in	the	Mild	Seven	family.
They maintain the Mild Seven tradition of smooth cigarettes with a clean finish, while also 
giving consumers a rich taste by using an originally developed tobacco blend.  
The cigarette paper rolled around the cut tobacco is treated with proprietary JT processes 
designed to reduce the visible smoke emitted from the end of the cigarette, and JT’s original 
D-spec technology reduces unpleasant cigarette smells.

Expansion Initiatives
Special package for a limited period of time as active and effective promotions.

Mild Seven Style Plus 6 and  
Mild Seven Style Plus One  
(launched nationwide in January 2012)

Seven Stars Cutting Menthol
(launched nationwide in August 2011)

Pianissimo ViV Menthol 
(launched nationwide in November 2011)

Please be reminded that this section is intended to explain the business operations of JT to investors, but not to promote sales of tobacco products or encourage smoking by consumers.
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Core Revenue 1
(Millions of US dollars) 2

FY3/2012 Business Performance Summary

Total Shipment Volume 1

  425.7 billion cigarettes  Down  0.6% 

GFB Shipment Volume

  256.5 billion cigarettes  Up  2.6% 

Core Revenue 2

 $ 11,211 million  Up 10.9% 

Adjusted EBITDA 3

 $ 3,944 million  Up 24.6% 

1  Including cigars, pipe tobacco and snus but excluding contract manufactured 
products.

2  Excluding revenues from distribution, contract manufacturing and other 
peripheral business.

3	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	
impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

(Years ended Dec. 31)

Pricing and improved GFB mix drove core revenue growth

  Market share gains in most key markets contributed to 
resilient total shipment volumes in a declining 
environment

  Mix improvement continued through strong gFb 
volume performance, benefiting from solid brand 
equity across our broad geographic footprint

 Robust pricing in all key markets

 Favorable currency exchange movements

FY3/2011 Price/

product mix
Volume

FY3/2012 at 

 constant rates 

of exchange3

FY3/2012Forex  

impact4

1 Excluding revenues from distribution, contract manufacturing and other peripheral 
business.

2 The US dollar is the reporting currency for our international tobacco business
3 Applying the previous year currency exchange rates
4 The forex impact represents the fluctuation between the US dollar and other currencies

International  
Tobacco Business

Japan Tobacco International (JTI), JT Group’s 
international tobacco business, continued to be the 
profit growth engine of the JT Group, achieving strong 
EBITDA growth, despite the ongoing challenging 
environment. Our consistent investment in our business 
and brands has allowed us to keep growing share of 
market in most key markets. 

In addition, we broadened our earnings base for the 
future by expanding our presence in emerging markets 
with our acquisition of HCTF in Sudan and in Europe 
through our recently-announced acquisition of Gryson. 
We also invested in the emerging product category 
through our partnership with Ploom.

Another challenging year is ahead of us. With 
dedicated people continuing to focus on top-line growth 
and broadening the earnings base, we will keep 
delivering strong results into the future.

Pierre de Labouchere
President & CEO, Japan Tobacco International

+8.0% +10.9%
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Adjusted EBITDA grew 24.6% driven by top-line gains

1	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	
on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

2 The US dollar is the reporting currency for our international tobacco business
3 Exceptional items include legal settlement
4 Applying the previous year currency exchange rates
5 The forex impact represents the fluctuation between the US dollar and other currencies

Adjusted EBITDA 1
(Millions of US dollars) 2

  pricing and continued gFb volume mix improvements 
drove profitability, along with productivity and effi-
ciency gains.

  Cost increases explained by higher investment in market-
ing to support brands and future growth, in developing 
the capabilities of our people, and in manufacturing due 
to the Low ignition propensity (Lip) regulation in europe.

  Favorable currency exchange movements

Camel is an iconic international brand and originator of 
the American blend type of cigarettes since 1913. Now 
sold in more than 100 countries around the world.
Camel’s 2011 performance was strengthened by the 

roll-out of Camel Black & White and the introduction of Camel Activate 
line extension, leading to market share gains in most key markets.

First introduced in 1954, Winston has 
proved its status as JTI’s key growth driver, 
becoming in 2007 the 2nd largest cigarette 
brand in the world. After almost a decade of 

strong momentum, Winston further accelerated its growth in 2011, 
driven	by	the	Core	family	packaging	modernization	and	the	success	of	
the compact formats within the XS innovative range.

Originating in 
Japan and 
launched in 1977, 

Mild Seven is the top-selling premium char-
coal brand. Its key markets outside Japan are 
Taiwan, Korea, Russia and Malaysia. Mild 
Seven benefited from innovative launches, 
such as Revo, our offering combining our 
unique Less Smoke Smell technology, a super 
slim format and a slide pack.

Sobranie is one of the 
world’s oldest tobacco 
brands and has been 
synonymous with luxury 

cigarettes since 1879. This heritage, exqui-
site style and the best selected tobaccos 
have made Sobranie one of the most presti-
gious brands in the world. Since 2009, a new 
generation Sobranie range has been rolled 
out across CIS markets.

Originally established in 
1873, Benson & Hedges 
has a proud British heritage 
as a leading premium 

brand. Today, JTI owns the B&H trademark in 
EU markets (excl. Baltics) and is continuously 
evolving its portfolio to adapt to consumers’ 
lifestyles, successfully launching B&H Slide 
and B&H London brand extensions across 
Western and Central Europe.

Glamour is JTI’s leading 
Super Slims brand. Since 
its introduction in 2005, 

Glamour has achieved remarkable growth, 
consolidating its position as a Super Slims 
brand in several CIS markets. Glamour is 
constantly expanding its geographical pres-
ence and evolving its portfolio in the growing 
Super Slims segment.

LD was launched in 1999 as a 
mid-price proposition in the Rus-
sian market. The brand achieved 
immediate success and is now 

recognized	as	a	compelling	international	propo-
sition. Since 2007, LD has grown continuously, 
expanding its presence to more than 30 coun-
tries supported by its constant portfolio expan-
sion in response to consumer aspirations.

Launched in 1964, Silk Cut estab-
lished its credentials as one of 
the first low tar brands in the 
1970’s, long before it became 

the norm for other manufacturers. JTI owns 
the Silk Cut trademark throughout the EU, 
with the core markets being the UK, Ireland 
and Greece, where the brand continues to 
grow share in the premium segment.

Global Flagship Brands Portfolio

The eight Global Flagship Brands (GFB) constitute the core of JTI’s brand portfolio and drive quality top-
line growth

Engine

winston and Camel are the engine brands driving JTI’s growth.

Stronghold

Four stronghold brands have a significant presence in their respective regions 
increasing the competitive power of JTI’s portfolio.

Future Potential

Sobranie and Glamour have strong 
future growth potential.

FY3/2011 Others/ 

exceptional 

items3

Volume Price/

product mix FY3/2012 at 

 constant  

rates of 

exchange4

FY3/2012Forex  

impact5

+22.8% +24.6%
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FY3/2012 GFB shipment volume
Year-on-Year variation (Billions of cigarettes)

% Total Shipment Volume Year-on-Year Change

FY3/2011 58.3% +2.7%

  Engine 40.2% +2.4%

  Stronghold 17.4% +4.6%

   Future Potential 2.6% –5.8%

FY3/2012 60.2% +2.6%

  JTi gained share in most key markets demonstrating 
the strength of its business fundamentals. This is sup-
ported by a well-balanced portfolio to capture up-trad-
ing and down-trading trends, as well as innovation and 
strong trade marketing capabilities.

  Total shipment volume decreased by 0.6% to 425.7 
billion cigarettes due to global industry contraction 
caused by economic difficulties and excise tax-led price 
increases.

  gFb shipment volumes grew 2.6% to 256.5 billion ciga-
rettes, driven by our strong brand equity, which we are 
constantly strengthening and which will continue to 
drive our performance in the future.

  Our engine brands performed strongly in FY3/2012, driven by Winston’s shipment volume growth in almost all geo-
graphical clusters, reaching a historical volume record. Camel’s performance was resilient, driven by innovative 
launches such as Camel activate and despite continued industry contraction in Spain.

  We achieved 4.6% growth with our Stronghold brands, driven by LD following ongoing investment to increase brand 
equity which led to capturing down-trading consumers and reaching the #2 position in Russia behind Winston. Mild 
Seven grew share in Malaysia, and we continued investing in this brand with the launch of innovative propositions in 
Russia.

Quality top-line growth is JTI’s overriding priority. JTI remains 

committed to deploying its key strategies under the guiding 

principle of continuous improvement.

Operating performance

Strategies and specific measures

GFB shipment volumes continued to grow, representing 60.2% of our total shipment volume

Share of Market Continued to Grow Across Most Key Markets

GFB Portfolio Momentum

Share of Market Dec. 2011 ppt change vs. last year

Russia 36.9% 0.0

France 16.4% +0.4

Italy 20.7% +1.0

Spain 21.2% +0.4

UK 38.8% –0.1

Turkey 24.1% +1.5

Taiwan 38.2% 0.0

–  Twelve months moving average
–  Market shares do not include Roll-Your-Own/Make-Your-Own
Data source: AC Nielsen, Logista and Altadis

Our key strategies are the following:

  build and nurture outstanding brands

  Continue to enhance productivity

  Sharpen focus on responsibility and credibility

  Develop human resources as a cornerstone of growth

249.8

4.1

3.3

256.5

–0.7
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Total shipment volume1 Core revenue2

Rest-of-the-World core revenue includes HQ

Adjusted EBITA

Adjusted EBITA excluding impairment losses on goodwill,  
restructuring-related income and costs

Cluster Breakdown

In FY3/2012, our strategic focus led us to achieve 24.6% 

adjusted EBITDA growth at constant rates of exchange, despite 

the recession. This performance was driven by GFB mix 

improvements combined with robust pricing.

(%)
EBITDA and EBITDA Margin, FY3/2001–FY3/2012
(Millions of US dollars)

CIS+ (Billions of cigarettes)

FY3/2012 Year-on-Year change
Total shipment volume 197.8 –2.8%
GFB shipment volume 112.2 +6.5%

- Challenging economic environment in Ukraine and Belarus.
- In Russia, JTI increased share of value leadership position with stable share of 

market, through strong brand equity.
- Strengthening JTI market share, GFB shipment volume growth and favorable 

pricing drove core revenue and adjusted EBITA growth.
- At constant rates of exchange, core revenue and adjusted EBITA grew 14.1% and 

34.1%, respectively.

Rest-of-the-world (Billions of cigarettes)

FY3/2012 Year-on-Year change
Total shipment volume 118.0 +4.7%
GFB shipment volume 67.4 +0.7%

- Includes our recent acquisition in Sudan.
- Strong shipment volume growth in the Middle East and Africa, along with pricing 

gains in Canada, Korea and Taiwan drove profitability.
- At constant rates of exchange, core revenue and adjusted EBITA grew 8.9% and 

53.0%3, respectively.

North & Central Europe (Billions of cigarettes)

FY3/2012 Year-on-Year change
Total shipment volume 49.1 +0.3%
GFB shipment volume 23.4 +4.7%

-	 Solid	GFB	shipment	volume	growth	and	increasing	presence	in	Czech	Republic,	
Germany and Poland.

- Strong pricing drove core revenue and adjusted EBITA growth.
- At constant rates of exchange, core revenue and adjusted EBITA grew 4.2% and 

9.4%, respectively.

South & west Europe (Billions of cigarettes)

FY3/2012 Year-on-Year change
Total shipment volume 60.8 –3.8%
GFB shipment volume 53.5 –3.2%

-	 Eurozone	sovereign	debt	crisis	worsened,	and	Spain	experienced	its	3rd	consecu-
tive year of double-digit industry volume contraction.

- Excluding Spain, total and GFB shipment volumes grew 2.1% and 2.2%, respectively.
- JTI gained market share, notably in Italy, France and Spain.
- Favorable pricing drove core revenue growth, more than offsetting shipment 

volume decline.
- At constant rates of exchange, core revenue grew at 0.5% while adjusted EBITA 

declined 1.7%.

1 Including cigars, pipe tobacco and snus but excluding contract manufactured products.
2 Excluding revenues from distribution, contract manufacturing and other peripheral business.
3 FY3/2011 adjusted EBITA reflects exceptional items including legal settlement

FY3/2013 Outlook: keep growing the top-line and broadening the earnings base
Looking into FY3/2013, we should expect continued uncer-

tainties. However, we are confident that with our strong brand 

portfolio, our focused strategy of growing the top-line and our 

strong track record, we will continue to deliver strong results.

 EBITDA (Millions of US dollars)     EBITDA Margin (%)

Note:  EBITDA margin excludes revenues from distribution, private label, contract manufacturing and other peripheral business since FY3/2010; from FY3/2011 EBITDA and EBITDA margin are 
based	on	IFRS	disclosure	and	adjusted	EBITDA	definition;	adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	on	goodwill	±	restructuring-related	
income and costs.

CAGR 25.0%

Rest-of-the-World

North & Central Europe

South & West Europe

CIS+
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  JTI’s #1 Brand and the World’s 2nd Best-selling Cigarette

Growing our presence in the Roll-Your-Own (RYO)/Make-Your-Own (MYO) category

+33%

Source: JTI estimates, ERC

JTI’s Competitive Advantage: a Strong and Mixed 
Portfolio

 JTI’s RYO/MYO proposition is based on stand-alone heritage 

brands, such as Amber Leaf and Old Holborn, and line exten-

sions from cigarette brands like Winston, Camel, LD and 

Benson & Hedges

 Innovative product offerings to drive growth

 While global RYO/MYO volumes have grown 15% since 2009, 

JTI’s RYO/MYO volumes grew 33%

Enhancing Further Our Presence and Expertise

 In May 2012, we announced the acquisition of Gryson, a lead-

ing European RYO/MYO company

 Bringing on board a strong and diverse portfolio with key 

brands such as Fleur du Pays, Orlando and Domingo, and a 

leadership position in France

 Additional geographies with 65 export countries worldwide

2011, winston’s Rejuvenation Year

Focus on consumer driven “true satisfaction”

All about quality, satisfaction and freedom

Innovation remains a key passion of the brand since 1954, 

from the first widely accepted filter cigarette to the slimmest 

cigarette in the world with XS Micro

Clearly Articulated Visual and Portfolio Identities

Presence in full flavor, low tar and nicotine, and fresh 

segments

Complete	format	coverage	from	king	size	to	micro	slims

Performance Summary

A truly global brand present in 110 markets

Successful in up-trading and down-trading environments

The 2nd largest cigarette brand in the world

A major contributor for JTI

	 •		#1	JTI	brand	in	8	markets

	 •		283%	growth,	or	an	incremental	96.6	billion	units	since	2000

(Billions of cigarettes)

Source: JTI estimates

+283%

The brand Energizer or XS range (7% of Winston’s volumes)

The brand Anchor or CORE range (93% of Winston’s volumes)

Please be reminded that this section is intended to explain the business operations of JT to investors, but not to promote sales of tobacco products or encourage smoking by consumers.

(Billions of cigarette equivalents)

RYO MYO

Standalone
60% of JTI’s 
RYO/MYO Vol.

RMC 
Extensions
40% of JTI’s 
RYO/MYO Vol.
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harnessing the Collective Efforts of Multinational Teams

JTI	today	is	a	much	larger	organization	than	when	it	was	established	in	

1999. Our workforce has grown much more diverse, both organically and 

as a result of our acquisitions. This diversity makes us stronger; the blend 

of over 100 nationalities and many cultures defines who we are and our 

own	culture	as	an	organization.

Our strength is in our ability to leverage the best of the practices and tradi-

tions	that	form	our	collective	organization.	We	have	brought	together	a	

portfolio	of	internationally	recognized	brands,	and	combined	a	diverse	

workforce to create our culture.

We are dynamic, creative and full of energy, yet we are precise, thinking 

about the long-term and quality driven.

Diversity, a cornerstone of JTI’s DNA

Diversity in Numbers (as of Dec. 31, 2011)

 24,237 employees worldwide   106 nationalities represented

 Presence in 70 countries   581 international assignees

 23 factories   5 tobacco processing centers
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Revenue
(Billions of yen)

Adjusted EBITDA1

(Billions of yen)

FY3/2012 Business Performance Summary

Revenue

 ¥ 47.4 billion  Up ¥3.3 billion 

Adjusted EBITDA1

 ¥ -10.0 billion  Down ¥0.3 billion 

44.1

47.4
48.0

46.0

44.0

42.0

−9.8 −10.0

0

−4.0

−8.0

−12.0

1	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	
impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

 Torii pharmaceutical posted growth in both net sales and profits.

Sales increased for both REMITCH CAPSULES, an anti-pruritus drug for hemodialysis patients, and anti-HIV drug Truvada.

FY3/2011 FY3/2012 FY3/2011 FY3/2012

In the pharmaceutical business, JT will pursue high-value-
added business through the creation of world-class 
innovative drugs by continuing to build world-class, 
unique R&D capabilities and reinforcing its market 
presence through innovative drugs. As a medium- to 
long-term business objective, we will strive to establish 
profitability through the rapid and efficient market 
launch of compounds in late phase of clinical trials and 
R&D concerning next-generation strategic compounds.

Muneaki Fujimoto
President, Pharmaceutical Business

In FY3/2012, revenue increased due to sales growth at Torii Pharmaceutical, but adjusted EBITDA 
declined as a result of an increase in R&D expenses following progress in drug development.

Pharmaceutical 
Business

+¥3.3 
billion

−¥0.3 
billion

1	 Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	on	goodwill	±	restructuring-related	income	and	costs
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JT-851, a drug to treat Type 2 diabetes mellitus, advanced to Phase 2 in Japan, and JTZ-951, a drug to treat renal anemia (under devel-

opment in Japan and abroad), and JTE-051 (under development abroad) and JTE-052 (under development in Japan), both of which are 

drugs to treat autoimmune diseases and allergic problems, entered the clinical development stage.

[In-licensed compound]

•	JTT-751:	Anti-hyperphosphatemia	drug 

In Phase 3 clinical development in Japan

[Out-licensed compounds]

•	JTK-303:	Anti-HIV	drug 

Gilead Sciences applied for single-tablet regimen containing JTK-303 in the United States, etc.

•	MEK	inhibitor: 

GlaxoSmithKline completed Phase 3 clinical development of the MEK inhibitor as a drug to treat melanoma (a type of skin 

cancer) and is preparing to apply for regulatory approval.

 Rapid and efficient market launch of compounds in late phase of clinical trials

Currently, one compound in-licensed and two compounds out-licensed to foreign partners are in Phase 3, the last stage of clinical 

development. We aim to establish profitability through rapid and efficient market launch of compounds in late phase of clinical trials.

 promotion of R&D on next-generation strategic products

We will strive to further enhance the R&D pipeline by focusing on R&D on next-generation strategic compounds and actively exploring 

opportunities for strategic in- and out-licensing.

Clinical Development (as of April 26, 2012)
Code Key Indication Stage Rights

JTK-303 (Oral) HIV infection In preparation for NDA 
filing of single-tablet 
regimen containing JTK-
303 (Japan)

Gilead	Sciences	(U.S.)	obtained	the	rights	to	develop	and	commercialize	this	compound	
worldwide, with the exception of Japan. The company has submitted the single-tablet 
regimen containing JTK-303 (elvitegravir) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
for approval.

JTT-705(Oral) Dyslipidemia Phase 2 (Japan) Roche	(Switzerland)	obtained	the	rights	to	develop	and	commercialize	the	compound	
worldwide, with the exception of Japan. >Development stage by Roche: Phase 3 (note)

JTT-302(Oral) Dyslipidemia Phase 2 (Overseas)

JTT-751(Oral) Hyperphosphatemia Phase 3 (Japan) JT	obtained	the	rights	to	develop	and	commercialize	this	compound	in	Japan	from	Keryx	
Biopharmaceuticals (U.S.) (Developed jointly with Torii)

JTT-851(Oral) Type 2 diabetes 
mellitus

Phase 2 (Japan) 
Phase 1 (Overseas)

JTZ-951(Oral) Anemia associated 
with chronic kidney 
disease

Phase 1 (Japan) 
Phase 1 (Overseas)

JTE-051(Oral) Autoimmune/allergic 
diseases

Phase 1 (Overseas)

JTE-052(Oral) Autoimmune/allergic 
diseases

Phase 1 (Japan)

(note) On May 7, 2012, Roche announced the termination of the development of JTT-705 (dalcetrapib).

R&D status in FY3/2012

Business objectives

Out-licensing Deals
FY Code Company

3/2005 JTT-705 (anti-dyslipidemia drug) Roche	(Switzerland)

3/2005 JTK-303 (anti-HIV drug) Gilead Sciences (US)

3/2007 Pre-clinical trial stage new 
compound (MEK inhibitor)

GlaxoSmithKline (UK)

3/2007 Pre-clinical trial stage anti-body 
drug candidate (Anti-ICOS 
Monoclonal Anitibody)

Medlmmune (US)

In-licensing Deals
FY Code Company

3/2004 Three anti-HIV drugs Gilead Sciences (US)

3/2008 JTT-751 (anti-hyperphosphatemia 
drug)

Keryx Biopharmaceuticals 
(US)

3/2012 Cobicistat (PK enhancer) Gilead Sciences (US)
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FY3/2012 business Performance summary

revenue

 ¥ 359.4 billion  Down ¥8.0 billion 

adjusted ebItDa1

 ¥ 20.0 billion  Up ¥2.3 billion 

1 Adjusted EBITDA = Operating profit + depreciation and amortization + 
impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs
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170.7

188.8
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In the food business, we are striving to provide delicious foods that people can consume safely while wishing to “provide 
products that your loved ones want to eat.” We will continue to devote our efforts to the three business areas of beverages, 
processed foods and seasonings and carry out initiatives to establish the highest level of safety control, with a view to 
retaining the trust of customers by serving the people’s daily lives through our offering of food products.

Beverage Business:
Confirmed a stronger brand equity for "Roots"

Processed Food Business:
Improved profitability through concentration in staple 
food products

Ryoko Nagata
Head of Beverage Business Division

Miyoharu Hino
President & CEO TableMark Co., Ltd

 Revenue of the overall food business declined.

Beverage business: Increased

	 •		Steady	performance	of	the	flagship	brand	”Roots.”

Processed food business: Declined

	 •		Exclusion	of	some	subsidiaries	in	the	previous	year	impacted	

revenue decline.

Revenue

Food Business

(Billions of yen)

FY3/2011 FY3/2012

  Processed food business
  Beverage business

-¥8.0 
billion
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(Billions of yen)

FQ

FC

FDFS

Adjusted EBITDA1

 in the food business, we are devoting our efforts to the three business areas of beverages, processed foods and sea-
sonings, implementing measures to establish the highest standard of food safety control and striving to further 
strengthen our business foundation for future growth.

 We will exercise food safety control through the following four key initiatives in order to win customers’ trust as the 
leading food supplier.

Beverage business

	 •		In	addition	to	further	enhancing	the	Roots	brand,	we	will	

develop and enhance successor brands, including the 

“Tennnen sui” (natural water) series, in order to achieve 

top-line growth.

	 •		To	enhance	our	sales	networks	led	by	Japan	Beverage	Inc.,	a	

JT subsidiary responsible for operating vending machines, 

and to strive to provide conscientious services.

	 •			Strengthen	cost	competitiveness	by	curbing	raw	materials	

procurement costs and using expenses in an effective and 

efficient manner.

I. Food safety (FS) initiative
	 •		To	review	product-specific	food	safety	hazards	as	needed	and	

conduct inspection and audit based on detailed risk 
information.

	 •		To	ensure	appropriate	operation	of	food	safety	management	
systems (e.g., ISO22000 and FSSC22000).

	 •		To	manage	and	inspect	procured	raw	materials	in	accordance	
with new radioactivity standards under the Food Sanitation Act.

II. Food defense (FD) initiative
	 •		To	promote	efforts	to	have	the	risk	management	integrated	

program entrenched in business operations1

III. Food quality (FQ) initiative
	 •		To	strengthen	coordination	across	the	whole	supply	chain	and	

promote company-wide total quality management (TQM) in 
order to provide more delicious foods to customers.

	 •		To	enhance	product	value	and	customer	satisfaction	by	making	
constant improvements based on inquiries and information 
from customers. 

 adjusted ebiTDa of the overall food business increased

Beverage business: Increased

	 •		Increasing	in	sales	of	Roots	brand	contributed	to	adjusted	

EBITDA growth.

Processed food business: Increased

	 •			Increasing	in	sales	of	higher-margin	staple	food	products.

	 •		Decreasing	in	fixed	costs	contributed	to	adjusted	EBITDA	growth.
1	Adjusted	EBITDA	=	Operating	profit	+	depreciation	and	amortization	+	impairment	losses	on	

goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

Strategies and specific measures

Food safety control

Processed food business

	 •		To	expand	the	business	volume	and	strengthen	profitability	

by	strategic	concentration	in	staple	food	products	(frozen	

noodles,	frozen	and	packed	cooked	rice	and	frozen	bread)	

and yeast products in seasonings, for which we can make 

maximal use of acquired technology and product develop-

ment power in the TableMark group.

	 •		To	establish	a	strong	business	foundation	by	continuing	

efforts to strengthen the value chain in the whole business 

process, including procurement, manufacturing and sales.

	 •		To	strengthen	cost	competitiveness	by	further	pursuing	

efficiency in all business operations.

New Initiative  
(Four perspectives)

IV. Food communication (FC) initiative
	 •		To	enhance	customer	response	by	having	the	ISO10002	com-

plaint management system entrenched in business operations.
	 •		To	promote	a	new	kind	of	communication	with	customers	by	

providing traceability information and actively disclosing infor-
mation through factory tours and other programs.

1   Risk management integrated program: To set risk management items that must be 
complied with from the perspective of both knowhow (management system) and 
hardware (security) and to check and follow up on the compliance status through 
factory audits.

17.7

20.0

21.0

19.0

18.0

20.0

17.0

16.0
FY3/2011 FY3/2012

+¥2.3 
billion
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(1,000t-CO2)

(tonnes/million cigarettes)(1,000 m3)

(1,000 t) (%)
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Activities Contributing to the Environment and Society

 JT
 36 Japanese subsidiaries

(Years ended March 31)

 JT
 36 Japanese subsidiaries

(Years ended March 31) (Years ended December 31)

Trends in Greenhouse Gas Emissions
JT/Japanese subsidiaries

Trends in water usage Amount
JT/Japanese subsidiaries

Trends in CO2 Emissions Intensity
JTi

Trends in waste Generation and Recycling Rate
JT/Japanese subsidiaries

  Waste Generation Amount for JT  Recycling Rate
  Waste Generation   Recycling Rate 
Amount for 36 Japanese subsidiaries

(Years ended March 31)

Our Approach to Protecting the Global Environment

Protecting the global environment is critical to our efforts to fulfill our 

social responsibility and is a top priority for our corporate manage-

ment. In accordance with the JT Group Environmental Charter, the JT 

Group	has	acted	as	a	responsible	corporate	citizen	in	all	of	the	coun-

tries and regions in which it operates and promoted companywide 

initiatives to further reduce the environmental impact of its activities.

Moreover, we established the JT Group Environmental Action 

Plan (2009–2012) as a medium-term plan for concrete environmental 

protection	activities,	with	the	aim	of	realizing	the	philosophy	outlined	

in the JT Group Environmental Charter. The operational divisions of 

JT, as well as subsidiaries and affiliates, have been striving to achieve 

the targets set forth under this medium-term plan.

Group Environmental Management
The	JT	Group	recognizes	that	in	order	to	deal	with	challenges	with	

which the international community as a whole is confronted, such as 

the	preservation	of	the	environment	and	sustainable	utilization	of	

resources, we have to further enhance environmental management 

of the entire JT Group. Therefore, under the JT Group Environmental 

Action Plan (2009–2012), we have expanded the scope of environ-

mental management to cover all consolidated subsidiaries, both in 

Japan and abroad, as we work together to build an environmental 

management system for the entire JT Group. In addition, we have 

made all consolidated subsidiaries subject to environmental manage-

ment targets—reduction targets for the emission of greenhouse 

gases, water usage and the generation of waste—and aim to steadily 

achieve them.

Fight Against Global Warming
By setting the target of reducing overall greenhouse gas emissions 

by 10% in FY3/2012 compared with FY3/2007, we are making active 

reduction efforts.

In FY3/2011, facilities with less burden on the environment were 

introduced, energy savings were made by improving the manage-

ment of energy usage, and efficiency in transportation was facili-

tated. As a result, in Japan, JT achieved a 54.6% reduction compared 

with FY3/1995, and as JT Group, a 10.9% reduction compared with 

FY3/2007.

Effective Use of Resources
In order to preserve limited natural resources, the JT Group is striving 

to reduce water usage and the generation of waste and is promoting 

the reuse and recycling of used materials.

The JT Group strives to fulfill its social responsibilities by addressing social issues where it operates. In all our activities we seek to 
operate in harmony with the environment as a responsible corporate citizen. To this end, we communicate openly with all our stake-
holders: consumers, shareholders, employees and society.
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Campaign Advertising

Public smoking area in front of Kyoto 
Station, Kyoto

THE SOHO (Minato-ku, Tokyo)

Community Clean-up Event “Pick Up and You Will 
Love Your City”

JT Website

Community Clean-up Event

JT has been engaged in the “Pick Up and You Will Love Your City” 

initiative since May 2004 in an effort to eradicate public littering by 

raising	awareness	of	the	problem	and	organizing	rubbish	collection.

This initiative is aimed at occasions such as community festivals 

and other public events and is conducted in cooperation with local 

governments, companies, and volunteers. Since these activities 

began in May 2004, community clean-up events have been held in all 

of Japan’s prefectures, as of March 5, 2012, bringing the number of 

participating parties to 2,723 and the number of individual partici-

pants to approximately 1.32 million.

For further information about JT’s efforts to improve the smoking 

environment, please access our website.

URL: http://www.jti.co.jp/sstyle/index.html

Toward Better Smoking Manners and a More Favorable Smoking Environment

(This section only describes activities in Japan)

We aim to help create a society in which smokers and nonsmokers 

can coexist in harmony. Enshrined in this goal is our wish to see our 

valued consumers fully enjoy smoking at their own discretion and, at 

the same time, to make sure they avoid causing inconvenience to 

nonsmokers. 

By engaging in various initiatives, we will fulfill our social respon-

sibility as a tobacco company.

Examples of the Various Initiatives
Setting up Smoking Areas

We work closely with local governments and facility managers in 

setting up smoking areas in public facilities such as railway stations 

and airports, in order to promote coexistence between smokers 

and nonsmokers.

Advice on Separation of Smoking and Nonsmoking Areas

We provide consultation on how to separate smoking and nonsmok-

ing areas within public facilities, commercial facilities and offices in a 

manner suited to the characteristics of the respective facilities and 

the needs of users. In our consulting service, which is free of charge, 

we offer our know-how and put forward proposals to achieve the 

kind of separation that would satisfy smokers while giving due con-

sideration to the concerns of nonsmokers.

“Smoking Manners” Campaign Advertising

Since JT believes that improving the “smoking manners” of individu-

als is essential to improving those of society as a whole, we are 

constantly engaged in a campaign to raise awareness about the need 

for appropriate smoking manners, under the slogan “Pay attention, 

and you can change your manners.” The advertisements used in this 

campaign describe specific everyday situations in which smokers 

should show good manners, in order to prompt them to pay atten-

tion, think, and act appropriately.
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JT Forest initiative

"NPO Support Project"
Photo: Laboratory of Earth Conscious Life

Affinis Music Festival Concert in Tokyo
Photo: K.Miura

The Tobacco and Salt Museum

JT Group’s Social Engagement

The JT Group is committed to a number of initiatives that positively 

contribute to the development of the communities in which it oper-

ates. JT Group companies in Japan consistently support their local 

communities,	with	the	aim	of	demonstrating	‘good	corporate	citizen-

ship’, and sustaining a harmonious relationship with Japanese soci-

ety as a whole.

Japan Tobacco International (JTI), a tobacco business operating in 

more than 120 countries worldwide, also plays a key role in support-

ing the development of the local communities in which it operates. 

JTI focuses on two specific agendas: improving the quality of life of 

the less advantaged, and promoting the arts.

The following are only some examples of the many local, regional 

and international projects that the JT Group supports.

harmonious Coexistence in] Japan

JT’s business establishments in Japan conduct various social contri-

bution activities to maintain harmonious relationship with society. 

Among these, JT has been engaged in clean-up activities in the neigh-

borhood of its establishments for years as a member of communities. 

Sales offices, manufacturing sites and group companies’ establish-

ments across Japan conduct clean-up activities participated by 

employees. In addition, employees take part in clean-up activities 

held at various community events.

JT, along with local communities, conducts the “JT Forest” 

initiative	to	revitalize	the	forest	of	Japan.	The	JT	Forest	has	

expanded to nine sites, ranging from Hokkaido in the north to 

Kagoshima in the south; where JT and local stakeholders cooperate 

in the reforestation.

Moreover, JT focuses on “NPO Support Project” to support 

NPOs across Japan. The project is designed to support activities of 

NPOs in cooperation with communities. Since the launch in FY1999, 

the cumulative amount of financial assistance of the project has 

surpassed	one	billion	yen,	with	the	number	of	recipient	organizations	

totaling 882.

Furthermore, JT engages in supporting arts and culture including 

development	of	musicians	and	professional	orchestras,	organizing	JT	

Forum cultural events, operation of the Tobacco and Salt Museum 

and operating the Affinis Arts Foundation.
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The JTI-supported Soup Kitchen in Tbilisi, Georgia

An Ed Kiefer installation at the Rijksmuseum’s 2011 summer exhibitionSwan Lake©	Natasha	Razina,	Mariinsky	Theatre

A student and professor at the Emmaus’ Literacy Center

Combating hunger with the “Caritas Georgia” Soup Kitchen

Bringing relief, aid and comfort to the elderly is one of the corner-

stones of our Corporate Philanthropy policy. JTI works closely with 

Caritas Georgia to assist poor and disadvantaged older persons. In 

2011, JTI lent its support to the Caritas “Soup Kitchen” in Tbilisi, 

which provides 185 elderly individuals registered with the State 

Social Program with a daily serving of nutritious hot food.

Supporting cultural heritage at the Mariinsky Theatre

Russia’s Mariinsky Theatre, whose origins date back to 1783, is an 

historic venue for opera and ballet in St. Petersburg, currently under 

the artistic direction of the world famous maestro Valery Gergiev. JTI 

is the theater’s long-term partner, and supports its two major annual 

programs – the Moscow Easter Festival and the Stars of the White 

Nights Festival.

Promoting literacy and knowledge with Emmaüs

JTI is committed to promoting adult literacy. In France, JTI supports 

Association Emmaüs, which works with disadvantaged individuals in 

the community to combat the causes of exclusion. Since 2004, JTI 

France has assisted Emmaüs’ Literacy Centers to develop new 

programs for illiterate adults, helping them to flourish as more inde-

pendent	citizens	through	its	educational	curriculum,	and	artistic	and	

cultural workshops.

Promoting culture and art at the Rijksmuseum

JTI supports The Netherland’s famous Rijksmuseum – one of the 

nation’s largest and most visited cultural heritage spaces. JTI Nether-

lands provides funding for the Museum’s “special” exhibitions, held 

every summer – including the Museum’s 2011 collaboration with 

renowned artist Ed Kiefer in an experimental event inspired by Rem-

brandt’s famous “Night Watch” painting.
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Building partnerships with local enterprises in South Africa

Seniors at a Toronto reCONNECT centers

A social worker at the telephone help-line, Portus House

The Museum of Japanese Art and Technology, designed by prominent Japanese 
architect	Arata	Isozaki

Building businesses in South Africa’s poorer communities

JTI	supports	the	South	African	“Kasi	Phezulu”	project,	which	pro-

motes enterprise in townships and other disadvantaged locations. 

The initiative focuses on businesses including shops and taverns that 

are often at the heart of struggling communities. It aims to transform 

these into “community hubs” that help to empower local people. 

“Kasi	Phezulu”	has	assisted	4,000	enterprises	to	date	–	with	JTI	

widely	recognized	as	a	“Partner	of	Choice”	by	the	businesses	and	

community leaders it serves.

Reconnecting seniors with the digital world

Since 2007, JTI-Macdonald has partnered with reBOOT Canada – a 

charity that refurbishes donated computers for reuse by non-profit 

organizations.	With	the	support	of	JTI-Macdonald,	the	related	reCON-

NECT project provides seniors at over 100 centers across Canada 

with up-to-date technology, equipment and training. Seniors are 

taught how to communicate with their families using the internet 

– by e-mail and webcam – empowering them to use this technology 

to enhance the quality of their lives.

Aiding the elderly with Prague’s Život90

Since	its	foundation	in	1990,	the	Czech	civic	association	Život90	has	

been	recognized	as	the	country’s	primary	relief	agency	for	Prague’s	

elderly	citizens.	In	2009,	JTI	launched	a	long-term	program	of	support	

for	Život90	with	a	fundraising	performance	at	the	National	Theatre.	

JTI	also	supports	a	number	of	Život90’s	individual	projects,	including	

its rehabilitation centers, and the telephone help-line at its “Portus 

House” community center.

Engaging with Japanese art and technology in Poland

Bringing Japanese culture to the world is a central tenet of our Cor-

porate Philanthropy policy. Since 2009, JTI has partnered with the 

Museum of Japanese Art and Technology Manggha, based in the 

historic	Polish	city	of	Krakow.	JTI	provides	financial	and	organizational	

support for events that attract more than 100,000 visitors annually. 

Recent JTI-partnered events at the venue include the Open Academy 

of Japanese Cinema and the Butoh Dance Festival.
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On-site meal preparation

BIFF official opening ceremony

Support for the fishing industry in the port of Ofunato, Iwate prefecture

The JTI Japan Disaster Relief Fund

Immediately after the Great East Japan Earthquake of March 2011, 

JTI established the Japan Disaster Relief Fund, and raised a total of 

nearly USD 6 million to assist victims of the catastrophe. The funds 

have been administered by the JTI Foundation, whose mission is to 

help	victims	of	disasters	across	the	world,	cooperating	with	organiza-

tions	that	specialize	in	disaster	relief	or	disaster-risk	reduction.	In	

collaboration	with	renowned	organizations	including	Peace	Winds	

Japan, AAR Japan and NICCO, the Fund has supported a variety of 

humanitarian projects – ranging from the delivery of food and essen-

tial non-food items, the provision of cash grants, supplying vehicles 

for people with disabilities – to financing community-based economic 

recovery projects in Japan’s most affected prefectures. The JTI 

Foundation will continue supporting medium- and long-term recovery 

projects, including the reconstruction and rehabilitation of community 

centers and other facilities vital for local communities. More informa-

tion about the JTI Foundation, and its partners and projects world-

wide, can be found at www.jtifoundation.org.

Partnering with the Busan International Film Festival

JTI is a partner of Korea’s Busan International Film Festival (BIFF), 

which promotes the development of new cinematic talent, and is 

one of Asia’s most significant film festivals. During the nine days of 

the 2011 Festival – attended by 190,000 people – BIFF focused on 

showcasing new films and first-time directors of Asian origin.

Disaster Relief Activities
JT Group companies in and outside Japan cooperate in disaster relief 

activities. Some disaster relief activities abroad are conducted 

through the JTI Foundation.

Disaster Relief in Areas hit by the Great East Japan Earthquake

The JT Group has conducted a variety of disaster relief activities, 

including monetary donations by group companies and employees 

and donation of relief goods. Immediately after the earthquake, we 

donated relief goods such as beverages and processed foods pro-

duced by the JT Group as well as winter clothes and prepared 

on-site meals.

We also support volunteer activities by JT Group employees.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012 037

O
p

e
r

a
t

iO
n

 &
 C

O
n

t
r

ib
u

t
iO

n



History of the JT Group

history in Japan from the early 20th century to 1984, 
when the Japan Tobacco inc. Law was enacted.
Our history in Japan dates back to 1898, when the government 

formed a monopoly bureau to undertake the exclusive sale of domes-

tic leaf tobacco. In the early 1900s, the government extended this 

JT is a joint stock corporation that was incorporated in 
April 1985 under the Commercial Code of Japan, pur-
suant to the Japan Tobacco Inc. Law, or the JT Law.

JT’s history in Japan dates back to 1898, when the 
government formed a monopoly bureau to operate 
the exclusive sale of domestic tobacco leaf.

The JT Group’s overseas history began with 
the founding of Austria Tabak in 1784. Roughly 70 
years later, Tom Gallaher started out in business in 

Before 1985

1784 1857

1891 1898

1949

19641957

1981

1954

1977

Northern Ireland, laying the foundations for Gallaher 
Group. Meanwhile, R.J Reynolds Tobacco Co. (RJR), 
which would subsequently create the Camel and 
 Winston brands, was established in 1874 in the US.

In this manner, the current JT Group can trace its 
origins to many different countries and regions such as 
Austria,  Northern Ireland, the US and Japan. The JT 
Group has a long history and extensive experience in 
the tobacco business.

monopoly to all tobacco products in Japan and to the domestic salt 

business. On June 1, 1949, the bureau was established and duly 

named the Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation, or JTS. This 

corporation helped to ensure the stable supply of tobacco and secure 

fiscal revenues for the government.

 l Austria Tabak is founded by Emperor Joseph II.

 l HOPE (10) is launched as Japan’s first domestically produced filter cigarettes.  l Silk Cut is launched.

 l Tom Gallaher sets up his business (Londonderry, Northern Ireland).

 l The Moscow-based Ducat factory is founded.  l The Japanese Monopoly Bureau is established for the sale of domestic 
leaf tobacco.

 l The Monopoly Bureau becomes the Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation.  l Winston is launched.

 l Mild Seven is launched (Japan).  l Mild Seven is launched internationally.
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18791874

1913 1931

1955 1956

The growth in demand for cigarettes in Japan began to slow in the 

mid-1970s as a result of demographic trends and growing concern 

about health risks associated with smoking. This trend continued, such 

that growth in industry sales essentially stopped. In addition to the 

structural change, the domestic tobacco market opened up substan-

tially to foreign suppliers, triggering competition between domestic 

and foreign tobacco products in Japan. Foreign countries stepped up 

pressure on Japan to take further measures to open the market that 

were difficult to implement within the framework of the monopoly 

tobacco sales system. Amid such pressure as well as moves toward 

the reform of government-run public corporations, a government panel 

was established in March 1981 to conduct research on the public 

corporation system. In its third report (July 30, 1982), the panel pro-

posed drastic reform of the monopoly and public corporation systems. 

In response to this proposal, the government conducted a comprehen-

sive review of these systems and drafted bills to:

 Abolish	the	tobacco	monopoly	law	to	liberalize	tobacco	imports	

and establish a tobacco business law to make necessary 

adjustments related to the tobacco business.

 Abolish	the	JTS	law,	reorganize	JTS	as	a	joint	stock	corporation	

so as to enable it to pursue rational corporate management as 

much as possible and establish the Japan Tobacco Inc. Law, 

which provides for a necessary minimum level of regulation in 

light of the corporation’s need to compete with foreign tobac-

co companies on an equal footing in the domestic market 

following	the	liberalization	of	tobacco	imports.

These bills were enacted on August 3, 1984 in the 101st session 

of the Diet and promulgated on August 10 of the same year. In April 

1985, JT was founded as an entity that took over the whole of the 

business operations and assets of JTS.

 l Sobranie is registered in London, to become one of the oldest cigarette brands 
in the world.

 l Camel is launched.

 l Gallaher is acquired by the American Tobacco Company.

 l Cellophane is introduced by RJR in order to preserve the freshness of tobacco.

 l RJR is founded by Richard Joshua Reynolds in Winston, North Carolina.

 l Benson & Hedges is acquired by Gallaher.  l Salem is launched.

 l Japan Tobacco Inc. Law is enacted.

 l Seven Stars is launched, featuring Japan’s first domestically produced charcoal filter.

Before 1985

1968

1984

1969
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The	corporate	history	of	JT	is	summarized	in	the	table	below.	As	for	

the international tobacco business, the history before JT’s acquisitions 

of RJR Nabisco’s non-US tobacco operations and Gallaher is included.

The operating environment for JT changed drastically in just two 

years after the foundation of the company, with the yen’s strong 

appreciation	following	the	Plaza	Accord	in	1985,	a	tobacco	tax	hike	in	

1986 and the abolition of tariffs on imported cigarettes in 1987. Amid 

the yen’s upsurge, a price increase for JT products due to the tobac-

co tax hike coupled with price cuts for imported cigarettes 

In and After 1985

1985 19881987

1995

2001

 l Acquisition of Liggett-Ducat (Russia).

2000

1997

2003

1996

20072006 2008

attributable to the tariff abolition eliminated the price advantage of JT 

products over imported products, which had stood at around ¥60 to 

¥80 when JT was founded in 1985. As a result, competition between 

JT and foreign tobacco makers intensified in the Japanese market, 

leading to a decline in JT’s market share from 97.6% in fiscal 1985 to 

90.2% in fiscal 1987. To cope with the rapid deterioration of the 

operating	environment,	JT	implemented	rationalization	measures	to	

enhance its cost-competitiveness and pursued diversification while 

taking measures to strengthen its marketing capability. In the 1990s, 

 april
	 l Japan Tobacco Inc. is established.
  (Japanese tobacco market opened to foreign 

tobacco manufacturers.)
	 l The Business Development Division is established 

to promote new businesses.
	 l The Business Development Division is later 

reorganized	into	operational	divisions	engaged	in	
the food and pharmaceutical businesses, finishing 
in July 1990.

 October
	 l “JT” communication name is introduced.

 april
	 l Import tariffs on imported cigarettes are abolished.

 May
	 l Head office is moved back to Minato-ku from 

 Shinagawa-ku following completion of new head 
office building.

	 l Peter I is launched (Russia).

 June
	 l Government releases second tranche of outstand-

ing JT shares (272,390 shares offered at 815,000 
yen apiece).

	 l	Acquisition	of	Tanzanian	tobacco	production	facility.

 april
	 l JT ends its salt monopoly business in line with 

abolition of the salt monopoly system.
	 l The Tobacco Mutual Aid Pension scheme is 

integrated into the Employees’ Pension scheme.

	 l American Brands spins off Gallaher which 
becomes Gallaher Group Plc and is listed on the 
London and New York stock exchanges.

 l Acquisition of Austria Tabak.  October
	 l JT repurchases 45,800 of its own shares to 

increase its management options.

 april
	 l JT implements a five-for-one stock split in order to 

expand the investor base, effective April 1, 2006.
 May
	 l Acquisition of AD Duvanska Industrija Senta in Serbia.

 January
	 l JT acquires a majority stake in Katokichi Co., Ltd. 

through a tender offer.
 april
	 l JT acquires a majority stake in Fuji Foods 

Corporation.
 July
	 l JT concentrates its processed food operations, 

including	frozen	food	operations	and	seasonings	
operations, at the Katokichi Group.

 april
	 l JT acquires all outstanding shares of Gallaher 

Group Plc.
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1992 1993 1994

19991998

2004 2005

Note: l Main topics of the JT Group.
 l Main topics of RJR Nabisco’s non-US operations before participating in the JT Group.
 l Main topics of Gallaher before participating in the JT Group.

JT’s competition with foreign rivals in the Japanese market intensi-

fied further. Furthermore, overall cigarette demand in Japan peaked 

out in the latter half of the 1990s due to a contraction of the adult 

population and growing concerns with health problems associated 

with smoking. Amid the increasingly difficult operating environment 

for	the	domestic	tobacco	business,	JT	took	additional	rationalization	

steps, pursued consolidation of operations in its areas of business 

diversification and expanded the international tobacco business, 

thereby strengthening its business foundation. JT significantly 

strengthened the international tobacco business by acquiring RJR 

Nabisco’s non-US tobacco operations in 1999 and Gallaher in 2007. 

With its international sales volume exceeding its domestic sales 

volume, the JT Group continues to grow as a global tobacco com-

pany. The international tobacco business is the engine of the JT 

Group’s profit growth through its comprehensive brand portfolio 

which includes Winston, Camel and Mild Seven as well as Benson & 

Hedges, Silk Cut, LD, Sobranie and Glamour.

 October
	 l Government releases first tranche of outstanding 

JT shares for initial public offering (394,276 shares 
offered at 1,438,000 yen apiece).

	 l JT stock is listed on the first sections of stock 
exchanges in Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya.

 november
	 l JT stock is listed on stock exchanges in Kyoto, 

Hiroshima, Fukuoka, Niigata and Sapporo.

	 l Acquisition of Yelets (Russia).

 September
	 l The Central Pharmaceutical Research Institute is 

established to enhance in-house research 
capabilities.

 l Acquisition of Manchester Tobacco Company Ltd.

	 l Acquisition of AS-Petro (Russia).

 May
	 l JT acquires the non-U.S. tobacco business of RJR Nabisco Inc.
 July
	 l JT acquires the food business of Asahi Kasei  Corporation, including Asahi Foods and seven other subsidiaries.
 October
	 l Under a business tie-up between JT and Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the two companies’ R&D operations 

related to medical pharmaceuticals are concentrated at JT, while their promotion operations are combined at 
Torii Pharmaceutical.

	 l LD launched (Russia).

 april
	 l JT signs an agreement with Unimat Corporation 

(currently, Japan Beverage Inc.) on a tie-up regard-
ing beverage business.

	 l JT later acquires a majority stake in Unimat.
 December
	 l JT acquires a majority stake in Torii Pharmaceutical 

Co., Ltd. through a tender offer.

 June
	 l Government releases third tranche of outstanding 

JT shares (289,334 shares offered at 843,000 yen 
a piece), reducing its stake in JT to the minimum 
level allowed under law.

 november–March 2005
	 l JT repurchases 38,184 of its own shares to 

increase its management options.

 april
	 l JT terminates a licensing contract under which it had exclusive rights to produce and sell  Marlboro brand products 

in Japan and use the Marlboro trademark in the country.
 June
	 l Acquisition of CRES Neva Ltd. (Russia).

	 l	Glamour	is	launched	(Russia,	Ukraine,	Kazakhstan).

 May
	 l JTI celebrates its 10th anniversary.
 June
	 l  JTI Leaf Services (US) LLC is established.
 October
	 l Acquisition of leaf suppliers Kannenberg & Cia. 

Ltda.	(Brazil)	and	Kannnenberg,	Barker,	Hail	&	
Cotton	Tabacos	Ltda.	(Brazil).

 november
	 l Acquisition of leaf suppliers Tribac Leaf Limited (UK).

 January
	 l Katokichi Co., Ltd. is renamed TableMark Co., Ltd.
 May
	 l Smokeless tobacco product Zerostyle Mint is 

launched. 

 March
	 l JT repurchases 58,630 of its own shares, as part of 

its shareholder return measures.
 november
	 l Acquisition of Haggar Cigarette & Tobacco Factory 

Ltd. (North Sudan) and Haggar Cigarette & Tobacco 
Factory Ltd. (South Sudan)

In and After 1985

2009 2010 2011
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Major differences
Consolidated statement of income in FY3/2012
 (billions of yen)

JGAAP Reclassification
Difference in recognition 
and measurement

IFRS

(1) Net sales 2,547.1 –513.0 –0.2 2,033.8 Revenue

(2) Operating income 374.7 –13.1 97.6 459.2 Operating profit
Non-operating income/losses –11.9 11.9 – –
Extraordinary income/losses –17.7 17.7 – –

– 6.4 –0.8 5.6 Financial income
– –22.9 –0.5 –23.4 Financial cost

Income before income taxes and 
minority interests 345.0 – 96.3 441.4 Profit before income taxes
Income taxes –110.5 – –2.3 –112.8 Income taxes

(3) Net income before minority interests 234.6 – 94.0 328.6 Profit for the year
Minority interests –7.2 –0.5 –7.7 

Net income 227.4 – 93.5 320.9 

Profit for the year (attribut-
able to owners of the 
parent company)

7.7 (non-controling interest)

EPS 
23,882.77 yen

EPS 
(attributable to owners of the parent company) 

33,700.97 yen
ROE 

15.0%
ROE 

(attributable to owners of the parent company) 
20.3%

Major impacts on the JT Group’s consolidated net income are as below.

• Suspension of periodic amortization of goodwill

• Treatment of retirement benefits

• Treatment of fixed assets

*EPS under IFRS is based on profits attributable to owners of parent company

Voluntary Adoption of IFRS from FY3/2012

The Japan Tobacco Group (JT Group) has been steadily growing as a global company, with current operations in 
more than 120 countries and territories, following acquisitions of the non-US tobacco business of RJR Nabisco 
Inc. in 1999 and Gallaher Group Plc in 2007.

In light of this, the JT Group has adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in order to 
improve international comparability of financial information in the capital markets and to diversify the Group’s 
sources of financing via international markets.

(1) Revenue

[Major difference]

•  Judging that sales related to distribution activities in the 

Japanese domestic tobacco business should be categorized 

as agent transactions, the accounting method has been 

changed to one which deducts the value of products 

involved in such transactions from revenue and COGS.

 (billions of yen)

JGAAP (Net sales) 2,547.1 
Deduction of purchase prices of agent transactions 
(Tobacco & Others) –502.1 
Change of treatment of some rebates (Pharma/Food 
business) 0.1 
Change of the recognition timing of some goods sales 
transaction (Pharma/Food business) –10.9 
Others –0.3 
IFRS (Revenue) 2,033.8 
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Non-GAAP measures, Adjusted EBITDA
To indicate consistent business performance, the JT Group dis-

closes “Adjusted EBITDA” as additional information useful for 

international comparison with foreign companies.

Adjusted EBITDA
“Adjusted EBITDA”=  

Operating profit under IFRS + depreciation of tangible fixed 

assets + amortization of intangible fixed assets + impairment 

losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs

Adjustments for the adjusted EBITDA by segments
 (billions of yen)

Reporting segment

Others Elimination Consolidated
Japanese 
domestic 
tobacco

International 
tobacco

Pharmaceuticals Food Total

Adjusted EBITDA 262.3 314.8 –10.0 20.0 587.0 –8.9 –1.0 577.1
Depretiation and Amortization –39.6 –55.2 –3.5 –17.5 –115.8 –3.4 0.3 –118.8
Impairment losses on goodwill – – – – – – – –
Restructuring-related income* – 0.6 – – 0.6 29.4 – 29.9
Restructuring-related costs* –13.4 –7.7 – –0.4 –21.6 –7.4 – –29.0

Operating profit (loss) 209.3 252.4 –13.5 2.0 450.1 9.7 –0.7 459.2

* Restructuring-related income includes restructuring income of gain on sales of real estates. Restructuring-related costs include restructuring costs of closing down the factory, cooperation fee 

for terminating leaf tobacco farming and adjustment of ceasing classification as non-current assets held-for-sale.

(2) Operating income/profit

[Major differences]

• Suspension of periodic amortization of goodwill

•  Changes regarding employment benefits: The impact in this 

respect derives mainly from immediate recognition of actu-

arial gains/losses (through other comprehensive income)

•  Change in the depreciation method from the declining bal-

ance method to the straight-line method

•  Items in non-operating income/expense and extraordinary 

profit/loss accounts under JGAAP are reclassified to COGS, 

other operating income and SG&A, respectively, under IFRS.

All of the gains/losses which do not fall under the category of 

financial gains/losses, including non-operating income/expenses 

and extraordinary gains/losses under JGAAP, are indicated in the 

upper row of the operating profit under IFRS.

Regarding fixed assets, the depreciation method applied to 

Japanese domestic companies has been changed to the straight-

line method. Assets for advertising/sales promotion are booked 

as expenses.

Actual gains and losses are booked directly as other compre-

hensive income and affect retained earnings without being 

counted as profit for the year.
 (billions of yen)

JGAAP (Operating income) 374.7 
Reclassification from non-operating income/expenses and 
extra ordinary income/losses  –14.7 
Posting of supplies as expense (e.g. goods for advertising) 0.7 
Tangible fixed assets (e.g. depreciation method) 1.9 
Employment benefits 12.1 
Suspending amortization of goodwill 82.8 
Others 1.6 
IFRS (Operating profit) 459.2 

(3) Profit
 (billions of yen)

JGAAP (Net income) 227.4 
Differences in recognition and measurement 93.5 
IFRS (Profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
parent company)

320.9 

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent company 

(equivalent to net income under Japanese GAAP) increased 

mainly due to differences in the recognition and measurement of 

the items above pretax income.

Whereas net income indicated under Japanese GAAP 

excludes minority interests, profit under IFRS are indicated as 

profit before the deduction of non-controlling interests and 

broken down as below, for example.

Profit    XXX

Owners of the parent company    XXX  �equivalent to net income 

under Japanese GAAPNon-controlling interests    XXX
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Current assets
1,195.8

Current assets
1,164.5

Non current assets
2,746.7

Current liabilities
1,101.5

Current liabilities
1,108.3

Non current liabilities
1,075.2

Equity
1,727.7

Non current liabilities
1,047.8

Net assets
1,723.3

Total liabilities 2,149.3 Total liabilities 2,183.4Non current assets
2,676.8

<JGAAP> <IFRS>

Total assets 
3,911.1

Difference  
4.0 billions of yen

Total assets
3,872.6

BPS 
(attributable to owners of  

the parent company) 

172,720.90 yen

BPS 
172,139.61 yen

(billions of yen) (billions of yen)

Major differences
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of April 1, 2010 (the date of transition to IFRS)

[Major differences]

•  Regarding the depreciation of tangible fixed assets under 

IFRS, the straight-line method is adopted.

•  Liabilities increased mainly due to a change in the recogni-

tion of employee benefit liabilities (On-balancing of unrec-

ognized actuarial gains/losses)

•  Cumulative exchange difference on translation of foreign 

operation at the transition date were transferred to retained 

earnings (reclassification within equity)

•  Regarding goodwill, the exemption provision prescribed 

IFRS 1 was applied in order to retain the carrying amount 

under Japanese GAAP (i.e. the outstanding balance as of the 

transition date)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the FY3/2012

Unifying the fiscal year
To become more competitive in the global capital market, the JT 

Group is continuing efforts to unify the fiscal year of group com-

panies into the January–December period by changing the statu-

tory fiscal years of JT and domestic subsidiaries to 

January–December.

[Major difference between Japanese GAAP and IFRS that arose after the opening B/S]

• Suspension of periodic amortization of goodwill after the transition date and effect of exchange rate changes

Current assets
1,350.8

Current assets
1,331.1

Non current assets
2,336.0

Current liabilities
1,114.1

Current liabilities
1,157.5

Non current liabilities
794.9

Equity
1,714.6

Non current liabilities
748.0

Net assets
1,610.5

Total liabilities 1,862.1Non current assets
2,121.8

<JGAAP> <IFRS>

Total assets
3,667.0

Total liabilities 1,952.4Difference  
104.0 billions of yen

Total assets
3,472.6

BPS 
(attributable to owners of  

the parent company) 

171,617.35 yen

BPS
160,570.98 yen

(billions of yen) (billions of yen)

A group-wide unification project has started with a view to 

implementing the unification into the January–December period 

in FY2015 after adopting a transitional nine-month fiscal year 

(April to December) in FY2014.
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1 Strategy 

(1) The JT Group

Japan Tobacco Inc. has a history of more than a century, with its 
origin dating back to 1898 when the monopoly bureau was 
founded for the exclusive trade of domestically grown tobacco 
leaf. Since its privatization in 1985, Japan Tobacco Inc. has 
focused on diversification and globalization. We have expanded 
tobacco business, our core business, globally through two large 
scale acquisitions, each of which represented the largest acquisi-
tion ever of a non-Japanese business by a Japanese company at 
that time. We have also diversified into the pharmaceutical and 
food businesses. Our business portfolio is now made up of these 
three businesses.

<Recognition of the business environment>
We recognize that the business environment in which the JT 
Group operates is growing increasingly uncertain due to the 
deterioration of the global economy caused by the intensifica-
tion of the European debt crisis and unstable political situations 
in some regions, including the Middle East. Developing greater 
adaptability is an essential task in order to achieve sustainable 
profit growth by leveraging on the uncertain business environ-
ment and adequately executing business on a global scale. 
“Adaptability” refers to the ability to assume a wider range of 
contingencies than in the past, during the planning phase, and 
to quickly and flexibly respond to changes and events that 
surpass our assumptions so that we can deal with increasing 
uncertainty over the future. We believe that how well and how 
quickly companies can respond to changes will be the key to 
determine their competitiveness.

<Management principles>
Our management principles are based on the pursuit of the “4S 
model” (“S” is for satisfaction). The model requires us to fulfill 
our responsibility towards four classes of stakeholders—consum-
ers, shareholders, employees and society, with a particular 
emphasis on consumers—in a well-balanced and high level 
manner ensuring satisfaction for all of them.

 We created our vision and mission based on the 4S model. 
Our vision is to become a company committed to global growth 
by providing diversified value that is uniquely available from JT 
Group. Our mission is to create, develop and nurture our unique 
brands to win consumer trust, while understanding and respect-
ing the environment and the diversity of societies and individuals.

In order to accomplish, we have set “The JT Group Way” as 
code of conduct which all of the JT Group members should 
make apply. The JT Group Way requires that we: fulfill the expec-
tations of our consumers and behave responsibly strive for qual-
ity in everything we do through continuous improvement and 

leverage diversity across the JT Group.
The JT Group has attained sustainable profit growth and will 

continue to do so through the pursuit of the 4S model. Since 
attaining sustainable profit growth requires us to continue to 
provide new value and satisfaction to consumers, we believe it is 
essential to steadily make business investments for future mid- 
to long-term profit growth. In addition, we believe that the pur-
suit of the 4S model will lead to a consistent increase in 
corporate value in the mid- to long-term and therefore that it is 
the best approach to serve the interests of all stakeholders.

<Resource allocation policy>
Concerning the mid-to long-term resource allocation of the JT 
Group, we will place top priority on business investments that 
will lead to sustainable profit growth in the medium and long 
term based on our management principles.

Of our three core businesses, we regard the tobacco busi-
ness as the core business and profit growth engine, so we place 
top priority on business investments that will lead to the sustain-
able profit growth of the tobacco business. In the meantime, we 
will invest and devote efforts to strengthen the business founda-
tions of the pharmaceutical and food business in order to gener-
ate future profits.

As we have decided to further pursue a competitive level of 
return of profits to shareholders, we will also set targets for the 
dividend payout ratio and the adjusted EPS growth. We will set a 
competitive dividend payout ratio target compared with global 
FMCG players including those in non-tobacco sectors. As for the 
adjusted EPS growth, we will in principal seek to achieve it 
through profit growth but will also flexibly consider buying back 
our shares as a supplementary measure.

If the government releases some of its holdings of JT shares 
in the fiscal year ending March 2013, we intend to buy back a 
certain amount of our shares in order to mitigate the equity 
market impact and to enhance adjusted EPS growth, subject to 
board approval.

Moreover, if the government’s obligation to hold JT shares is 
modified in the future, we will consider buying back our shares 
when the government-held shares are released.
* In accordance with the Act on Special Measures for Securing Financial Resources 

Necessary for Reconstruction from the Great East Japan Earthquake (Reconstruction 
Financing Act), which was endorsed and implemented on December 2, 2011, it has 
been decided that some government-held shares will be sold. It is also meaningful for 
JT that a supplementary provision of this act stipulates that the possibility of additional 
government-held shares being disposed of within the next 10 years should be consid-
ered on condition that “consideration be given to the government’s involvement in 
tobacco-related industries based on the tobacco business act.” 
 This may provide an opportunity for JT to take a significant step toward full privati-
zation, which we have consistently hoped for so that the company can execute 
business in a competitive environment that ensures an equal balance with global 
tobacco makers.

Management Commentary

I Goals and Strategies
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<Management targets>
The JT Group has set company-wide profit targets and a mid-to 
long-term guidance on shareholder return in accordance with the 
management principles and the resource allocation policy. The 
adjusted EBITDA growth rate and the consolidated dividend 
payout ratio remain our key performance indicators. In addition, 
from the fiscal year ending March 2013, we will also concentrate 
on the adjusted EPS growth rate in pursuit of a competitive level 
of shareholder returns.

As for the mid- to long-term adjusted EBITDA growth target, 
we will aim for mid to high single-digit annual average growth at 
constant rates of exchange.

Concerning the dividend payout ratio, we will aim to reach 
40% by the fiscal year ending March 2014 and then increase it in 
the medium term to 50%.

Concerning the adjusted EPS (diluted), we will aim for high 
single-digit annual average growth at constant rates of exchange.

Based on the concept of enhancing “adaptability,” starting 
with a new management plan from the fiscal year ending March 
2013, we have shifted from the previous management plan 
format of a three-year fixed plan (most recently used in JT-11, 
which covered fiscal 2009 to 2011) to a three-year rolling plan 
subject to annual updating, in order to appropriately respond to 
unexpected changes with a greater sense of urgency.

We will continue to provide numerical annual forecasts, in line 
with our current practice. In addition, we will provide guidance as to 
the mid- to long-term target for business performance benchmarks.

<Strategy>
As basic strategies for attaining our targets, we will strive for 
“achieving quality top-line growth,” “strengthening cost competi-
tiveness” and “strengthening business foundations”, implement-
ing the strategies based on the concept of selection and focus.

Mainly, we place emphasis on “achieving quality top-line 
growth” and concentrating resources in key brands and product 
categories, in order to increase value added to products and 
services, as described in the following explanations of business 
strategies.

Concerning “strengthening cost competitiveness,” we aim at 
improving profitability and enhancing cash generation capability 
by optimizing business and corporate costs and establishing 
quick and efficient business operation systems, while leveraging 
our efforts of maintaining and enhancing quality.

Additionally, we will reinforce our business continuity capabilities, 
as the experience of the Great East Japan Earthquake has reminded 
us of the importance of doing so. We will seek to simultaneously 
improve business continuity capabilities and cost competitiveness.

When strengthening business foundations, it is critical to 
accurately identify changes in the business environment and to 
keep ourselves ready to readjust in order to meet challenges 
without being constrained by precedents. We will make continu-
ous improvement efforts from that perspective. In addition, we 
will maximize synergies by leveraging the diversity of our global 

footprint as represented by our worldwide business operations, 
which are spread over more than 120 countries, and our global 
workforce, which represents more than 100 nationalities, and by 
promoting collaboration on a global scale. As we strongly 
believe that the quality of human resources is the key to busi-
ness activity and performance, we will strengthen human 
resource development.

In summary, we will maintain the 4S model as the basis of the 
JT Group’s management principles, enhance our ability to adapt 
to changes and consistently execute our growth strategy. 
Through these initiatives, we will achieve sustainable profit 
growth and continuously increase corporate value in the medium 
to long term.

(2) Tobacco Business

The tobacco business is the JT Group’s core business and profit 
growth engine and aims for annual average growth at a mid to 
high single-digit rate over the mid-to long-term. The Japanese 
domestic tobacco business acts as highly competitive platform 
of profitability, while the international tobacco business serves as 
the profit growth engine of the JT Group, generating more than 
50% of the Group profit.

<Quality top-line growth>
 zMaintaining and increasing shares in our key markets 
through brand equity enhancement

Over the past years, our tobacco business has grown its share in 
most of our key markets; this performance is mainly the result of 
our outstanding brand portfolio.

The strength of our portfolio was demonstrated, for instance, 
in our market share performance during and after the global 
economic turmoil triggered by the Lehman Brothers collapse. 
Our well-balanced portfolio allowed us to capture changes in 
consumers’ price preferences. Our market share performance 
was robust and enabled us to regain growth momentum at the 
outset of economic recovery.

In order to further grow market share, we will continue 
strengthening our brands, especially our Global Flagship Brands, 
through consistent investments.

Our Global Flagship Brands (GFBs) are Winston, Camel, Mild 
Seven, Silk Cut, Benson & Hedges, LD, Sobranie and Glamour.

These eight brands have been selected to form a portfolio 
which most effectively and efficiently meets a variety of con-
sumer needs on a global basis, including taste, price range and 
brand image, thereby, ensuring strong consumer loyalty.

The GFBs form the core of our brand portfolio. Within our 
GFBs, Winston, the world’s No. 2 brand, and Camel, sold in more 
than 100 countries, are the “engine brands” that drive quality 
top-line growth. Mild Seven, Silk Cut, Benson & Hedges and LD 
are our “stronghold brands,” holding strong positions in their 
respective regions and contributing to the enhancement of our 
brand portfolio. Sobranie and Glamour are positioned as “future 
potential brands” with strong growth expected in the future.
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Our brand investments will be heavily focused towards our 
GFBs, but at the same time we will also strengthen our local 
brands. These diverse local brands allow us to meet the unique 
preferences of the consumers and complement our brand portfo-
lios in the diverse markets and regions where we are active. In the 
Japanese market, for example, in addition to our GFB Mild Seven, 
our focus has been on local brands Seven Stars and Pianissimo and 
we will continue to invest in these brands to enhance their equity.

We will continue to focus our investments in innovation, as it 
is one of the most effective methods to enhance brand equity.

Our innovation efforts target five key elements which add 
value to our tobacco products: 1) tobacco blends, 2) flavors, 3) 
filters and other non-tobacco materials—these three are impor-
tant elements to determine quality of taste—4) capability to 
process these innovations into products and 5) package design, 
which is critical to visual quality.

We recognize the growing importance of connection espe-
cially at point-of-sale for “brand communications”* with consum-
ers, which support share gains.
* Use of mass media (TV, radio, newspapers and magazines) to promote tobacco 

products is severely restricted by regulations on advertisement and promotion.

With this in mind, we will enhance our trade marketing activi-
ties to improve point-of-sale visibility. Our approach will be tai-
lored to each market, where local regulations, the key sales 
channels, consumers’ purchasing patterns and competitors’ 
trade marketing tactics vary greatly among one another. The 
approach includes, for example, building mid-to long-term part-
nerships with key accounts and designing unique promotional 
activities for each account.

 z Broadening the base
Over the years, we have increased our presence as a leading 
global tobacco manufacturer through large-scale M&As, most 
notably RJR Nabisco’s non-US tobacco operations in 1999 and 
Gallaher Group Plc. in 2007.

The geographical expansion achieved with these two acquisi-
tions has been the main driver of our growth for over a decade. 
The success of these acquisitions, owing in part to the prompt 
postmerger integration within our business, has reinforced our 
global business base.

Our most recent acquisition was Haggar Cigarette & Tobacco 
Factory Ltd. (HCTF), which has the largest market share in Sudan 
and also operates in the new Republic of South Sudan. We 
agreed on the acquisition of HCTF in July 2011, and the company 
joined the JT Group in November.

JT announced the proposed acquisition of Gryson NV which 
has established an important presence in the Roll Your Own 
(“RYO”) (*1) and Make Your Own (“MYO”) (*2) market across sev-
eral European countries including France, Belgium, Luxembourg, 
Spain and Portugal, as well as in a number of other countries. 
We expect to complete the acquisition within the current year 
upon completion of the necessary procedures.
*1:  Roll Your Own: Fine cut tobacco to be used by a customer to roll a cigarette by hand, 

using rolling paper

*2:  Make Your Own: Fine cut tobacco to be used by a customer to make a cigarette, 
using a specialized tool and cigarette tubes

Moving forward, we will continue to seek out growth opportu-
nities. The strengthening of our tobacco business base as well as 
expansion into emerging markets will help promote organic 
growth. In addition, growth opportunities will be pursued by 
other strategic alternatives that may arise.

 z Creation of a new product category
Currently, the JT Group’s tobacco business focuses mainly on 
conventional cigarettes, while seeking business opportunities in 
the existing other tobacco product categories, such as cigars 
and pipes.

In addition, as the business environment and consumers’ 
needs evolve, we aim to introduce innovative new product cat-
egories, with unique value propositions. Developing an innova-
tive new category requires understanding of consumers’ 
preferences as well as regulations in each country or region. It is 
also challenging from a technological standpoint. Nevertheless, 
we see the creation of new categories as essential to our mid-to 
long-term growth, and we will aggressively invest to introduce 
innovative new product categories.

So far, the JT Group has launched “Zerostyle” in the Japanese 
market, a smokeless tobacco product which can be consumed 
without causing disturbance to those around the consumer.

The partnership agreement in December 2011 between the 
JT Group and Ploom Inc., a U.S. company, also illustrates our 
efforts towards this initiative. We believe that products sold 
under this agreement could add new choices for smokers.

We will continue to focus on the creation of new product 
categories, leveraging our own technologies as well as exploring 
external opportunities.

<Strengthening cost competitiveness>
Our tobacco business will persistently pursue continuous cost 
efficiency improvement of our operations, in particular with 
respect to the global supply chain, with an emphasis on agility 
and efficiency without compromising quality.

We will enhance our cost competitiveness by optimizing the 
global supply chain through various initiatives, including: further 
vertical integration in global leaf procurement; extended use of 
common non-tobacco materials; increased collaboration among 
suppliers; flexible procurement to benefit from attractive market 
prices; and improved inventory management for both tobacco 
and non-tobacco materials. Furthermore, enhanced productivity 
through realignment of manufacturing process and optimal level 
of capital expenditures will ensure conversion cost containment. 
We are also determined to improve our business continuity capa-
bility by securing options for sourcing and geographically spread-
ing critical functions. Specifically, we will ensure a framework of 
multiple supply sources, optimal manufacturing capacity alloca-
tion on a global basis and diversification of production capability 
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for priority SKUs (Stock Keeping Units).
We will improve our margin through increased cost efficiency 

while maintaining quality, and enhance cash flow generation by 
optimizing working capital and capital expenditures.

<Strengthening business foundations>
We believe that human resource development is the key driver 
of sustainable profit growth in the tobacco business.

The JT Group has business operations in more than 120 coun-
tries and territories and our diverse workforce of employees 
representing more than 100 nationalities is contributing to busi-
ness execution regardless of nationality, gender and age. We 
maximize synergies by leveraging this diversity and promoting 
collaboration on a global scale.

As we believe that the quality of human resources is the key 
to business activity and performance, we will strengthen human 
resource development and enhance our ability to recruit, develop 
and retain employees on a global basis.

The tobacco business remains committed to increasing its 
presence as a leading global tobacco manufacturer and further 
strengthening its role as the core business and profit growth 
engine of the JT Group, by steadily implementing the above 
business strategies.

(3) Pharmaceutical Business

The JT Group’s pharmaceutical business will strive to strengthen 
its earnings base through speedy and smooth market launch of 
compounds in late-stage development.

With this goal in mind, we will concentrate business resources 
on three priority areas where we have R&D experience and have 
built up know-how: 1) glucose and lipid metabolism, 2) virus 
research, and 3) immune disorders and inflammation. Our imme-
diate goal is to achieve profitability in the near future, while main-
taining our continued investments in R&D to realize medium- and 
long-term optimization of resource allocation.

<Strengthening the earnings base>
To strengthen the earnings base, we will step up efforts to 
achieve speedy and smooth market launch of compounds in late 
development stage and promote R&D on next-generation strate-
gic products as key tasks.

Regarding speedy and smooth market launch of compounds 
in the late-development stage, we have enhanced our pipeline of 
compounds in advanced stages of clinical trial, as we had com-
mitted to JT-11, our previous mid-term management plans. For 
example, in the latest development, Gilead Sciences Inc., a 
licensee of our JTK-303 (elvitegravir) integrase inhibitor, applied 
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in October 2011 and 
the European Medicines Agency in November 2011 for approval 
to market this compound in combination tablet form.

Two other compounds, including one being developed by a 
licensee, are also in the final stage of clinical trial. Going for-
ward, we will make every effort to gain regulatory approval and 

achieve market launch in Japan and abroad as soon as possible. 
We will also set forth a sales strategy for maximizing the value of 
our compounds through enhanced cooperation with Torii Phar-
maceutical Ltd., a group company, and licensing partners.

We recognize that “promoting R&D on next-generation strate-
gic products” is a key task from the perspective of the sustain-
able development of the JT Group’s pharmaceutical business. 
Market launch of new drugs has become increasingly difficult in 
recent years. However, the JT Group will explore appropriate 
drug development opportunities by collecting information con-
cerning unmet needs of medical facilities around the world. We 
will also conduct flexible research management, carefully tailored 
to each drug candidate.

With the intensification of worldwide R&D competition, we 
recognize that it is essential to define a sophisticated development 
strategy that takes into account of the requirements of medical 
facilities and implementation of clinical tests quickly. In addition, as 
we recognize that delivering new drugs to as many patients as 
possible at the earliest possible date contributes to the maximiza-
tion of the value of drugs, we will continue to out-license com-
pounds to other companies, particularly global pharmaceutical 
companies, and aggressively explore alliance opportunities.

We have a strong track record of out-licensing. In the year 
ended March 31, 2005, we licensed JTK-303, an anti-HIV drug, to 
Gilead Sciences, a U.S. company. In the year ended March 31, 
2007, we out-licensed a pre-trial-stage new compound (MEK 
inhibitor) to GlaxoSmithKline and a pre-trial-stage antibody (Anti-
ICOS monoclonal antibody) to MedImmune.

In order to conduct R&D activity in an effective manner, we 
recognize the urgent requirement of training personnel who can 
collect accurate information regarding unmet needs and use the 
information to formulate a sophisticated development strategy, 
as well as train personnel who can play an active role on a 
global scale.

(4) Food Business

The JT Group’s food business focuses on three business areas, 
precisely beverages, processed foods, and seasonings. We will 
make continuous improvement efforts and seek to strengthen 
profit-generating capabilities in these three areas. Our top priority 
for the moment is enhancing profitability in the Japanese market. 
Our efforts will be devoted to strengthening our business foun-
dation in order to reach our objective.

<Quality top-line growth>
In the beverage business, we will continue to seek to strengthen 
our brands, most notably our core “Roots” brand, as well as 
sales capabilities.

During recent years, the “Roots” brand has been one of the 
fastest-growing products in sales volume in the canned coffee 
category, driven by effective marketing activities. Most notably, 
the “Aroma Bottle” series, which includes “Roots Aroma Black,” 
holds the No. 1 market share in the bottle canned coffee 
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category (according to the sales results of the “Roots” bottle 
canned series including “Roots Aroma Black” in the bottle 
canned coffee category in January 2011 through December 2011 
as surveyed by Intage MBI).

We will enhance and expand our brand portfolio of attractive 
products meeting consumer needs based on innovative ideas in 
light of the analysis of sales data with Roots as our core brand. 
At the same time, effective advertising and sales promotion 
plans will be developed. Through these measures we seek to 
enhance our competitiveness in the food business. In addition, 
we will continue to seek to enhance and improve the sales chan-
nels of our beverage vending machine operator subsidiary, Japan 
Beverage Inc. This will be achieved through strengthened part-
nerships with our accounts and further research on consumers.

TableMark Co., Ltd. and its group companies (“TableMark”), 
which are part of the JT Group, are taking the central role in our 
processed food business. We will focus on staple foods, such as 
frozen noodles, frozen rice, packed rice and frozen bread, as well 
as yeast products. These are categories where we have strong 
products and established market shares. We will seek to achieve 
an operating profit margin on par with, or above, industry average 
over the medium term by concentrating resources in this area.

Specifically, in the area of product line-up, we plan to create 
products that offer good value for the price from consumers’ 
perspective while using our unique technology. This will be 
achieved by improving our ability to identify consumers’ needs, 
generate ideas based on the identified needs, and transform the 
generated ideas into products. Concerning marketing, we will 
develop effective and efficient advertising and promotional activi-
ties in line with this product strategy and reinforce our trade 
marketing capabilities. By adopting these measures, we aim to 
further expand our market share.

In the seasoning business, we will focus on yeast products 
available only by using our unique technology and seasonings 
solely made of natural ingredients such as extracts from quality 
materials. We intend on expanding our market share by providing 
a broader product line-up that meets consumers’ wide-ranging 
needs. Fuji Foods Corporation, a subsidiary of TableMark will lead 
this business operation.

<Strengthening cost competitiveness >
In the beverages business, we plan on increasing profitability by 
curbing raw materials procurement costs. In addition, we will 
continue our efforts to reduce fixed costs. In particular, efficien-
cies and effectiveness will be pursued by cost savings through 
better alignment of product and sales strategies. Cost manage-

ment practices will also be reinforced at Japan Beverage Inc.
In the processed food business, we have a variety of cost 

containment programs, including strengthening our raw materials 
procurement capabilities, efficiently managing the distribution 
network, and improving the productivity of the JT Group facto-
ries. In addition, consistent group-wide efforts will be made to 
lower fixed costs, including more efficient use of sales activity 
expenditures. This will be completed through better selection 
and focus of promotional activities.

In the seasoning business, cost efficiencies will be achieved 
by fixed cost reduction through factory consolidation, enhanced 
productivity in both international and Japan domestic manufactur-
ing facilities, and utilization of seasonings produced in our pro-
cessed food operation.

<Strengthening business foundations>
 z Food Safety Control

JT has until now strived to enhance food safety control through 
three major initiatives—“reducing risk,” “improving consumer 
response” and “strengthening the institutional capability.”

We believe that these initiatives have developed a robust food 
safety control system that deserves to be trusted by customers. 
In the future, we will evolve these initiatives from four perspec-
tives—“food safety,” “food defense,” “food quality” and “food 
communication”—so that we can deliver safe and high-quality 
food products for your loved ones.

Regarding “food safety,” we will seek to minimize risks by 
utilizing food safety management systems already introduced so 
as to prevent customers from being exposed to risks.

Regarding “food defense,” we will utilize the already implemented 
integrated program for risk management in order to prevent external 
purposeful attacks, such as malicious tampering with products.

Regarding “food quality,” we will pursue “deliciousness,” 
which should be the fundamental quality of foods, and will strive 
to prevent product failure.

Regarding “food communication,” we will conscientiously 
listen to the voices of customers and actively provide information 
so as to make our activities more visible to the outside.

 z Human resource development
Development of human resources that support our business 
activities is critically important. Competence development pro-
grams as well as appropriate career paths of our employees will 
be created and implemented. Particular emphasis will be placed 
on developing our personnel to become highly qualified market-
ing experts.

2 Key Performance Indicators 

The core strategies of the JT Group are quality top-line growth, 
competitive cost base and business foundation reinforcement. 
For “quality top-line growth” and “competitive cost base,” we 

assess quantitatively our progress of the strategies, mainly using 
the performance indicators in the following page.
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We also monitor respective indicators, mainly dividend, for 
shareholder return.

Revenue
• Indicator to monitor quality top-line growth
•  Definition: Revenue excluding taxes and revenue for transac-

tions in which the JT Group acts as an agent.
Core revenue
•  Indicator to monitor quality top-line growth
•  Definition: Revenue of tobacco business generated by sale of 

the JT Group’s brands. This excludes revenues from the distri-
bution business and other non-core businesses.

Tobacco sales volume
•  Indicator to monitor quality top-line growth
•  Definition: Sales volume of the JT Group brand tobacco 

products
GFB sales volume
•  Indicator to monitor quality top-line growth
•  Definition: Sales volume of total of eight brands, Winston, 

Camel, Mild Seven, Benson & Hedges, Silk Cut, LD, Sobranie 
and Glamour

Adjusted EBITDA
•  Indicator to monitor quality top-line growth and competitive 

cost base
•  Definition: Operating profit excluding depreciation, amortiza-

tion, impairment losses on goodwill, and restructuring-related 
income and costs

Consolidated dividend payout ratio
•  Indicator to monitor return to shareholders
•  Definition: Ratio of dividend per share divided by basic earnings 

per share.
Dividend per share
•  Indicator to monitor return to shareholders
•  Definition: The sum of interim and year-end dividends per 

share, which record dates are during the relevant fiscal year
Adjusted EPS (diluted)
•  Indicator to monitor the balance between profit growth and 

return to shareholders
•  Definition: Earnings per share calculated by dividing profit for 

the year attributable to owners of the parent company less 
impairment losses on goodwill, and restructuring-related 
income and costs by the average number of diluted shares 
during the year

1 Industry Trends 

The JT Group is a global company that operates in the Japanese 
domestic and the international tobacco business, as well as the 
pharmaceutical business (prescription drugs) and the food busi-
ness (beverages, processed foods and seasonings).

(1) Tobacco Business

 �Global tobacco industry
<Tobacco products>
There are various types of tobacco products, including: cigarettes, 
cigars and pipe tobaccos, which generate smoke that consumers 
inhale by burning tobacco leaves; chewing tobacco, which is 
consumed by chewing processed tobacco leaves; and snuff, 
which is a powder tobacco inhaled through the nose. Currently, 
cigarettes are the most popular tobacco product consumed 
around the world. Cigarettes are categorized into Ready Made 
Cigarettes (RMC) and Other Tobacco Products (OTP), the latter 
including products known as RYO and MYO. RYO and MYO are 
attracting growing demand, driven by diversified consumer 
needs, and becoming increasingly popular, particularly in Europe.

We expect consumers’ needs to be diversified even more, 
but to be continuously centered around cigarettes as they are 
now (In the following pages, “tobacco product” or “tobacco” 
means “cigarette” unless otherwise specified.).

Worldwide, the industry is severely restricted by regulations, 
notably on ingredients, packaging, smoking areas, promotion and 
advertisement. We expect that tobacco control laws and stan-
dards will further expand and tighten in the years to follow.

The JT Group abides by the rules and regulations of the coun-
tries in which we operate, but we will continue our efforts to 
seek appropriate and reasonable measures against any dispro-
portionate regulation by engaging relevant governments, regula-
tors and stakeholders.

<Industry volume trend>
Approximately 5.7 trillion cigarettes are consumed annually 
around the world, including China, which accounts for a third of 
the global tobacco consumption.

Globally, the industry volume increases in the emerging mar-
kets generally offset the decreases in the mature markets. In the 
mature markets, the industry volumes have been declining 
mainly due to a number of structural factors, such as demo-
graphic changes, tax increases, smoking ban in public areas and 
tightening regulations on promotions and advertising. In the 
emerging markets, the industry volumes have been increasing, 
driven by population expansion and economic growth, mainly in 
Asia, the Middle East and Africa.

II Business and Industry
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Global gross sales value has been slightly increasing driven by 
tax-led price increases. Even in 2009, when the industry volumes 
declined by 0.25% compared to the previous year due to the 
economic downturn, gross sales value increased by 0.12% com-
pared to the previous year. (source: Euromonitor International).

In the mid-term, these trends are expected to continue. It is 
relatively easy to make future demand forecasts of tobacco prod-
ucts. However, it is becoming increasingly difficult to make 
demand forecasts, due to a variety of factors including, but not 
limited to, growing uncertainty over economies and the ongoing 
tightening of regulation.

The table below shows the top 10 countries by tobacco con-
sumption volumes for the past five years.
(billion cigarettes)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

China 2,057.8 2,143.1 2,229.2 2,316.7 2,406.2

Russia 373.0 393.5 390.0 383.1 375.1

USA 366.6 353.0 320.7 309.1 299.1

Japan 260.5 248.8 235.1 217.9 195.9

Indonesia 160.1 167.7 173.8 181.6 190.0

India 100.1 97.6 96.3 98.6 102.8

Vietnam 83.1 81.0 89.9 95.3 97.7

Philippines 93.4 99.5 94.8 101.4 97.4

Turkey 107.5 107.9 107.5 93.4 91.2

South Korea 91.3 94.2 94.2 90.5 89.9

Source: Euromonitor

<Market players>
Excluding China, there are four major global tobacco manufactur-
ers: Philip Morris International, British American Tobacco, the JT 
Group and Imperial Tobacco. These four companies, when com-
bined, account for around two-thirds of the global sales volume, 
excluding China. The Chinese market is the world’s largest 
tobacco market and is exclusively operated by China National 
Tobacco Corporation, a State-owned monopoly.

The major global tobacco companies have strongly grown 
their share in the global tobacco market, mainly through M&As. 
In the years ahead, we believe that major players will pursue 
growth opportunities in emerging markets.

The table below shows the worldwide market share of the 
four major global tobacco manufacturers and China National 
Tobacco Corporation.
(Market share: %)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

China National Tobacco Corp 
(CNTC) 36.0 36.9 38.1 39.4 40.5

Philip Morris International Inc – 14.3 14.3 14.9 14.9

British American Tobacco Plc 11.5 12.5 12.3 12.2 12.2

Japan Tobacco Inc 9.5 9.5 9.2 8.9 8.3

Imperial Tobacco Group Plc 3.1 4.9 5.3 5.1 5.0

Source: Euromonitor

<Changes in consumers’ preference>
In general, tobacco products are consumed in similar formats 
around the world. However, the tastes (menthol or non-menthol, 
etc.), diameters and lengths, as well as price ranges vary across 
the markets, reflecting consumers’ diverse preferences.

We expect consumers’ preferences towards tobacco prod-
ucts will continue to diversify as consumers’ lifestyles evolve.

<Brands>
Brand is one of the most important assets in the tobacco industry. A strong global brand provides a significant competitive advantage 
to the brand owner. The major global tobacco manufacturers have been focusing particularly on brand enhancement and portfolio build-
ing through long-term investments. The JT Group holds 3 of the top 10 best-selling brands in the world: Winston, Mild Seven and 
Camel. The table below shows the world wide market share by brands.
(Unit: million sticks)

Brand Company name 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Marlboro • Philip Morris International Inc.  • Altria Group Inc. 428,509 431,146 414,506 413,897 407,903

Winston • Japan Tobacco Inc.  • Reynolds American Inc. 109,483 119,236 117,516 115,456 116,142

Pall Mall • British American Tobacco Plc  • Reynolds American Inc. 62,055 75,090 87,095 96,905 100,900

L&M • Philip Morris International Inc. 91,964 93,837 91,786 88,119 86,727

Kent • British American Tobacco Plc. 53,729 62,907 62,064 64,042 69,032

Mild Seven • Japan Tobacco Inc. 75,660 77,875 74,340 71,870 68,105

Camel • Japan Tobacco Inc.  • Reynolds American Inc. 89,635 84,371 79,355 72,350 61,588

Cleopatra • Eastern Company SAE 51,614 52,573 53,563 54,873 54,626

Gold Flake • ITC Group  • British American Tobacco Plc 54,136 56,728 54,585 53,763 53,851

Gudang Garam • Gudang Garam Tbk PT 47,061 47,433 48,779 52,285 53,525

Source: Euromonitor
Excluding China National Tobacco Corp (CNTC)
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 (Years ended March 31)

Smoking Incidence 
(%) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total (%) 26.0 25.7 24.9 23.9 21.7

Male (%) 40.2 39.5 38.9 36.6 33.7

Female (%) 12.7 12.9 11.9 12.1 10.6

Source: JT “Japan Smoking Rate Survey”

<Changes in consumers’ preferences>
In Japan, the 1-mg tar products and menthol products are 
becoming more popular and their market shares are growing.

We expect the Japanese consumers’ preferences will further 
diversify, similarly to those of global consumers.

<Brands>
As explained earlier, brand is one of the most important assets for 
the tobacco industry and the Japanese market is no exception.

The table below shows the top 10 selling products in Japan 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. The top 10 products 
combined account for approximately 30% of the total sales 
volume in the market, and JT owns 8 of them.

This fact demonstrates consumers’ confidence in us and our 
brands. Going forward, we will continue to enhance our strong 
brand equity.
 (Year ended March 31, 2012)

Product Brand 
Owner Share(%)

1 Seven Stars JT 4.3

2 Mild Seven Super Lights JT 4.0

3 Mild Seven Lights JT 3.3

4 Mild Seven One 100’s Box JT 3.2

5 Mild Seven JT 3.0

6 Mild Seven Extra lights JT 2.7

7 Marlboro Lights Menthol Box PMJ* 2.6

8 Echo JT 1.8

9 Kent 1 100 Box BATJ** 1.8

10 Caster Mild JT 1.8

*  PMJ: Philip Morris Japan
** BATJ: British American Tobacco Japan
Source: The Tobacco Institute of Japan

(2) Pharmaceutical Business

Our pharmaceutical business activities focus on R&D, production 
and sales in the prescription drugs category.

<Global pharmaceutical industry>
In the fiscal year 2010, the global pharmaceutical market value 
reached $856.4 billion. North America accounted for approxi-
mately 39%, followed by Europe with 28% and Japan with 11% 
(Copyright 2012 IMS Health). In the years ahead, pharmaceutical 
sales are expected to grow strongly in Asia and Central and 
South America.

<Tobacco leaf>
Tobacco leaf is an agricultural product grown in more than 100 
countries around the world. China is the world’s largest leaf 
tobacco producer. China, Brazil and the USA combined account 
for approximately 50% of the global production. The table below 
shows estimated leaf production in crop year 2012.
(Unit: Thousands of tons)

Flue-Cured Burley Others

North & Central America 
+ Caribbean 255 116

USA 227 91

South America 687 132

Brazil 590 81

Europe + CIS 134 48

Africa + Middle East 334 206

Asia + Oceania 3,187 125

PRC 2,579 37

World Total 4,596 628 340

Source:  World Leaf Production as of 18 May 2012 (Universal Leaf Tobacco Company, Inc.)

<Illicit trade>
One of the most serious issues in the tobacco industry is the 
increase of illicit trade, including smuggling and counterfeit prod-
uct distribution.

Illicitly traded products not only significantly damage the cred-
ibility of brands and the companies that own those brands, but 
also negatively affect governments’ tax revenues. Therefore, we 
and other tobacco companies are working with government 
agencies in each country to eliminate illicit trade.

 �Japanese tobacco industry
<Industry volume trend>
Industry volumes in Japan have been declining, mainly due to 
structural factors such as repeated excise tax increases, the 
contraction of the adult population, growing awareness of health 
risks associated with smoking and tightening regulation. This 
trend is expected to continue, but we believe that Japan will 
remain as an important market for the global players.
 (Years ended March 31)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Industry volume 
(Billion sticks) 258.5 245.8 233.8 210.2 197.5

Source: The Tobacco Institute of Japan

 (Years ended March 31)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

JT Sales Volume 
(billion cigarettes) 167.7 159.9 151.8 134.6 108.4

JT Market Share (%) 64.9 65.1 64.9 64.1 54.9

Source: JT

The table at the top of the next line in this page shows smok-
ing incidence in Japan over the past five years.
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For major diseases, a shift to generic drugs is accelerating 
due to two factors. First, in major developed countries, govern-
ments are implementing measures to restrain expenditures on 
pharmaceutical products in an effort to curb the growing medical 
care expenses caused by the rapid aging of the population. 
Second, patent rights of major pharmaceutical products have 
started to expire.

Commercialization of new drugs has become increasingly 
difficult in recent years, as a result of tightened approval proce-
dures aiming to increase drug safety.

Taking this into consideration, we expect to see more cross-
border M&As by major pharmaceutical companies, particularly by 
United States and European companies. These M&As will focus 
on strengthening of the business foundations, more specifically 
increasing presence and establishing the sales networks in the 
emerging markets where there is future potential in addition to 
enhancement of R&D capabilities.

<Japanese pharmaceutical industry>
According to the Survey of Pharmaceutical Industry Productions 
issued by the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, the Japa-
nese pharmaceutical market was valued at ¥6,170.0 billion in 
2010. Over the past 10 years, the market has grown moderately 
at a cumulative annual growth rate of 1.7%. The market is 
expected to continue to expand, albeit slightly, as aging of the 
population drives growth in medical care expenses, before flat-
tening out over the long term.

Pharmaceutical products can be divided into two types of 
drugs: prescription drugs and over-the-counter drugs, with the 
former accounting for the majority of drug sales in Japan. 
Regarding prescription drugs, the government has been promot-
ing a shift to generics as well as reducing the prices on a regular 
basis, with a view to controlling medical care expenses. Conse-
quently, the Japanese generic drug market is expanding and this 
trend will continue as the market is still small compared to that 
of the United States and Europe.

In line with the global trends, the approval procedures for new 
drugs have become more restrictive in Japan, making commer-
cialization increasingly difficult.

Industry reorganization is proceeding in Japan as in the United 
States and Europe. We believe industry consolidation will not be 
limited to Japanese pharmaceutical companies, and we expect 
cross-border M&As to also increase.

(3) Food Business

The JT Group focuses mainly on the production and sales of 
beverages, processed foods and seasonings. Our subsidiary 
TableMark plays the central role in the processed food and sea-
soning businesses.

<Japanese beverages industry>
The sales volume of the Japanese beverages market is approxi-
mately 1,749 million cases (Source: Inryo Soken Inc. Data of 

packaged products including cans, PET bottles and glass bottles). 
It is significantly affected by weather conditions including tem-
perature, as well as by the economic conditions.

Popular beverage categories in Japan are tea-based drinks, 
coffee, juice, carbonated drinks and mineral water.

Many companies, both domestic and international, are selling 
beverages in Japan, including the JT Group, Coca-Cola Group, 
Suntoryfoods, Kirin Beverage, ITO EN and Asahi Soft Drinks.

Key sales channels in Japan include supermarkets, vending 
machines, and convenience stores. Sales volume share stands at 
around 36% for supermarket stores, 33% for vending machines, 
21% for convenience stores and 11% for other sales channels 
(source: Inryo Soken Inc. Data of packaged products including 
bins, cans and PET bottles).

In general, supermarket stores frequently offer price dis-
counts, while vending machines and convenience stores main-
tain regular prices. However, the trend of consumer down trading 
has led to the emergence of vending machines offering dis-
counts and to the growing popularity of private-label products, 
causing price competition to intensify.

Price competition is driven also by wholesalers and retailers. We 
will continue to keep a close watch on the developments of the 
various activities within these sales channels, especially M&As.

<Japanese processed food and seasoning industries>
Processed foods sold in Japan include grain-based foods, such as 
noodles, packed rice and bread, and meat and fish. Seasoning 
products include raw seasonings, such as yeast and other 
extracts, basic seasonings, such as soy sauce and miso, and pro-
cessed seasonings, such as mayonnaise and other condiments.

The business environment for the Japanese processed food 
and seasoning businesses is challenging, as the prices of the raw 
materials, such as wheat, are rising despite the moderate defla-
tion caused by the prolonged economic stagnation.

TableMark is competing against the major players like Nichirei, 
Ajinomoto, Maruha Nichiro Foods and Nissui as well as a multi-
tude of mid- or small-scale producers in the Japanese processed 
food and seasoning markets. Meanwhile, the wholesale and 
retail industries are consolidating as a consequence of the busi-
ness partnerships and integrations among the major players and, 
therefore, the competition level is increasing.

Frozen food is the key segment in TableMark’s processed 
food business. The size of the Japanese frozen food market has 
stabilized (approximately ¥840 billion on a consumption basis, 
including the imports in 2010, according to the JT’s estimates) 
after experiencing a temporary decline. Some categories are 
growing, including staple food products such as frozen noodles 
and frozen bread, which are main pillars for TableMark.

Just like the beverage business, the processed food and 
seasoning businesses are significantly affected by not only con-
sumers’ needs, but also developments in the wholesale and 
retail sales channels. Therefore, we will monitor the develop-
ment of these channels, especially in the area of M&As.
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2 Descriptions of Business

(1) Tobacco Business

The JT Group’s tobacco business has the third largest sales volume 
in the world (excluding China National Tobacco Corporation) and 
operates in over 120 markets. Our portfolio includes 3 of the top 
10 selling global brands.

<R&D>
We are committed to strengthening our R&D capabilities to 
ensure a long-term competitive advantage. Our focus areas in 
the R&D activities are the development of new leaf tobacco 
varieties, improvement of tobacco leaf processing, enhancement 
of taste, upgrade of manufacturing technology, and continuous 
progress on emerging product development capabilities. We aim 
to add value to our products in these focus areas in a cost effi-
cient manner.

We have established a global research platform in Japan 
which, focuses on the fundamental research and product tech-
nology development. To best meet consumers’ needs and pref-
erences, our market teams are continuously engaged in the 
product development.

<Procurement of tobacco leaves>
The supply of tobacco leaves, raw materials used in manufactur-
ing tobacco products, is affected by a variety of factors, such as 
climate conditions, agricultural input prices, and energy costs. As 
a result of an increase in costs, the supply of tobacco leaves has 
been unstable, leading to the fluctuations in tobacco leaf prices. 
Given these circumstances, the JT Group aims to secure a stable 
supply and ensure competitive leaf purchase prices. This will be 
achieved through further vertical integration and strengthening of 
our relationships with our leaf suppliers.

 z Procurement of non-Japan origin tobacco leaf
The JT Group sources leaves both internally, from major 
tobacco leaf producing countries (the United States, Brazil, 
Malawi, etc.), and externally, mainly from the two leading inter-
national suppliers.

Our internal source was established in 2009, when we 
acquired the tobacco leaf suppliers (in Brazil and in Africa), and 
we set up a U.S. joint venture operation. Since then, our efforts 
have been focused on ensuring the stable procurement through 
vertical integration, strengthening quality control by supporting 
farmers, and reinforcing the leaf procurement organization by 
developing our expertise in this area.

 z Procurement of Japan origin tobacco leaves
In Japan, the Tobacco Business Act (“Ordinance”) requires us to 
enter into purchase contracts with tobacco farmers every year 
and purchase the entire usable tobacco harvest.

The aggregate cultivation area size and leaf prices for the 
subsequent year are determined respecting the recommenda-

tions from the Leaf Tobacco Deliberative Council.*
Following the tax hike in 2010, our sales volume in the Japa-

nese domestic market experienced a steep decline. In response, 
we looked for farmers who would apply for the termination of 
tobacco cultivation before concluding another contracts for the 
fiscal year 2012. The applications totaled 4,453 hectares and the 
size of the cultivation area covered by our purchase contracts in 
fiscal year 2012 is expected to decline by around 30% from the 
previous year.
* The Leaf Tobacco Deliberative Council is a council which confers on important matters 

concerning the cultivation and purchase of domestically grown leaf tobacco in response 
to inquiries by the JT representatives. The council consists of no more than 11 mem-
bers, who represent domestic leaf tobacco growers as well as appointees from the 
academia appointed by JT with the approval of the Minister of Finance (MOF).

<Manufacturing>
We devote our efforts to manufacture quality tobacco products 
that strengthen consumers’ confidence. Our global manufactur-
ing footprint include 10 factories in Japan (6 tobacco manufactur-
ing and 4 tobacco-related factories), and 28 factories in 25 other 
countries (including tobacco-related factories) as of the end of 
May 2012. In a limited number of cases, we also partner with 
competing manufacturers under contracts and or license agree-
ments to manufacture our products.

The Great East Japan Earthquake which occurred on March 11, 
2011 damaged some of our factories in Japan and forced us to 
temporarily suspend the shipments, causing inconvenience and 
distress to consumers, retailers and many others. The damaged 
facilities have since then resumed production, and our production 
capacity has been restored to the pre-earthquake levels.

<Marketing>
To enhance brand loyalty, we are conducting extensive and effec-
tive marketing activities in accordance to the various regulations 
and standards.

Globally, our marketing activities are focused predominately 
on GFBs, while complementing our brand portfolio by promoting 
local brands as well.
* For the details of regulations and standards, please refer to “II Business and Industry 

3. Regulations”

<Retail prices>
In setting a retail price for a product, we consider various factors, 
including positioning of the brand, perceived value of the prod-
uct, retail price of competing products, and our margin. In addi-
tion, there are regulations that influence our price-setting 
decisions. For example, some countries adopt a fixed retail price 
requirement, and forms of excise taxation on tobacco products 
(specific and/or ad valorem) differ among the countries. Retail 
price changes most often occur in case of tax increase. Globally, 
governments increase taxes to secure tax revenues and promote 
public health.
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<Sales (distribution)>
To ensure that our products are delivered to consumers, we use 
optimal distribution networks for each market in accordance with 
the legal constraints, established local business practices, and 
other factors. Our distribution networks can be independent 
distribution networks or local agencies and distributors.

There are various sales channels for tobacco products; chain 
stores such as convenience stores, gas stations and supermar-
kets, small independent retailers and vending machines. The 
contribution of each channel to the total industry sales varies 
from market to market. Accordingly, we develop different trade 
marketing initiatives for each market, depending on the focus 
channels as well as consumer trend and competitors’ strategies.

(2) Pharmaceutical Business

JT commenced the pharmaceutical business in 1987. Our mission 
is to build world-class, unique R&D capabilities and reinforce our 
market presence through innovative drugs. The pharmaceutical 

business focuses on the development, production, and sale of 
prescription drugs.

In December 1998, the JT Group acquired a majority of the 
outstanding shares in Torii Pharmaceutical Ltd. After the acquisi-
tion, all production as well as sales and promotion functions 
were integrated under Torii Pharmaceutical, while all R&D func-
tions were grouped under JT.

In April 2000, we established an R&D base outside Japan by 
adding a clinical development function to Akros Pharma Inc., a JT 
Group company based in the state of New Jersey, United States.

In order to establish and strengthen our earnings base, we 
are enhancing our R&D pipeline, exploring opportunities for 
strategic in- or out-licensing and strengthening collaboration with 
license partners.

<Clinical development pipeline>
The table below shows compounds that were in the clinical 
development stage in Japan and overseas as of April 26, 2012.

Clinical Development (as of April 26, 2012)

Code  
(Generic Name) Stage* Key Indication Mechanism/

dosage form Characteristics Rights

JTK-303  
(elvitegravir)

In preparation for 
NDA filing of single-
tablet regimen 
containing JTK-303 
(Japan)

HIV infection Integrase inhibi-
tor/oral

Integrase inhibitor which 
works by blocking integrase, 
an enzyme that is involved in 
the replication of HIV

Gilead Sciences (United 
States) obtained the rights 
to develop and commercial-
ize this compound world-
wide, with the exception of 
Japan. The company has 
submitted the single-tablet 
regimen containing JTK-303 
(elvitegravir) to the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administra-
tion (FDA) for approval.

JTT-705  
(dalcetrapib)

Phase 2 (Japan) Dyslipidemia CETP modulator/
oral

Decreases LDL and increases 
HDL by modulation of CETP 
activity
–CETP: Cholesteryl Ester 
Transfer Protein, facilitates 
transfer of cholesteryl ester 
from HDL to LDL
–HDL: High-density lipoprotein 
(“good cholesterol”)
–LDL: Low-density lipoprotein 
(“bad cholesterol”)

Roche (Switzerland) 
obtained the rights to 
develop and commercialize 
the compound worldwide, 
with the exception of Japan. 
>Development stage by 
Roche: Phase 3 (note)

JTT-302 Phase 2 (Overseas) Dyslipidemia CETP inhibitor/
oral

Decreases LDL and increases 
HDL by inhibition of CETP

JTT-751  
(Ferric Citrate)

Phase 3 (Japan) Hyperphosphatemia Phosphate 
binder/oral

Decreases serum phospho-
rous level by binding phos-
phate derived from dietary in 
the gastrointestinal tract

JT obtained the rights to 
develop and commercialize 
this compound in Japan 
from Keryx Biopharmaceuti-
cals (United States) (Devel-
oped jointly with Torii)

JTT-851 Phase 2 (Japan)  
Phase 1 (Overseas)

Type 2 diabetes 
mellitus

G protein-coupled 
receptor 40 
agonist/oral

Decreases blood glucose by 
stimulation of glucose-
dependent insulin secretion
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Code  
(Generic Name) Stage* Key Indication Mechanism/

dosage form Characteristics Rights

JTZ-951 Phase 1 (Japan)  
Phase 1 (Overseas)

Anemia associated 
with chronic kidney 
disease

HIF-PHD inhibitor/
oral

Increases red blood cells by 
accelerating production of 
erythropoietin, an erythropoiesis-
stimulating hormone, via 
inhibition of HIF-PHD. 
–HIF-PHD: Hypoxia Inducible 
Factar-Prolyl Hydroxylase 
Domain containing protein

JTE-051 Phase 1 (Overseas) Autoimmune/
allergic diseases

Interleukin-2 
inducible T cell 
kinase/oral

Suppresses overactive 
immune response via inhibi-
tion of the signal to activate T 
cells related to immune 
response

JTE-052 Phase 1 (Japan) Autoimmune/
allergic diseases

JAK inhibitor/oral Suppresses overactive 
immune response via inhibita-
tion of Janus kinase (JAK) 
related to immune signal.

(note)  On May 7, 2012, Roche announced the termination of the development of JTT-705 (dalcetrapib).
* Clinical trial stage presented above is based on the commencement of the first dose.

<R&D>
 z Overview

R&D activities are the foundation of the JT’s pharmaceutical 
business and are critical for our long-term growth and profitabil-
ity. Our R&D activities focus mainly on the fields of glucose and 
lipid metabolism, virus research and immune disorders and 
inflammation. Through the pharmaceutical business the JT Group 
invested ¥24.9 billion in R&D during the year ended March 31, 
2012 and ¥23.4 billion in the year ended March 31, 2011.

 z R&D process
The R&D process for pharmaceutical products is very complex 
and requires extensive time and investment. The details of the 
process vary from country to country. According to the Japan 
Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, developing a new 
drug in Japan takes approximately 9 to 17 years. Only a tiny 
proportion of all compounds that enter the clinical trial stage, 
which requires large investments, becomes commercially suc-
cessful drugs.

JT’s Central Pharmaceutical Research Institute is responsible 
for discovery research, drug development, and pre-clinical trial 
research. JT’s pharmaceutical development division and Akros 
Pharma Inc. undertake clinical trials and handle the application 
process to receive certification for any new drugs. Concerning 
compounds out-licensed for development and commercialization 
outside Japan, the licensees implement the subsequent 
processes.

<Production>
The JT Group’s pharmaceutical products are produced by Torii 
Pharmaceutical Ltd. or contract manufacturers outside the JT 
Group.

<Sales and promotion>
 z Sales and promotion outside Japan

At present, the JT Group does not have its own sales organiza-
tion for pharmaceutical products outside Japan. We out-license 
the right to develop and commercialize outside Japan for a cer-
tain compounds in the development stage and receive royalties 
from our partners linked to their sales performance.

 z Sales and promotion in Japan
Torii Pharmaceutical is mainly responsible for sales of our phar-
maceutical products to pharmaceutical wholesalers and promo-
tion to medical facilities. Promotional activities are conducted by 
around 440 medical representatives (MRs) stationed at Torii 
Pharmaceutical’s 14 sales branches across Japan (as of March 
31, 2012).

REMITCH, the treatment drug of pruritus in hemodialysis 
patients and Truvada, an anti-HIV drug, are our main products 
among others.

(3) Food Business

In the JT Group’s food business, we operate production and 
sales of beverages, processed foods and seasonings in Japan. 
The production of processed foods and seasonings is managed 
by TableMark.

JT started its beverage business in 1988. In the beverage 
business, we are striving to further strengthen the “Roots” the 
flagship brand and to enhance the sales network that centers on 
our subsidiary Japan Beverage, a vending machine operator. 
Through these efforts, we aim to steadily grow the beverage 
business and enhance its profitability.

Since its start in 1998, we have been expanding the 
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processing food business through organic growth as well as 
business investments in the form of M&As and strategic 
partnerships.

In 2008, we acquired Katokichi Co., Ltd. (Katokichi), a major 
frozen food manufacturing company in Japan, through a tender 
offer. The JT Group’s processed food and seasoning operations 
were transferred over to Katokichi as part of the integration. In 
2010, Katokichi changed its corporate name to TableMark to 
pursue synergies and foster a sense of unity within the group. 
The business pillars of TableMark, which operates mainly in 
Japan, include processed food, mainly staple food products such 
as frozen noodles, frozen rice, packed rice and frozen bread 
bakery chain outlets in the Tokyo metropolitan area and season-
ings, including yeast, kelp and bonito extracts, combination sea-
sonings and processed seasonings for direct consumer 
consumption such as oyster sauce.

TableMark’s major processed food products include “Reito-
Sanuki-Udon” (frozen wheat noodles) and “Takitate-Gohan” 
(packed rice).

In the seasoning business, TableMark focuses on the 
“Vertex” yeast extract seasonings in particular. “Vertex” is used 
in various foods, such as instant ramen and snacks.

<R&D>
Regarding R&D in the food business, we devote our efforts to 
the development of innovative products that meet consumers’ 
needs and preferences. In the beverages business, we search 
for new materials, develop new products and reform existing 
brands such as “Roots,” develop new containers and production 
technology. For our flagship brand, “Roots,” we adopted the 
high-temperature, short-time (HTST) method for the production 
of canned coffee, becoming the first company to use the method 
for canned coffee. This method considerably reduces the time 
needed for heat sterilization, thereby limiting flavor loss and 
making it possible to replicate the taste of freshly brewed coffee.

Regarding processed foods, we have developed frozen bread 
products which allow consumers to enjoy the taste of freshly 
baked bread at home. TableMark’s original techniques for fer-
mentation, baking and freezing recreate and preserve the taste 
and texture of fresh bread.

<Procurement>
The first step to produce safe foods is to procure safe and high-
quality raw materials. For the procurement, the JT Group reviews 
quality assurance certificates submitted by its suppliers. We also 
carry out monitoring inspections to check agrochemical residues 
as well as conduct regular inspections at processing factories to 
ensure compliance with the JT Group’s internal standards, in 
addition to the Food Sanitation Act and other relevant laws. Our 
inspection for agrochemical residues is strictly based on a “posi-
tive list system,” as specified by the Food Sanitation Act.

Furthermore, we examine the safety of production sites for 
raw materials used by our processed food business. Concerning 

agricultural farms, we check not only soil and water, but also 
how products are cultivated and how agrochemicals are handled. 
Breeding farms and fish farms are also inspected.

<Production>
The JT Group is promoting the adoption of ISO 9001, the HACCP 
system, and ISO 22000.

In the processed food business, all of the JT Group’s 21 
factories in and outside Japan, as well as our business partners’ 
factories which produce our frozen foods, have achieved the 
ISO 22000 certification. Under the ISO 22000 standard, continu-
ous improvements are made following effective rules to control 
sanitation and other key issues. These rules are set based on 
the HACCP concept and their effectiveness is tested using 
scientific evidence.

In the beverage business, the JT Group outsources produc-
tion of all beverages, except for certain bottled drinking water, to 
domestic beverage bottlers which monitor strictly their produc-
tion process and product quality. We maintain strong partner-
ships with bottlers to retain competitive production capabilities 
and secure a stable supply source.

In the processed food and seasoning businesses, the JT 
Group operates 19 factories in Japan and 8 outside Japan. We 
outsource production of some processed foods to domestic and 
international contract manufacturers.

<Food safety>
To ensure that consumers can continue to enjoy our products 
safely, the JT Group has established independent food safety 
management divisions which are responsible for overall food 
safety controls of our beverages, processed food and seasoning 
businesses. We are promoting a cross-functional food product 
safety initiative. For example, TableMark’s Tokyo Quality Control 
Center analyzes raw materials and finished goods for the bever-
age business.

We seek assessment and advice on our initiatives from exter-
nal food safety experts. We reflect the experts’ knowledge and 
viewpoints in our business by actively incorporating them into 
food safety controls.

Details of the food safety activities, including the discussions 
described in the above “Procurement” and “Production” sec-
tions, are disclosed on our website.

<Sales and distribution>
JT Group brand beverage products are sold through retail chan-
nels including vending machines and retailers, such as conve-
nience stores and supermarket chains.

The vending machine network plays a critical role in the 
nationwide sales and distribution channels. It comprised around 
265,000 vending machines as of March 2012. Approximately 
119,000 vending machines sell mainly the JT Group beverage 
products and some vending machines also sell coffee and tea 
served in disposable cups.
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In convenience stores and supermarkets, we are striving to 
increase our exposure by offering a wider range of our products 
and obtaining better shelf space.

The TableMark’s processed food and seasoning products are 
sold nationwide through retail stores, supermarkets, conve-
nience stores, restaurants, hotels and other channels.

3 Regulation 

The JT Group abides by the rules and regulations of the countries 
in which it operates its tobacco, pharmaceutical and food busi-
nesses. This section outlines the present regulatory environment 
we operate in for each of our business lines; however, in the 
future, our businesses may be influenced by new regulations 
and/or changes in the existing prescribed laws. Major regulations 
currently imposed on our businesses are described below.

(1) Tobacco Business

<Regulation on global tobacco business>
The rules and regulations on tobacco differ between countries, 
thereby reflecting each country’s specific legal, social and cultural 
circumstances.

The World Health Organization Framework Convention on 
Tobacco Control (WHO FCTC), entered into force on February 27, 
2005 (which is discussed in detail in the ensuing section), was 
created with the intent to continuously and substantively control 
the proliferation of smoking. As guiding principles and general 
obligations of the WHO FCTC treaty, a signatory nation is 
required to develop, implement, review and regularly update 
strategies, plans and programs for its own tobacco regulations; 
therefore, regulations and laws introduced are specifically tai-
lored to match each nation’s specific circumstances.

Examples of such tailor-made measures are the various regu-
lations on packaging and labeling, such as descriptors, of tobacco 
products. In the European Union (EU), descriptors, including 
terms such as “light” or “mild,” are banned on cigarette packs. 
Other countries allow descriptors as long as certain conditions are 
met. Such is the case in Russia, where pack descriptors are per-
mitted if the packaging indicates that such terms do not mean 
that the product is less harmful than other products.

Another example of how regulations differ across countries is 
of product at retail The United Kingdom has introduced a law 
which prohibits the use of in-store displays of tobacco products 
as well as the sale of tobacco products through tobacco vending 
machines; however, product displays and tobacco vending 
machines are permitted in other countries.

More notable and recent implementation of the tobacco con-
trol policies is the plain packaging legislation in Australia. This law 
mandates: the use of a prescribed package color; the placement 
of a product name in a prescribed place on the package and in a 
prescribed font size, color and style; and mandatory graphical 
health warnings occupying 75% of the front side and 90% of the 
back side on a package. Australia is the only country to adopt this 
measure, which has passed in December 2011.

The JT Group has voluntarily and actively addressed many of 

the issues contained in the WHO FCTC treaty, including under-
taking measures for the prevention of youth smoking and the 
elimination of illicit trade. The JT Group believes that each nation 
should introduce programs that are legally, socially and culturally 
appropriate to their needs and perspectives. We will continue to 
openly discuss and engage with the WHO FCTC signatory 
nations as well as other countries who are not parties to the 
FCTC to encourage an appropriate, reasonable, and balanced 
approach to tobacco regulation.

 zWHO FCTC
Following six rounds of intergovernmental negotiations, the 
WHO FCTC was adopted on May 21 2003. The Convention came 
into force on February 27, 2005—90 days after it had been rati-
fied by 40 signatory nations. As of the end of May 2012, a total 
of 175 countries (including the EC) had adhered to the WHO 
FCTC. Japan signed the convention in March 2004, and ratified it 
in June 2004. The WHO FCTC has developed a number of provi-
sions, some of which are legally binding for the signatory 
nations, while others are guidelines outlining tobacco control 
measures which might be considered. Key provisions of the 
WHO FCTC include:

—  Price and tax measures (implementation of tax and price poli-
cies, restrictions on duty-free sales, and the like as appropri-
ate, without prejudice to the sovereign right of the parties to 
determine and establish their taxation policies)

—  Packaging and labeling (adoption and implementation of effec-
tive measures to ensure (1) that tobacco product packaging 
and labeling do not promote tobacco products by using terms 
that could create an erroneous impression, for example, that a 
particular tobacco product is less harmful than others; and (2) 
that health warnings on tobacco packaging shall cover no less 
than 30% of the principal display areas)

—  Advertising (introduction or obligation of a comprehensive ban 
on tobacco advertising, sales promotion and sponsorship, 
depending on constitution or constitutional principles)

—  Sales to minors (adoption and implementation of effective 
measures to ban sales of tobacco products to persons under 
the age of 18 or as otherwise set by domestic or national law)

—  Support for economically viable alternative agricultural activi-
ties (promotion of alternative activities for tobacco workers, 
growers and sellers as appropriate)

Four sessions of the Conference of the Parties, the governing 
body of the WHO FCTC have been held since 2005. During these 
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sessions, a number of guidelines for tobacco control implemen-
tation have been adopted. In addition, an intergovernmental 
negotiating body was established for the purpose of developing a 
protocol on Article 15 (illicit trade in tobacco products). It should 
be noted that the “guidelines” are not legally binding for the 
signatory nations. The key guidelines of the Convention that have 
already been adopted are as follows:

• Guidelines concerning Article 5, Paragraph 3 “Protection 
of public health policies”

• Guidelines concerning Article 8 “Protection from exposure 
to tobacco smoke”

• Guidelines concerning Article 11 “Packaging and labeling 
of tobacco products” and Article 13 “Tobacco advertising, 
promotion and sponsorship”

• Guidelines concerning Article 12 “Education, communica-
tion, training and public awareness” and Article 14 
“Demand reduction measures concerning tobacco depen-
dence and cessation”

• Provisional Guidelines concerning Article 9 “Regulation of 
the contents of tobacco products” and Article 10 “Regula-
tion of tobacco product disclosures”

<Regulation on tobacco business in Japan>
In the Japanese domestic tobacco market, a variety of laws and 
other regulations, most notably the Ordinance, are in effect. They 
state that JT shall be the sole manufacturer of tobacco products 
in Japan. In addition, various activities are regulated including the 
cultivation and purchase of Japanese domestic tobacco leaves, 
registration of tobacco product distributors, and marketing of 
tobacco products, as described below.

JT is obliged to enter into purchase contracts with tobacco 
leaf growers to determine the aggregate cultivation area size and 
leaf prices based on type and quality. JT is also required to pur-
chase the entire usable tobacco harvest as per contractual obliga-
tions. JT is obliged to respect the opinions of the Leaf Tobacco 
Deliberative Council to determine the area size and prices.

In Japan, all tobacco product importers and wholesalers must 
register with the MOF, and retailers are required to obtain 
approval from the MOF. Moreover, the MOF oversees all retail 
sales prices for tobacco products manufactured by JT and 
imported tobacco products and must approve the filed retail 
sales prices unless otherwise considered unfairly prejudicial to 
consumers. Subsequently, tobacco retailers are only permitted to 
sell tobacco products at the approved prices.

In addition, the packaging and labeling of tobacco products are 
required to include statements that warn of the association 
between the consumption of tobacco products and health risks. 
Details of the health warnings are specified by the Ordinance for 
Enforcement of the Ordinance. Revisions of the Ordinance, con-
ducted in November 2003, which stipulate for eight items to be 
indicated on the warning labels of tobacco products. Four of the 
eight health warning labels are statements about diseases 
directly associated with smoking (lung cancer, cardiac infarction, 

cerebral embolism and emphysema), while the other four labels 
warn on smoking by pregnant women, passive smoking, addic-
tion to smoking and youth smoking. All tobacco product pack-
ages must carry on their main surface area a warning from at 
least one of the four disease labels and on the other main sur-
face area at least one of the other four labels. The Ordinance 
stipulates (1) that these eight warnings must be rotated in a way 
to ensure that they receive equal exposure within a year by prod-
uct extension and by packaging type and (2) that the display area 
must occupy 30% or more of the main surface of the packaging. 
In addition, the Ordinance stipulates that when terms such as 
“light” and “mild” are used on the package, they must be 
accompanied by a warning text that prevents consumers from 
misinterpreting the relationship between the consumption of 
tobacco and health. JT plans to continue using such terms as 
“light” and “mild” in the Japanese market while fully complying 
with the Japanese regulation.

Advertising of tobacco products in Japan requires due consid-
eration to be given to preventing minors having access to 
tobacco, as well as avoiding excessive advertisement. The MOF 
issued a “Guideline for Advertising of Tobacco Products.” This 
guideline, revised in March 2004, states that, in general, outdoor 
advertisements of tobacco products (posters, billboards, etc.), 
shall be prohibited. The guideline also includes provisions as to 
the content of health warnings in advertising. Tobacco compa-
nies, including JT, have been observing and complying with 
these guidelines. Examples of voluntary standards include the 
prohibition of advertisements using outdoor billboards and 
tobacco brand advertisement on public transportation, restricting 
advertising spots as well as selecting appropriate sections for 
advertisements in newspapers.

Another focus area of the regulation is prevention of passive 
smoking. The Health Promotion Act requires facility and property 
managers to take measures to prevent passive smoking. Local 
governments and other organizations also promote a variety of 
activities. As a result, stricter restrictions on smoking areas, such 
as public places including restaurants and office complexes, are 
increasing.

The JT Group supports appropriate and reasonable regulations 
of tobacco products and we will continue to engage with govern-
ments to encourage this approach. Nonetheless, the JT group 
will question, and where necessary challenge, regulation that is 
flawed, unreasonable, disproportionate or without evidential 
foundation. We believe that adult smokers should be appropri-
ately informed about the health risks of smoking and should have 
the autonomy to smoke.

<Prevention of youth smoking>
Youth smoking prevention is an issue which must be addressed 
by society as a whole. The JT Group, for its part, has a voluntary 
code; Global Tobacco Products Marketing Standard to govern its 
business and marketing activities in support of youth smoking 
prevention. In addition, we are working with governments, and 
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other relevant organizations to take steps towards preventing 
youth smoking in the countries in which it operates.

In Japan, for example, the Tobacco Institute of Japan (TIOJ), 
of which JT is a member, supplies stickers and posters promot-
ing youth smoking prevention and posts them at points of sales 
and vending machines in cooperation with tobacco retailers 
across the country. Furthermore, the TIOJ, the Japan Tobac-
conist Federation and the Japan Vending Machine Manufacturers 
Association introduced vending machines with an adult identifica-
tion function based on an IC card (“taspo”) system in 2008. The 
United Kingdom has been promoting the “No ID, No Sale” 
(NINS) campaign since 2005 and the U.K. Tobacco Manufactur-
ers’ Association, of which Japan Tobacco International (JTI) is a 
member, has been supporting this campaign to prevent tobacco 
sales to minors. In addition, the campaign logo “No ID, No Sale” 
is displayed at points of sales in participating tobacco retail out-
lets. In Russia, JTI and other tobacco companies, in cooperation 
with the regional NGOs, supply stickers promoting youth smok-
ing prevention to tobacco retailers and provide tobacco sales 
clerks with training to prevent tobacco sales to minors.

 z Global Tobacco Products Marketing Standards
The JT Group complies with all the national regulations and has 
implemented a Global Tobacco Products Marketing Standard, a 
self-regulatory code, which governs the marketing of its tobacco 
products in every country.

The Global Tobacco Products Marketing Standard represents 
a minimum set of standards to ensure that brand marketing is 
directed adults.

The key provisions of the Global Tobacco Products Marketing 
Standard include:
—  Strict minimum guidelines applicable to advertising of tobacco 

products, particularly in contries where there is no or minimal 
advertising regulation:

• Print advertisement is to be limited to publications with at 
least 75% adult readership.

• Billboard advertisement must not exceed 35 square 
meters in size and must not be located closer than 100 
meters from any point of the perimeter of a school 
attended predominantly by minors.

• Advertisement on TV, radio and the Internet is prohibited 
until and unless 100% adult verification is achieved.

• Advertisement cannot run in cinemas unless there is a 
reasonable basis to believe that at least 75% of the audi-
ence is adult.

• Advertisement cannot feature celebrities, or show indi-
viduals who appear to be younger than the age of 25, or 
suggest that smoking enhances athletic, professional, 
personal or sexual success, or suggest that most people 
are smokers.

—  Indication of health warnings in ads and other media:
• Health warnings must appear in advertisements, promo-

tional tools or merchandising materials, except where the 

advertising is made at point of sale and the area is smaller 
than 250 square centimeters.

—  Restrictions on sponsorship:
• For events or activities that bear a tobacco product brand 

name, all participants who compete or otherwise take an 
active part must be adults.

• Attendance at an event or activity sponsored for the pur-
pose of tobacco product brand promotion must be com-
prised of at least 75% adults, and there must be a 
reasonable basis upon which to believe that the spon-
sored event or activity will not be of particular appeal to 
minors.

—  All promotional activities are to be limited to verified adult 
smokers.

Please refer to the following link for more information regard-
ing the Global Tobacco Products Marketing Standard.
http://www.jti.com/how-we-do-business/regulation-of-tobacco-
products/jti-global-marketing-standard/

<Taxes on tobacco products>
Taxes on tobacco products include tobacco excise tax and value-
added tax or consumption tax.

In many countries where the JT Group operates, tobacco 
excise tax has been raised to secure tax revenue and promote 
public health. Value-added tax, consumption tax or other taxes of 
a similar nature have also been raised to secure the government 
tax revenue. While the taxation system and tax rate vary from 
country to country, the total tax burden accounts for a substantial 
portion of the retail sales price of tobacco products. We expect 
that this trend will continue although it is impossible to accu-
rately predict future tax events.

(2) Pharmaceutical Business

In Japan and other major markets around the world, pharmaceuti-
cal companies are subject to strict restrictions in the areas of R&D, 
manufacturing and sales activities of pharmaceutical products. 
Moreover, in recent years, the approval process for new drugs has 
been tightening due to the increased requirements to promote 
public health and safety. Today, compared to the past, pharmaceu-
tical companies are required to spend more time to examine drug 
safety issues and conduct a greater number of clinical trials on 
subjects to collect more data on the efficacy of new drugs. Conse-
quently, clinical trials are growing in scale and time.

In Japan, manufacturing, importation and distribution of phar-
maceutical products are subject to regulations under the Pharma-
ceutical Affairs Act, which aims to improve social welfare. The 
Act ensures the quality, efficacy and safety of pharmaceutical 
products and encourages R&D of pharmaceuticals in high need. 
Concerning R&D of new drugs, the Pharmaceutical Affairs Act 
and other relevant laws outline a number of standards to ensure 
safety checks in the pre-clinical and clinical trial stages of drug 
development. The same laws also lay down various practices 
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relating to management on production, quality and safety. In 
order to produce and/or sell pharmaceutical products, a business 
license is required to be obtained from the Ministry of Health, 
Labor and Welfare.

Furthermore, in Japan, the Minister of Health, Labor and Wel-
fare determines prescription drugs that can be used for health 
care services covered by the public health insurance system as 
well as being responsible for setting prices for drugs. Usually, 
drug prices are reduced every two years as part of the govern-
ment’s policy to control health-care spending. In 2010, an 
arrangement to keep the price of new prescription drugs 
unchanged during the patent period if certain conditions are met 
was introduced on a trial basis, in order to incentivize pharmaceu-
tical companies to continue developing new drugs. However, 
after the expiration of the patent period, the price will be reduced 
steeply in order to eliminate the gap between generic and non-
generic prescription drug prices.

(3) Food Business

As a producer and seller of food products, the JT Group’s food 
business line is subject to regulations mainly under the Food 
Safety Basic Act, the Food Sanitation Act and the JAS Act.

The Food Safety Basic Act requires food-related companies to 
take necessary measures to ensure food safety in each process 

of the supply chain, as well as to make efforts to provide accu-
rate information about foods and food-related goods in an appro-
priate manner. The Food Sanitation Act concentrates on 
prevention of sanitary problems arising from consumption of 
foods and beverages. This Act requires food companies to take 
necessary measures under their own responsibility to ensure the 
safety of foods, additives, appliances and packages. The mea-
sures discussed in the Act include the acquisition of knowledge 
and skills, assurance of the safety of raw materials and voluntary 
inspection.

The JAS Act provides the quality standards, so-called JAS 
Standards, for agricultural and forestry products including foods 
and beverage products, as well as standards for food composi-
tion and production, and distribution method. The JAS Act also 
sets the quality labeling standards which define the labeling 
requirements to indicate quality-related items such as materials 
and the origin. Manufacturers and others must comply with the 
standards in preparing their product labels.

The JT Group is striving to establish a high level of food safety 
control from the abovementioned four perspective—“food 
safety,” “food defense,” “food quality” and “food communica-
tion”—in addition to complying with these laws and regulations 
and ensuring thorough awareness about them.

4 Litigation

JT and some of its subsidiaries are defendants in lawsuits filed 
by plaintiffs seeking damages for harm allegedly caused by 
smoking, the marketing of tobacco products, or exposure to 
tobacco smoke. As of the fiscal year end date, there were a total 
of 25 smoking and health-related cases pending in which one or 
more members of the JT Group were named as defendant, 
including cases for which JT may have certain indemnity obliga-
tions pursuant to the agreement for JT’s acquisition of RJR 
Nabisco Inc.’s overseas (non-U.S.) tobacco operations. We 
believe it is possible that other similar smoking and health-related 
lawsuits may be filed in the future.

In addition, JT and some of its subsidiaries are also defen-
dants in lawsuits other than the smoking and health-related 
cases. Please refer to “Note 39” to the consolidated financial 
statements (Contingencies (1) Contingent Liabilities) for major 
lawsuits to which JT and some of its subsidiaries are named as 
defendants. Similar lawsuits involving us may be filed and con-
tested in courts in the future.

To date, we have never lost a case or paid any settlement 
award in connection with smoking and health-related litigation. 
However, we are unable to predict the outcome of currently 
pending or future lawsuits. If a court ruling is unfavorable for us, 
in such cases whether lawsuits are smoking and health related 
or not, our financial results, production, sales and imports/
exports of tobacco products may be adversely affected. Please 

refer to “Litigation” of “III Major Risk Factors” for further details 
on litigation risks concerning smoking and health-related 
litigation.

In recent decades, numerous, large-scale, smoking and 
health-related cases have been brought against tobacco product 
manufacturers in the United States of America, and some of the 
cases resulted in verdicts with massive damage awards. For 
example:

• in Florida’s Engle class action in 2000, a first instance 
court issued a punitive damages award of approximately 
USD 145 billion in favor of the plaintiffs. At a higher court, 
the verdict was subsequently dismissed and plaintiff’s 
class was decertified although common findings to be 
applied in individual cases were upheld. Individual Engle 
progeny lawsuits have been filed by over 7,000 former 
Engle class members in the United States of America.

• in a “lights” case in Illinois in which the class members 
alleged that use of the term “lights” constituted fraudu-
lent and misleading conduct, a verdict was rendered with 
damages totaling approximately USD 10 billion in 2003. 
While the tobacco product manufacturer won a reversal of 
this verdict in 2005, the courts have upheld the reopening 
of the case sought by the plaintiff in 2011. The case is still 
ongoing. A number of other “lights” cases have also been 
filed in the United States.
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We believe that these cases partly reflect the unique nature 
of the judicial system in the United States of America arising 
from the jury trials, class actions, punitive damage awards and 
contingency fee arrangements for attorneys. While neither JT 
nor any of its subsidiaries is a defendant in any of the lawsuits 
mentioned above nor are subject to any indemnity claims with 
respect to them, we continue to monitor closely these develop-
ments in the United States of America with particular attention. 
The tobacco business which JT acquired from RJR Nabisco Inc. 
did not include brands in the United States of America, and even 
now, our current tobacco business scale in the United States of 
America remains very small. Accordingly, we consider its expo-
sure to smoking and health-related litigations in the United States 
of America to be low, and we thus believe that situations under 
the litigations in the United States of America will not materially 
affect our businesses in the near future. As of the fiscal year end 
date, there is no smoking and health-related litigation in the 
United States of America in which JT or any of its subsidiaries is 
named as a defendant or with respect to which any indemnity 
claims have been made against JT or any of its subsidiaries.

There are four ongoing health-care cost recovery cases in 
Canada pending against JTI-Macdonald Corp. and JT’s indemni-
ties (affiliates of RJR Nabisco Inc.), brought by the Provinces of 
British Columbia, New Brunswick, Ontario, and Newfoundland 
and Labrador. These provinces filed lawsuits under their own 
provincial legislation which was enacted exclusively for the 

purpose of authorizing the provincial government to file a direct 
action against tobacco manufacturers to recoup the health-care 
costs the government has incurred and will incur resulting from 
“tobacco related wrongs.” In addition, there are eight pending 
class actions in Canada including two brought in Quebec in 
which the class was certified by the court in February 2005. The 
trial began in March 2012 and no decision is yet made as to the 
liability of the defendants.

As for other jurisdictions, generally speaking, the smoking and 
health-related litigations are of a smaller scale in terms of the 
number of lawsuits and the amounts claimed compared to those 
in the United States of America and Canada. We do not believe 
that the litigation like in the United States of America will spread 
around the world in the near future since it developed in a unique 
judicial environment involving jury trials, class actions, punitive 
damages awards, and contingency fees for attorneys.

However, the business environment surrounding the global 
tobacco industry has become more severe due to the smoking 
and health issues and because of the tighter regulations result-
ing from such issues. Considering the relationship between the 
tobacco industry and society, we, as a tobacco product manu-
facturer, continue to closely monitor the developments and 
trends of the litigation involving tobacco companies in the 
United States of America, Canada and elsewhere, with particular 
interest and attention.

the JT Group. It is possible that risks that are unknown and/or 
risks that are recognized at the present as being immaterial could 
turn out to be material in the future. In addition, not all of the 
risks listed are within the control of the JT Group and other risks 
besides those listed may affect its performance.

This section should be read together with the forward-looking 
and cautionary statements at the beginning of this annual report.

 �Market risks
<Economic deterioration >
Since the beginning of the crisis in September 2008, Europe’s debt 
crisis worsens, the global economy remains fragile and volatile 
due to increasing uncertainties, and economic deterioration could 
reoccur in the future.

In general, the tobacco business is seen as relatively resilient to 
economic downturns. However, our top-line performance could be 
negatively affected due to a decline in consumer confidence as 
well as consumers’ down-trading to brands in lower price ranges.

We will continue to strive to identify consumers’ needs and 
develop products with high added-value, while attentively 
monitoring the outlook of the global economy. With this in 

The JT Group operates diverse business lines, which range from 
tobacco to pharmaceuticals to food, and our activities are con-
ducted in various countries in Western and Eastern Europe, 
Africa, the Middle East and others. Due to this diversity, our 
business activities involve certain intrinsic risks and uncertainties.

We have put in place a risk management framework, del-
egated to the appropriate business and corporate divisions, 
based on the Rules Defining the Extent of Responsibility and 
Authority. Under this framework, the JT Group can pursue 
prompt decision-making in response to any adverse risks which 
may affect our business and financial performance.

We are committed to the timely implementation of any coun-
termeasure to manage significant adverse effects on our sustain-
able profit growth and business continuity. Therefore, material 
risks are reported to the Executive Committee along with any 
proposed countermeasures to seek their approval, if needed. 
Material risks reported to the Executive Committee are selected 
after assessing the magnitude of the adverse effect on the per-
formance of the relevant business and corporate divisions.

The following sections are not intended to provide an exten-
sive analysis or comprehensive overview of all the risks affecting 

III Key Risk Factors
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mind, we will leverage our improved ability to manage 
changes, thereby flexibly executing product, pricing and other 
strategies as necessary.

 z Potential risk
• Economic deterioration on a global scale
• Increased uncertainties on global economy outlook
 z Potential impact
• Decline in consumer confidence and consumers’ down-

trading could result in lower sales volume, revenue and profit.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Monitor the global economic trends.
• Develop products with high added-value to increase con-

sumer loyalty.
• Optimize brand portfolio in accordance with the changes in 

consumers’ preferences.

<Exchange rate fluctuations>
While the JT Group makes consolidated financial statements in 
the Japanese yen, it may be affected by fluctuations in exchange 
rates involving various currencies because it operates globally. JT 
International Holding B.V. (JT’s consolidated subsidiary in the 
Netherlands; hereinafter referred to as “JTIH”), which is respon-
sible for consolidating the financial results of the JT Group’s 
international tobacco business, uses the U.S. dollar for its finan-
cial reporting. However, JTIH does business through consoli-
dated subsidiaries and affiliates around the world, some of which 
use foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar. This means that 
the JT Group’s consolidated results are affected not only by 
exchange rate fluctuations between the Japanese yen and the 
U.S. dollar but also by those between the U.S. dollar and other 
foreign currencies used by the consolidated subsidiaries and 
affiliates for their financial reporting.

Consequently, the JT Group’s financial results indicated in yen 
terms may be affected by exchange rate fluctuations. While we 
do not enter into hedging activity in relation to the impact of 
exchange rate fluctuations on financial results indicated in yen 
terms, we partially offset the impact on cash flow and net assets 
by issuing some debts in major currencies of income.

 z Risk description
• Exchange rates may fluctuate.
 z Risk impact
• Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the JT Group’s finan-

cial results indicated in yen terms when the results are con-
verted from local currencies to the U.S. dollar and from the 
U.S. dollar to the yen.

 zMajor countermeasure
• Partially offset the impact on the JT Group’s cash flow and 

net assets by issuing some debts in major currencies of 
income.

<Country risk>
The JT Group, in particular the tobacco business, operates in 
more than 120 countries around the world, and in order to 

achieve long-term growth, we will continue to expand the busi-
ness base. Geographical expansion increases our exposure to 
country risks, such as a change in the political environment, a 
change in the economic conditions, a change in the social envi-
ronment, or a change in the legal system. If materialized, espe-
cially in our key markets, these risks could negatively affect our 
business and financial performances. We will mitigate the poten-
tial impacts through a well-balanced geographical footprint.

 z Risk description
• Political instability, economic crisis or other disruptive events 

in our key markets
 z Potential impact
• Unstable business environment could result in lower sales 

volume, revenue and profit.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Improve geographical portfolio balance to reduce our depen-

dence on specific markets.

<Tax increase>
Depending on their objectives, governments increase tobacco 
excises, VAT (value-added tax) and other taxes in most countries 
we operate, including Japan, to secure state budgets and also to 
promote public health.

It is difficult to absorb tax increases, despite our continuous 
efforts to improve efficiency. In most cases, we increase the 
prices of our products, which could lead to lower business perfor-
mance and financial results if consumers do not accept the new 
prices. Our efforts will focus on setting appropriate competitive 
prices taking into account various factors, including price elastic-
ity, consumers’ down-trading and anticipated competitor moves. 
In addition, we will strive to enhance the value of our products 
and optimize our portfolio to meet consumers’ preferences.

 z Risk description
• Increases in tobacco excises, value-added and other taxes
 z Potential impact
• Inability to absorb tax increases or negative consumer 

response to our price increases could result in lower sales 
volume, revenue and profit.

 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Improve efficiency.
• Set appropriate prices.
• Enhance the value of our products.
• Optimize brand portfolio.

 �Environmental risks
<Natural disasters>
The Great East Japan Earthquake which occurred on March 11, 
2011 caused casualties among our employees and damaged our 
factories, forcing us to temporarily suspend delivery of our prod-
ucts. As it is not possible to foresee natural disasters such as 
earthquakes, tsunamis, and typhoons, our group has imple-
mented measures in an effort to minimize the impact of such 
disasters. We have developed a Business Continuity Plan (BCP), 
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with particular emphasis on the optimization of our global supply 
chain. In addition, we also have insured the assets of key offices 
and factories, such as buildings, machinery, equipment and 
inventory, thereby reducing the financial risks associated with the 
occurrence of disasters and accidents at these locations.

The earthquake and subsequent tsunami in March 2011 
caused partial meltdowns at the Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear 
Power Plant in Japan. The JT Group is focused on conducting 
activities to eliminate consumers’ concerns over the radioactive 
pollution on tobacco leaves, and continue to deliver products free 
of any risk of contamination. We have established an internal 
specialized internal standard comparable to the official standards 
for other agricultural products (the Food Sanitation Act does not 
set a standard for the maximum allowable radioactivity level in 
tobacco leaves). Multiple inspections are conducted, i.e. before 
leaf purchase, before leaf processing, before product manufac-
turing, and before shipping from our factories.

 z Risk description
• Natural disasters such as earthquakes, tsunamis and typhoons
 z Potential impact
• Business disruption at the JT Group and its suppliers as well 

as damages to our consumers could negatively affect our 
business continuity and financial status.

 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Form BCP.
• Conduct disaster drills and increase employees’ disaster 

preparedness.
• Insure key properties.

<Instability in supplies of key materials>
Materials, both raw and processed, are critical inputs to our prod-
ucts. Therefore, our ability to procure needed materials in the 
required quantities and at manageable costs can affect our busi-
ness performance.

Climate and other natural changes could affect the availability 
of agricultural products, such as tobacco leaves (raw materials 
used for tobacco products), and other natural materials procured 
for our beverages and processed food products. In addition to 
the raw inputs, global population increase and economic growth 
in the emerging countries could lead to an explosive increase in 
the consumption of resources. This could result in an increase in 
the costs of our raw and processed materials, as well as unavail-
ability of those resources.

The JT Group is taking measures to secure supply of materi-
als and reduce the negative impact of purchase price increases, 
including: further vertical integration in global leaf procurement 
strengthening of relationship with suppliers extended use of 
common non-tobacco materials more engagement with suppliers 
flexible procurement to respond to attractive market prices and 
improved inventory management for both tobacco and non-
tobacco materials.

 z Risk description
• Insufficient supply or price increases of key natural materials 

due to unfavorable climate conditions and depletion of 
resources.

 z Potential impact
• Insufficient supply of key materials could lead to inability to 

produce our products.
• Procurement costs of materials could increase.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Strengthen procurement capability.
• Pursue continuous improvement in productivity.

 �Business operation risks
<Tightening of regulations>
The tobacco industry is strongly regulated and monitored in vari-
ous aspects ranging from the product itself to marketing, sales 
and other activities.

In recent years, regulatory initiatives on packaging have been 
particularly notable. For instance, Australia has become the first 
country to require plain packaging, effective December 2012. 
This regulation mandates: use of a prescribed package color; 
indication of a product name in a prescribed place on the pack-
age and in a prescribed font size, color and style; and mandatory 
graphical health warnings occupying 75% of the front side and 
90% of the back side on a package. Currently, there are some 
countries discussing adoption of a similar approach to packaging 
legislation. In other countries, various other regulatory measures 
are in place including restriction of the display of tobacco prod-
ucts at retail stores and restriction or prohibition of smoking in 
public places is prohibited in other countries.

For the details of regulations, please refer to section “3 Regu-
lations” in “II Business Attributes.”

We expect that regulation of tobacco products and smoking 
will continue to increase in the future. The JT Group will continue 
to actively engage with governments, regulators and stakehold-
ers for proportionate and balanced regulation.

 z Risk description
• Tightening of regulations on tobacco products, tobacco 

industry activities and public smoking places.
 z  Potential impact
• Disproportionate regulations could, among others, reduce 

brand equity as well as opportunities to communicate with 
consumers which could lead to lower top-line performance.

• The introduction of product specifications regulation could 
lead to an increase in costs for development and production.

 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Identify the regulatory initiatives at an early stage through 

prompt and accurate information gathering and analysis.
• Engage with governments, regulators and stakeholders, as 

necessary, to develop balanced regulatory alternatives that 
meet government policy objectives.

<Increase in illicit trade>
One of the most serious issues in the tobacco industry is the 
increase of illicit trade, including smuggling and counterfeit 
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product distribution. Motivations for illicit trade are believed to be 
high profit margin of tobacco products and cross-border price 
gaps arising from different taxation systems and tax levels 
among countries. As historical evidence shows, illicit trade in a 
market tends to increase after a steep tax increase.

Illicitly traded products not only significantly damage the cred-
ibility of brands and the companies that own those brands, but 
also negatively affect governments’ tax revenues. Therefore, we 
and other tobacco companies are working together with govern-
ments to eliminate illicit trade.

In December 2007, JT International S.A. and JTIH signed a 
cooperation agreement with the European Commission, the 
executive branch of the European Union (EU), and 26 EU 
member states as part of efforts to combat illicit trades. In April 
2009, the United Kingdom joined the agreement. During the 
period of the 15 years after the execution of the agreement, the 
JT Group will pay USD50 million annually in the first five years 
and USD15 million annually in the subsequent 10 years in accor-
dance with the agreement. This financial contribution is to be 
used to support anti-smuggling and anti-counterfeiting initiatives 
led by the EU or EU Member States.

In April 2010, JTI-Macdonald Corp., a JT Group Canadian 
subsidiary, entered into a comprehensive agreement with the 
Government of Canada to establish a cooperation system in 
combating cigarette smuggling and contrabands.

 z Risk description
• Increase in illicit trade including smuggling and counterfeit 

product distribution
 z Potential impact
• Illicitly traded products could significantly damage the cred-

ibility of brands and the companies that own those brands.
• Sales volumes of legitimate products could decline.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Cooperate with governments to eliminate illicit trade.

<Litigation>
JT and some of its subsidiaries are defendants in lawsuits filed 
by plaintiffs seeking damages for harm allegedly caused by 
smoking, and if one or more actions result in a decision unfavor-
able to JT or its subsidiaries, its business could be materially 
affected by, for example, the payment of monetary compensa-
tion. Moreover, regardless of the results of specific lawsuits, 
critical media coverage of such lawsuits may reduce social toler-
ance of smoking, strengthen public regulations concerning smok-
ing and prompt the filing of a number of similar lawsuits against 
JT or its subsidiaries, forcing JT or its subsidiaries to bear litiga-
tion costs that could materially affect JT’s business performance. 
We believe that we have valid grounds to defend the claims in 
such lawsuits. We will continue to build well-organized teams 
coordinating with external legal counsel to defend ourselves 
against these lawsuits in an appropriate manner. We will con-
tinue to drive our business operations in a legitimate and appro-
priate manner.

 z Risk description
• An unfavorable decision may be issued against JT or its 

subsidiaries in smoking and health-related lawsuits.
 z Risk impact
• Our financial results may be negatively affected due to pay-

ment of monetary compensation.
• Our financial results may be negatively affected due to 

inducement of similar lawsuits, forcing JT or its subsidiaries 
to bear litigation costs.

• Our business performance may be negatively affected due 
to a reduction of social tolerance of smoking and strengthen-
ing of public regulations concerning smoking.

 zMajor countermeasures
• Coordinate appropriately with external legal counsel to 

defend ourselves against lawsuits.
• Continue legitimate and appropriate business operations.

<Discontinuation of drug development>
R&D activities for pharmaceutical products require long-term and 
large-scale investments. The JT Group strives to enhance its clini-
cal development capabilities, including late-stage development, as 
well as strengthen its capability to develop pre-clinical drugs. How-
ever, during the increasingly complicated and highly advanced 
R&D process towards market launches, we may discontinue the 
clinical development due to: in case of out-licensed compounds, a 
decision by the licensee; in case of joint development, a decision 
of the partner; and certain internal or external factors.

The JT Group sets investment criteria and controls each stage 
of an R&D subject throughout the allocated time.

 z Risk description
• Discontinuation of drug development
 z Potential impact
• R&D investments already made for the development could 

not be recovered as product launch cannot be made.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Set appropriate investment criteria for each stage of the 

R&D process.
• Control each stage of a research subject throughout the 

allocated time.

<Food safety issues>
Food consumption is a critical element of human life, and the 
focus of concern over food safety changes in accordance with 
the circumstances of the time.

In recent years, efforts to ensure food safety have become an 
increasingly difficult challenge as a result of the globalization, 
diversification and growing complexity of various processes, 
including the procurement of raw materials and the production, 
distribution and sales of products. We will implement measures 
to promote food safety control from four perspectives—“food 
safety,” “food defense,” “food quality” and “food communica-
tion”—so that we can deliver safe and high-quality food products 
for your loved ones.
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 z Risk description
• Some problems may arise with regard to the quality of food 

products.
 z Risk impact
• A food quality problem may cause health damage to 

customers.
• The JT Group may face a claim for compensation damages 

in a product liability case.
• A food quality problem may undermine the credibility of the 

relevant product and the brand image of the JT Group, 
thereby producing adverse effects on financial results.

 zMajor countermeasures
• Define hazards in accordance with product characteristics 

and conduct periodic review of risks in each of the various 
processes from the procurement of raw materials to the 
supply of products.

• Promote a safety control system that places priority on the 
management of raw materials (inputs) and processes based 
on audits and inspections suited to the risks identified 
through the review.

• Utilize the ISO22000 international standard for food safety 
management.

• Enhance traceability
• Make continuous quality improvements through company-

wide efforts in order to reflect the voices of customers in 
product development

• Seek assessment and advice from outside experts 
appointed as food safety advisers.

<Difficulty in maintaining human resource 
competitiveness>

The JT Group believes that a diversified employee base is a 
major factor of our competitiveness therefore, we seek to 
attract, develop, and retain talented people worldwide. In addi-
tion, because of our diverse business lines, our ability to attract 
new employees is highly competitive. However, in the particular 
case of tobacco business, we are aware of the negative social 
image placed on this business line, therefore, it is becoming 
major issues for us to recruit and retain talented people.

Keeping this uniqueness in mind, the JT Group will continue 
to provide a wide variety of opportunities for training and career 
development to our employees. In addition, we will ensure com-
petitive compensation by benchmarking with global companies, 
including our competitors. Furthermore, we continue to evaluate 
our employees based on his/her capability and performance, 
irrespective of race, gender, national origin or age.

 z Risk description
• Increased difficulty to attract and retain talented people
 z Potential impact
• Inability to attract and retain talented people could adversely 

affect our business performances and financial results.
 z Principal measures to address the risk
• Strengthen our ability to recruit talented people.
• Ensure competitive compensation.
• Provide a wide variety of opportunities for training and 

career development to our employees.
• Evaluate human resources based on capability and 

performance.

1 Significant Accounting Policies

<Adoption of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)>

Having acquired RJR Nabisco’s non-U.S. tobacco operations in 
1999 and Gallaher Group Plc. in the United Kingdom in 2007, the 
JT Group has been growing steadily as a global company and is 
now operating in more than 120 countries and territories. In this 
context, the JT Group has decided to opt for an early adoption of 
the IFRS from the year ended March 31, 2012. A decision based 
on the Japanese authorities’ permission for the listed companies 
conducting financial and business activities internationally to 
adopt IFRS voluntarily from the year ended March 31, 2010. 
Upon the adoption of IFRS, the JT Group aims to improve inter-
national comparability of financial information in the capital mar-
kets and to diversify the group’s sources of financing through 
international markets. As the financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2012 include comparatives for the previous 
year (ended March 31, 2011) and as of the date of transition 

(April 1, 2010), these comparative figures are restated in accor-
dance with IFRS from accounting principles generally accepted in 
Japan (Japanese GAAP). For the details of the exemption provi-
sions applied and the adjustments made, please refer to Note 3 
to the consolidated financial statements “Significant Accounting 
Policies” and Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements 
“First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards.”

The outline of differences between IFRS and Japanese GAAP 
is as follows.

 z Reclassification
• Under Japanese GAAP, revenue from transactions of 

imported tobacco in which TS Network Co., Ltd. is involved 
as an agency was included in net sales and cost of sales. 
Under IFRS, such revenue is not included in revenue or cost 
of sales. In addition, certain sales rebates were presented in 
selling, general, and administrative expenses under 

IV Results and Outlook
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Japanese GAAP while they are presented in revenue as a 
deduction from revenue under IFRS.

• Items presenting non-operating income, non-operating 
expenses, extraordinary income, and extraordinary loss 
under Japanese GAAP are presented as financial income or 
financial costs for financial-related items, and as cost of 
sales, other operating income, share of profit on invest-
ments accounted for using the equity method, or selling, 
general, and administrative expenses, etc. for items other 
than financial-related items under IFRS.

 z Differences in recognition and measurement
• Under Japanese GAAP, the Group substantially estimated 

the amortization period of goodwill, and goodwill was amor-
tized over the years estimated. Goodwill is not amortized 
under IFRS.

• Under Japanese GAAP, the Group amortized actuarial gains 
or losses arising from the calculation of retirement benefit 
liabilities over certain years determined based on the 
employees’ average remaining service period at the time of 
occurrence, using the straight-line method. Under IFRS, the 
Group recognizes all of the actuarial gains or losses in other 
comprehensive income at the time of occurrence.

• With regard to the depreciation method of property, plants 
and equipment (excluding leased assets,) the Group mainly 
adopted the declining-balance method under Japanese 
GAAP. Under IFRS, it adopts the straight-line method.

<Significant accounting estimates and judgment on 
estimates>

Preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group 
requires the management to make estimates and assumptions in 
order to measure income, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 
disclose contingencies as of the fiscal year end date. These 
estimates and assumptions are based on the best judgment of 
the management, considering past results and various factors 

deemed to be appropriate as of the fiscal year end date. Given 
their nature, actual results may differ from those estimates and 
assumptions.

The estimates and assumptions are continuously reviewed by 
the management. The effects of a change in the estimates and 
assumptions are recognized prospectively, including the period 
reviewed.

As for the estimates and assumptions that may have a mate-
rial effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the JT Group, please refer to Note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements “Significant Accounting Esti-
mates and Judgments on Estimates.”

<Closing date of foreign subsidiaries in the interna-
tional tobacco business>

The closing date of JT International Holding B.V. and its subsidiar-
ies (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “JTIH Group”), 
which operate the JT Group’s international tobacco business, is 
December 31. Although there is a three-month difference 
between the fiscal year of the JTIH Group (the year from January 
1 to December 31) and that of JT (the year from April 1 to March 
31), since seasonal and periodical fluctuations of the perfor-
mance of the Group’s international tobacco business have been 
relatively small, the impact from this difference in the reporting 
period on the Group’s consolidated financial position and operat-
ing results is limited. With respect to significant transactions or 
events that occurred during the time gap, the Group makes nec-
essary adjustments and appropriate arrangements in order to 
assist the users of financial statements to properly understand 
and assess the consolidated financial position and business per-
formances of the Group.

For more details, please refer to “(5) Reporting Period of JT 
International Holding B.V. and Its Subsidiaries” of Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements, “Basis of Preparation.”

2 Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to the financial data reported in the consolidated finan-
cial statements, the Group also provides certain additional mea-
sures (non-GAAP financial measures) that are not required or 
defined under IFRS. These financial measures are used internally 
to manage each of our business operations to understand their 
underlying performance, in view of our aiming for mid- to long-
term sustainable growth, and we believe that they provide useful 
information for users of our financial statements to assess the 
Group’s performance.

For our international tobacco business, consolidated financial 
statements reported in U.S. dollars are internally managed, and 
revenue and adjusted EBITDA are supplementarily indicated in 
U.S. dollars.

These non-GAAP financial measures should be treated as 
supplementary information, rather than alternative measures to 
corresponding financial numbers prepared in accordance with 
IFRS.

<Core revenue>
For tobacco business, core revenue is disclosed additionally as a 
breakdown of revenue as required under IFRS. “Others” as 
indicated in the table includes revenues from distribution busi-
ness and other sources.
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Year ended March 31, 2011 Year ended March 31, 2012

Japanese 
Domestic 
Tobacco 

International Tobacco
Japanese 
Domestic 
Tobacco 

International Tobacco

(Million yen) (Million yen) (Million U.S. 
dollars)

Yen/U.S. 
dollars (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million U.S. 

dollars)
Yen/U.S. 
dollars

Revenue 665,819 963,520 10,975 87.8 646,187 966,255 12,108 79.8

Core revenue 632,158 887,798 10,113 87.8 611,925 894,636 11,211 79.8

Others 33,661 75,722 863 87.8 34,262 71,619 897 79.8

<Adjusted EBITDA>
The adjusted EBITDA is, where operating profit required to be reported under IFRS, less depreciation and amortization, impairment 
losses on goodwill, restructuring-related income and costs, etc., is presented in order to provide useful comparative information on our 
sustainable performance and capability to generate cash flows. As for reconciliation from reported operating profit, please refer to Note 
6 to the consolidated financial statements “Operating Segments.”

Year ended March 31, 2011

Operating 
profit (loss)

Adjustment

Adjusted EBITDADeprecia-
tions

Impairment 
losses on 
goodwill

Restructur-
ing related 

income

Restructur-
ing related 
expense

(Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million U.S. 
dollars)

(Yen/U.S 
.dollars)

Japanese domestic 
tobacco

202,347 42,790 2,046 247,184 

International 
tobacco

225,852 51,638 (190) 578 277,878 3,165 87.8

Pharmaceuticals (13,305) 3,544 (9,761)

Food (3,627) 16,485 87 (2,932) 7,712 17,725 

Subtotal 411,268 114,456 87 (3,122) 10,336 533,026 

Others/Eliminations (9,947) 3,498 (8,132) 3,583 (10,997)

Total 401,321 117,954 87 (11,254) 13,920 522,029 

Year ended March 31, 2012

Operating 
profit (loss)

Adjustment

Adjusted EBITDADeprecia-
tions

Impairment 
losses on 
goodwill

Restructur-
ing related 

income

Restructur-
ing related 
expense

(Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million yen) (Million U.S. 
dollars)

(Yen/U.S. 
dollars)

Japanese domestic 
tobacco

209,265 39,567 13,426 262,257 

International 
tobacco

252,355 55,227 (564) 7,737 314,755 3,944 79.8

Pharmaceuticals (13,497) 3,465 (10,031)

Food 2,024 17,528 434 19,987 

Subtotal 450,147 115,788 (564) 21,597 586,968 

Others/Eliminations 9,033 3,057 (29,368) 7,443 (9,835)

Total 459,180 118,845 (29,932) 29,039 577,132 
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<Adjusted diluted earnings per share (adjusted EPS (diluted)>
In order to provide useful comparative information on our sustainable performance, the adjusted EPS (diluted), which are adjusted for 
restructuring costs, etc., are presented. As for the adjustment made for the adjusted EPS (diluted), please refer to Note 32 to the con-
solidated financial statements “Earnings per Share.”

Year ended March 31, 2011 Year ended March 31, 2012

Profit (Million yen) 243,315 320,883

Adjustment (Million yen) 4,758 (30,075)

Adjusted profit (Million yen) 248,073 290,808

Diluted weighted-average common shares (Thousands of shares) 9,577 9,525

Adjusted EPS (diluted) (Yen) 25,903.94 30,530.39

JT’s Board of Directors authorized a resolution concerning stock split and the adoption of a share unit system was on April 13, 2012. 
For details, please refer to Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements “Subsequent events.”

<Consolidated dividend payout ratio>
The consolidated dividend payout ratio is calculated by dividing the annual dividends per share for the relevant fiscal year (total of 
interim dividends and year-end dividends for which the record dates are included in the relevant fiscal year) by basic earnings per share.

Year ended March 31, 2011 Year ended March 31, 2012

Record date Record date

The interim dividends (board resolution) (Yen/Shares) 2,800.00 September 30, 2010 4,000.00 September 30, 2011

The final dividends (resolution of an 
annual shareholders meeting)

(Yen/Shares) 4,000.00 March 31, 2011 6,000.00 March 31, 2012

Total (Yen/Shares) 6,800.00 10,000.00

Earnings per share (basic) (Yen/Shares) 25,414.33 33,700.97

Consolidated dividend payout ratio (%) 26.8 29.7

3 Business Results

<JT-11 medium-term management plan (until the 
year ended March 31, 2012)>

The following financial figures in this section are based on Japa-
nese GAAP, and are un-audited information.

JT and its group companies (the “JT Group” or the “Group”) 
formulated mid-term plan (“JT-11”) for the three-year period from 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 to the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2012 to carry on the strategies the Group had pro-
moted before the period and take them to a higher level, and 
worked towards the achievement of its long-term vision of 
becoming a “Company committed to global growth by providing 
diversified value that is uniquely available from JT.”

The JT Group achieved the annual-average EBITDA growth 
rate of 8.3%, which exceeded the JT-11 group-wide target of 5% 
or more of the annual average growth (based on the assumption 
that foreign exchange rates remain the same). This performance 
was attributable to the contributions of the Japanese domestic 
and international tobacco businesses. The Japanese domestic 
tobacco business achieved a performance substantially higher 
than the target to maintain the initially expected EBITDA in the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, despite unexpected business 
environment changes, that were beyond the scope of prediction, 
including considerable tobacco excise taxes increases in October 
2010 and the occurrence of the Great East Japan Earthquake in 
2011. We believe the future profit growth potential of the busi-
ness is confirmed as the business realized profit growth despite 
a substantial decrease in sales volume.

The international tobacco business, benefiting from the 
increase in market share and the growth of GFB, even in the busi-
ness environment with increase of uncertainty, attained a 10% 
EBITDA CAGR growth based on the assumption that foreign 
exchange rates remain the same, which was the target of JT-11, 
confirming the business’ continued profit-growth momentum.

We made efforts in the pharmaceutical business to increase 
and advance compounds in late stage developments and to 
strengthen our R&D pipeline, and we saw a steady progress by 
licensee such as having submitted a marketing application for an 
anti-HIV single-tablet regimen containing JTK-303 to US FDA and 
EMA, among others, as well as the development of MEK inhibitor 
for melanoma.

In the Food Business, the “Roots” flagship brand drove 
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strong and steady results for the beverage business, while we 
progressively strengthened our business fundamentals in the 
processed food business to improve our profitability, although 
the pace to attain success is slow.

<Business results for the year ended March 31, 
2012>

All of the following financial figures are based on IFRS.
 z General summary

• Revenue
Revenue decreased by ¥25.5 billion, or 1.2%, from the previous 
fiscal year to ¥2,033.8 billion. This was mainly due to the sales 
volume decline in the Japanese domestic tobacco business 
caused by the impact of the earthquake and the tax and price 
increase for tobacco products, along with the strong yen, despite 
the favorable pricing in the Japanese Domestic and the interna-
tional tobacco businesses.

Fiscal year 
ended March 

31, 2011

Fiscal year 
ended March 

31, 2012
Change

Billions of yen Billions of yen Billions 
of yen %

Revenue 2,059.4 2,033.8 (25.5) (1.2)

Japanese domestic 
tobacco business 665.8 646.2 (19.6) (2.9)

Of which,  
core revenue 632.2 611.9 (20.2) (3.2)

International 
tobacco business 963.5 966.3 2.7 0.3

Of which,  
core revenue 887.8 894.6 6.8 0.8

Pharmaceutical 
business 44.1 47.4 3.3 7.5

Food business 367.5 359.4 (8.0) (2.2)

* Figures exclude revenue between consolidated companies.
* Revenue includes rent received from leased properties in addition to items relating to 

segments shown above. For details, please refer to Note 6 to the consolidated 
financial statements “Segment Information.”

• Operating profit and Adjusted EBITDA
Operating profit increased by ¥57.9 billion, or 14.4%, from the 
previous fiscal year to ¥459.2 billion, despite the recording of 
expenses including compensation payment for leaf tobacco 
grower’s voluntarily ceasing cultivation and business restructur-
ing costs in the international tobacco business. This was mainly 
driven by a favorable pricing in the Japanese domestic and the 
international tobacco businesses, an increase in gain on sales of 
non-current assets, and the absence of a payment for regulatory 
fine in Canada recorded in the previous fiscal year.

In addition, adjusted EBITDA after excluding the depreciation, 
the amortization, compensation payment for leaf tobacco grow-
ers who voluntarily ceases the cultivation, business restructuring 
costs in the international tobacco business, and gain on sales of 
non-current assets, etc., increased by ¥55.1 billion, or 10.6%, 

from the previous fiscal year to ¥577.1 billion.

Fiscal year 
ended March 

31, 2011

Fiscal year 
ended March 

31, 2012
Change

Billions of yen Billions of yen Billions 
of yen %

Adjusted EBITDA 522.0 577.1 55.1 10.6

Japanese domestic 
tobacco business 247.2 262.3 15.1 6.1

International 
tobacco business 277.9 314.8 36.9 13.3

Pharmaceutical 
business (9.8) (10.0) (0.3) –

Food business 17.7 20.0 2.3 12.8

Operating profit 401.3 459.2 57.9 14.4

* Operating profit and adjusted EBITDA include operating profit and adjusted EBITDA 
relating to factors other than the segments shown above. For the details, please refer 
to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements “Segment Information.”

• Profit attributable to owners of the parent company
As a result of the increase in operating profit, profit before income 
taxes increased by ¥56.1 billion, or 14.6%, from the previous fiscal 
year to ¥441.4 billion. Furthermore, profit attributable to owners of 
the parent company increased by ¥77.6 billion, or 31.9%, from the 
previous fiscal year to ¥320.9 billion resulting from a decrease in 
income tax expense caused by factors including tax deductions 
made in the current fiscal year for loss on valuation of stocks of 
subsidiaries and affiliates recorded in the non-consolidated state-
ment of income for the previous fiscal year.

• Adjusted EPS (diluted)
Adjusted profit for the year ended March 31, 2012, which excludes 
restructuring-related income and costs, increased by ¥42.7 billion, 
or 17.2%, from the previous fiscal year to ¥290.8 billion. Adjusted 
EPS (diluted) for the year ended March 31, 2012, increased by 
¥4,626.45, or 17.9%, from the previous fiscal year to ¥30,530.39.

<Review of operations by business segment>
• Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business
Total sales volume for cigarettes during the year ended March 31, 
2012 decreased by 26.2 billion cigarettes, or 19.5%, from the 
previous fiscal year to 108.4 billion cigarettes (Note). This was mainly 
due to the effects of limited deliveries in terms of the number of 
brands and delivery volume in the aftermath of the Great East 
Japan Earthquake and a drop in demand resulting from the taxes 
and price increase in October 2010. Our market share for the year 
ended March 31, 2012 was 54.9%, compared with 64.1% for the 
previous fiscal year. From the second quarter ended September 
30, 2011, having put in place a stable supply system, JT made 
every possible effort to enhance its competitiveness in order to 
regain market share at an early juncture through efforts such as 
the active introduction of new products under core brands and the 
development of effective sales promotions. As a result, market 
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share for the month of March reached 60.0%.
Revenue per 1,000 cigarettes increased by ¥920 to ¥5,502 as 

a result of the retail price increase.
As a result of the above, despite the effects of favorable pricing, 

revenue decreased by ¥19.6 billion, or 2.9%, from the previous 
fiscal year to ¥646.2 billion, and core revenue decreased by ¥20.2 
billion, or 3.2%, from the previous fiscal year to ¥611.9 billion. This 
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales volume.

However, despite the decrease in sales volume, adjusted 
EBITDA increased by ¥15.1 billion, or 6.1%, from the previous 
fiscal year to ¥262.3 billion, mainly driven by the effects of favor-
able pricing and insurance payouts received in connection with 
the Great East Japan Earthquake.
(Note)  In addition to the figure stated above, during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, 

3.7 billion cigarettes were sold at duty-free shops in Japan, as well as at in markets 
like China, Hong Kong and Macau that are under the control of JT’s China Division.

• International Tobacco Business
Among GFBs in the year ended March 31, 2012, there was 
steady growth in shipments of Winston in Russia, Italy and 
Turkey. LD shipments grew in Russia. As a result, shipment 
volume of GFBs increased by 6.6 billion cigarettes, or 2.6%, from 
the previous fiscal year to 256.5 billion cigarettes. On the other 
hand, total shipment volume including GFBs decreased by 2.7 
billion cigarettes, or 0.6%, from the previous fiscal year to 425.7 
billion cigarettes, mainly due to a fall in sales of non-GFB local 
brands in Russia and industry contraction in Ukraine and Spain.

Although there was a decrease in shipment volume, dollar-
based revenue increased by $1,133 million, or 10.3%, from the 
previous fiscal year to $12,108 million, while dollar-based core 
revenue increased by $1,098 million or 10.9% from the previous 
fiscal year to $11,211 million. This was mainly driven by the 
effects of strong pricing and favorable foreign exchange effects 
on the local currencies of key markets.

Furthermore, adjusted EBITDA increased by $779 million, or 
24.6%, versus the previous fiscal year, to reach $3,944 million, 
despite an increase in expenses mainly caused by increases in 
raw material costs and the strengthening of sales promotions. 
Growth was driven primarily by favorable pricing and the com-
parison with the previous fiscal year, in which a payment of fine 
in Canada had been recorded.

As a result of the above, despite the effects of a strong yen 
when making conversions to that currency, revenue increased 
by ¥2.7 billion or 0.3% from the previous fiscal year, to ¥966.3 
billion, core revenue increased by ¥6.8 billion, or 0.8% from the 
previous fiscal year to ¥894.6 billion, and adjusted EBITDA 

increased by ¥36.9 billion, or 13.3%, from the previous fiscal 
year to ¥314.8 billion.
* The foreign exchange rate in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 was ¥79.80 per 

U.S. dollar, representing a ¥7.99 year-on-year yen appreciation, compared with ¥87.79 
per U.S. dollar in the previous fiscal year.

• Pharmaceutical Business
In the pharmaceutical business, our focus is increasing on 
advancing compounds in late-stage developments and enhancing 
the research and development pipeline. The number of com-
pounds developed in-house that are under clinical development 
is now 8(Note). Gilead Sciences, Inc., which is our licensee, has 
submitted a marketing application for an anti-HIV single-tablet 
regimen containing JTK-303 to US FDA and EMA, among others.

Revenue in the year ended March 31, 2012 increased by ¥3.3 
billion, or 7.5%, from the previous fiscal year to ¥47.4 billion 
mainly due to increased sales of products of our subsidiary Torii 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. including REMITCH® CAPSULES, an 
oral antipruritus drug for hemodialysis patients, and Truvada® 
Tablets, an anti-HIV drug.

Adjusted EBITDA was negative ¥10.0 billion (compared to 
negative ¥9.8 billion in the previous fiscal year) due mainly to an 
increase in research and development expenses as a result of 
progress in development.
(Note)  Regarding items under clinical development, please refer to “Japan Tobacco Inc. 

Clinical development (as of April 26, 2012)” in “II Business and Industry 2. 
Descriptions of Business (2) Pharmaceutical Business.”

• Food Business
Revenue in the year ended March 31, 2012 declined by ¥8.0 
billion, or 2.2%, from the previous fiscal year to ¥359.4 billion. 
This was mainly due to the impact of the closure of part of our 
processed food business in the previous fiscal year, despite 
increased sales in our beverage business mainly driven by a solid 
sales performance of our flagship coffee brand “Roots” and 
sales growth in staple food products (frozen noodles, packed 
cooked rice and baked frozen bread) in our processed food 
business.

On the other hand, adjusted EBITDA in the year ended March 
31, 2012 increased by ¥2.3 billion, or 12.8%, from the previous 
fiscal year to ¥20.0 billion. This was mainly driven by the effects 
of increased revenue from “Roots” in our beverage business, 
increased sales in higher-margin staple food products in our 
processed food business, and steady improvement of the earn-
ings structure including a reduction in fixed costs.

4 Results and Plans of Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures include outlays on property, plants and equipment such as land, buildings and structures; machinery; vehicles and 
others; and intangible assets such as goodwill, trademark, software and others that are necessary for enhancing the productivity of our 
factories and other facilities, strengthening our competitiveness, and operating in various business fields.
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<Outline of capital expenditures>
For the year ended March 31, 2012, we made capital expenditures totaling ¥119.0 billion.

Segment
The capital expenditure 

for the year ended March 
31, 2012 (billion yen)

Main purpose of investment Funding

Japanese domestic 
tobacco business

56.2 Expenditures for measures to streamline manufacturing processes, 
strengthen our ability to respond flexibly to supply and demand fluctuations 
with an increasingly diverse range of products and develop new products

Internally gener-
ated funds

International 
tobacco business

39.1 Expenditures for expanding our production capacity, maintenance and 
replacement of facility and improvement of product specifications

Same as above

Pharmaceuticals 3.9 Expenditures for enhancement of production and research capabilities Same as above

Food 15.4 Improvement of production and sales facilities Same as above

5 Employees

We employ approximately 60,000 people including employees 
under temporary contracts and hourly paid part-time staff world-
wide. Our businesses are subject to a number of laws and regu-
lations relating to employee relations, and those laws and 
regulations are specific to each area where we operate. We 
believe that our relations with our employees and their represen-
tative organizations are favorable.

<Plans for new installation and disposal of facilities>
Regarding the mid- to long-term resource allocation of the JT 
Group, we will place top priority on business investments that 
will lead to sustainable profit growth in the mid- to long-term 
based on our management principles.

Of the reportable segments, we position the Japanese domes-
tic and international tobacco businesses as the core business and 
profit growth engine and place top priority on business invest-
ments that will lead to their sustainable profit growth. Meanwhile, 
regarding the pharmaceutical and food businesses, we will 

devote efforts to strengthening business foundations to generate 
future profits, so we will make investments to that end.

Based on this policy, we plan capital expenditures (facility 
construction and expansion) totaling ¥169 billion in the year fol-
lowing the fiscal year ending March 2013.

As JT and JT Group companies have wide-ranging plans for 
capital expenditure, figures are disclosed by segment.

Our actual capital expenditures may differ significantly from 
the planned figures mentioned above as a result of a number of 
factors including those discussed in ”III Major Risk Factors.”

Segment
The capital expenditure plan 
for the year ending March 

31, 2013 (billion yen)
Main purpose of investment Funding

Japanese domestic 
tobacco business

85.0
Expenditures for the development and reinforcement of production and 
sales facilities for strengthening brand equity

Internally gener-
ated funds

International 
tobacco business

50.0
Expenditures for the improvement of product specifications, the expansion 
of production capacity and the maintenance and upgrading of facilities

Same as above

Pharmaceuticals 5.0 Expenditures for the development and reinforcement of R&D capabilities Same as above

Food 20.0
Expenditures for the development and reinforcement of production and 
sales facilities

Same as above

Notes: 1. Consumption taxes are not included.

 2. There are no plans for sales or disposal of important facilities except for the sales or disposal for the regular renewal of facilities.

 (As of March 31, 2012)

Segment Number of employees

Japanese domestic tobacco business 11,092  [3,889]

International tobacco business 24,237  [3,020]

Pharmaceuticals 1,693    [148]

Food 10,646  [3,571]

Other business/Corporate 861     [74]

Total 48,529 [10,702]

Notes: 1. The number of employees indicates the number of full-time employees as of 
March 31, 2012. The average number of temporary employees during the year 
ended March 31, 2012 is given in parentheses separately.

 2. The number of employees in foreign subsidiaries for which the fiscal year end 
date falls on December 31 is calculated based on the number of employees as 
of December 31, 2011.

 3. The number of employees in the “Other business/Corporate” row is the 
number of those working for departments unclassifiable to specific segments, 
such as the administrative department.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012 073

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L IN

FO
R

M
A

T
IO

N



6 Dividends

The JT Group aims to achieve a consolidated dividend payout 
ratio of 40% by the year ending March 31, 2014 and subse-
quently to 50% thereafter in the mid-term.

The year-end dividends for the year ended March 31, 2012 were 
¥6,000 per share. Therefore, the total annual dividends per share, 
including the interim dividends per share of ¥4,000, were ¥10,000 
per share and the consolidated dividend payout ratio is 29.7%.

As the year-end dividends related to the current fiscal year are 

recognized in the following fiscal year for accounting purposes. 
The year-end dividends related to the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2011 (record date of March 31, 2011) and the interim dividends 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 (record date of Septem-
ber 30, 2011) amounting to a total of ¥8,000 per share are 
recorded in the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2012. For more details, please refer to Note 26 to the 
consolidated financial statements “Dividends.”

7 Capital Management

The JT Group aims to maximize our corporate value through 
mid- to long-term sustainable growth.

In order to achieve this sustainable growth, we understand 
financial capacities should be maintained to make investments in 
an appropriate and prompt manner without missing business 
growth opportunities when there are opportunities for business 
growth, including business investments or acquisitions of external 
resources. For this reason, we aim to ensure sound and flexible 
financial conditions for future investment opportunities and to 
maintain return of capital with a well-balanced capital structure.

The JT Group manages net interest-bearing debt, where cash 
and cash equivalents are deducted from interest-bearing debt 
and capital (the part attributable to the owner of the parent com-
pany). The outstanding amount for each year-end is indicated 
below. Please note that JT shares are subject to the Japan 
Tobacco Inc. Act for certain matters, including the minimum 
ownership requirement by the Japanese government. For more 
details on capital management, please refer to Note 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements (Financial Instruments 

(1)  Capital Management).

As of March 31, 2011 (million yen) As of March 31, 2012 (million yen)

Interest-bearing debt 709,087 502,368 

Cash and cash equivalents (244,240) (404,740)

Net interest-bearing debt 464,847 97,628 

Equity attributable to owners of parent company 1,525,145 1,634,050 

<Stock repurchase>
A repurchase of our shares requires cash outlays. In order to 
repurchase our shares in a flexible manner, we amended the 
Articles of Incorporation at the general meeting of shareholders 
held on June 24, 2004 so that we could make repurchases 
based on a resolution made by the Board of Directors. As of 
March 31, 2012 we held 478,526 shares of common stock as 
treasury stock. We may continue to hold the repurchased shares 

as treasury stock or use them for other purposes. Stock repur-
chase provides our management with an additional option for 
increasing flexibility and speed in capital management in order 
to adapt to a rapidly changing business environment. We will 
determine the timing, scale and manner of any further repur-
chase in an appropriate manner in light of our business needs 
and market trends.

8 Financial Activities

The Treasury Division provides group-wide support to enable 
stable and efficient financing activities through a financial strat-
egy based on the most appropriate financial risk management. 
Treasury operations are conducted under a set of group-wide 
policies and performance is quarterly reported to the Executive 
Committee or the Board of Directors.

<Group Cash Management Systems>
To maximize the total group cash efficiency, we give first priority 
to utilizing internal financing mainly by the Group Cash Manage-
ment Systems (CMS), where legally permissible and economi-
cally viable.
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<External financing>
Short-term working capital needs are normally financed through 
short-term borrowings from banks; medium- to long-term 
financing is done through long-term debt or equity, or a combi-
nation of both.

For stable and efficient financing, we continue to diversify our 
financing means as well as the financial institutions, and set up 
stable financing means, such as commitment facilities and a 
commercial paper programs.

The financing status is reported quarterly to the Board of 
Directors.

<External investments>
Investments with financial institutions should be transacted 
ensuring safety, liquidity and optimal yield. Speculative dealings 
in pursuit of profit margin are not allowed.

The investment status is reported quarterly to the Executive 
Committee.

<Financial risk management>
We are exposed to financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity risk, 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and market price risk. 
We manage such risks according to our risk management poli-
cies and procedures to avoid or mitigate such risks. The major 
financial risk management status is reported quarterly to the 
Executive Committee.

It is our policy that derivatives are only used if it is intended to 
mitigate risks of transactions for actual business needs, and 
speculative and trading transactions are not allowed.

For more details on financial risk management, please 
refer to ”(2) Financial Risk Management” to “(7) Market Price 
Risk” of Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements 
“Financial Instruments.”

9 Result of Cash Flows

 z Analysis of consolidated financial position
Cash and cash equivalents for the year ended March 31, 2012 
increased by ¥160.5 billion from the end of the previous fiscal 
year to ¥404.7 billion. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the previous fiscal year were ¥244.2 billion.

•  Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Net cash flows from operating activities during the year ended 
March 31, 2012 were ¥551.6 billion, compared with ¥406.8 
billion in the previous fiscal year. The main drivers were the 
generation of a stable cash inflow from our tobacco business 
and an increase in tobacco excise taxes payable in our Japa-
nese domestic tobacco business. As a result of holidays for 
financial institutions, the amount of tobacco excise taxes paid 
in our Japanese domestic tobacco business for the previous 
fiscal year is for 12 months, while the amount for the year 

ended March 31, 2012 is for 11 months.

• Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Net cash flows used in investment activities during the year 
ended March 31, 2012 were ¥103.8 billion, compared with ¥126.0 
billion in the previous fiscal year, despite proceeds from the sale of 
investment property. This was mainly due to the purchase of 
property, plants and equipment and an investment to acquire 
business bases in the republics of Sudan and South Sudan.
 

• Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Net cash flows used in financing activities during the year 
ended March 31, 2012 were ¥279.1 billion, compared with 
¥185.4 billion in the previous fiscal year. The main factors were 
repayments of long-term borrowings, the redemption of bonds, 
and the payment of cash dividends.

10 Liquidity

We have historically had, and expect to continue to have, signifi-
cant cash flows from operating activities. Cash flows from oper-
ating activities were ¥406.8 billion in the year ended March 31, 
2011 and ¥551.6 billion in the year ended March 31, 2012. We 
expect that cash generated from operating activities will continue 
to be stable and cover funds needed for regular business activi-
ties. For substantial capital needs related to the acquisition of 
outside resources, we may utilize debt financing, primarily bor-
rowings from financial institutions or the issuance of bonds, as 
needed. On March 31, 2012, we had approximately ¥513.5 billion 
in committed lines of credit from major financial institutions both 

domestic and international, of which 85.0% was unused. In 
addition, we have a domestic commercial paper program, a 
domestic bond shelf registration, and uncommitted lines of credit.

<Long-term debt>
Bonds issued (including the current portion) as of March 31, 
2011 and as of March 31, 2012 accounted for ¥452.2 billion and 
¥320.5 billion respectively and long-term borrowings as loans 
from financial institutions (including the current portion) 
accounted for ¥173.9 billion and ¥127.5 billion respectively. 
Annual interest rates applicable to yen-denominated long-term 
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borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2011 and March 31, 
2012 ranged from 0.93% to 5.30% and from 0.93% to 5.30%, 
respectively. Annual interest rates for long-term borrowings 
denominated in other currencies ranged from 0.43% to 9.00% 
for those outstanding as of March 31, 2011 and from 0.43% to 
9.00% for those outstanding as of March 31, 2012. Maturities of 
interest-bearing debt (including the current portion) as of March 
31, 2012, were below.

As of March 31, 2012, our long-term debt was rated Aa3 by 
Moody’s Japan K.K., A+ by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Japan 
K.K., and AA by Rating and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I), all 
with a “stable” outlook. These ratings are among the highest 
ratings for international tobacco companies.

These ratings are affected by a number of factors such as 
developments in our major business markets, the quality of exe-
cution of our business strategies, and general economic trends 
that are beyond our control. The ratings may be withdrawn or 
revised at any time. Each rating should be evaluated separately 
from other ratings. Under the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, bonds 

issued by JT are secured by statutory preferential rights to the 
property of JT. These rights give bondholders precedence over 
unsecured creditors in seeking repayment, with the exception of 
national and local taxes and other statutory obligations.

<Short-term debt>
Short-term funds are financed by short-term borrowings from 
financial institutions, commercial paper, or a combination of both.

Short-term borrowings totaled ¥70.1 billion as of March 31, 
2011 and ¥43.5 billion as of March 31, 2012, of which borrow-
ings denominated in the currencies other than Japanese Yen 
were ¥55.9 billion and ¥32.0 billion, respectively. There was no 
commercial paper outstanding as of March 31, 2012. Annual 
interest rates applicable to yen-denominated short-term borrow-
ings ranged from 0.48% to 2.25% as of March 31, 2011, and 
from 0.48% to 2.20% as of March 31, 2012. Annual interest 
rates applicable to short-term borrowings denominated in other 
currencies ranged from 0.76% to 17.00% as of March 31, 2011, 
and from 1.60% to 27.00% as of March 31, 2012.

11 Derivatives

We are exposed to market risks principally from changes in inter-
est rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and debt security 
prices. Our interest rate risk exposures primarily relate to financ-
ing activities. Our foreign currency exposures relate to buying, 
selling and financing in currencies other than the local currencies 
of our operations.

In order to reduce foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate 
risk, we use derivative financial instruments including interest 
rate swaps, interest rate cap option contracts, foreign exchange 
forward contracts, currency swaps and currency option con-
tracts, for hedge. We do not hedge against price fluctuations of 
debt and equity securities. We have risk management policies 
and procedures designed to mitigate the risks arising from the 
use of derivative financial instruments. We utilize derivatives 
solely for risk management purposes, and no derivatives are held 
or issued for speculative and trading purposes.

As part of our risk management procedures, we identify the 
specific risks and transactions to be hedged and the appropriate 
hedging instruments to be used to reduce the risk, and assess 
the correlation between the hedged risks and the hedging instru-
ments. The effectiveness of our hedging activities is assessed in 
accordance with our risk management policies and practice 
manual for hedging transactions.

Hedge accounting is only applied to a portion of domestic 
transactions that have an importance in amount and are individu-
ally distinguishable, mainly foreign currency-denominated debts. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the value of the contracts 
that qualify for hedge accounting are deferred and recognized in 
the period in which corresponding losses or gains from transac-
tions being hedged by such contracts are recognized.

On the other hand, hedging contracts mainly related to our 
international tobacco business do not apply for hedge accounting 

Book value 

(million yen)

Policy cash 
flows 

(million yen)

Due within 
one year 

(million yen)

Due after one 
year through 

two years  
(million yen)

Due after two 
years through 
three years  
(million yen)

Due after three 
years through 

four years  
(million yen)

Due after four 
years through 

five years  
(million yen)

Due after five 
years 

(million yen)

Short-term borrowings as 
loans 43,486 43,486 43,486 — — — — —

Long-term borrowings as 
loans (current portion) 78,219 78,219 78,219 — — — — —

Long-term borrowings as 
loans 49,277 49,277 — 20,593 1,103 27,158 23 401

Bonds (current portion) 90,061 90,109 90,109 — — — — —

Bonds 230,473 230,583 — 100 150,483 40,000 — 40,000

Total 491,516 491,674 211,814 20,693 151,586 67,158 23 40,401
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and therefore we recognize changes in the value of foreign currency 
derivative instruments in income for the period in which they occur. 
This could result in gains or losses from fluctuations in exchange 
rates related to a derivative contract being recognized in a different 
period from the one in which the gains or losses expected from the 
underlying forecasted transactions are recognized.

We are exposed to credit-related risk in the event of default 
by counterparties to derivative financial instruments. However, 
we strive to mitigate this risk by dealing with international finan-
cial institutions with high credit ratings with no significant risk of 
default and by monitoring their credit.

V Corporate Governance

1 Overview

We recognize that prompt and proper decision-making and business 
execution are vital to increasing our corporate value and responding 
appropriately to future new challenges, as the business and social 
environments change. Based on this recognition, JT will strive to 
enhance corporate governance as a top management priority.

<Efforts to enhance corporate governance>
To-date, these steps have included efforts to speed up high-quality 
decision making and business execution through a number of 
initiatives, including reducing the size of the Board of Directors 
from 24 members in 2000 to the current level of 9 members, and 
adopting the Executive Officer System, where executive officers 
who are responsible for executing the management strategy 
decided by the Board of Directors. We have organized the Advi-
sory Committee, the Compensation Advisory Panel, and the Com-
pliance Committee, all of which include external experts in fields 
such as law and corporate business. At the general meeting of 
shareholders on June 22, 2012, JT appointed two outside direc-
tors in order to strengthen the supervisory function of the Board of 
Directors and enhance transparency over its management.

<Corporate governance structure >
JT employs a corporate governance system with a Board of 
Auditors (“Audit Board”) under the Companies Act of Japan 
(“Companies Act”). Corporate auditors, as an independent body 
whose responsibility is entrusted by the shareholders, strive to 
ensure sound and sustainable growth as well as to maintain a 
high level of accountability and transparency through regular and 
thorough audits. Corporate auditors cooperate with the Opera-
tional Review and Business Assurance Division as the internal 
audit function and external auditors who handle accounting 
audits for the purpose of conducting appropriate audits, by shar-
ing the audit results, for example.

In 2002, JT redefined and clarified the role of the Board of 
Directors as the body responsible for decision making for 
group-wide management strategy as well as for the supervision 
of all business activities, and optimized the size of the Board of 
Directors accordingly. At the same time, we have adopted the 
Executive Officer System so that the executive officers can 
focus on business execution in accordance with the delegated 
authorities.

General Meeting of Shareholders

Board of 
Directors

Advisory 
Committee

Independent 
Auditors

Compliance 
Office

Compensation 
Advisory Panel

President and 
Chief Executive 

Officer
five members  

(including two outside 
members and two 
outside directors)

five members  
(including three outside 

members.)

four members  
(including three outside 

auditors)

Executive  
Officers

Group  
Companies

Lawyers

Auditor’s Office

Operational 
Review and 

Business 
Assurance 
Division

nine (including two outside 
directors) members

six members  
(four outside members 

and two outside 
directors)

Executive 
Committee

Compliance 
Committee

Audit Board

Departments

Selection or dismissal of members Selection or dismissal of members Selection or dismissal of members

Accounting audit/Operating auditAudit report

Accounting
audit

Advice
Accounting audit/Operating audit

Introduction of compliance-related matters
Report

Advice 
(to Representative 
Directors)

Supervision 
of the 
performance

Review of the policy and the 
rule relating to compensation 
for board members and 
executive officers

Report/
Proposal

Internal audit

Group audit

<Our Corporate Governance System>
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The Board of Directors discusses and makes decisions relat-
ing to group-wide management strategies, supervises all busi-
ness activities, and receives operational reports from each 
director. The Compliance Committee including outside members, 
deliberates important group-wide compliance matters. The Com-
pensation Advisory Panel, including outside members, discusses 
and provides its opinion to the Board of Directors regarding the 
compensation calculation policy and the compensation system 
for directors and executive officers.

The Executive Committee acts as the consultation function for 
the President, discusses important management issues—including 
management policies and basic plans regarding overall business 
operations in addition to the matters to be referred to the Board 
of Directors, as well as the matters delegated from the Board of 
Directors. In order to enable prompt and high-quality business 
execution, the Executive Committee sets the Rules Defining the 
Extent of Responsibility and Authority and promotes the delega-
tion of business execution authority to the executive officers.

We believe that our current governance framework provides 
an effective supervisory function for our business activities. This 

governance framework has as its basis the Board of Directors, 
which supervises all business activities. It includes the Audit 
Board which serves as a monitoring function and conducts busi-
ness operations audit and financial audit in cooperation with 
external auditors, as well as the Operational Review and Busi-
ness Assurance Division. This governance framework is further 
enhanced by the advisory functions of the Advisory Committee, 
the Compensation Advisory Panel and the Compliance Commit-
tee, all of which include outside members. The Advisory Com-
mittee and the Compensation Advisory Panel also includes two 
outside directors.

JT is a corporation established pursuant to the Japan Tobacco 
Inc. Act, which provides for the government’s obligation of share-
holding as well as the governmental approval requirement for 
important corporate matters including issuance of equity, busi-
ness engagement, and appointment and dismissal of directors in 
addition to the provisions under the Companies Act. See “7. The 
Japan Tobacco Inc. Act” of “V. Corporate Governance” for fur-
ther details.

2 Decision Making and Business Execution

(1) Decision Making

<General Meeting of Shareholders>
The General Meeting of Shareholders is where decisions on legally 
required items are taken, including the appointment and dismissal 
of the company’s officers and external auditors, dividends amount, 
loss compensation, and change in Articles of Incorporation. There 
is no additional item specified in our Articles of Incorporation that 
requires resolution at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is held in June, 
and a Special Meeting of Shareholders shall be called by the 
Board of Directors if necessary. The President chairs the General 
Meeting of Shareholders.

Ordinary resolutions of the appointment of the company’s 
officers and auditors additionally require a minimum of one third 
attendance of shareholders with valid voting rights. The matters 
that require a special resolution as stipulated under Section 2, 
Article 309 of the Companies Act, such as amendment to the 
Articles of Incorporation, require a minimum attendance of share-
holders with one-third of the valid voting rights and the resolution 
to be made by two-thirds of it.

Certain matters resolved at the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers need further approval by the MOF in Japan. Please refer to 
“7. The Japan Tobacco Inc. Act” of “V. Corporate Governance” 
for further details.

<The Board of Directors>
The Board of Directors is responsible for decision making for 
group-wide management strategy and other important business 

matters as well as for the supervision of all business activities. The 
Board of Directors meets every month and a Special Meeting of 
the Board of Directors may be called if necessary. During the year 
ended March 31, 2012, we held 12 regular Board of Directors 
meetings and 4 Special Meetings of the Board of Directors. The 
Board of Directors decides those matters required to be resolved 
at the Board of Directors under the Companies Act, such as dis-
posal and acquisition of important assets; significant amounts of 
borrowings; appointment and dismissal of important employees; 
establishment, change, and closure of branches and/or important 
organizations, as well as other important matters.

The Board of Directors supervises business execution and 
receives operational reports from each director at least on a 
quarterly basis.

JT included provisions in the Articles of Incorporation which 
entitle the Board of Directors to determine share repurchases in 
order to promptly deal with the changing business environment 
and the payment of interim dividends in order to promptly return 
cash to the shareholders.

It is prescribed in our Articles of Incorporation that the number 
of directors shall be 15 or less and their term is two years or 
less, with no limit on reappointment. Currently JT has 9 direc-
tors, with the term expiring at the end of June, 2014. The Presi-
dent and 3 Deputy Presidents are the representative directors. 
The Chairman concentrates on supervising the management 
activities as a non-representative director and chairs the Board of 
Directors. If there is a director who has any conflict of interest 
regarding the Board proposals, the director cannot participate in 
the vote for such matters.
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Directors are nominated by the Board of Directors in consider-
ation of their integrity as well as their substantial knowledge and 
experience that will enhance the quality of the Board’s delibera-
tions and decisions. It is prescribed in our Articles of Incorpora-
tion that the directors need to be approved by a majority vote at 
the General Meeting of Shareholders with the minimum atten-
dance of one-third of valid voting rights.

JT has appointed Mr. Motoyuki Oka and Ms. Main Kohda as 
outside directors. We expect that Mr. Oka will reflect his abun-
dant experience and extensive insight into the management of 
global companies in the management of JT. As for Ms. Kohda, we 
expect that she will reflect in the management of JT her abundant 

insight into international finance, her extensive experience in 
teaching as a university professor and serving on governmental 
advisory bodies, etc., and her deep insight and objective point of 
view developed through her activities as a fiction writer, as well of 
other literary works. We believe that they will supervise business 
execution from a fair and independent standpoint.

Corporate auditors attend the Board of Directors meetings, 
monitor the discussion and must state their opinions if they 
deem it necessary. Corporate auditors shall report to the Board 
of Directors, and have the right to call the Board of Directors 
when they find any breach of or any attempt to breach laws and 
regulations or the Articles of Incorporation.

<List of Directors> (As of June 22, 2012)

Title Name Date of  
birth Summary of career Term of  

office

Number 
of shares 

held
(Shares)

Chairman of the 
Board

Hiroshi 
Kimura

April 23, 
1953

April 1976 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)
January 1999 Vice President of Corporate Planning Division
May 1999 Senior Vice President in Tobacco Business Planning Division, 

Tobacco Business Headquarters;  
Executive Vice President, JT International S.A.

June 1999 Member of the Board
June 2001 Retired from the Board
June 2005 Member of the Board
June 2006 President, Chief Executive Officer and Representative Director
June 2012 Chairman of the Board (Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

133

*President, 
Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Representative 
Director

Mitsuomi 
Koizumi

April 15, 
1957 

April 1981 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)
June 2001 Vice President of Corporate Planning Division
June 2003 Senior Vice President, and Head of Human Resources and 

Labor Relations Group
June 2004 Senior Vice President, and Vice President of Tobacco Business 

Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters
June 2006 Executive Vice President, and Vice President of Tobacco 

Business Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters
June 2007 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

and Head of Marketing & Sales General Division, Tobacco 
Business Headquarters

July 2007 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  
and Chief Marketing & Sales Officer,  
Tobacco Business Headquarters

June 2009 Representative Director and Executive Deputy President
June 2012 President, Chief Executive Officer and Representative 

Director (Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

95

*Representative 
Director and 
Executive 
Deputy 
President

Yasushi 
Shingai

January 
11, 1956

April 1980 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)
July 2001 Vice President of Financial Planning Division
June 2004 Senior Vice President, and Head of Finance Group,  

Vice President of Financial Planning Division
July 2004 Senior Vice President, and Chief Financial Officer
June 2005 Member of the Board, Senior Vice President,  

and Chief Financial Officer
June 2006 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

JT International S.A.
June 2011 Member of the Board, Senior Vice President,  

and Executive Vice President in charge of International 
Tobacco Business

June 2011 Representative Director and Executive Deputy President 
(Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

86
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Title Name Date of  
birth Summary of career Term of  

office

Number 
of shares 

held
(Shares)

*Representative 
Director and 
Executive 
Deputy 
President

Noriaki 
Okubo

May 22, 
1959 

April 1983 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)
April 2000 Vice President of Business Development Dept.,  

Pharmaceutical Division
June 2002 Vice President of Business Planning Dept.,  

Pharmaceutical Division
June 2004 Member of the Board, Senior Vice President,  

and President, Pharmaceutical Business
June 2006 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

and President, Pharmaceutical Business
June 2009 Member of the Board, Senior Executive Vice President, and 

President, Pharmaceutical Business
May 2010 Member of the Board, Senior Executive Vice President, and 

President, Pharmaceutical Business, Vice President of 
Business Planning Dept., Pharmaceutical Division

January 2011 Member of the Board, Senior Executive Vice President, and 
President, Pharmaceutical Business

June 2012 Representative Director and Executive Deputy President 
(Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

42

*Representative 
Director and 
Executive 
Deputy 
President

Akira 
Saeki

August 25, 
1960

April 1985 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco Inc.)
June 2005 Vice President of Corporate Strategy Division
June 2007 Senior Vice President, Vice President of Tobacco Business 

Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters
May 2008 Senior Vice President, Vice President of Tobacco Business 

Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters,  
Head of China division, Tobacco Business

June 2008 Senior Vice President, Vice President of Tobacco Business 
Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters,  
Chief Corporate, Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Officer, 
Tobacco Business, Head of China Division, Tobacco Business

July 2008 Senior Vice President, Vice President of Tobacco Business 
Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters,  
Chief Corporate, Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Officer, 
Tobacco Business

July 2009 Senior Vice President, Vice President of Tobacco Business 
Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters,  
Chief Corporate, Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Officer, 
Tobacco Business

June 2010 Executive Vice President, and Vice President of Tobacco 
Business Planning Division, Tobacco Business Headquarters

June 2012 Representative Director and Executive Deputy President 
(Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

46

*Member of the 
Board and 
Executive 
Deputy 
President

Hideki 
Miyazaki

January 
22, 1958

April 1980 Joined Nomura Securities Co., Ltd.
July 2005 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco Inc.)
January 2006 Deputy Chief Financial Officer
June 2008 Senior Vice President, and Chief Financial Officer,  

Vice President, Tax Division
October 2009 Senior Vice President, and Chief Financial Officer
May 2010 Senior Vice President, and Chief Financial Officer,  

Vice President, Treasury Division
June 2010 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,  

Vice President, Treasury Division
July 2010 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,  

Vice President, Treasury Division and Vice President,  
Procurement Planning Division

August 2010 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
June 2012 Member of the Board and Executive Vice President  

(Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

32
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Title Name Date of  
birth Summary of career Term of  

office

Number 
of shares 

held
(Shares)

Member of the 
Board

Mutsuo 
Iwai

October 
29, 1960

April 1983 Joined the Company (Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)
June 2003 Vice President of Corporate Planning Division
July 2004 Vice President of Corporate Strategy Division
June 2005 Senior Vice President, and Vice President of Food Business 

Division, Food Business
June 2006 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

and President, Food Business
June 2008 Executive Vice President, and Chief Strategy Officer
June 2010 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

and Chief Strategy Officer
July 2010 Member of the Board, Executive Vice President,  

and Chief Strategy Officer, Executive Vice President in 
charge of Food Business

June 2011 Member of the Board (Current Position) Executive Vice 
President, JT International S.A. (Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

80

Member of the 
Board (Outside 
director)

Motoyuki 
Oka

September 
15, 1943

April 1966 Joined Sumitomo Corporation
June 1994 Director, Sumitomo Corporation
April 1998 Managing Director, Sumitomo Corporation
April 2001 Senior Managing Director, Sumitomo Corporation
June 2001 President, Chief Executive Officer, Sumitomo Corporation
June 2007 Chairman of the Board of Directors, Sumitomo Corporation
June 2012 Advisor, Sumitomo Corporation.  

Member of the Board, the Company (Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

0

Member of the 
Board (Outside 
director)

Main 
Kohda

April 25, 
1951

September 1995 Started independently as Novelist (Current Position)
January 2003 Member of Financial System Council, Ministry of Finance Japan
April 2004 Visiting professor, Faculty of Economics, Shiga University
March 2005 Member of the Council for Transport Policy,  

Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism
November 2006 Member of the Tax Commission, Cabinet Office,  

Government of Japan
June 2010 Member of the Board of Governors,  

Japan Broadcasting Corporation (Current Position)
June 2012 Member of the Board, the Company (Current Position)

2 years 
since June 
2012

0

* The directors marked with * are also the executive officers.

(2) Business Execution

<Executive Committee>
The Executive Committee acts as the consultation function for 
the President. It comprises the President, Chairman, Deputy 
Presidents, and the executive officers and other members desig-
nated by the President. Important management issues are dis-
cussed at the Executive Committee, including management 
policies and basic plans regarding overall business operations in 
addition to the matters to be referred to the Board of Directors 
as well as the matters delegated from the Board of Directors. 
Due to the significance of the Executive Committee, a full-time 
corporate auditor attends the Executive Committee to monitor 
the discussion. The Executive Committee meetings are held on a 
weekly basis.

<Executive Officers>
In order to enhance corporate value by responding promptly to 
the changing business environment and by managing group-wide 
business activities effectively and efficiently, JT employs the 
Executive Officer System. Executive officers’ roles and responsi-
bilities lie in business execution, relationship management and 
signing business contracts.

Executive officers are appointed by the Board of Directors and 
assigned specific business execution in their respective areas of 
responsibility, in accordance with a group-wide management 
strategy decided by the Board of Directors as well as the Rules 
Defining the Extent of Responsibility and Authority. Currently JT 
has 22 executive officers, of whom 5 are also directors.
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<List of Executive Officers> (As of July 1, 2012)

Title Name Post

President Mitsuomi Koizumi

Executive Deputy President Yasushi Shingai Compliance, Strategy, HR, General Administration, Legal and Operational Review 
& Business Assurance

Executive Deputy President Noriaki Okubo Pharmaceutical and Food Businesses

Executive Deputy President Akira Saeki President, Tobacco Business

Executive Deputy President Hideki Miyazaki CSR, Finance and Communications

Senior Executive Vice 
President

Kenji Iijima Chief Marketing & Sales Officer, Tobacco Business

Senior Executive Vice 
President

Ryoji Chijiiwa Compliance and General Affairs

Executive Vice President Shinichi Murakami Head of Domestic Leaf Tobacco General Division, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Kazuhito Yamashita Chief Corporate, Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Officer, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Masahiko Sato Head of Manufacturing General Division, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Atsuhiro Kawamata Head of China Division, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Junichi Haruta Head of Central Pharmaceutical Research Institute, Pharmaceutical Business

Senior Vice President Ryoko Nagata Head of Beverages Business

Senior Vice President Masamichi Terabatake Chief Strategy Officer

Senior Vice President Yasuyuki Tanaka Chief Communications Officer

Senior Vice President Yasuyuki Yoneda Chief R&D Officer, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Junichi Fukuchi Head of Tobacco Business Planning Division, Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President Muneaki Fujimoto President, Pharmaceutical Business

Senior Vice President Chito Sasaki Chief Human Resources Officer

Senior Vice President Naohiro Minami Chief Financial Officer

Senior Vice President Haruhiko Yamada Chief General Affairs Officer

Senior Vice President Kiyohide Hirowatari Chief Legal Officer

<Internal rules and Responsibilities/ 
Authorities  Allocation Rules>
In order to ensure the business efficiency and the flexibility of the 
company as a whole, basic matters concerning the company’s 
organization, allocation of duties to officers and staff and the roles 
of individual divisions are specified by the relevant internal rules.

The departments and divisions responsible for business 
 execution are specified by the “Responsibilities/Authorities 
 Allocation Rules” which cover business matters as well as com-
pany-wide and cross-functional matters. The extent to which 
this is applicable to subsidiaries is also specified in the “Respon-
sibilities/Authorities Allocation Rules,” and that is reflected in 
the internal rules at the subsidiary level.

The President reserves the responsibilities/authority for items 
such as mid- to long-term management plans, key performance 
indicators, business investments, acquisitions, investments in 
capital, business alliances, and signing of important contracts 
that exceed the authority level delegated to the relevant depart-
ment or division, as well as withdrawals from businesses, write-
offs, significant donations, and other important items specified 
for each business. All of these basically require discussion at the 
Executive Committee before decision-making by the President.

<Advisory Committee>
JT has established the Advisory Committee, comprising 4 out-
side members and 2 outside directors, to advise the Representa-
tive Directors from a broad perspective with regard to the JT 
Group’s direction in the medium to long term, and other issues 
of similar importance.

The Advisory Committee normally meets quarterly and dis-
cusses broad topics including the JT Group’s management 
strategy, management plans and financial results, with some 
on-site visits.

Members of Advisory Committee (as of July 1, 2012)

Members
Kazuo Inamori  Founder and Chairman Emeritus, Kyocera 

Corporation
Sakutaro Tanino  Former Japanese Ambassador to India and China/

Vice President, Japan-China Friendship Center
Tomijiro Morita  Senior Advisor, The Dai-ichi Life Insurance Co., Ltd.
Sakue Mizukoshi  Corporate Advisor, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.
Associate members
Motoyuki Oka  JT’s outside director (Advisor, Sumitomo 

Corporation)
Main Kohda  JT’s outside director (Novelist)
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3 Audit

<Audit Board>
JT utilizes the Audit Board system and it is specified in our Arti-
cles of Incorporation that the number of corporate auditors is 4 or 
less and their term is four-years or less. JT currently has 4 corpo-
rate auditors. During the year ended March 31, 2012, we held 16 
Audit Board meetings.

The role of corporate auditors is to conduct business audits 
and accounting audits, as an independent body whose responsi-
bility is entrusted by the shareholders. The business audit is to 
confirm that the business execution by the directors is in compli-
ance with legal and regulatory requirements and our Articles of 
Incorporation. The accounting audit is conducted to confirm the 
process and the result of the audit conducted by the external 
auditors. The Corporate Auditors’ Report containing the result of 
both business audits and accounting audits is submitted for the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Corporate auditors 
have various legal rights in order to accomplish these roles and 
responsibilities, including making reporting requests to the direc-
tors, executive officers, and employees, issuing an injunction for 
illegal activities by directors, representation of the company in 
the case of litigation between any director and the company, and 
dismissal of external auditors by the Audit Board.

3 out of 4 corporate auditors are outside auditors. Outside 
auditors are appointed in light of their significant  experience in 
their respective backgrounds and broad perspective. JT has 
appointed Mr. Hisao Tateishi, Mr. Koichi Ueda and Mr. Yoshinori 
Imai as outside corporate auditors. Mr. Tateishi has gained abun-
dant experience and developed a broad perspective through his 
many years of engagement in administrative work and his perfor-
mance of duties on the board of the Federation of National Public 
Service Personnel Mutual Aid Associations. Mr. Ueda has gained 
abundant experience and developed a broad perspective through 
his service in the judicial world. Mr. Imai has gained management 
experience and developed a global perspective during his tenure 
as Vice Chairman of Japan Broadcasting Corporation. We expect 
that their experiences and perspectives will be reflected in their 
audit activity, and we believe that they will maintain objective and 
neutral surveillance over the management of JT by conducting 
audits from a fair and independent standpoint.

Mr. Futoshi Nakamura, a full-time auditor is eligible as an 
auditor with profound expertise and experience concerning finan-
cial and accounting affairs including his past experience as the 
head of JT’s Operational Review and Business Assurance Divi-
sion after engaging in the accounting division and corporate 
treasury division. Corporate auditors are appointed at the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, as are directors. When a proposal 
concerning corporate auditor election is submitted to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders by the Board of Directors, it needs to 
be approved by the Audit Board prior to the submission.

In its Articles of Incorporation, JT provides that auditors shall 
be exempt from liability, and that the outside auditors shall be 
able to sign a limited liability contract, to the extent allowed 
under the Companies Act. This in order to ensure that auditors 
can fully perform their roles as expected as well as to attract and 
retain the qualified personnel both internally and externally. As of 
now, we have signed such limited liability contracts with all of 
our outside auditors.

JT makes reviews and improves the staffing allocation in the 
Auditor’s Office in order to provide support to the corporate 
auditors in performing their duties, so that corporate auditors can 
adequately audit the execution of business by directors and 
executive officers in order to ensure sound and sustainable 
growth as well as to maintain a high level of accountability and 
transparency through consistent and thorough audits. In addition, 
JT reviews and adjusts the staffing structure as necessary based 
on consultations with the Audit Board to ensure that the audit is 
effectively conducted. The Audit Board is involved in the man-
agement of personnel of the Auditor’s Office in order to ensure 
the office’s independence from directors.

When directors and executive officers detect any matter that 
may cause substantial damage to the Company and when they 
detect any evidence of wrong-doings or serious breaches of laws 
or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, they are obliged to 
report it to the Audit Board, along with other relevant matters 
that could affect the Company’s management.

Corporate auditors are allowed to attend not only meetings of 
the Board of Directors but also other important meetings. When 
directors and executive officers are asked by corporate auditors 
to compile important documents available for their perusal, to 
accept field audits and to submit reports, they are required to 
respond in a prompt and appropriate manner.

Directors are required to cooperate with audits and ensure the 
provision of funds necessary to cover audit-related expenses so 
as to secure their effectiveness. The Operational Review and 
Business Assurance Division and the Compliance Office maintain 
cooperation with corporate auditors by exchanging information.
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<Auditors> (As of June 22, 2012)

Title Name Date of 
birth Summary of career Term of 

office

Number 
of shares 

held
(Shares)

Standing 
Auditor

Hisao 
Tateishi

December 
23, 1946

April 1971 Joined Ministry of Finance
July 1997 Director-General, Kanto-Shinetsu Regional Taxation 

Bureau, National Tax Agency
July 1999 Deputy Director-General, Personnel Bureau,  

Management and Coordination Agency
January 2001 Deputy Director-General, Personnel and Pension Bureau, 

Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
July 2001 Standing Director, Japan Foundation for Regional 

Vitalization
July 2003 Standing Director, Federation of National Public Service, 

Personnel Mutual Aid Associations
Septenber 2005 Executive Director, Federation of National Public Service, 

Personnel Mutual Aid Associations
June 2007 Standing Auditor, the Company (Current Position)

4 years
since
June 2011

31

Standing
Auditor

Futoshi 
Nakamura

November 
23, 1957

April 1981 Joined the Company  
(Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Corporation)

July 2004 Head of Procurement Planning Division
Septenber 2005 Senior Manager of Operational Review and Business 

Assurance Division JT International Holding B.V. Vice 
President

July 2009 Senior Manager of Accounting Division
July 2010 Head of Operational Review and Business Assurance 

Division
June 2012 Standing Auditor, the Company (Current Position)

3 years
since
June 2012

5

Auditor Koichi Ueda December 
17, 1943

April 1967 Judicial Apprentice
April 1969 Appointed as Public Prosecutor
June 2006 Superintending Public Prosecutor, the Tokyo High Public 

Prosecutors Office
December 2006 Took mandatory retirement
January 2007 Registered as an attorney at law
January 2009 Representative Director, The Resolution and Collection 

Corporation
March 2009 President and Representative Director, The Resolution and 

Collection Corporation
June 2009 Auditor, the Company (Current Position)

4 years
since
June 2011

10

Auditor Yoshinori
Imai

December 
3, 1944

April 1968 Joined Japan Broadcasting Corporation
June 1995 Bureau Chief of General Bureau for Europe
May 2000 Director General, Planning & Broadcasting Department
June 2003 Executive Editor and Programme Host
January 2008 Executive Vice President
January 2011 Retired from Executive Vice President
April 2011 Visiting Professor, Ritsumeikan University (Current Position)
June 2011 Auditor, the Company (Current Position)

4 years
since
June 2011

2

4  Independence of Outside Directors and Outside Corporate Auditors

At a Board of Directors meeting on April 26, 2012, JT established 
a set of criteria for evaluating the independence of outside exec-
utives. According to this set of criteria, a person who fits any of 
the following descriptions is prohibited from serving at JT as an 
independent executive.

1. A person who belongs or belonged to JT or an affiliate or 

sister company of JT
2. A person who belongs to a corporation or other organiza-

tion of which JT is a major shareholder
3. A person who is a major shareholder of JT or who belongs 

to a corporation or other organization which is a major 
shareholder of JT
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JT has designated Mr. Motoyuki Oka and Ms. Main Kohda, who 
are outside directors, and Mr. Koichi Ueda and Mr. Yoshinori Imai, 
who are outside corporate auditors, as independent executives as 
defined by financial instruments exchanges, based on its judgment 
that in light of the above set of criteria, there is no risk of conflict 
of interest arising between them and ordinary shareholders.

Mr. Motoyuki Oka, one of the outside directors, is an advisor 
to Sumitomo Corporation. Although JT did business, such as 
purchasing manufacturing machinery, with Sumitomo Corporation, 
at which Mr. Oka served as chairman and representative director 
until June 22, 2012, the value of the business was equivalent to 
just around 0.1% of JT’s consolidated revenue in the business 
year ended March 2012. Therefore, we have concluded that this 
business relationship is not so relevant as to generate any spe-
cial relationship of interest. Ms. Main Kohda, Mr. Koichi Ueda and 
Mr. Yoshinori Imai have no human, capital, business or other 
relationships of interest between them and the company.

<Key Points of the Partial Exemption of Liability and 
Liability Limitation Agreement>

JT’s articles of incorporation stipulate that JT may enter into an 
agreement with outside directors to limit the scope of their liabili-
ties in advance to the extent permitted by the Companies Act and 
JT may exempt directors from liabilities to the extent permitted by 
the same act. This provision is intended to enable directors to fulfill 
their expected role and make it easier to appoint the right persons 
from a broad choice both within and outside the company. As of 
the date of submission, JT has such liability limiting agreements 
with its outside directors and outside corporate auditors.

4. A person who is a major supplier or customer of JT (the 
term person is a corporation or other organization, the 
prohibition also applies to a person who belongs thereto)

5. A large-lot creditor of JT, including a major loan lender 
(when the creditor is a corporation or other organization, 
the prohibition also applies to a person belonging thereto)

6. A certified public accountant who serves as an auditor or an 
audit advisor of JT, or a person who belongs to an auditing 
firm which serves as an auditor or an audit advisor of JT

7. A person who receives a large amount of fees from JT in 
exchange for providing professional services concerning 
legal, financial and tax affairs or business consulting services 
(the term person is a corporation or other organization, the 
prohibition also applies to a person who belongs thereto)

8. A person who receives a large amount of donation from JT 
(the term person is a corporation or other organization, the 
prohibition also applies to a person who belongs thereto)

9. A person who has fit any of the descriptions in 2. to 8. 
above in the recent past

10. A close relative of a person who fits any of the following 
descriptions

(1)  A person who fits any of the descriptions in 2. to 8. 
above (the term person is a corporation or other organi-
zation, the prohibition also applies to a person who per-
forms important job duties therefore)

(2)  A director, auditor, audit advisor, executive officer or 
employee of JT or an affiliate or sister company of JT.

(3)  A person who has fit the descriptions in (1) or (2) in the 
recent past.

5 Internal Control System

JT has been endeavoring to ensure appropriate business opera-
tions through efforts to enhance compliance, internal audits and 
risk management, and implementing measures to ensure the 
effectiveness of audits, such as improving arrangements and 
procedures for reporting the necessary matters to auditors, as is 
required of a company adopting the Audit Board System.

We will continue these efforts while reviewing and revising 
the current system as necessary and will strive to maintain and 
enhance our corporate systems so as to ensure appropriate 
business execution.

(1) Compliance System

Concerning the compliance system, JT has established Principles 
of Conduct based on internal rules regarding compliance in order 
to ensure that directors and employees comply with laws, regu-
lations, the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, social norms, 
etc., to ensure thorough compliance.

The Board of Directors set up the Compliance Committee as its 
deliberative organ in order to ensure that compliance is fairly and 
effectively enforced. The Board of Directors also appoints an 

executive director in charge of compliance out of the directors 
who are also executive officers and appoints an executive officer 
in charge of compliance out of the executive officers without 
directorship. The 2 compliance officers oversee the Compliance 
Office. The Board of Directors deliberates and approves the Com-
pliance Policy and the Compliance Implementation Plan among 
others and receives reports on the results at least annually. The 
Compliance Office is charged with overseeing efforts to improve 
the group-wide compliance system, identify compliance problems 
and enhance the effectiveness of the compliance system by 
enlightening directors and employees about compliance through 
various compliance education programs.

Regarding the internal consultation and reporting system, the JT 
Group has both internal and external hotlines through which 
employees may consult or report any misconduct they suspect to 
be taking place. The Compliance Office is charged with investigat-
ing consulted or reported cases and implementing group-wide 
measures to prevent the recurrence of misconduct after holding 
consultations with the departments and divisions concerned. Mate-
rial cases are reported and discussed at the Compliance Committee, 
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and further reported to the Board of Directors where necessary.
The Compliance Committee is headed by the company’s 

Chairman and comprises a majority of outside members. The 
Compliance Committee has been held 5 times in the year ended 
March 31, 2012, and has discussed the JT Group’s Compliance 
Policy and the Compliance Implementation Plan.

Outside members of the Compliance Committee 
 (as of June 22, 2012):

Rokuro Tsuruta, TSURUTA ROKURO LAW OFFICE
Makoto Matsuo, Attorney at Law, Momo-o, Matsuo, & Namba.
Hideo Kojima,  Certified Public Accountant, Hideo Kojima 

Certified Public Accountant Office

(2) Ensuring the Reliability of Financial Reporting

In order to ensure the reliability of its financial reporting, JT operates a 
relevant internal control system that it has established in accordance 
with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. By allocating a 
sufficient level of staff to the task of evaluating the internal control 
system in operation and reporting its effectiveness, JT is striving 
to maintain and improve the reliability of its financial reporting.

The internal control system for financial reporting and its valid-
ity is audited by the external auditors in the Internal Control 
Report prepared by JT.

(3) Risk Management System

JT has established internal rules on risk management relating to 
monetary and financial affairs, and ensures that reports are made 
by the relevant executive officer to the Board of Directors on a 
quarterly basis.

Concerning risks relating to other affairs, the relevant depart-
ments and divisions specified by the Rules Defining the Extent of 
Responsibility and Authority conduct proper management, identi-
fying risk and reporting or referring it to the Executive Committee 
for deliberation, depending on the severity of the identified risk.

In order to prepare for possible emergencies, JT has produced 
a manual for crisis management and disaster response. In the 
event of an emergency or a disaster, JT is ready to establish an 
emergency project system under the supervision of the 

Corporate Strategy Division, and to make prompt and proper 
responses under the leadership of the President and through 
close cooperation between the relevant departments and divi-
sions. The reports on emergency or a disaster are made by the 
relevant director to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis.

(4) Internal Audit System

JT has an Operational Review and Business Assurance Division 
(comprising 21 members as of March 31, 2012), which directly 
reports to the President, conducting the internal audit from an 
objective viewpoint, in its capacity as an entity independent of the 
organizations responsible for business execution. In cooperation 
with the internal audit divisions of the group companies, it exam-
ines and evaluates the internal control systems in order to assure 
highlighting the important matters that affect the whole group and 
evaluation of the remedies, validity and efficiency of the activities 
in line with the internal control rules, reliability and accuracy of the 
financial reporting and financial statements, and compliance with 
the laws and regulations as well as social norms. It has unlimited 
access to all activities, records and employees group-wide in order 
to accomplish its roles and responsibilities. The head of the Opera-
tional Review and Business Assurance Division has the obligation 
to report to the President and reports to the Board of Directors 
annually. The head of the Operational Review and Business Assur-
ance Division has the right to contact the management of JT and 
the group companies periodically and as frequently as needed.

(5) Group Management System

The JT Group has set itself the mission of creating, developing and 
nurturing its unique brands to win consumer trust, while under-
standing and respecting the environment and the diversity of 
societies and individuals, and there is a group-wide consensus on 
the mission. We have specified the functions and rules necessary 
for group management based on a group management policy, in 
order to optimize the operations of the JT Group as a whole.

Moreover, we have been enhancing our systems for compli-
ance (including the internal consultation and reporting system), 
ensuring the reliability of financial reporting, risk management, 
and internal audits, in cooperation with the JT Group companies.

6 Measures Related to Shareholders

At our Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, we report our 
business overview, financial results, and audit results, and we 
ask for shareholders’ approval for matters such as dividends 
amount, appointment and dismissal of directors and auditors, 
and other important matters that require shareholder approval.

In scheduling our Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, 
we avoid dates used by many other Japanese corporations to 
hold their Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in order to 
enable participation by a greater number of shareholders. Share-
holders can exercise their voting rights via the website 

designated by us (E-voting) and JT participates in the electronic 
platform for the exercise of the voting right for institutional inves-
tors operated by ICJ, Inc. For the convenience of overseas share-
holders, we send the notice of the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders well in advance of the legal requirement so that 
they have sufficient time for consideration, and we provide an 
English translation of the notice on our website.

For institutional investors and analysts, we hold analyst meet-
ings in Japan and overseas telephone conference calls at every 
quarterly announcement of our financial results and the Q&A 
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session is quite active.
Our representative directors periodically have one-on-one meet-

ings with our major shareholders. Also, our management and/or 
Investor Relations (IR) experts are available at the IR group meet-
ings and one-on-one meetings both domestically and overseas. We 
offer manufacturing site visits and we actively participate in confer-
ences arranged by investment banks and/or stock exchanges.

Our website (Japanese http://www.jti.co.jp, English http://
www.jt.com) provides information such as financial results, ana-
lyst presentation materials, other timely disclosure including 
press releases, Annual/Quarterly Securities Reports, and the 
notice of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. In addi-
tion, some of our key presentations including audio recordings 
are accessible on our website.

7 The Japan Tobacco Inc. Act

JT was established pursuant to the Japan Tobacco, Inc. Act (“the 
JT Act”) for the purpose of developing businesses related to the 
manufacture, sale, and importation of tobacco products. The JT 
Act provides that the Japanese government must continue to 
hold over one-third of all of the issued shares except for the class 
shares which have no voting right against all matters that can be 
resolved at the general meeting of shareholders. The JT Act also 
states that the flotation of new shares, options to subscribe for 
new shares, or in the case of a share-for-share exchange, issu-
ance of new shares, issuance of options for new shares, or issu-
ance of bonds with options or warrants to subscribe for new 
shares, requires the approval of the MOF. The JT Act grants JT 
the freedom to enter other non-tobacco related business areas in 
line with its overall objectives as a corporation, dependent upon 
ministerial permission, in addition to the manufacture, distribu-
tion, and importation of tobacco products and tobacco-related 
businesses. JT must also obtain authorization from the MOF for 
certain matters, including the appointment or dismissal of 

directors, executive officers, and auditors, amendments to JT’s 
Articles of Incorporation, appropriations of capital surplus (exclud-
ing loss compensation), and any merger, corporate split, or dis-
solution of JT. Within three months after the end of each 
business year, JT must issue its balance sheets, statements of 
income or loss, and business report to the MOF.

The shareholding requirement by the government has been 
lowered to just over one-third of all of the issued shares as 
described above by the Reconstruction Financing Act and came 
into effect on December 2, 2011. In the supplementary provi-
sions of Reconstruction Financing Act, it also states that the 
government shall study by the year ending March 31, 2023 the 
possibility of full disposal of government-owned JT shares by 
reassessing the government’s holding in JT shares considering 
the government’s involvement in the tobacco-related industries 
based on The Tobacco Business Act.
* Act on Special Measures for Securing Financial Resources Necessary for Reconstruc-

tion from the Great East Japan Earthquake

8 Executive Remuneration

JT has a Compensation Advisory Panel, acting as an advisory 
body for the Board of Directors established voluntarily in order to 
enhance the objectiveness and transparency of our executive 
remuneration system. The Compensation Advisory Panel deliber-
ates and reports in response to the consultation request with 
regard to the compensation for our directors and executive offi-
cers including its policy, framework, and calculation method. The 
Compensation Advisory Panel meets at least annually and moni-
tors the executive compensation status. The Compensation 
Advisory Panel comprises 5 members; 2 outside members, 2 
outside directors and the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
who acts as chairman of the Compensation Advisory Panel.

Outside members of the Compensation Advisory Panel 
 (as of July 1, 2012):

Morio Ikeda, Advisor, Shiseido Company, Limited
Norio Ichino, Advisor, Tokyo Gas Co., Ltd.
Motoyuki Oka Outside director, Japan Tobacco Inc.
  Advisor, Sumitomo Corporation
Main Kohda Outside director, Japan Tobacco Inc.
  Novelist

Based on deliberation by the Compensation Advisory Panel, 
our basic concept of executive remuneration for senior officers is 
set as follows:

• Setting the remuneration at a level sufficient to secure 
 personnel with superior capabilities.

• Linking the remuneration to business performance so as to 
motivate senior officers to achieve performance.

• Linking the remuneration to medium- and long-term corpo-
rate value.

• Ensuring transparency based on an objective and quantita-
tive framework.

In accordance with the above concept, remuneration for the 
senior officers comprises (1) “basic monthly pay,” (2) an “execu-
tive bonus” linked to our business performance in the relevant 
year, and (3) “stock option grants,” the value of which is linked 
to our medium-to long-term corporate value.

In 2007, JT introduced a stock option program in stock com-
pensation style as an incentive linked to the medium to long 
term corporate value of JT. The Company’s Act requires the 
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special resolution at the General Meeting of Shareholders in the 
case where stock options are granted on particularly advanta-
geous terms or prices. This is not the case with our stock option 
program, as our stock options serve as consideration for the 
execution of the directors’ duties.

Remuneration for the directors is structured as follows:
Remuneration for the directors also serving as executive 

officers comprises “basic monthly pay,” an “executive bonus”, 
and “stock option grants,” as their duty is to achieve targets of 
their assigned business through their daily execution of business. 
As for the president and the executive vice presidents, if the 
amount of their “executive bonus” is a standard amount, the 
total amount of “executive bonus” and “stock option grants” is 
set at slightly less than 80% of the aggregate amount of their 
“basic monthly pay”. For other directors, this amount is set at 
approximately 70% of their basic monthly pay.

Remuneration for the directors not serving as executive offi-
cers excluding outside directors comprises “basic monthly pay” 
and “stock option grants” as their duties require them to partici-
pate in decision making regarding group-wide management strat-
egies and perform a supervisory function.

Remuneration for outside directors, which is not linked to 
business performance from the perspective of maintaining their 

independence, comprises only “basic monthly pay”.
Remuneration for the corporate auditors comprises basic 

monthly pay alone, in light of their major duty of conducting 
compliance audits.

The upper ceilings of the total annual remuneration for JT’s 
directors and auditors were approved at our 22nd Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders held in June 2007. The limit for direc-
tors is 870 million yen and that for auditors is 190 million yen. In 
addition, the upper limit on total annual stock options for the 
directors was approved at the same shareholders’ meeting. The 
limit is 800 options in number and 200 million yen in value. The 
number of the stock options granted to the executive officers 
who are not directors is decided each year at a meeting of the 
Board of Directors.

Remuneration for the directors and corporate auditors is deter-
mined by the resolution at the Board of Directors and by the 
consultation among the corporate auditors, respectively, within 
the approved ceilings, based on the report of the management’s 
remuneration issued by the third party, after setting a benchmark 
as the compensation level of domestic peer manufacturers which 
scale and profit are as same as us and which presents business in 
global, and discussion by the Compensation Advisory Panel.

The remuneration payments to the directors and the corporate auditors for the year ended March 31, 2012 are as follows.

Category

Total amount of 
remuneration and 
other payments 

(million yen)

Total amount of remuneration and other payments by type (million yen)
Number to be paid 

(Persons) (note 3)
Basic remuneration Directors’ bonus (note 1) Stock option 

grants (note 2)

Directors 608 352 113 143 9

Auditors (excluding 
Outside Auditors) 35 35 — — 1

Outside Directors and 
Outside Auditors 59 59 — — 4

Total 703 447 113 143 14

Note 1. The amounts to be paid are shown.
Note 2. The total amounts granted for the year ended March 31, 2012 are shown. Please refer to Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements (Share-Based Payment) regarding 

the change in stock option.
Note 3. The number of officers concerned includes 4 directors/corporate auditors retired at the 27th Annual General Meeting for Shareholders held on June 22, 2012.

The remuneration payments to the directors and the corporate auditors whose total remuneration exceeds 100 million yen for the year 
ended March 31, 2012 are as follows.

Name Category Company Amount of consolidated remuneration and  
other payments by type (million yen) Total  

(million yen)Basic 
remuneration

Directors’ 
bonus

Stock option 
grants

Hiroshi Kimura Representative Director JT 67 29 28 125

Yasushi Shingai Director JT 36 18 18
108

Executive Vice President JT International S.A. 20 17 —

Regarding remuneration for JT International S.A. Excecutive Vice President Yasushi Shingai

Note 1. Part of the payment was paid in Swiss Francs at the exchange rate of ¥90.19 to the Swiss francs.
Note 2. The figure in the executive bonus column is the part of the bonus that corresponds to the period of service between April 1 2011 to May 31 2011  
Note 3. In addition to the remuneration, JT International S.A. is responsible for paying ¥8 million which represents the amount of fringe benefits, tax and social security expenses 

concerning the expatriate duties.
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The stock options granted for the year ended March 31, 2012 are as follows:

Resolution date September 16, 2011

Positions and number of persons granted Directors 8 persons
Executive officers (excluding persons serving as Directors) 15 persons

Number of shares 514 shares to Directors, 
524 shares for Executive officers, Total 1,038 shares (1 share per stock acquisition right)

9 External Auditors and Audit Fee

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC (Tohmatsu) has conducted audits 
based on the Companies Act and the Financial Instruments and 
Exchange Act. The Certified Public Accountants who audited the 
JT Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2012 and the persons who assisted the auditing work 
are as follows:
(Audit partners responsible for group audit)

Yasuyuki Miyasaka, Satoshi Iizuka, Koji Ishikawa

(Assistants for the audit work)
 Certified Public Accountants: 12 persons, Junior accountants: 
10 persons, Others: 8 persons.

There is no conflict of interest between Tohmatsu and its engage-
ment partners and JT. Tohmatsu takes necessary measures to avoid 
having its engagement partners continuously audit JT over a cer-
tain period (seven years maximum).

<Audit and Non-audit Fee>
The JT Group pays the non-audit fee to Tohmatsu in addition to the accounting audit fee. Fees paid to Tohmatsu for the year 
ended March 31, 2011 and year ended March 31, 2012 are as follows:

Classification

Year ended March 31, 2011 Year ended March 31, 2012

Fees for audit attesta-
tion services 
(million yen)

Fees for non-audit 
services 

(million yen)

Fees for audit attesta-
tion services 
(million yen)

Fees for non-audit 
services 

(million yen)

JT 282 76*1 310 134*2

Consolidated subsidiaries in Japan 215 0 188 2

Total 496 76 498 136

*1 Non-audit fee paid includes IFRS advisory fee.

*2 Non-audit fee paid includes IFRS advisory fee.

Our foreign subsidiaries receive accounting audits mainly by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms, which Tohmatsu 
belongs to. In particular, fees paid by the JTIH Group for the accounting audit of their financial statements and the non-audit services 
are significant. Fees paid to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms for the year ended March 31, 2011 and year ended 
March 31, 2012 are as follows:

Classification Year ended March 31, 2011 Year ended March 31, 2012

Fees for audit attesta-
tion services(million yen)

Fees for non-audit 
services(million yen)

Fees for audit attesta-
tion services(million yen)

Fees for non-audit 
services(million yen)

JTIH Group 683 284*3 679 368*4

*3 Non-audit fee paid to the Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms includes the tax consulting fee.

*4 Non-audit fee paid to the Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member firms includes the tax consulting fee.

<Policy determining the Audit Fee>
The audit fee is determined through the necessary and sufficient 
negotiations with auditors based on the audit plan and audit fee 
estimates provided by them. More specifically, the audit fee is 
determined based on the overall information by confirming that 
the focused audit areas under the audit plan and the scope of 
group-wide audit and review considering changes in consolida-
tion status are appropriately reflected in the audit hours, and 

comparing the actual hours to planning in the prior audits.
Consent from the Audit Board is acquired before the determi-

nation of the audit fee to ensure the independence of auditors.
We believe that our financial performance will remain strong 

through a combination of good governance, clear strategy and 
the high quality of management. With these factors in mind, the 
Board’s top priority is to ensure the long-term strength of the JT 
Group to the benefit of all stakeholders.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012 089

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L IN

FO
R

M
A

T
IO

N



Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / As of the date of transition to IFRS (April 1, 2010), and March 31, 2011 and 2012

Assets
Millions of yen

2010 2011 2012

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) ¥  154,369 ¥  244,240 ¥  404,740
Trade and other receivables (Note 9) 308,091 311,202 327,767
Inventories (Note 10) 531,948 488,609 446,617
Other financial assets (Note 11) 21,629 37,349 27,361
Other current assets (Note 12) 147,084 137,910 123,163

Subtotal 1,163,120 1,219,310 1,329,649
Non-current assets held-for-sale (Note 13) 1,366 39,553 1,401
Total current assets 1,164,486 1,258,863 1,331,050

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 14, 21) 648,580 639,324 619,536
Goodwill (Note 15) 1,388,144 1,176,114 1,110,046
Intangible assets (Note 15) 394,690 330,194 306,448
Investment property (Note 17) 81,087 36,477 67,387
Retirement benefit assets (Note 24) 5,234 6,769 14,371
Investments accounted for using the equity method (Note 18) 23,311 19,072 18,447
Other financial assets (Note 11) 83,502 62,661 67,548
Deferred tax assets (Note 19) 122,107 125,726 132,174
Total non-current assets 2,746,655 2,396,338 2,335,957

Total assets ¥3,911,142 ¥3,655,201 ¥3,667,007
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Liabilities and equity
Millions of yen

2010 2011 2012

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 20) ¥  301,880 ¥  311,787 ¥  298,663
Bonds and borrowings (Note 21) 301,683 218,037 211,766
Income tax payables 54,058 65,651 42,501
Other financial liabilities (Note 21) 13,221 8,446 8,039
Provisions (Note 22) 3,948 4,184 5,686
Other current liabilities (Note 23) 433,459 463,088 590,717

Subtotal 1,108,250 1,071,192 1,157,373
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held-for-sale (Note 13) — 6,297 101
Total current liabilities 1,108,250 1,077,490 1,157,474

Non-current liabilities
Bonds and borrowings (Note 21) 558,584 478,154 279,750
Other financial liabilities (Note 21) 29,339 14,832 20,994
Retirement benefit liabilities (Note 24) 285,002 311,917 315,020
Provisions (Note 22) 5,628 4,512 4,448
Other non-current liabilities (Note 23) 97,982 94,135 92,235
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 19) 98,655 72,850 82,460
Total non-current liabilities 1,075,190 976,400 794,906

Total liabilities 2,183,440 2,053,889 1,952,380

Equity
Share capital (Note 25) 100,000 100,000 100,000
Capital surplus (Note 25) 736,407 736,410 736,410
Treasury shares (Note 25) (74,575) (94,574) (94,574)
Other components of equity (Note 25) 12,609 (250,745) (376,363)
Retained earnings 880,243 1,034,054 1,268,577
Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 1,654,683 1,525,145 1,634,050
Non-controlling interests 73,019 76,166 80,576
Total equity 1,727,702 1,601,311 1,714,626

Total liabilities and equity ¥3,911,142 ¥3,655,201 ¥3,667,007
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Consolidated Statement of Income
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

Millions of yen

2011 2012

Revenue (Notes 6, 27) ¥2,059,365 ¥2,033,825
Cost of sales (Note 15, 24, 38) (953,860) (892,034)
Gross profit 1,105,506 1,141,791

Other operating income (Note 28, 38) 20,630 48,512
Share of profit in investments accounted for using the equity method (Note 18) 2,330 2,047
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 7, 13, 14, 15, 17, 24, 29, 34, 38) (727,144) (733,169)
Operating profit (Note 6) 401,321 459,180

Financial income (Note 30, 35) 9,870 5,603
Financial costs (Note 24, 30, 35) (25,949) (23,429)
Profit before income taxes 385,242 441,355

Income taxes (Note 19) (136,506) (112,795)
Profit for the year ¥  248,736 ¥  328,559

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent company ¥  243,315 ¥  320,883
Non-controlling interests 5,421 7,676
Profit for the year ¥  248,736 ¥  328,559

Earnings per share
Basic (Yen) (Note 32) ¥25,414.33 ¥33,700.97
Diluted (Yen) (Note 32) 25,407.09 33,687.78

Reconciliation from operating profit to Adjusted EBITDA

Millions of yen

2011 2012

Operating profit ¥  401,321 ¥  459,180 
Depreciation and amortization 117,954 118,845 
Impairment losses on goodwill 87 —
Restructuring-related income (11,254) (29,932)
Restructuring-related costs 13,920 29,039 
Adjusted EBITDA (Note 6) ¥  522,029 ¥  577,132 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

 
Millions of yen

2011 2012

Profit for the year ¥ 248,736 ¥ 328,559 

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (Note 31) (256,784) (130,331)
Net gain (loss) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (Note 31) — (166)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of available-for-sale securities (Note 31) (6,458) —
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of financial assets measured at fair value through  
other comprehensive income (Note 31, 35) — 4,750 

Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit retirement plans (Note 24, 31) (34,461) (10,669)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes (297,703) (136,416)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year ¥ (48,967) ¥ 192,143 

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent company ¥ (54,486) ¥ 185,425 
Non-controlling interests 5,519 6,718 
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year ¥ (48,967) ¥ 192,143 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

Millions of yen
Equity attributable to owners of the parent company

Other components of equity

Share capital  Capital surplus  Treasury shares
Subscription  

rights to share  

Exchange differ-
ences on translation 

of foreign 
operations  

Net gain (loss) on 
derivatives desig-

nated as cash flow 
hedges  

Net gain (loss) 
on revaluation of 
available-for-sale 

securities

As of April 1, 2010 ¥100,000 ¥736,407 ¥(74,575) ¥ 565 ¥      — ¥  — ¥12,044
Profit for the year — — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (257,262) — (6,290)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year — — — — (257,262) — (6,290)

Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 25) — — (20,000) — — — —
Disposal of treasury shares (Note 25) — 3 1 (4) — — —
Share-based payments (Note 34) — — — 203 — — —
Dividends (Note 26) — — — — — — —
Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary  
without a loss of control — — — — — — —

Transfer from other components of equity  
to retained earnings — — — — — — —

Other increase (decrease) — — — — — — —
Total transactions with the owners — 3 (19,999) 199 — — —
As of March 31, 2011 100,000 736,410 (94,574) 763 (257,262) — 5,754
Cumulative effect of applying a new accounting standard — — — — — (142) (5,754)

Profit for the year — — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income — — — — (129,966) (166) —

Comprehensive income for the year — — — — (129,966) (166) —
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 25) — — — — — — —
Disposal of treasury shares (Note 25) — — — — — — —
Share-based payments (Note 34) — — — 265 — — —
Dividends (Note 26) — — — — — — —
Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary  
without loss of control — — — — — — —

Transfer from other components of equity  
to retained earnings — — — — — — —

Other increase (decrease) — — — — — — —
Total transactions with the owners — — — 265 — — —
As of March 31, 2012 ¥100,000 ¥736,410 ¥(94,574) ¥1,028 ¥(387,228) ¥(309) ¥    —

Millions of yen

Equity attributable to owners of the parent company

Other components of equity

Net gain (loss) on 
revaluation of financial 

assets measured at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income  

Actuarial  
gains (losses) on 

defined benefit retire-
ment plans  Total Retained earnings  Total  

Non-controlling 
interests  Total equity

As of April 1, 2010 ¥ — ¥ — ¥  12,609 ¥  880,243 ¥1,654,683 ¥73,019 ¥1,727,702
Profit for the year — — — 243,315 243,315 5,421 248,736
Other comprehensive income (loss) — (34,248) (297,801) — (297,801) 98 (297,703)
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year — (34,248) (297,801) 243,315 (54,486) 5,519 (48,967)

Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 25) — — — — (20,000) — (20,000)
Disposal of treasury shares (Note 25) — — (4) — — — —
Share-based payments (Note 34) — — 203 — 203 — 203
Dividends (Note 26) — — — (55,565) (55,565) (1,666) (57,230)
Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary  
without loss of control — — — 225 225 (58) 167

Transfer from other components of equity to retained earnings — 34,248 34,248 (34,248) — — —
Other increase (decrease) — — — 85 85 (647) (563)

Total transactions with the owners — 34,248 34,447 (89,503) (75,052) (2,371) (77,423)
As of March 31, 2011 — — (250,745) 1,034,054 1,525,145 76,166 1,601,311
Cumulative effect of applying a new accounting standard 5,551 — (344) 97 (247) 47 (201)

Profit for the year — — — 320,883 320,883 7,676 328,559 
Other comprehensive income 4,684 (10,009) (135,458) — (135,458) (958) (136,416)

Comprehensive income for the year 4,684 (10,009) (135,458) 320,883 185,425 6,718 192,143
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 25) — — — — — — —
Disposal of treasury shares (Note 25) — — — — — — —
Share-based payments (Note 34) — — 265 — 265 — 265
Dividends (Note 26) — — — (76,172) (76,172) (2,138) (78,310)
Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary  
without loss of control — — — (366) (366) (137) (503)

Transfer from other components of equity to retained earnings (89) 10,009 9,920 (9,920) — — —
Other increase (decrease) — — — — — (80) (80)

Total transactions with the owners (89) 10,009 10,185 (86,458) (76,273) (2,355) (78,628)
As of March 31, 2012 ¥10,146 ¥ — ¥(376,363) ¥1,268,577 ¥1,634,050 ¥80,576 ¥1,714,626
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / Years ended March 31, 2011 and 2012

Millions of yen

2011 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income taxes ¥ 385,242 ¥ 441,355

Depreciation and amortization 117,954 118,845
Impairment losses 6,181 7,013
Interest and dividend income (3,671) (3,646)
Interest expense 17,087 14,377
Share of profit in investments accounted for using the equity method (2,330) (2,047)
(Gain) loss on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property (5,864) (22,444)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (27,665) (30,207)
(Increase) decrease in inventories 6,724 27,388
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 25,579 (5,365)
Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liabilities (8,221) (9,686)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid tobacco excise taxes (8,983) (1,785)
Increase (decrease) in tobacco excise tax payables 27,627 148,260
Increase (decrease) in consumption tax payables 14,952 14,807
Other (1,772) (13,002)

Subtotal 542,844 683,863
Interest and dividends received 5,053 6,181
Interest paid (18,670) (16,006)
Income taxes paid (122,380) (122,464)
Net cash flows from operating activities 406,847 551,573
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of securities (33,508) (5,697)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of securities 36,488 21,622
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (129,970) (95,705)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8,733 1,919
Proceeds from sale of investment property 10,079 34,545
Purchase of intangible assets (13,909) (18,252)
Payments into time deposits (25,299) (46,648)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 21,169 34,854
Purchase of investments in subsidiaries (Note 7) — (33,622)
Proceeds from sale of investments in subsidiaries — 730
Payments for sale of investments in subsidiaries (647) —
Other 871 2,450
Net cash flows from investing activities (125,993) (103,805)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to owners of the parent company (Note 26) (55,558) (76,165)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,666) (2,138)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests 584 629
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings and commercial paper (172,083) (2,408)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 62,946 —
Repayments of long-term borrowings (23,207) (59,879)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 79,793 —
Redemption of bonds (50,300) (133,333)
Repayments of finance lease obligations (6,199) (5,268)
Acquisition of treasury shares (20,000) —
Payments for acquisition of interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests (81) (503)
Proceeds from sale of interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling interests 391 —
Other 0 —
Net cash flows from financing activities (185,379) (279,064)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 95,476 168,704
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (Note 8) 154,369 244,240
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5,604) (8,204)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 8) ¥ 244,240 ¥ 404,740
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1. Reporting Entity

Japan Tobacco Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) is a 

joint stock corporation under the Companies Act of Japan, pursuant 

to the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, with its principal places of business 

located in Japan since its incorporation. The addresses of the 

 Company’s registered head office and principal business offices are 

available on the Company’s website (http://www.jti.co.jp).

The details of businesses and principal business activities of the 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Japan Tobacco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries / As of the date of transition to IFRS (April 1, 2010), and March 31, 2011 and 2012

Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Group”) are stated in “6. Operating Segments.”

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

March 31, 2012, were approved on June 22, 2012 by Mitsuomi 

Koizumi, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Naohiro Minami, 

Chief Financial Officer.

2. Basis of Preparation

(1) Compliance with IFRS and First-time Adoption
The Group first adopted International Financial Reporting Standards 

(hereinafter referred to as “IFRS”) for the year ended March 31, 2012, 

and the date of transition to IFRS (hereinafter referred to as the “date 

of transition”) is April 1, 2010. The effect of transition to IFRS on the 

Group’s financial position, operating results, and cash flows for the 

date of transition and the year ended March 31, 2011, is stated in “41. 

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.”

Except for IFRS that have not been early adopted and exemptions 

permitted under IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards” (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS 1”), the 

Group’s accounting policies are in accordance with IFRS effective as 

of March 31, 2012. The exemptions applied are stated in “3. 

Significant Accounting Policies.”

(2) Basis of Measurement
Except for the financial instruments, stated in “3. Significant 

Accounting Policies,” the Group’s consolidated financial statements 

are prepared on the historical cost basis.

(3) Functional Currency and Presentation Currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Japanese yen, which is the functional currency of the Company. The 

units are in millions of yen, and figures less than one million yen are 

rounded to the nearest million yen.

(4) Early Adoption of New Accounting Standards
The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 

(revised in October 2010) (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS 9”) from 

the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011).

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” (herein after referred to as “IAS 39”) and provides 

two measurement categories for financial instruments: amortized 

costs and fair value. Changes in fair value of financial assets mea-

sured at fair value are recognized in profit or loss. However, changes 

in fair value of investments in equity instruments, except for equity 

instruments held for trading purpose, are allowed to be recognized 

in other comprehensive income.

For the date of transition and the year ended March 31, 2011, finan-

cial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the previous 

accounting principles (Japanese GAAP), applying the exemption IFRS 

1 regarding retrospective application of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures” (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS 7”) and IFRS 9.

The effect of changes in accounting policies for financial instru-

ments on the consolidated financial statements at the beginning of 

the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011) is immaterial. 

(5) Reporting Period of JT International Holding B.V.  
and its Subsidiaries

The fiscal year end date of JT International Holding B.V. (hereinafter 

referred to as “JTIH”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as the “JTIH Group”), which operate the Group’s interna-

tional tobacco business, is December 31, hence the Group consoli-

dates financial results of the JTIH Group for the period from January 

1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 into the Group’s consolidated finan-

cial results for the year ended March 31, 2012.

Under the consolidation process of the Group, consolidation for 

the JTIH Group (sub-consolidation) is conducted first, and then, the 

process of consolidation for the whole Group is performed. The JTIH 

Group is a unified business operation unit operating the Group’s 

international tobacco business and manages budgets and actual 

results on a sub-consolidation basis, and as a unified financial report-

ing unit, takes a major role in ensuring the accuracy and quality of the 

Group’s consolidated financial reporting. Under such consolidation 

process, in order to unify the financial reporting periods across the 

whole Group, maintaining the same level of quality of the Group’s 

consolidated financial reporting and satisfying the statutory schedule 

prescribed under the Companies Act of Japan, it is required to 

shorten the current closing schedule further across the Group. To 

achieve this objective, it is necessary to review and improve the 

closing processes and systems for the consolidation and change the 

structure across the Group, such as conducting the process of sub-

consolidation of the JTIH Group, changing the reporting process to 

the Company, restructuring the processes of consolidation and prepa-

ration of consolidated financial statements, including notes to finan-

cial statements, carrying out the proper assignment of personnel 
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resources and developing talents and reviewing the approval process 

for financial reporting. Due to the aforementioned reasons, the man-

agement of the Company concludes that it is currently difficult and 

impracticable to unify the reporting periods.

However, the Group is aiming to achieve the unification of report-

ing periods at the earliest possible date through promoting a group-

wide effort in order to enhance and improve the efficiency of the 

closing and management systems.

Although there is a three month difference between the fiscal year 

end of the JTIH Group and that of the Company, since seasonal and 

periodical fluctuations of the performance of the Group’s international 

tobacco business have been relatively small, the impact from such 

mismatch of the reporting periods on the Group’s consolidated financial 

position and operating results is limited. With respect to significant 

transactions or events occurring during the time gap, the Group makes 

necessary adjustments and appropriate arrangements in order to assist 

the users of financial statements to properly understand and assess the 

consolidated financial positions and results of operations of the Group.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(1) Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include financial statements of 

the Company and its subsidiaries, and interests in investments in 

associates and joint ventures.

A. Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group and control is 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity 

so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The acquisition date of a 

subsidiary is the date on which the Group obtained control of the 

subsidiary, and the subsidiary is included in the consolidation from the 

date of acquisition until the date on which the Group loses control.

In cases where the accounting policies applied by a subsidiary 

are different from those applied by the Group, adjustments are 

made to the subsidiary’s financial statements, if necessary.

 All intergroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are 

eliminated on consolidation.

Comprehensive income for subsidiaries is attributed to owners of 

the parent company and non-controlling interests even if this results 

in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial state-

ments of subsidiaries whose fiscal year end date is different from that of 

the parent company since it is impracticable to unify the fiscal year end 

date. The difference between the fiscal year end date of the subsidiaries 

and that of the parent company does not exceed three months.

In cases where the financial statements of subsidiaries used for 

preparing the consolidated financial statements have different fiscal 

year end dates from that of the Company, necessary adjustments 

are made for the effects of significant transactions or events occur-

ring between the fiscal year end dates of the subsidiaries and that of 

the Company.

B. Associates

An associate is an entity of which the Group has significant influence 

over its financial and operating policy. Investments in associates are 

accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 

Group has the significant influence until the date on which it ceases 

to have the significant influence.

The consolidated financial statements include investments in 

associates with different fiscal year end dates from that of the 

parent company since, primarily due to relations with other share-

holders, it is impracticable to unify the fiscal year end dates. 

Necessary adjustments are made for the effects of significant trans-

actions or events occurring between the fiscal year end dates of the 

associates and that of the Company.

C. Joint Ventures

A joint venture is a contractual agreement whereby two or more 

parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. 

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

(2) Business Combination
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 

method. Consideration transferred in a business combination is 

 measured as the sum of the acquisition-date fair value of the assets 

transferred, the liabilities assumed and equity instruments issued by 

the Company in exchange for control over an acquiree. Any excess 

of the consideration of acquisition over the fair value of identifiable 

assets and liabilities is recognized as goodwill in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. If the consideration of acquisition is 

lower than the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, the 

difference is immediately recognized as profit in the consolidated 

statement of income. Acquisition-related costs incurred are recog-

nized as expenses. The additional acquisition of non-controlling inter-

ests after obtaining control is accounted for as a capital transaction 

and no goodwill is recognized with respect to such transaction.

As the Group has adopted the exemption provision prescribed in 

IFRS 1, which an entity can choose to apply, IFRS 3 “Business 

Combination” is not applied retrospectively with respect to business 

combinations prior to April 1, 2010. In such cases, the carrying 

amount of goodwill under the previous accounting principles 

(Japanese GAAP) as at the date of transition becomes the carrying 

amount for the opening consolidated statement of financial position.

(3) Foreign Currency Translation
Consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in 
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Japanese yen, which is the functional currency of the Company. 

Each company in the Group specifies its own functional currency 

and measures transactions based on it.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency 

at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions or an 

approximation of the rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at the fiscal year end date. Differences arising 

from the translation and settlement are recognized as profit or loss. 

However, exchange differences arising from the translation of financial 

instruments designated as hedging instruments for net investment in 

foreign operations (foreign subsidiaries), financial assets measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income, and cash flow hedges 

are recognized as other comprehensive income.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into 

Japanese yen at the rates of exchange prevailing at the fiscal year end 

date, while income and expenses of foreign operations are translated 

into Japanese yen at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of 

transactions or an approximation to the rate. The resulting translation 

differences are recognized as other comprehensive income. In cases 

where foreign operations are disposed of, the cumulative amount of 

translation differences related to the foreign operations is recognized 

as profit or loss in the period of disposition.

Among subsidiaries, the JTIH Group’s fiscal year end date is 

December 31, and an exchange rate used for the translation is 

based on its fiscal year end date.

As the Group has adopted the exemption provision in IFRS 1, the 

cumulative amount of translation differences for the prior to the date 

of transition is transferred to retained earnings.

(4) Financial Instruments
For the date of transition and for the year ended March 31, 2011, 

the previous accounting principles (Japanese GAAP) were applied 

for financial instruments pursuant to the exemption in IFRS 1 

regarding retrospective application of IFRS 7 and IFRS 9. For the 

year ended March 31, 2012, IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 are applied, and new 

accounting policies are as follows:

A. Financial Assets

(i) Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets are classified into financial assets measured at fair 

value through profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive 

income, and amortized cost. The Group determines the classification 

at initial recognition.

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at 

 amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met. Otherwise, 

they are classified as financial assets measured at fair value.

•	The	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	is	

to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows

•	The	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	give	rise	on	speci-

fied dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding

For financial assets measured at fair value, each equity instru-

ment is designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss 

or as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

except for equity instruments held for trading purposes that must be 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. Such designations are 

applied consistently.

All financial assets are measured at the fair value plus transaction 

costs that are attributable to the financial assets, except for the case 

of being classified in the category of financial assets measured at 

fair value through profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent Measurement

After initial recognition, financial assets are measured based on the 

classification as follows:

(a) Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are measured at amor-

tized cost using the effective interest method.

(b) Other Financial Assets

Financial assets other than those measured at amortized cost are 

measured at fair value.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair 

value are recognized as profit or loss.

However, changes in the fair value of equity instruments desig-

nated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income are recognized as other comprehensive income and the 

amount in other comprehensive income are transferred to retained 

earnings when equity instruments are derecognized or the decline in 

its fair value compared to its acquisition cost is significant. Dividends 

on the financial assets are recognized in profit or loss for the year. 

(iii) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive ben-

efits from them expire or are transferred, or when substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the ownership are transferred.

B. Impairment of Financial Assets

In accordance with IAS 39, the Group assesses at the end of each 

reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that finan-

cial assets measured at amortized cost are impaired. Evidence of 

impairment includes significant financial difficulty of the borrower or 

a group of borrowers, a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments, and bankruptcy of the borrower.

The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 

exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant 

and collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.

If there is objective evidence that impairment losses on financial 

assets measured at amortized cost have been incurred, the amount 

of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carry-

ing amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

When impairment is recognized, the carrying amount of the 

financial asset are reduced by an allowance for doubtful account and 

impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. The carrying 
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amount of financial assets measured at amortized cost are directly 

reduced for the impairment when they are expected to become 

uncollectible in the future and all collaterals are implemented or 

transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of 

the impairment loss provided changes due to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment 

losses are adjusted through the allowance for doubtful account.

C. Financial Liabilities

(i) Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities measured at fair 

value through profit or loss and financial liabilities measured at amor-

tized cost. The Group determines the classification at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recogni-

tion. However, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are 

measured at cost after deducting transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the financial liabilities.

(ii) Subsequent Measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured based on 

the classification as follows:

(a) Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss include 

financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated 

as measured at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition.

(b) Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at amortized 

cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. Amortization under the effective interest method and a 

gain or loss on derecognition is recognized as profit or loss in the 

consolidated statement of income.

After initial recognition, financial guarantee contracts are mea-

sured at the higher of:

•	The	best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	

obligation as of the end of the fiscal year, and

•	The	amount	initially	recognized	less	cumulative	amortization.

(iii) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is dis-

charged, canceled or expired.

D. Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented as a 

net amount in the consolidated statement of financial position only 

when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 

amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis or to 

realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

E. Derivatives and Hedge Accounting

The Group utilizes derivatives, including forward foreign exchange 

contracts and interest rate swap contracts, to hedge foreign 

exchange and interest rate risks. These derivatives are initially mea-

sured at fair value when the contract is entered into, and are subse-

quently remeasured at fair value.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized as profit or 

loss in the consolidated statement of income. However, the gain or 

loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of 

cash flow hedges and hedges of net investment in foreign opera-

tions is recognized as other comprehensive income in the consoli-

dated statement of comprehensive income.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group formally designates and 

documents the hedging relationship to which hedge accounting is 

applied and the objectives and strategies of risk management for 

undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of 

hedging instruments, the hedged items or transactions, the nature of 

the risks being hedged and how the hedging instrument’s effective-

ness is assessed in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged 

item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risks. Even 

though these hedges are expected to be highly effective in offsetting 

changes in fair value or cash flows, they are assessed on an ongoing 

basis and determined actually to have been highly effective throughout 

the financial reporting periods for which the hedges were designated.

Hedges that qualify for stringent requirements for hedging 

accounting are classified in the following categories and accounted 

for in accordance with IAS 39.

(i) Fair Value Hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized as profit or loss 

in the consolidated statement of income. Responding to changes in 

the fair value of hedged items attributable to the hedged risks the 

carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted and the change is 

recognized as profit or loss in the consolidated statement of income.

(ii) Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments is recog-

nized as other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognized 

immediately as profit or loss in the consolidated statement of income.

The amounts of hedging instruments recognized in other compre-

hensive income are reclassified to profit or loss when the transac-

tions of the hedged items affect profit or loss. In cases where 

hedged items result in the recognition of non-financial assets or 

liabilities, the amounts recognized as other comprehensive income 

are accounted for as adjustments in the original carrying amount of 

non-financial assets or liabilities.

When forecast transactions or firm commitment are no longer 

expected to occur, any related cumulative gain or loss that has been 

recognized in equity as other comprehensive income is reclassified 

to profit or loss. When hedging instruments expire, are sold, or 

terminated or exercised without the replacement or rollover of other 

hedging instruments, or when the hedge designation is revoked, 

amounts that have been recognized in other comprehensive income 

are continued to be recognized in other comprehensive income until 

the forecast transactions or firm commitments occur.

(iii) Hedge of Net Investment in Foreign Operations

Translation difference resulting from a hedge of net investment in 
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foreign operations is accounted for similarly to a cash flow hedge. 

The effective portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments is rec-

ognized as other comprehensive income in the consolidated state-

ment of comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is 

recognized as profit or loss in the consolidated statement of income. 

At the time of the disposal of the foreign operations, any related 

cumulative gain or loss that has been recognized in equity as other 

comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss.

F. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active financial 

markets at the fiscal year end refers to quoted prices or dealer 

quotations.

If there is no active market, fair value of financial instruments is 

determined using appropriate valuation models. 

The previous accounting principles (Japanese GAAP) applied for 

the date of transition and for the year ended March 31, 2011 are 

as follows.

A. Securities

Securities are classified as held-to-maturity debt securities or 

 available-for-sale securities. Held-to-maturity debt securities are 

measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale marketable securities 

are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of 

applicable taxes, recognized in other comprehensive income in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The cost of available-for-sale marketable securities sold is deter-

mined based on the moving-average method. Non-marketable 

 available-for-sale securities are stated at cost determined by the 

moving-average method. For a significant impairment in value that is 

judged unrecoverable, the carrying amount of securities is reduced 

to fair value with a resulting charge to profit or loss.

B. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are recognized as either assets or 

liabilities and measured at fair value, and gains or losses on deriva-

tives are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. For 

derivatives which qualify for hedge accounting because of high 

correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instruments and 

hedged items, gains or losses on derivatives are deferred until the 

corresponding hedged items are recognized in earnings.

The Group’s trade payables that are denominated in foreign cur-

rencies and have been hedged by foreign exchange forward con-

tracts are translated at the foreign exchange rate stipulated in the 

contracts. Interest rate swaps that qualify for hedge accounting and 

meet specific matching criteria are not remeasured at market value, 

but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements are 

recognized and included in the interest expense or income. Cross 

currency swaps that qualify for hedge accounting and meet specific 

matching criteria are not remeasured at market value, but the dif-

ferential paid or received under the swap agreements are recognized 

and included in interest expense or income, and long-term debts 

that are denominated in foreign currencies and have been hedged 

by interest rate and currency swap contracts are translated at the 

foreign exchange rate stipulated in the contracts.

(5) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand depos-

its, and short-term investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value 

and due within three months from the date of acquisition.

(6) Inventories
The cost of inventories includes all costs of purchase, costs of con-

version and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 

present location and condition.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable 

value, and the costs are determined by using the weighted-average 

method. Net realizable value is determined as the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 

completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Leaf tobacco which is stored for more than 12 months before 

being used for production is included in current assets since it is 

held within the normal operating cycle.

(7) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment is measured by using the cost model 

and is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

The acquisition cost includes any costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the asset and dismantlement, removal and restoration 

costs, as well as borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

Except for assets that are not subject to depreciation such as 

land, assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over their 

estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of major asset 

items are as follows:

•	Buildings	and	structures:	 38	to	50	years

•	Machinery	and	vehicles:	 10	to	15	years

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed 

at each fiscal year end and if there are any changes made to the 

estimated useful lives and depreciation method, such changes are 

applied prospectively as changes in estimate.

(8) Goodwill and Intangible Assets
A. Goodwill

Goodwill is stated at acquisition cost less accumulated impairment 

losses.

Goodwill is not amortized. It is allocated to cash-generating units 

that are identified according to locations and types of businesses 

and tested for impairment annually or whenever there is any 

indication of impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income and no 

subsequent reversal is made.
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B. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are measured by using the cost model and are 

stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at the 

initial recognition, and the costs of intangible assets acquired through 

business combinations are recognized at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Expenditures on internally generated intangible assets are 

recognized as expense in the period when incurred, except for 

development expenses that satisfy the capitalization criteria.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and are tested 

for impairment whenever there is any indication for impairment. The 

estimated useful lives and amortization method of intangible assets 

with finite useful lives are reviewed at each fiscal year end, and the 

effect of any changes in estimate would be accounted for on a 

prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives of major intangible assets with finite 

useful lives are as follows:

•	Trademark:	20	years

•	Software:	 5	years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets 

that are not ready to use are not amortized, but they are tested for 

impairment individually or by cash-generating unit annually or 

whenever there is any indication of impairment.

(9) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever substantially all 

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred to the 

Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

In finance lease transactions, leased assets and lease obligations are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 

lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the 

lease. Lease payments are apportioned between the financial cost and 

the reduction of the lease obligations based on the effective interest 

method. Financial costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of 

income. Leased assets are depreciated using the straight-line method 

over their estimated useful lives or lease terms whichever is shorter.

In operating lease transactions, lease payments are recognized as 

an expense using the straight-line method over the lease terms in 

the consolidated statement of income. Contingent rents are recog-

nized as an expense in the period when they are incurred.

Determining whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is 

based on the substance of the arrangement in accordance with 

IFRIC 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease,” 

even if the arrangement does not take the legal form of a lease.

(10) Investment Property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation or both.

Investment property is measured by using the cost model and is 

stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

(11) Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The Group assesses for each fiscal year whether there is any indication 

that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or in cases 

where the impairment test is required to be performed each year, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. In cases that the recov-

erable amount cannot be estimated for each asset, it is estimated by 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable 

amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined at the 

higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. If the carry-

ing amount of the asset or cash-generating unit exceed the recoverable 

amount, impairment losses are recognized and the carrying amount is 

reduced to the recoverable amount. In determining the value in use, 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to the present value, using 

pretax discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining 

the fair value less costs to sell, the Group uses an appropriate valuation 

model supported by available fair value indicators.

The Group assesses whether there is any indication that an 

impairment loss recognized in prior years for an asset other than 

goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased, such as any 

changes in assumptions used for the determination of the recover-

able amount. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 

of the asset or cash-generating unit is estimated. In cases that the 

recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset or 

cash-generating unit, impairment losses are reversed up to the 

lower of the estimated recoverable amount or the carrying amount 

(net of depreciation) that would have been determined if no impair-

ment losses had been recognized in prior years.

(12) Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale
An asset or asset group that is expected to be recovered through a 

sale transaction rather than through continuing use is classified into 

a non-current asset or disposal group held-for-sale when the follow-

ing conditions are met: it is highly probable that the asset or asset 

group will be sold within one year, the asset or asset group is avail-

able for immediate sale in its present condition, and the Group man-

agement commits to the sale plan. In such cases, the non-current 

asset is not depreciated or amortized and is measured at the lower 

of its carrying amount or its fair value less costs to sell.

(13) Employee Retirement Benefits
The Group sponsors defined benefit plans and defined contribution 

plans as employee retirement benefit plans.

The Company is obligated to bear pension expenses for a mutual 

assistance association incurred with respect to services in or before 

June 1956 (prior to the enforcement of the Act on the Mutual Aid 

Association of Public Corporation Employees). Such obligations are 
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calculated and included in liabilities related to the retirement benefits.

For each plan the Group calculates the present value of defined 

benefit obligations, and related current service cost and past service 

cost using the projected unit credit method. For a discount rate, a 

discount period is determined based on the period until the 

expected date of benefit payment in each fiscal year, and the dis-

count rate is determined by reference to market yields for the period 

corresponding to the discount period at the end of the fiscal year on 

high-rating corporate bonds. Liabilities or assets for defined benefit 

plans are calculated by the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation, deducting unrecognized past service cost and the fair 

value of any plan assets (including adjustments for the asset ceiling 

for defined benefit plan and minimum funding requirements, if nec-

essary). Expected return on plan assets and interest costs are recog-

nized as financial costs.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full as other compre-

hensive income in the period when they are incurred and transferred 

to retained earnings immediately. Past service costs are recognized 

as an expense using the straight-line method over the average 

period until the benefits become vested. In cases where the ben-

efits are already vested immediately following the introduction or 

amendment of the defined benefit plan, it is recognized as profit or 

loss in the period when it is incurred.

Cost for retirement benefits for defined contribution plans is 

recognized as an expense at the time of contribution.

As the Group has adopted the exemption in IFRS 1, cumulative 

amount of actuarial gains and losses in relation to defined benefit 

plans are recognized in full in retained earnings in the opening consoli-

dated statement of financial position as of the date of IFRS transition.

(14) Share-based Payments
The Company has a share option plan as an equity-settled share-

based payment plan. Share options are estimated at fair value at 

grant date and are recognized as an expense over the vesting period 

in the consolidated statement of income after considering the 

number of share options that are expected to be eventually vested. 

The corresponding amount is recognized as an increase in equity in 

the consolidated statement of financial position.

(15) Provisions
The Group has present obligations (legal or constructive) resulting 

from past events and recognizes provisions when it is probable that 

the obligations are required to be settled and the amount of the 

obligations can be estimated reliably.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 

amount of provisions is measured at the present value of the expen-

ditures expected to be required to settle the obligations. In calculat-

ing the present value, the Group uses the pretax discount rate 

reflecting current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the liability.

In accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets,” the Group recognizes a provision for restructuring 

when it has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised 

a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructur-

ing by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main scheme 

to those affected by it. Restructuring provisions include only the direct 

expenditures arising from the restructuring, which meet both of:

•	necessarily	entailed	by	the	restructuring;	

•	not	associated	with	the	ongoing	activities	of	the	entity.

(16) Revenue
A. Sale of Goods

The Group mainly engages in the sale of tobacco products, prescrip-

tion drugs, and processed foods. Revenue from the sale of these 

goods are recognized when the significant risks and rewards of own-

ership of the goods transfer to the buyers, the Group retains neither 

continuing managerial involvement nor effective control over the 

goods sold, it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow 

to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the corresponding costs 

can be measured reliably. Therefore, revenue is usually recognized at 

the time of delivery of goods to customers. In addition, revenue is 

recognized at fair value of the consideration received or receivable 

less discount, rebates and taxes, including consumption taxes.

Since the amount of turnover where the Group is involved as an 

agency, including tobacco excise taxes, is deducted from revenue, 

the Group recognizes only the economic benefit inflow, excluding 

such amount as revenue in the consolidated statements of income.

B. Interest Income

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method.

C. Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s right to 

receive payment is established.

D. Royalties

Royalties are recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the 

substance of the relevant agreement.

(17) Government Grants
Government grants are recognized at fair value when there is a 

reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 

attached to them and receive the grants.

In case that the government grants are related to expense items, 

they are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the 

period in which the related costs for which the grants are intended 

to compensate are recognized. With regard to government grants 

for assets, the amount of grants is deducted from the acquisition 

cost of the assets.

(18) Borrowing Costs
With respect to assets that necessarily take a substantial period of 
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time to get ready for their intended use or sale, the borrowing costs 

that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or pro-

duction of the assets are capitalized as part of the acquisition cost of 

the assets. Other borrowing costs are recognized as expense in the 

period when they are incurred. 

With regard to qualifying assets for which construction has 

started after the date of transition, the Group has capitalized the 

borrowing costs. With regard to the borrowing costs for construction 

projects that started before the date of transition, the Group has 

adopted the exemption for capitalized cost in IFRS 1, and the Group 

continued to recognize them as expense.

(19) Income Taxes
Income taxes in the consolidated statement of income are presented 

as the total of current income taxes and deferred income taxes.

Current income taxes are measured at the amount that is 

expected to be paid to or refunded from the taxation authorities. For 

the calculation of the tax amount the Group uses the tax rates and 

tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 

of the fiscal year. The current income taxes are recognized in profit 

or loss, except for taxes arising from items that are recognized in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity and taxes arising 

from business combinations.

Deferred income taxes are calculated based on the temporary 

differences between the tax base for assets and liabilities and the 

carrying amount at the fiscal year end. Deferred tax assets are 

recognized for deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 

they can be utilized. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for tax-

able temporary differences.

The deferred tax assets or liabilities are not recognized for the 

following temporary differences from:

•	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill

•	 the	initial	recognition	of	assets	or	liabilities	in	transactions	that	

are not business combinations and at the time of transaction, 

affect neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or tax loss

•	deductible	temporary	differences	arising	from	investments	in	

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint venture to the 

extent that it is probable that the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary difference in the foreseeable future and it is not 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which they can be utilized.

•	taxable	temporary	differences	arising	from	investments	in	

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint venture to the 

extent that the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 

is controlled and that it is probable the temporary difference 

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply to the fiscal year when the asset is real-

ized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the fiscal year end.

(20) Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No 

gain or loss is recognized on the purchase, sale or cancellation of the 

treasury shares. Any difference between the carrying amount and 

the consideration paid is recognized in capital surplus.

(21) Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit and loss 

attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company by the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year, adjusted by the number of treasury shares. Diluted earnings 

per share are calculated by adjusting the effects of dilutive potential 

ordinary shares.

(22) Dividends
Dividend distributions to the shareholders of the Company are recog-

nized as liabilities in the period in which for year end dividends Annual 

Shareholders Meeting approves the distribution and for interim 

dividends the Board of Directors meeting approves the distribution. 

(23) Contingencies
A. Contingent Liabilities

The Group discloses contingent liabilities in the note to consolidated 

financial statements if it has possible obligations at the fiscal year 

end, whose existence cannot be confirmed at that date, or if the 

obligations do not meet the recognition criteria of a provision 

described in “22. Provisions.”

B. Contingent Assets

The Group discloses contingent assets in the note to consolidated 

financial statements if an inflow of future economic benefits to the 

Group is probable, but not virtually certain at the fiscal year end.

(24) Adjusted Financial Measures
The adjusted financial measures are calculated by adding certain 

adjustment items to the non-adjusted financial data or by deducting 

the items from the non-adjusted financial data.

The adjustment items are determined by the management’s 

judgment, taking into consideration nature of frequencies of the 

income and costs that they provide effective comparative informa-

tion on the Group performance and that they reflect the way of 

managing our business appropriately. Adjusted financial measures 

are presented in the consolidated statement of income, “6. 

Operating Segments” and “32. Earnings per Share.”

“Restructuring-related income” and “Restructuring-related costs” 

are adjustment items recognized in line with the execution of a 

restructuring program. 

The adjusted financial measures are not defined under IFRS and 

are not comparable with equivalent indicators for other entities.
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4. Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group 

requires management estimates and assumptions in order to mea-

sure income, expenses, assets and liabilities, and disclose contin-

gencies as of the fiscal year end date. These estimates and 

assumptions are based on the best judgment of management in 

light as of the historical experience and various factors deemed to 

be reasonable as of the fiscal year end date. Given their nature, 

actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions.

The estimates and assumptions are continuously reviewed by 

management. The effects of a change in estimates and assumptions 

are recognized in the period of the change or the period of the 

change and future periods.

Among the above estimates and assumptions, the followings are 

items that may have a material effect on the amounts recognized in 

the consolidated financial statements of the Group:

A. Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Goodwill, 

Intangible Assets and Investment Properties

With regard to property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible 

assets and investment properties, if there is any indication that the 

recoverable amount declines below the carrying amounts of the 

assets, the Group performs an impairment test.

The important indications include significant changes with 

adverse effect on the results of past or projected business perfor-

mance, significant changes in the use of acquired assets or in overall 

business strategy, and significant deteriorations in industry trends 

and economic trends. With regard to goodwill, the impairment test 

is conducted at least once a year, regardless of any indication of the 

impairment, in order to ensure that the recoverable amount exceeds 

the carrying amount.

The impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying 

amount and the recoverable amount of assets. If the recoverable 

amount declines below the carrying amount, the impairment losses 

are recognized. The recoverable amount is mainly calculated based on 

the discounted cash flow model. Certain assumptions are made for 

the useful lives and the future cash flows of the assets, discount 

rates and long-term growth rates. These assumptions are used on the 

best	estimates	and	judgments	made	by	management;	however,	there	

is a possibility that these assumptions may be affected by changes in 

uncertain future economic conditions, which may have a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

The method for calculating the recoverable amount is described in 

“14. Property, Plant and Equipment,” “15. Goodwill and Intangible 

Assets” and “17. Investment Property.” With regard to goodwill, the 

sensitivity analysis is described in “15. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.”

B. Employee Retirement Benefits and Mutual Pension Benefits

The Group has various types of retirement benefit plans, including 

defined benefit plans.

The present value of defined benefit obligations on each of these 

plans and the related service costs are calculated based on actuarial 

assumptions. These actuarial assumptions require estimates and 

judgments on variables, such as discount rates and the long-term 

expected return on plan assets.

The Group obtains advice from external pension actuaries with 

respect to the appropriateness of these actuarial assumptions 

including these variables.

The actuarial assumptions are determined based on the best 

estimates	and	judgments	made	by	management;	however,	there	

is a possibility that these assumptions may be affected by changes 

in uncertain future economic conditions, which may have a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

These actuarial assumptions and related sensitivity analysis are 

described in “24. Employee Benefits.”

 

C. Provisions

The Group recognizes various provisions, including provisions for 

asset retirement obligations and restructuring, in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.

These provisions are recognized based on the best estimates of 

the expenditures required to settle the obligations taking risks and 

uncertainty related to the obligations into account as of the fiscal 

year end date.

Expenditures required to settle the obligations are calculated by 

taking	possible	results	into	account	comprehensively;	however,	they	

may be affected by occurrence of unexpected events or changes in 

conditions which may have a material impact on the consolidated 

financial statements in future periods.

The nature and amount of recognized provisions are described in 

“22. Provisions.”

D. Income Taxes

The Group operates business activities around the world, and it 

recognizes current tax liabilities and income taxes as the estimated 

amounts to be paid to the tax authorities, based on the estimation in 

accordance with their laws and regulations.

Calculating current tax liabilities and income taxes requires esti-

mates and judgment on various factors, including the interpretation 

of tax regulations by taxable entities and the tax authority in the 

jurisdiction or the experience of past tax audits.

Therefore, there may be differences between the amount recog-

nized as tax liabilities and income taxes and the amount of actual tax 

liabilities and income taxes. These differences may have a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

In addition, deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that 

it is probable that taxable income will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

In recognizing the deferred tax assets, when judging the possibility 
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5. New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted by the Group

By the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, new accounting standards, amended standards and new interpretations that 

have been issued, but have not been early adopted by the Group are as follows.

The	implications	from	adoption	of	these	standards	and	interpretations	are	assessed	by	the	Group;	however,	we	evaluate	that	none	of	

them will have a material impact on our operating results and financial condition. 

IFRS 
Mandatory adoption 
(From the year beginning)

To be adopted by  
the Group Description of New Standards/Amendments

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
 International Financial 
Reporting Standards

July 1, 2011 Fiscal year ending  
March 2013

Guidance for companies facing serious hyperinflation

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Exemption related to government grants

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Provision related to reapplication of IFRS 1

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Exemption related to adjustment of borrowing costs recognized 
before the application of IFRS

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures

July 1, 2011 Fiscal year ending  
March 2013

Disclosure regarding transfer of financial assets

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Disclosure related to offsetting of financial assets and liabilities, 
related notes are necessary during the 

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial 
statements

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Amendment for definition of control, elements of control and 
basis of existence of control to be applied, regardless of the 
nature of the investee

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Regarding arrangements of which two or more parties have 
joint control, provide the classification of a joint arrangement 
based on legal form, contractual arrangement on assets or 
liabilities and other facts and conditions, not based on only legal 
form of the arrangement
Provide accounting treatment for each classification

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Expansion of the scope of the disclosure of ownership of interests 
in other entities, including unconsolidated structured entities

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Guidance of fair value measurement to be applied by all standards 
and unify the definition of fair value which was previously provided 
separately in each standard

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements

July 1, 2012 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Revision to the presentation of items in other comprehensive 
income

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Provision for comparative information. When it is disclosed though 
not required under IFRS, related notes of that period is required.

IAS 12 Income Taxes January 1, 2012 Fiscal year ending  
March 2013

Establishment of the exemption regarding deferred tax assets/
liabilities of investment property measured at fair value

IAS 16 Property, plant and 
equipment

Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Clarification of treatment related to servicing equipment

IAS 19 Employee Benefits January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Revision to recognition and presentation of actuarial gains and 
losses, past service cost, interest cost and others, and revision 
to disclosure of retirement benefits

IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Transfer of the provisions regarding consolidation to IFRS 10

IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Amendments based on IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure

January 1, 2013
January 1, 2014

Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Fiscal year ending  
March 2015

Clarification of accounting treatment of income taxes related to 
dividend paid to the equity financial instruments holder
Clarification of conditions on offset disclosure and addition of 
guidelines

of the future taxable income, we reasonably estimate the timing and 

amount of future taxable income based on the business plan.

The timing when taxable income arises and the amount of such 

income may be affected by changes in uncertain future economic 

conditions. Therefore, this may have a material impact on the 

consolidated financial statements in future periods.

The content and amount related to income taxes are indicated in 

“19. Income Taxes.”

E. Contingencies

With regard to contingencies, any items that may have a material 

impact on business in the future are disclosed in light of all the 

available evidence as of the fiscal year end date and by taking into 

account the probability of these contingencies and impact on finan-

cial reporting.

The content of contingencies is indicated in “39. Contingencies.”
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6. Operating Segments

(1) Outline of Reportable Segments
The reportable segments of the Group are determined based on the 

operating segments that are components of the Group about which 

separate financial information is available and are evaluated regularly 

by the Board of Directors in deciding how to allocate resources and 

in assessing performance.

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale of 

tobacco products, prescription drugs, and foods. With respect to 

tobacco products, operations are managed separately for domestic 

and overseas markets. The reportable segments of the Group are 

composed of four segments: “Domestic Tobacco Business,” 

“International Tobacco Business,” “Pharmaceutical Business,” and 

“Food Business.” They are determined by types of products, charac-

teristics, and markets.

The “Domestic Tobacco Business” manufactures and sells 

tobacco products in domestic areas (which include duty-free shops 

in Japan and markets in China, Hong Kong, and Macau where the 

Company’s China Division operates). The “International Tobacco 

Business” manufactures and sells tobacco products overseas mainly 

through JT International S.A., which controls manufacturing and 

sales operations. The “Pharmaceutical Business” consists of 

research and development, and the manufacture and sale of pre-

scription drugs. The “Food Business” consists of the manufacture 

and sale of beverages, processed foods, and seasonings.

(2) Revenues and Performances for Reportable Segments
Revenues and performances for reportable segments are as follows. 

The Board of Directors assesses the segment performance and 

determines resource allocation after reviewing revenues and 

adjusted EBITDA. Since financial income, financial costs and income 

taxes are managed by the Group head office, these income and 

expenses are excluded from the segment performance. Transactions 

within the segments are based on mainly the prevailing market price.

For the year ended March 31, 2011
Millions of yen

2011
Reportable Segments

Domestic 
Tobacco

International 
Tobacco  
(Note 2) Pharmaceuticals Food Total

Other  
(Note 3) Elimination Consolidated

Revenue
External revenue (Note 4) ¥665,819 ¥  963,520 ¥44,105 ¥367,457 ¥2,040,901 ¥18,464 ¥     — ¥2,059,365
Intersegment revenue 30,115 37,909 — 117 68,140 9,374 (77,515) —
Total revenue 695,934 1,001,429 44,105 367,574 2,109,042 27,838 (77,515) 2,059,365

Segment profit (loss)
Adjusted EBITDA (Note 1) 247,184 277,878 (9,761) 17,725 533,026 (6,356) (4,641) 522,029

Other items
Depreciation and 
amortization ¥ 42,790 ¥   51,638 ¥ 3,544 ¥ 16,485 ¥  114,456 ¥ 3,648 ¥   (150) ¥  117,954

Impairment losses on other 
than financial assets 728 345 — 3,197 4,270 1,912 — 6,181

Reversal of impairment 
losses on other than 
financial assets — — — — — — — —

Share of profit (loss) in 
investments accounted for 
using the equity method 20 2,339 — (36) 2,323 6 — 2,330

Capital expenditures 55,428 60,907 6,194 24,953 147,481 3,230 (2,310) 148,401

IFRS 
Mandatory adoption 
(From the year beginning)

To be adopted by  
the Group Description of New Standards/Amendments

IAS 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Clarification of conditions on segment disclosure on interim 
financial reporting

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the 
Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine

January 1, 2013 Fiscal year ending  
March 2014

Accounting treatment for waste removal costs that are incurred 
in surface mining activity during the production phase of the mine 
(Not applicable for costs incurred during the development phase)
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For the year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen
2012

Reportable Segments

Domestic 
Tobacco

International 
Tobacco  
(Note 2) Pharmaceuticals Food Total

Other 
(Note 3) Elimination Consolidated

Revenue
External revenue (Note 4) ¥646,187 ¥966,255 ¥  47,407 ¥359,420 ¥2,019,269 ¥14,556 ¥     — ¥2,033,825
Intersegment revenue 28,115 27,497 — 92 55,704 9,257 (64,961) —
Total revenue ¥674,303 ¥993,752 ¥  47,407 ¥359,512 ¥2,074,973 ¥23,813 ¥(64,961) ¥2,033,825

Segment profit (loss)
Adjusted EBITDA (Note 1) ¥262,257 ¥314,755 ¥(10,031) ¥ 19,987 ¥  586,968 ¥ (8,852) ¥   (983) ¥  577,132

Other items
Depreciation and 
amortization ¥ 39,567 ¥ 55,227 ¥   3,465 ¥ 17,528 ¥  115,788 ¥ 3,376 ¥   (319) ¥  118,845

Impairment losses on other 
than financial assets 314 4,610 — 413 5,336 1,677 — 7,013

Reversal of impairment 
losses on other than 
financial assets 5 — — 77 82 — — 82

Share of profit (loss) in 
investments accounted for 
using the equity method 31 1,922 — 13 1,966 81 — 2,047

Capital expenditures 56,224 39,141 3,897 15,410 114,671 4,321 (0) 118,992

Reconciliation from adjusted EBITDA to Profit before income taxes
For the year ended March 31, 2011

Millions of yen
2011

Reportable Segments

Domestic 
Tobacco

International 
Tobacco  
(Note 2) Pharmaceuticals Food Total

Other 
(Note 3) Elimination Consolidated

Adjusted EBITDA (Note 1) ¥247,184 ¥277,878 ¥ (9,761) ¥ 17,725 ¥ 533,026 ¥(6,356) ¥(4,641) ¥ 522,029 
Depreciation and amortization (42,790) (51,638) (3,544) (16,485) (114,456) (3,648) 150 (117,954)
Impairment losses  
on goodwill — — — (87) (87) — — (87)

Restructuring-related income 
(Note 5) — 190 — 2,932 3,122 8,132 — 11,254 

Restructuring-related costs 
(Note 5) (2,046) (578) — (7,712) (10,336) (3,583) — (13,920)

Operating profit (loss) ¥202,347 ¥225,852 ¥(13,305) ¥ (3,627) ¥ 411,268 ¥(5,455) ¥(4,492) 401,321 
Financial income 9,870 
Financial costs (25,949)
Profit before income taxes ¥ 385,242 
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For the year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen

2012

Reportable Segments

Domestic 
Tobacco

International 
Tobacco  
(Note 2) Pharmaceuticals Food Total

Other 
(Note 3) Elimination Consolidated

Adjusted EBITDA (Note 1) ¥262,257 ¥314,755 ¥(10,031) ¥ 19,987 ¥ 586,968 ¥(8,852) ¥(983) ¥ 577,132 
Depreciation and amortization (39,567) (55,227) (3,465) (17,528) (115,788) (3,376) 319 (118,845)
Impairment losses on 
goodwill — — — — — — — —

Restructuring-related income 
(Note 5) — 564 — — 564 29,368 — 29,932 

Restructuring-related costs 
(Note 5) (13,426) (7,737) — (434) (21,597) (7,443) — (29,039)

Operating profit (loss) ¥209,265 ¥252,355 ¥(13,497) ¥  2,024 ¥ 450,147 ¥ 9,697 ¥(664) 459,180 
Financial income 5,603 
Financial costs (23,429)
Profit before income taxes ¥ 441,355

(Note 1) For adjusted EBITDA, the depreciation and amortization, impairment losses on goodwill, and restructuring-related income and costs are excluded from operating profit (loss).
(Note 2) The foreign subsidiaries group, which includes a core company of JT International S.A., that is part of the “International Tobacco Business” segment has December 31 as its 

fiscal year end date and the profit or loss for the period from January 1 to December 31 is included in the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively.
(Note 3) “Other” includes business activities relating to rent of real estate and corporate expenses relating to corporate communication and operation of the head office.
(Note 4) Core revenue as part of the Domestic Tobacco Business and the International Tobacco Business are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Domestic tobacco ¥632,159 ¥611,925
International tobacco 887,798 894,636

(Note 5) “Restructuring-related income” includes restructuring income of gain on sale of real estates. 
 “Restructuring-related costs” includes restructuring costs of closing down the factory, cooperation fee for terminating leaf tobacco farming and adjustment amount of ceasing 

classification as non-current assets held-for-sale.
 The breakdown of restructuring income is described in “28. Other Operating Income” and restructuring cost is described in “29. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.”
 The breakdown of restructuring-related costs is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Restructuring costs ¥13,920 ¥14,052

Cooperation fee for terminating leaf tobacco farming　 — 12,469

Adjustment of ceasing classification as non-current assets held-for-sale — 2,518

Restructuring-related costs ¥13,920 ¥29,039

 Restructuring costs for the year ended March 31, 2011 include costs of closing down of Odawara Factory in Domestic Tobacco Business, and costs for sale and liquidation of 
subsidiaries for business integration and measures for the rationalization in International Tobacco Business and Foods Business.

  Restructuring costs for the year ended March 31, 2012 include costs of closing down of Hofu Factory in Domestic Tobacco Business and Hainburg factory in International 
Tobacco Business.

(3) Geographic Information
The regional breakdown of non-current assets and external revenues is as follows.

Non-current Assets

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Japan ¥  562,776 ¥  518,479 ¥  556,102
Overseas 1,949,726 1,663,630 1,547,315
Consolidated ¥2,512,502 ¥2,182,109 ¥2,103,417

(Note) Non-current assets are segmented by the location of the assets, and financial instruments, deferred tax assets and retirement benefits assets are excluded.
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External Revenue

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Japan ¥1,080,027 ¥1,051,702
Overseas 979,339 982,123
Consolidated ¥2,059,365 ¥2,033,825

(Note) The sales revenue is segmented by the sales destination.

(4) Major Customers Information
The International Tobacco Business of the Group sells products to Megapolis Group that engages in distribution and wholesale business in 

Russia and other countries. The external revenue from the group is ¥207,361 million (10.1% of consolidated sales revenue) for the year ended 

March 31, 2011 and ¥236,050 million (11.6% of consolidated sales revenue) for the year ended March 31, 2012. 

7. Business Combination

Acquisition of Haggar Cigarette & Tobacco Factory Ltd. (The 

Republic of the Sudan) (“HCTF”) and Haggar Cigarette & Tobacco 

Factory Ltd. (The Republic of South Sudan) (“South HCTF”)

(1) Summary of business combination
On October 31, 2011, the Group acquired 100% and 99% of the 

outstanding shares of HCTF and South HCTF which have operations 

in the Republic of the Sudan and the Republic of South Sudan 

respectively. Through this acquisition, the Group will be able to 

further expand its footprint in the Sudan market.

(2) Financial impact of the Group
Since the acquisition date, the acquired business had contributed to 

consolidated revenue of ¥1,272 million and consolidated operating 

profit of ¥450 million. Had the business been acquired on January 1, 

2011, the Group estimates that total consolidated revenue would 

have increased by ¥6,543 million to ¥2,040,369 million and total 

consolidated operating profit would have increased by ¥1,557 million 

to ¥460,737 million.

(3) Consideration and detail (Total of two companies)
Millions of yen

Cash ¥33,463
Consideration adjustment (Note 1) (1,060)
Contingent consideration (Note 2) 1,944
Total consideration ¥34,346

(Note 1) Under the Share Purchase Agreement, the Group shall be repaid from the former owners in respect of the equivalent amount of net debt of HCTF and South HCTF as of October 
31, 2011. The equivalent amount of net debt specified under the Share Purchase Agreement is determined as the total debt amount less cash and cash equivalents.

(Note 2) The Group agreed with the former owners of HCTF and South HCTF regarding contingent consideration as a part of the Share Purchase Agreement. Additional payments will be 
made over three years (from 2012 to 2014), depending on the achievement of the performance requirements.

(4) Cash out for the acquisition of subsidiaries (Total of two companies)
Millions of yen

Cash consideration ¥33,463
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired (709)
Net cash out for the acquisition of subsidiaries ¥32,754
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(5) Fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
Millions of yen

Fair Value

Current assets ¥ 2,341

Non-current assets 8,653

Total assets acquired 10,995

Current liabilities (3,220)

Non-current liabilities (2,779)

Total liabilities (6,000)

Total equity ¥ 4,995

Goodwill ¥29,352

Goodwill of ¥29,352 million represents future economic benefit for an expansion of customer sales network and synergy of business integra-

tion. Transaction costs of ¥148 million are expensed as incurred and recognized in “Selling, general and administrative expenses.”

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The breakdown of “cash and cash equivalents” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Cash and deposits ¥147,589 ¥104,820 ¥108,797
Short-term investments 6,780 139,420 295,943

Total ¥154,369 ¥244,240 ¥404,740

IFRS 9 has been applied from the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011) and cash and cash equivalents are classified 

as financial assets measured at amortized cost.

9. Trade and Other Receivables

The breakdown of “Trade and other receivables” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Note and Account receivables ¥296,296 ¥301,371 ¥311,803
Other 14,991 12,196 17,693
Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,196) (2,364) (1,729)

Total ¥308,091 ¥311,202 ¥327,767

Trade and other receivables are presented in the amount, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts in the consolidated statement of 

 financial position.

IFRS 9 has been applied from the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011) and trade and other receivables are classified 

as financial assets  measured at amortized cost. 
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10. Inventories

The breakdown of “Inventories” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Merchandise and finished goods(Note 1) ¥131,966 ¥108,542 ¥112,477
Leaf tobacco(Note 2) 359,152 343,198 294,813
Other 40,829 36,869 39,327

Total ¥531,948 ¥488,609 ¥446,617

(Note 1) For imported tobacco products (merchandise) that are sold by TS Network Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, commissions solely from wholesale are included in revenue. The 
amount of imported tobacco products (merchandise) that the company holds at the end of each fiscal year is included in inventories and presented as “Merchandise and finished goods.”

(Note 2) Leaf tobacco include those products that will be used after 12 months from the end of each fiscal year, but they are included in inventories since they are held within the normal 
operating cycle.

11. Other Financial Assets

(1) The breakdown of “Other financial assets” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Derivative assets ¥  9,029 ¥  6,809 ¥  1,941
Equity securities 51,147 33,437 39,106
Debt securities 7,998 24,307 8,835
Time deposits 7,856 11,978 24,306
Other 64,222 47,436 34,858
Allowance for doubtful accounts (35,122) (23,958) (14,137)

Total ¥105,131 ¥100,010 ¥ 94,909
Current assets ¥ 21,629 ¥ 37,349 ¥ 27,361
Non-current assets 83,502 62,661 67,548

Total ¥105,131 ¥100,010 ¥ 94,909

Other financial assets are presented at the amount, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

IFRS 9 has been applied from the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011) and derivative assets are classified as finan-

cial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss excluding that to which hedge accounting is applied, equity securities are classified as 

financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, and time deposits and debt securities are classified as financial 

assets measured at amortized cost.

(2) Major stock name of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and their fair values are as follows:

Millions of yen
Company name 2012

KT & G Corporation ¥16,700
Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd. 2,094
Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. 1,721
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. 1,447
DOUTOR·NICHIRES Holdings Co., Ltd. 1,437
Mitsubishi Shokuhin Co., Ltd. 1,269

Equity securities are held mainly for strengthening relationships with investees. Therefore, they are designated as financial assets measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
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In order to pursue the efficiency of assets held and to use them effectively, financial assets measured at fair value through other compre-

hensive income have been sold (derecognition).

Fair value at the time of sale and cumulative gain or loss that is recognized in equity through other comprehensive income is as follows: 

Millions of yen
2012

Fair Value ¥695
Cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity as other comprehensive income(Note) (89)

(Note) The cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity as other comprehensive income is transferred to retained earnings when equity instruments are sold or the decline in 

its fair value compared to its acquisition cost is significant.

12. Other Current Assets

The breakdown of “Other current assets” as of each fiscal year end is as follows: 

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Prepaid tobacco excise taxes ¥ 98,423 ¥ 91,494 ¥ 87,261
Prepaid expenses 11,135 10,138 10,736
Consumption tax payables 10,686 10,785 6,702
Other 26,840 25,492 18,465

Total ¥147,084 ¥137,910 ¥123,163

13. Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale

The breakdown of “Non-current assets held-for-sale” and “Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held-for-sale” as of each fiscal 

year end is as follows:

Breakdown of Major Assets and Liabilities

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Non-current assets held-for-sale
Property, plant and equipment ¥ — ¥     0 ¥  302
Investment property 1,366 39,553 1,098

Total ¥1,366 ¥39,553 ¥1,401
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held-for-sale

Long-term guarantee deposits ¥  — ¥ 6,297 ¥  101
Total ¥  — ¥ 6,297 ¥  101

Non-current assets held-for-sale as of March 31, 2011 are mainly rental properties, including Shinagawa Seaside Forest in Japan, which are 

currently actively marketed for sale. Long-term guarantee deposits related to the rental properties are included in “Liabilities directly associ-

ated with non-current assets held-for-sale.”

Other non-current assets held-for-sale are idle properties and are being marketed for sale. With regard to the assets and assets which have 

been sold, impairment losses of ¥1,577 million are recognized in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement 

of income for the year ended March 31, 2011.

Non-current assets held-for-sale as of March 31, 2012 are mainly rental properties and idle properties which are currently actively marketed 

for sale. Long-term guarantee deposits related to the rental properties are included in “Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets 

held-for-sale.”

With regard to such assets and assets sold, impairment losses of ¥243 million are recognized in “Selling, general and administrative 

expenses” in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended March 31, 2012.

For Shinagawa Seaside Forest in Japan, classified as non-current assets held-for-sale as of March 31, 2011, the Group continues to conduct 

the sales activities, however, since more than one year from the date of classification has elapsed, the Group ceased to classify it as non-current 

assets held-for-sale and transferred it to investment property.
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

(1) Schedule of Property, Plant and Equipment
The schedules of acquisition cost, accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and the carrying amount of “Property, plant 

and equipment” are as follows:

Acquisition Cost

Millions of yen
Land, buildings 
and structures  

Machinery and 
vehicles  

Tools, furniture 
and fixtures  

Construction 
in progress  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥634,801 ¥671,376 ¥171,736 ¥ 41,906 ¥1,519,819
Individual acquisition 20,286 62,697 21,824 27,748 132,555
Capitalization of borrowing costs(Note) — — — 23 23
Transfer to investment property (8,819) (1,572) (3,553) — (13,944)
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (3,459) (12) (46) — (3,517)
Sale or disposal (22,802) (23,752) (31,364) (372) (78,290)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (14,016) (34,269) (5,966) (4,219) (58,470)

Other 11,447 15,945 (52) (35,984) (8,644)
As of March 31, 2011 617,438 690,412 152,580 29,101 1,489,531
Individual acquisition 15,207 34,579 22,750 26,417 98,952
Capitalization of borrowing costs(Note) — — — 23 23 
Acquisition through business combinations 767 908 21 85 1,781
Transfer to investment property (23,175) (286) (344) — (23,805)
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (1,169) (35) (2) — (1,206)
Sale or disposal (8,406) (50,323) (14,817) (253) (73,799)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (8,175) (23,288) (2,670) (1,524) (35,657)

Other 1,500 18,679 (2,285) (22,729) (4,834)
As of March 31, 2012 ¥593,988 ¥670,645 ¥155,232 ¥ 31,120 ¥1,450,985

(Note) The capitalization rates calculating the borrowing costs for capitalization are 10.4% for the year ended March 31, 2011 and 3.7% for the year ended March 31, 2012, 

respectively.

Accumulated Depreciation and Accumulated Impairment Losses

Millions of yen
Land, buildings 
and structures  

Machinery and 
vehicles  

Tools, furniture 
and fixtures  

Construction 
in progress  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥318,810 ¥438,294 ¥114,134 ¥— ¥871,239
Depreciation 14,697 43,851 22,118 — 80,666
Impairment losses 1,387 1,343 15 — 2,744
Transfer to investment property (6,611) (1,288) (3,044) — (10,943)
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (1,515) (11) (35) — (1,561)
Sale or disposal (15,862) (20,359) (30,596) — (66,817)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (2,954) (16,500) (3,452) — (22,906)

Other 5,245 (7,012) (447) — (2,214)
As of March 31, 2011 313,196 438,318 98,693 — 850,207 
Depreciation 14,922 48,959 18,993 — 82,874 
Impairment losses 2,709 2,052 78 — 4,840 
Reversal of impairment losses (77) (5) — — (82)
Transfer to investment property (18,023) (268) (324) — (18,615)
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (203) (33) (1) — (237)
Sale or disposal (7,690) (46,272) (14,372) — (68,335)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (2,164) (11,613) (1,630) — (15,407)

Other (2,132) 309 (1,974) — (3,797)
As of March 31, 2012 ¥300,539 ¥431,446 ¥ 99,464 ¥— ¥831,449 
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Carrying Amount

Millions of yen
Land, buildings 
and structures  

Machinery and 
vehicles  

Tools, furniture 
and fixtures  

Construction 
in progress  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥315,991 ¥233,082 ¥57,602 ¥41,905 ¥648,580
As of March 31, 2011 304,242 252,094 53,887 29,101 639,324
As of March 31, 2012 293,449 239,199 55,768 31,120 619,536

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as of each fiscal year end includes the carrying amount of the following leased assets:

Leased Assets

Millions of yen
Land, buildings 
and structures  

Machinery and 
vehicles  

Tools, furniture 
and fixtures  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥282 ¥4,314 ¥9,808 ¥14,404
As of March 31, 2011 227 3,170 8,569 11,966
As of March 31, 2012 279 2,875 6,749 9,902

(2) Impairment Losses
The grouping of property, plant and equipment for impairment test 

is the smallest cash-generating unit that independently generates 

cash inflow.

The Group recognized impairment losses of ¥2,744 million for the 

year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥4,840 million for the year ended 

March 31, 2012 in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in 

the consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment losses recognized for the year ended March 31, 2011 

represent the difference of the recoverable amounts and the carry-

ing amounts of the buildings and structures mainly, which were 

decided individually to demolish.

The recoverable amounts of these assets are calculated mainly 

by their value in use, which is set at the value in use for the period 

through their demolition or at “zero.”

Impairment losses recognized in the year ended March 31, 2012 

represent the amounts reduced to the recoverable amounts from the 

carrying amounts of the buildings, structures, machinery and vehicles 

which were closed down or individually decided to demolish.

The recoverable amounts of these assets are calculated mainly 

by their value in use, which is set at “zero.” 

15. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

(1) Schedule of Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The schedules of acquisition cost, accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses and the carrying amount of “Goodwill” and 

“Intangible assets” are as follows: 

Acquisition Cost

Millions of yen
Goodwill  Trademark  Software  Other  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥1,388,144 ¥732,617 ¥93,015 ¥70,028 ¥2,283,804
Individual acquisition 157 433 4,690 10,012 15,292
Sale or disposal — (38) (3,539) (590) (4,167)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (212,046) (54,466) (2,567) (2,177) (271,256)

Other (54) 581 2,524 (1,882) 1,169
As of March 31, 2011 1,176,201 679,127 94,122 75,392 2,024,842
Individual acquisition 29 292 5,982 13,347 19,651
Acquisition through business combinations 29,352 6,947 — — 36,298
Sale or disposal (136) (51) (2,563) (3,676) (6,426)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations (95,378) (22,655) (970) (664) (119,667)

Other (22) 215 743 2,392 3,329
As of March 31, 2012 ¥1,110,046 ¥663,875 ¥97,314 ¥86,792 ¥1,958,027
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Accumulated Amortization and Accumulated Impairment Losses

Millions of yen
Goodwill  Trademark  Software  Other  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥ — ¥381,498 ¥71,699 ¥47,772 ¥500,969
Amortization(Note) — 21,812 8,828 4,555 35,195
Impairment losses 87 — — — 87
Sale or disposal — (35) (3,116) (535) (3,686)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations — (10,780) (1,963) (972) (13,715)

Other — — (154) (162) (316)
As of March 31, 2011 87 392,495 75,294 50,658 518,534
Amortization(Note) — 21,141 7,567 5,894 34,602
Impairment losses — — 64 0 65
Sale or disposal (87) (9) (2,471) (2,481) (5,049)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations — (7,111) (760) (488) (8,358)

Other — 10 (140) 1,870 1,739 
As of March 31, 2012 ¥ — ¥406,526 ¥79,553 ¥55,453 ¥541,533 

(Note) The amortization of intangible assets is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.

Carrying Amount

Millions of yen
Goodwill  Trademark  Software  Other  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥1,388,144 ¥351,119 ¥21,316 ¥22,256 ¥1,782,835
As of March 31, 2011 1,176,114 286,632 18,828 24,734 1,506,308
As of March 31, 2012 1,110,046 257,349 17,760 31,339 1,416,494

The carrying amount of intangible assets as of each fiscal year end includes the carrying amount of the following leased assets:

Carrying Amount

Millions of yen
Software

As of April 1, 2010 ¥145
As of March 31, 2011 38
As of March 31, 2012 11

(2) Material Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets recognized in the consolidated state-

ment of financial position are mainly composed of goodwill and 

trademark in JTIH Group. The carrying amount of composed of 

goodwill as of March 31, 2011 and 2012 are ¥1,133,571 million and 

¥1,067,544 million, respectively. The carrying amount of trademark 

as of March 31, 2011 and 2012 are ¥283,692 million and ¥254,543 

million, respectively.

The majority of the goodwill and trademark was recognized as a 

result of acquisitions of RJR Nabisco’s non-U.S. tobacco operations 

in 1999 and Gallaher in 2007.

The trademark is amortized using the straight-line method and 

the remaining amortization period is mainly 15 years.

(3) Impairment Test for Goodwill
For the year ended March 31, 2012, the carrying amount of the 

majority of goodwill that is allocated to the international tobacco 

cash-generating unit of ¥1,067,544 million (¥1,133,571 million for the 

year ended March 31, 2011) and the processed food cash-generat-

ing unit of ¥25,368 million (¥25,368 million for the year ended March 

31, 2011), details of the result of impairment test is as follows:
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A. International Tobacco Cash-Generating Unit

The recoverable amount is calculated by their value in use based on 

the three-year business plan that was prepared by reflecting past 

experiences and external information and that was approved by 

management. After the three-year business plan, the Group sets a 

growth rate that decreases gradually from 6.6% in the fourth year 

(2011: 8.4%) to 4.0% in the ninth year (2011: 3.4%), and the same 

growth rate as the ninth year from the tenth year as a continued 

growth rate for inflation. The discount rate before taxes is 11.8% 

(2011: 10.9%). The value in use sufficiently exceeds the carrying 

amount of the cash-generating unit. Therefore, even in cases that 

the discount rate and growth rate used in calculating the value in 

use fluctuate within reasonable ranges, the Group assumes that the 

value in use will not become less than the carrying amount.

B. Processed Food Cash-Generating Unit

The recoverable amount is calculated by their value in use based on 

the three-year business plan that was prepared by reflecting past 

experiences and external information and that was approved by 

management. After the three-year business plan, the Group sets a 

growth rate that decreases gradually from 3.6% in the fourth year 

(2011: 3.3%) to 0.3% in the ninth year (2011: 0.5%), and the same 

growth rate as the ninth year issued from the tenth year as contin-

ued growth rate for inflation. The discount rate before taxes is 5.4% 

(2011: 5.3%). The value in use exceeds the carrying amount. If the 

discount rate increases by 0.8%, impairment losses would be recog-

nized. In case that growth rate fluctuates within a reasonable range, 

the Group assumes that the value in use will not become less than 

the carrying amount.

16. Lease Transactions

The Group leases vehicles, vending machines and other assets as a lessee. Some of the lease contracts have renewal options or escalation 

clauses. There are no restrictions on additional debt and further leasing imposed by the lease arrangements.

(1) Present Value of Finance Lease Obligations
The total of future minimum lease payments for leased assets recognized based on the finance lease contracts, their present value and future 

financial costs as of each fiscal year end are as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Not later than 1 year
Total of future minimum lease payments ¥ 6,126 ¥ 5,167 ¥ 4,161
Future financial costs 452 397 216
Present value 5,674 4,770 3,945

 
Later than 1 year and not later than five years

Total of future minimum lease payments 9,715 8,289 7,102
Future financial costs 577 392 408
Present value 9,139 7,897 6,693

 
Later than 5 years

The total of future minimum lease payments 389 265 248
Future financial costs 46 35 34
Present value 343 230 215

 
Total

The total of future minimum lease payments 16,230 13,721 11,511
Future financial costs 1,075 824 659
Present value 15,156 12,897 10,853
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(2) Future Minimum Lease Payments under Non-cancellable Operating Leases
The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Not later than 1 year ¥ 7,516 ¥ 6,671 ¥ 7,706 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 14,633 11,717 12,821 
Later than 5 years 6,733 2,297 1,384 

Total ¥28,882 ¥20,685 ¥21,912 

(3) Total of Minimum Lease Payments and Contingent Rents
The total of minimum lease payments and contingent rents of operating lease contracts recognized as an expense for each fiscal year is as 

follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Total of minimum lease payments ¥8,714 ¥7,863
Contingent rents 1,240 2,628

17. Investment Property

(1) Schedule of Investment Property
The schedule of the carrying amount of “Investment property” for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥ 81,087 ¥ 36,477
Expenditure after acquisition 531 367
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 3,000 5,191
Transfer from non-current assets held-for-sale — 32,784
Adjustment from ceasing classification as non-current assets held-for-sale — (2,518)
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale (40,007) (1,053)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (1,579) (360)
Depreciation (2,093) (1,368)
Impairment losses (1,773) (1,866)
Sale or disposal (2,505) (340)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (151) 8
Other (33) 65
Balance at the end of the year ¥ 36,477 ¥ 67,387
Acquisition cost at the beginning of the year ¥147,507 ¥ 79,922
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses at the beginning of the year 66,420 43,445
Acquisition cost at the end of the year 79,922 144,976
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses at the end of the year 43,445 77,589

(2) Fair Value
The carrying amount and fair value of investment property as of each fiscal year end are as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Carrying 
amount  Fair value  

Carrying 
amount  Fair value  

Carrying 
amount  Fair value

Investment property ¥81,087 ¥227,253 ¥36,477 ¥92,897 ¥67,387 ¥177,642

The fair value of investment property is determined based on a valuation conducted by an external real estate appraiser. The valuation is 

made in accordance with the appraisal of the country where the investment property is located and based on market evidence of transaction 

prices for similar assets.
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(3) Income and Expenses from Investment Property
The rental income from investment property and direct operating expenses for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Rental income ¥8,616 ¥4,395
Direct operating expenses 4,563 3,476

(4) Impairment Losses
The grouping of investment properties for impairment test is based 

on the smallest cash-generating unit that independently generates 

cash inflow. Idle properties are grouped individually.

The Group recognized impairment losses of ¥1,773 million for the 

year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥1,866 million for the year ended 

March 31, 2012 in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in 

the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment losses recognized in the year ended March 31, 2011 

represent the difference of the recoverable amounts and the carry-

ing amount of the land and buildings as rental or idle properties 

which were decided individually to demolish.

The recoverable amount is calculated based on value in use basis 

(zero) for buildings due to the decision of demolition, and the recov-

erable amount of other properties is calculated by the fair value less 

costs to sell.

Impairment losses recognized for the year ended March 31, 2012 

represent the difference of the recoverable amount and the carrying 

amount of land and buildings as idle properties which were decided 

individually to demolish.

The recoverable amount is calculated based on value in use basis 

(zero) for buildings due to the decision of demolition, and the recov-

erable amount of other properties is calculated by the fair value less 

costs to sell.

18. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

Condensed financial information of associates as of each fiscal year end and for each fiscal year is as follows.

Condensed Financial Information

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Statement of financial position
Total assets ¥203,445 ¥161,903 ¥  147,592 
Tota liabilities 174,061 136,818 124,112 
Total equity 29,385 25,085 23,480 

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Statement of income
Revenue ¥1,470,172 ¥1,415,412 
Expense 1,460,968 1,407,548 
Profit for the year 9,203 7,864 
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19. Income Taxes

(1) Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities
The breakdown and schedule of “Deferred tax assets” and “Deferred tax liabilities” by major causes of their occurrence for each fiscal year 

are as follows:

Deferred Tax Assets

Millions of yen

As of  
April 1, 2010  

Recognized 
in profit 
or loss  

Recognized 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income Other(Note 1)  

As of  
March 31, 2011

Fixed assets(Note 2) ¥ 42,701 ¥ (5,454) ¥ — ¥ (1,154) ¥ 36,093 
Retirement benefits 93,460 (4,666) 21,164 (4,508) 105,451
Carryforward of unused tax losses 45,685 17,301 — (9,045) 53,941
Other 93,428 (5,340) (65) (7,606) 80,418 

Subtotal 275,275 1,841 21,099 (22,313) 275,903
Valuation allowance (73,942) (3,084) (853) 9,002 (68,877)

Total ¥201,333 ¥ (1,243) ¥20,246 ¥(13,310) ¥207,026

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Millions of yen

As of  
April 1, 2010  

Recognized 
in profit 
or loss  

Recognized 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income Other(Note 1)  

As of  
March 31, 2011

Fixed assets(Note 2) ¥(146,407) ¥7,761 ¥ — ¥ 9,295 ¥(129,350)
Retirement benefits (1,965) (918) (546) 1,050 (2,379)
Other (29,509) (883) 4,001 3,970 (22,421)

Total ¥(177,881) ¥5,961 ¥3,455 ¥14,315 ¥(154,150)

Deferred Tax Assets

Millions of yen

As of  
April 1, 2011  

Recognized 
in profit 
or loss  

Recognized 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income Other(Note 1)  

As of  
March 31, 2012

Fixed assets(Note 2) ¥ 36,093 ¥ 7,216 ¥ — ¥  (810) ¥ 42,500
Retirement benefits 105,451 (11,740) 837 (689) 93,859
Carryforward of unused tax losses 53,941 7,572 — (1,783) 59,731 
Other 80,418 (6,122) 10 (1,569) 72,737

Subtotal 275,903 (3,074) 847 (4,850) 268,826 
Valuation allowance (68,877) 3,988 2,256 954 (61,679)

Total ¥207,026 ¥ 914 ¥3,103 ¥(3,896) ¥207,148

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Millions of yen

As of  
April 1, 2011  

Recognized 
in profit 
or loss  

Recognized 
in other 

 comprehensive 
income Other(Note 1)  

As of  
March 31, 2012

Fixed assets(Note 2) ¥(129,350) ¥ 21,491 ¥ — ¥   70 ¥(107,789)
Retirement benefits (2,379) (436) (1,139) 37 (3,917)
Other (22,421) (24,273) (1,628) 2,594 (45,728)

Total ¥(154,150) ¥ (3,217) ¥(2,767) ¥2,701 ¥(157,434)

(Note 1) “Other” includes exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations.
(Note 2) “Fixed assets” includes property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and investment property.
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The deferred tax assets are recognized by taking taxable temporary 

differences, future taxable profits plan and tax planning into account. 

The carryforward of unused tax losses, for which the deferred tax 

assets are not recognized, is ¥33,557 million (including ¥24,140 

million, for which the carryforward expires after five years) as of the 

date of transition, ¥43,274 million (including ¥29,692 million, for 

which the carryforward expires after five years) as of March 31, 

2011, and ¥42,145 million (including ¥35,615 million, for which the 

carryforward expires after five years) as of March 31, 2012. Tax 

credits, for which the deferred tax assets are not recognized, are 

¥798 million (including ¥32 million, for which the carryforward 

expires after five years) as of the date of transition, ¥2,337 million 

(including ¥2,310 million, for which the carryforward expires after 

five years) as of March 31, 2011, and ¥3,228 million (including 

¥2,593 million, for which the carryforward expires after five years) as 

of March 31, 2012.

(2) Income Taxes
The breakdown of “Income taxes” for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Current income taxes ¥141,224 ¥110,493
Deferred income taxes (4,718) 2,303

Total income taxes ¥136,506 ¥112,795

Deferred income taxes are decreased by ¥1,239 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 and are increased by ¥3,021 million for the year 

ended March 31, 2012, respectively due to the effect of changes in tax rates in Japan and other countries.

(3) Reconciliation of the Effective Tax Rate
The breakdown of major items that caused differences between the effective statutory tax rate and the average actual tax rate is as follows:

The Company is subject mainly to corporate tax, inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax for the year ended March 31, 2011 and March 31, 2012. 

The effective statutory tax rate calculated based on these taxes is 40.35%. Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income tax at their locations.

%
2011 2012

Effective statutory tax rate 40.35 40.35 
Different tax rates applied to foreign subsidiaries (10.65) (11.65)
Non-deductible expenses 2.01 1.38 
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries — (7.07)
Uncertain tax position on income taxes 3.71 2.42 
Other 0.02 0.12 

Average actual tax rate 35.43 25.56 

20. Trade and Other Payables

The breakdown of “Trade and other payables” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Note and account payables ¥149,462 ¥170,821 ¥165,427 
Other payables 73,739 67,130 71,736 
Other 78,681 73,836 61,500 

Total ¥301,880 ¥311,787 ¥298,663 

IFRS 9 has been applied from the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011), and trade and other payables are classified 

as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012120



21. Bonds and Borrowings (including Other Financial Liabilities)

(1) Breakdown of Financial Liabilities
The breakdown of “Bonds and borrowings” and “Other financial liabilities” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen %
2010 2011 2012 Average  interest rate(Note 1)  Due

Derivative liabilities ¥  6,990 ¥  2,859 ¥  5,133 — —
Short-term borrowings 109,263 70,060 43,486 5.96 —
Commercial paper 119,000 — — — —
Current portion of long-term borrowings 23,025 21,491 78,219 1.05 —
Current portion of bonds(Note 2) 50,395 126,486 90,061 — —
Long-term borrowings 149,569 152,415 49,277 1.08 2013–2028
Bonds(Note 2) 409,015 325,739 230,473 — —
Other 35,570 20,419 23,900 — —

Total ¥902,828 ¥719,467 ¥520,548 
Current liabilities ¥314,905 ¥226,482 ¥219,805 
Non-current liabilities 587,923 492,985 300,743 

Total ¥902,828 ¥719,467 ¥520,548 

(Note 1) The average interest rate is calculated using the interest rate and outstanding balance as of March 31, 2012.

IFRS 9 has been applied from the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2012 (April 1, 2011), and derivative liabilities are classified as 

financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss excluding those which hedge accounting is applied to, and bonds and borrow-

ings are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

There are no financial covenants that have significant impact on the Group on bonds and borrowings.

(Note 2) Summary of issuing conditions of bonds is as follows:

Millions of yen %

Company Name of bond Date of issuance 2010 2011 2012
Interest 

rate Collateral Date of maturity

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

2nd Domestic 
straight bond

July 24, 2007 ¥ 50,000
(50,000)

¥       — ¥       — 1.34 Yes July 23, 2010

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

3rd Domestic 
straight bond

July 24, 2007 40,000 40,000
(40,000)

— 1.53 Yes July 22, 2011

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

4th Domestic 
straight bond

July 24, 2007 59,997 59,999 59,992
(59,992)

1.68 Yes July 24, 2012

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

5th Domestic 
straight bond

June 3, 2009 100,000 100,000 99,913 1.13 Yes June 3, 2014

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

6th Domestic 
straight bond

December 9, 
2010

— 40,000 40,000 0.53 Yes December 9, 
2015

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

7th Domestic 
straight bond

December 9, 
2010

— 20,000 20,000 0.84 Yes December 8, 
2017

Japan Tobacco 
Inc.

8th Domestic 
straight bond

December 9, 
2010

— 20,000 20,000 1.30 Yes December 9, 
2020

JTI (UK) 
Finance Plc

Straight bond in 
Euros

June 10, 2004 105,829
[EUR 800 mil.]

86,210
(86,210)

[EUR 800 mil.]

— 4.63 Non June 10, 2011

JTI (UK) 
Finance Plc

Straight bond in  
UK Pounds

February 6, 
2003

36,514
[GBP 250 mil.]

31,535
[GBP 250 mil.]

29,919
(29,919)

[GBP 250 mil.]

5.75 Non February 6, 
2013

JTI (UK) 
Finance Plc

Straight bond in 
Euros

October 2, 2006 66,055
[EUR 500 mil.]

53,856
[EUR 500 mil.]

50,359
[EUR 500 mil.]

4.50 Non April 2, 2014

Other bonds 1,015
(395)

626
(276)

350
(150)

Total ¥459,410
(50,395)

¥ 452,225
(126,486)

¥320,534
(90,061)

(Note 1) Figure in parentheses ( ) represents the amount of the current portion of the bond.
(Note 2) Figure in parentheses [ ] represents the amount of the foreign currency-denominated bond.
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(2) Assets Pledged as Collateral for Liabilities
A. Pursuant to the provisions of Article 6 of Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, the Company’s properties are pledged as general collateral for bonds 

issued by the Company. Bondholders are entitled to claim satisfaction in preference to unsecured creditors of the Company properties 

(with the exception of national and local taxes and certain other statutory obligations).

B. Assets pledged as collateral by some subsidiaries and their corresponding debts are as follows:

Assets Pledged as Collateral

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Land, buildings, and structures ¥10,137 ¥10,604 ¥ 9,231 
Machinery and vehicles 2,446 1,268 571 
Other 4,493 996 998 

Total ¥17,076 ¥12,867 ¥10,800 

Corresponding Debts
Millions of yen

2010 2011 2012

Short-term borrowings ¥10,862 ¥1,774 ¥  130 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 1,756 967 901 
Long-term borrowings 5,281 3,487 1,311 
Other 420 620 350 

Total ¥18,319 ¥6,848 ¥2,692 

22. Provisions

The breakdown and schedule of “Provisions” for each fiscal year are as follows:

Millions of yen
Asset 

retirement 
provisions  

Restructuring 
provisions

Provisions for 
sales rebates

Other 
provisions Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥1,449 ¥ 3,212 ¥  2,186 ¥2,730 ¥  9,577
Provisions 14 641 3,458 578 4,691
Interest cost associated with passage of time 16 — — — 16
Provisions used (5) (1,714) (2,142) (131) (3,992)
Provisions reversed (117) (648) (44) (64) (873)
Exchange differences on the translation of  
foreign operations — (413) — (310) (722)

As of March 31, 2011 ¥1,357 ¥ 1,078 ¥  3,458 ¥2,802 ¥  8,696
Current liabilities ¥   25 ¥   651 ¥  3,458 ¥   50 ¥  4,184
Non-current liabilities 1,332 428 — 2,752 4,512

Total ¥1,357 ¥ 1,078 ¥  3,458 ¥2,802 ¥  8,696

Millions of yen
Asset 

retirement 
provisions  

Restructuring 
provisions

Provisions for 
sales rebates

Other 
provisions Total

As of April 1, 2011 ¥1,357 ¥ 1,078 ¥ 3,458 ¥2,802 ¥ 8,696
Provisions 288 4,217 3,938 2,565 11,008
Interest cost associated with passage of time 17 — — — 17
Provisions used (2) (4,406) (3,384) (965) (8,757)
Provisions reversed — (205) (74) (238) (518)
Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations — (67) — (245) (312)

As of March 31, 2012 ¥1,660 ¥ 618 ¥ 3,938 ¥3,919 ¥10,135
Current liabilities ¥    2 ¥ 612  ¥ 3,938 ¥1,135 ¥ 5,686
Non-current liabilities 1,659 6 — 2,784 4,448

Total ¥1,660 ¥ 618 ¥ 3,938 ¥3,919 ¥10,135
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A. Asset Retirement Provisions

In order to settle the obligation of restoring and of removing hazard-

ous substances from plant facilities and premises that the Group 

uses, the probable amount to be paid in the future is recognized 

based on past performances. These expenses are expected to be 

paid	after	one	year	or	more;	however,	they	may	be	affected	by	

future business plans.

B. Restructuring Provisions

These provisions are mainly related to business integration and mea-

sures for the rationalization of international tobacco business. The 

timing of the payment may be affected by future business plans.

C. Provisions for Sales Rebates 

These provisions are for contracts which reward the customers with 

discounts when the sales volume or sales amount in a given period 

exceeds specified volume or amount. They are expected to be paid 

within one year.

23. Other Liabilities

The breakdown of “Other current liabilities” and “Other non-current liabilities” as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Tobacco excise tax payables (Note) ¥212,067 ¥202,234 ¥240,532
Tobacco special excise tax payables (Note) 10,490 8,151 15,052
Tobacco local excise tax payables (Note) 85,238 102,169 191,377
Consumption tax payables 59,691 69,825 83,182
Bonus to employees 37,332 35,219 39,739
Employee’s unused paid vacations liabilities 19,577 18,583 18,560
Other 107,045 121,042 94,509

Total 531,440 557,223 682,952
Current liabilities 433,459 463,088 590,717
Non-current liabilities 97,982 94,135 92,235

Total ¥531,440 ¥557,223 ¥682,952

(Note) Tobacco excise tax payables, tobacco special excise tax payables and tobacco local excise tax payables as of March 31, 2012 include those unpaid due to bank holiday 

at current fiscal year end.

Special termination benefits may be provided to employees on their 

leave before the usual retirement date under certain circumstances.

24. Employee Benefits

(1) Employee Retirement Benefits
The Group sponsors funded/unfunded defined benefit plans and 

defined contribution plans as employee retirement benefit plans. The 

benefits on defined benefit plans are provided based on conditions, 

such as points that employees acquired in compensation for each 

year of service, the payment rate, years of service, average salary in 

their final year of service before retirement and others.
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A. Schedule of Defined Benefit Obligations

The schedule of the defined benefit obligations is as follows:

Millions of yen
Japan  Overseas  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥198,494 ¥292,821 ¥491,315
Current service cost 5,579 4,620 10,200
Interest cost 3,586 14,637 18,223
Contributions by plan participants — 922 922
Actuarial gains and losses 50,592 14,600 65,192
Benefits paid (21,468) (14,346) (35,814)
Past service cost 51 1,398 1,449
Special termination benefits — 13 13
Closure of the plans (curtailment or settlement) (211) (58) (269)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — (39,508) (39,508)
Other (152) 3,008 2,856

As of March 31, 2011 236,471 278,108 514,579
Current service cost 11,455 4,793 16,249
Interest cost 3,878 14,033 17,911
Contributions by plan participants — 1,000 1,000
Actuarial gains and losses 6,445 4,947 11,392
Benefits paid (20,467) (14,058) (34,525)
Past service cost 51 199 250
Special termination benefits — 1,991 1,991
Closure of the plans (curtailment or settlement) — (52) (52)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — (16,355) (16,355)
Other 57 313 370

As of March 31, 2012 ¥237,890 ¥274,918 ¥512,808

B. Schedule of Plan Assets

The schedule of the plan assets is as follows: 

Millions of yen
Japan  Overseas  Total

As of April 1, 2010 ¥100,498 ¥220,812 ¥321,311
Expected return on plan assets 2,489 11,503 13,993
Actuarial gains and losses (524) 8,183 7,659
Contributions by the employer 3,189 7,426 10,615
Contributions by plan participants — 922 922
Benefits paid (9,093) (10,079) (19,172)
Closure of the plans (curtailment or settlement) (83) — (83)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — (28,042) (28,042)
Other (36) — (36)

As of March 31, 2011 96,440 210,726 307,166
Expected return on plan assets 2,366 11,193 13,559
Actuarial gains and losses (1,522) 1,119 (404)
Contributions by the employer 3,424 8,299 11,723
Contributions by plan participants — 1,000 1,000
Benefits paid (8,539) (10,653) (19,193)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — (11,789) (11,789)
Other — 20 20

As of March 31, 2012 ¥ 92,168 ¥209,914 ¥302,082

The Group plans to pay contributions of ¥11,030 million in the year ending March 31, 2013.
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C. Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations and Plan Assets

The reconciliation of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets to the liabilities and assets on retirement benefits recognized in the con-

solidated statement of financial position is follows:

Millions of yen
2010

Japan  Overseas  Total

Funded defined benefit obligations ¥ 112,277 ¥ 224,869 ¥ 337,146
Plan assets (100,498) (220,812) (321,311)

Subtotal 11,778 4,057 15,835
Unfunded defined benefit obligations 86,217 67,952 154,169
Unrecognized past service cost — 169 169
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥  97,995 ¥  72,178 ¥ 170,173

Retirement benefit liabilities ¥  98,034 ¥  77,372 ¥ 175,407
Retirement benefit assets (39) (5,194) (5,234)
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥  97,995 ¥  72,178 ¥ 170,173

Millions of yen
2011

Japan  Overseas  Total

Funded defined benefit obligations ¥106,386 ¥ 213,847 ¥ 320,233
Plan assets (96,440) (210,726) (307,166)

Subtotal 9,946 3,121 13,067
Unfunded defined benefit obligations 130,085 64,261 194,345
Unrecognized past service cost — 158 158
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥140,031 ¥  67,539 ¥ 207,570

Retirement benefit liabilities ¥140,058 ¥  74,282 ¥ 214,339
Retirement benefit assets (27) (6,742) (6,769)
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥140,031 ¥  67,539 ¥ 207,570

Millions of yen
2012

Japan  Overseas  Total

Funded defined benefit obligations ¥107,451 ¥ 208,727 ¥ 316,178
Plan assets (92,168) (209,914) (302,082)

Subtotal 15,283 (1,187) 14,096 
Unfunded defined benefit obligations 130,439 66,191 196,630 
Unrecognized past service cost — 129 129 
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥145,722 ¥ 65,133 ¥ 210,855 

Retirement benefit liabilities ¥145,722 ¥ 79,504 ¥ 225,226 
Retirement benefit assets — (14,371) (14,371)
Net amount of liabilities and assets recognized in consolidated statement of  
financial position ¥145,722 ¥ 65,133 ¥ 210,855 
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D. Major Breakdown of Plan Assets

The breakdown of plan assets by major category as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

%
Japan Overseas

2010 2011 2012 2010 2011 2012

Equities 6.5 29.2 33.4 43.3 43.6 38.9
Bonds 28.6 16.5 21.7 51.1 49.4 50.3
Real estate — — — 1.6 1.9 1.6
General account of life 
insurance companies 38.9 45.4 44.3 — — —

Other 26.0 8.9 0.6 4.0 5.1 9.2
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.00 100.00

%
Total

2010 2011 2012

Equities 31.7 39.1 37.2 
Bonds 44.0 39.1 41.6 
Real estate 1.1 1.3 1.1 
General account of life insurance companies 12.2 14.2 13.5 
Other 11.0 6.3 6.6 

Total 100.0 100.0 100.00

(Note) Specified assumed interest rate and principal for the general account of life insurance companies is guaranteed by the life insurance companies.

The investment strategy for the Group’s major plans is as follows:

(Japan)

The Company’s pension fund is managed in accordance with the 

internal policy for securing the stable profits in middle- and long-term 

in order to ensure the redemption of the plan liability.

Concretely, setting target rate of return and composition ratio of 

plan asset by asset category within the risk tolerance that is annually 

assessed, the Company invests plan assets consistently with the 

composition ratio.

And when reviewing on the composition ratio, the Company 

considers to introducing an asset investment which has high correla-

tion with the discount rate of the liability. In case when an unex-

pected situation occurs in the market environment, it is temporarily 

allowed to make an adjustment on weight of risk assets complying 

with the policy.

(Overseas)

The investment strategy for the foreign subsidiaries’ funded pension 

plans is decided locally by the trustee of the plan or management 

according to local legislation.

The Company’s objective for the foreign subsidiaries’ funded 

pension plans is to achieve a return on assets in excess of the 

movement in the value of the defined benefit obligation, while man-

aging risk relative to the obligation.

Plan assets have significant allocations to liability matching bonds 

and the remaining assets are invested to target long term growth, 

predominantly in equities.
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E. Matters Related for Actuarial Assumptions

The major items of actuarial assumptions for each fiscal year are as follows:

%
2010 2011 2012

Japan  Overseas Domestic  Overseas Domestic  Overseas

Discount rate 1.9 3.0–5.8 1.7 2.8–5.4 1.4 2.5–5.5
Expected long-term return on plan assets 2.5 4.5–6.2 2.5 4.3–5.7 2.5 2.8–4.4
Inflation rate — 1.5–3.6 — 1.8–3.5 — 1.5–3.1

(Note 1) The expected long-term return rate is determined in consideration of the asset mix of the presents and expected plan assets and the present and the expected long-term return rate 
on various assets that comprise the plan assets.

(Note 2) The valuation of defined benefit obligations reflects a judgment on uncertain future events. The sensitivities that changes in major assumptions affect defined benefit obligations as 
of	March	31,	2012	are	as	follows.	Each	of	these	sensitivities	assume	that	other	variables	remain	fixed;	however,	in	fact,	they	do	not	always	change	independently.	Negative	figures	
show the decrease in pension plan obligations, while positive figures show the increase.

Millions of yen
Change in assumptions Domestic  Overseas

Discount rate Increase by 0.5% ¥ (9,438) ¥(17,195)
Decrease by 0.5% 10,153 19,130

Inflation rate Increase by 0.5% — 12,547
Decrease by 0.5% — (11,340)

F. Experience adjustments based on Results of Defined Benefit Obligations and Plan Assets

Experience adjustments based on results of defined benefit obligations and plan assets as of each fiscal year end are as follows:

Millions of yen
2010

Japan  Overseas  Total

Defined benefit obligations ¥ 198,494 ¥ 292,821 ¥ 491,315
Plan assets (100,498) (220,812) (321,311)
Unfunded benefit obligations ¥  97,995 ¥  72,009 ¥ 170,004

Millions of yen
2011

Japan  Overseas  Total

Defined benefit obligations ¥236,471 ¥ 278,108 ¥ 514,579
Plan assets (96,440) (210,726) (307,166)
Unfunded benefit obligations ¥140,031 ¥  67,381 ¥ 207,412
Adjustment based on actual results (Defined benefit obligations) ¥  5,264 ¥  (1,274) ¥   3,990
Adjustment based on actual results (Plan assets) 524 (8,183) (7,659)

Millions of yen
2012

Japan  Overseas  Total

Defined benefit obligations ¥237,890 ¥ 274,918 ¥ 512,808
Plan assets (92,168) (209,914) (302,082)
Unfunded benefit obligations ¥145,722 ¥ 65,004 ¥ 210,726
Adjustment based on actual results (Defined benefit obligations) ¥ (235) ¥  (7,509) ¥  (7,744)
Adjustment based on actual results (Plan assets) 1,522 (1,119) 404

(Note) The experience adjustments are the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred of the actuarial gains and losses 

for each fiscal year.
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G. Profit and Loss Related to Retirement Benefits

The profit and loss related to retirement benefits for each fiscal year are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011

Japan  Overseas  Total

Current service cost ¥ 5,579 ¥ 4,620 ¥ 10,200
Interest cost 3,586 14,637 18,223
Expected return on plan assets (2,489) (11,503) (13,993)
Past service cost recognized in the year 51 1,378 1,428
Special termination benefits — 13 13
Loss or gain on closure of the plans (curtailment or settlement) (127) (58) (185)

Total ¥ 6,599 ¥ 9,087 ¥ 15,686

Actual return on plan assets ¥(1,965) ¥(19,687) ¥(21,652)

Millions of yen
2012

Japan  Overseas  Total

Current service cost ¥11,455 ¥ 4,793 ¥ 16,249
Interest cost 3,878 14,033 17,911
Expected return on plan assets (2,366) (11,193) (13,559)
Past service cost recognized in the year 51 179 231
Special termination benefits — 1,991 1,991
Loss or gain on closure of the plans (curtailment or settlement) — (52) (52)

Total ¥13,018 ¥ 9,752 ¥ 22,770

Actual return on plan assets ¥ (843) ¥(12,312) ¥(13,155)

(Note 1) Net amount of interest cost and the expected return on plan assets are included in “Financial costs.” Other expenses are included in “Cost of sale” and “Selling, general and 
administrative expenses.”

(Note 2) The cost of the required contributions to the defined contribution pension plans is ¥5,813 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥5,506 million for the year ended March 31, 
2012. This cost is not included in the above.

(2) Obligation of Mutual Pension Benefits
The Company is obligated to bear pension costs for a mutual assistance association incurred with respect to the costs in or before June 1956 

(prior to enforcement of the Act on the Mutual Aid Association of Public Corporation Employees). Such obligations are recognized as liabilities 

at their present value using the actuarial valuation method and included in retirement benefit liabilities.

A. Schedule of Mutual Pension Benefits Obligations 

The schedule of mutual pension benefits obligations is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥109,595 ¥97,577 
Interest cost 1,206 1,171
Actuarial gains and losses (3,309) 583
Benefits paid (9,915) (9,536)
Balance at the end of the year ¥ 97,577 ¥89,794 

(Note) Interest cost is included and presented in “Financial costs.”

B. Matters Related to Actuarial Assumptions

The actuarial assumptions for each fiscal year are as follows:

%
2010 2011 2012

Discount rate 1.1 1.2 0.8

(Note) The valuation of obligation of mutual pension benefits reflects a judgment on future uncertain events. The sensitivities of mutual pension benefits obligations due to 

changes in major assumptions are as follows. Negative figures show the decrease in obligation of mutual pension benefits, while positive figures show the increase.

Millions of yen
Change in assumptions Effect of the change

Discount rate Increase by 0.5% ¥(2,863)
Decrease by 0.5% 2,963
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25. Equity and Other Equity Items

(1) Share Capital and Capital Surplus
A. Authorized Shares

The number of authorized shares is 40,000,000 ordinary shares on the date of transition, as of March 31, 2011 and 2012.

B. Fully Paid Issued Shares 

The schedule in the number of issued shares and share capital as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Share Millions of yen
Number of 

ordinary  
issued shares  Share capital  Capital surplus

Date of transition (As of April 1, 2010) 10,000,000 ¥100,000 ¥736,407
Increase (Decrease) — — 3

Fiscal year 2011 (As of March 31, 2011) 10,000,000 100,000 736,410
Increase (Decrease) — — —

Fiscal year 2012 (As of March 31, 2012) 10,000,000 ¥100,000 ¥736,410

(Note) The shares issued by the Company are non-par value ordinary share that has no restriction on any content of rights.

(2) Treasury Shares
The schedule in the number of treasury shares and its amount as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Share Millions of yen
Number of 

shares  Amount

Date of transition (As of April 1, 2010) 419,903 ¥74,575
Increase (Decrease) 58,623 19,999

Fiscal year 2011 (As of March 31, 2011) 478,526 94,574
Increase (Decrease) — —

Fiscal year 2012 (As of March 31, 2012) 478,526 ¥ 94,574

(Note 1) The Company adopts share option plans and utilize treasury shares for delivery of shares due to its exercise. Contract conditions and amount are described in ‘’34 Share-Based 
Payment.”

(Note 2) The number of treasury shares purchased based on the resolution made by the Board of Directors is 58,630 shares for the year ended March 31, 2011. Total purchased cost is ¥20,000 
million for the year ended March 31, 2011. The number of transferred shares from the exercise of subscription rights to shares is 7 shares for the year ended March 31, 2011.

(3) Schedule of Actuarial Gains and Losses included in “Other comprehensive income” in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income

Actuarial gains and losses included in “Other comprehensive income” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Balance at the beginning of the year (cumulative total) ¥       — ¥(34,461)
Accrued during the year (34,461) (10,669)
Balance at the end of the year (cumulative total) ¥(34,461) ¥(45,131)

(4) Other Employee Benefits Expense
The employee benefits expense other than employees’ retirement benefits and mutual pension benefits that are included in the consolidated 

statement of income for each fiscal year are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Remuneration and salary ¥218,823 ¥213,412
Bonus to employees 58,838 62,590
Legal welfare expenses 37,051 37,075
Welfare expenses 21,971 22,194
Termination benefits 3,189 3,270
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(3) Other Components of Equity
A. Subscription rights to shares

The Company adopts share option plans and issues subscription 

rights to shares based on the Companies Act. Contract conditions 

and amount, etc., are described in ‘’34. Share-based Payment.’’

B. Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

This is a foreign currency translation difference that occurred when 

consolidating financial statements of foreign subsidiaries prepared in 

foreign currency.

C. Net gain (loss) on derivatives designated as  

cash flow hedges

The Company uses derivatives for hedge to avoid the risk of fluctua-

tion in future cash flow. This is the effective portion in changes in 

fair value of derivative transactions designated as cash flow hedges.

D Net gain (loss) on revaluation of available-for-sale securities

This is the valuation difference of the fair value for available-for-sale 

securities (Japanese GAAP).

E. Net gain (loss) on revaluation of financial assets measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income

This is the valuation difference of the fair value for financial assets 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

F. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit retirement plans

Actuarial gains (losses) are the effects of differences between the 

actuarial assumptions at the beginning of the year and what has 

actually occurred, and the effects of changes in actuarial assump-

tions. Actuarial gains (losses) are fully recognized when occurred as 

other comprehensive income and are transferred immediately from 

other components of equity to retained earnings.

26. Dividends

Dividends paid for each fiscal year are as follows:

2011
Millions of yen Yen

Class of shares  Total dividends  Dividends per share  Basis date  Effective date

(Resolution)
Annual Shareholders Meeting 
(June 24, 2010) Ordinary shares ¥28,740 ¥3,000 March 31, 2010 June 25, 2010

Board of Directors 
(October 28, 2010) Ordinary shares 26,824 2,800 September 30, 2010 December 1, 2010

2012
Millions of yen Yen

Class of shares  Total dividends  Dividends per share  Basis date  Effective date

(Resolution)
Annual Shareholders Meeting 
(June 24, 2011) Ordinary shares ¥38,086 ¥4,000 March 31, 2011 June 27, 2011

Board of Directors 
(October 31, 2011) Ordinary shares 38,086 4,000 September 30, 2011 December 1, 2011

Dividends, for which effective date falls in the following fiscal year, are as follows:

2011
Millions of yen Yen

Class of shares  Total dividends  Dividends per share  Basis date  Effective date

(Resolution)
Annual Shareholders Meeting 
(June 24, 2011) Ordinary shares ¥38,086 ¥4,000 March 31, 2011 June 27, 2011

2012
Millions of yen Yen

Class of shares  Total dividends  Dividends per share  Basis date  Effective date

(Resolution)
Annual Shareholders Meeting 
(June 22, 2012) Ordinary shares ¥57,129 ¥6,000 March 31, 2012 June 25, 2012
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27. Revenue

The reconciliation from “Gross turnover” to “Revenue” for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Gross turnover ¥ 6,212,235 ¥ 6,610,757 
Tobacco excise taxes and agency transaction amount (4,152,870) (4,576,932)
Revenue ¥ 2,059,365 ¥ 2,033,825 

The tobacco excise taxes and other transactions in which the Group is involved as an agency are excluded from revenue. The inflow of economic 

benefits after deducting the tobacco excise taxes and other transactions is presented as “Revenue” in the consolidated statement of income. 

Gross turnover is an item that the Group discloses voluntarily and is not “Revenue” defined by IFRS.

28. Other Operating Income

The breakdown of “Other operating income” for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties (Note 1, 2) ¥12,150 ¥30,134 
Other (Note 2) 8,481 18,378 

Total ¥20,630 ¥48,512 

(Note 1) Mainly from sales of old factory site, warehouse and company housing.
(Note 2) The amount of restructuring income included in each account is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties ¥11,063 ¥29,368
Other 190 564

Total ¥11,254 ¥29,932

29. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The breakdown of “Selling, general and administrative expenses” for each fiscal year is as follows.

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Advertising expenses ¥ 21,356 ¥ 21,530
Promotion expenses 131,456 128,007
Shipping, warehousing expenses 28,044 27,920
Commission 42,215 40,963
Employee benefits expenses(Note 3) 231,241 235,060
Research and development expenses(Note 1) 48,866 51,461
Depreciation and amortization 61,686 58,550
Impairment losses on other than financial assets(Note 3) 6,181 7,013
Regulatory fine in Canada(Note 2) 12,843 —
Loss on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and investment property (Note 3) 10,036 11,454
Cooperation fee for terminating leaf tobacco farming — 12,469
Other (Note 3) 133,219 138,743

Total ¥727,144 ¥733,169

(Note 1) All research and development expenses are included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses.”
(Note 2) On April 13, 2010, JTI-Macdonald Corp. (JTI-Mac), the Company’s Canadian consolidated subsidiary, entered into a comprehensive agreement with the Government of Canada and 

all provinces and territories to establish a cooperation mechanism in combating cigarette smuggling and contraband. In addition, JTI-Mac pleaded to a regulatory offense for its 
involvement in the illicit trade of cigarettes prior to the Company’s acquisition of non-U.S. tobacco operations of RJR Nabisco Inc. and paid CAD150 million.

(Note 3) The amount of restructuring costs included in each account is the following.
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Millions of yen
2011 2012

Employee benefits expenses ¥ 3,202 ¥ 4,651
Impairment losses on other than financial assets 4,413 5,837
Loss on sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and investment property 3,601 3,342
Other 2,704 222

Total ¥13,920 ¥14,052

30. Financial Income and Financial Costs

The breakdown of “Financial income” and “Financial costs” for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
Financial Income 2011

Dividend income ¥1,496
Interest income 2,174
Gain on sale of securities 

Equity securities 4,502
Other 539

Foreign exchange gain(Note 1) 798
Other 361

Total ¥9,870

Millions of yen
Financial Costs 2011

Interest expenses(Note 2) ¥17,087
Loss on sale of securities

Equity securities 729
Other 128

Loss on valuation of securities 953
Employee benefits expenses(Note 3) 5,435
Other 1,617

Total ¥25,949

(Note 1) Valuation gain (loss) of currency derivatives is included in foreign exchange gain.
(Note 2) Valuation gain (loss) of interest rate derivatives is included in interest expenses.
(Note 3) Employee benefits expenses are the net amount of interest cost and the expected return on plan assets related to employee benefits.

Millions of yen
Financial Income 2012

Dividend income
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income ¥1,280

Interest income
Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Cash and deposits, and bonds 2,366
Other 1,958

Total ¥5,603
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Millions of yen
Financial Costs 2012

Interest expenses
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Bonds and borrowings(Note 2) ¥13,962 
Other 415 

Foreign exchange losses(Note 1) 2,738 
Employee benefits expenses(Note 3) 5,523 
Other 791 

Total ¥23,429 

(Note 1) Valuation gain (loss) of currency derivatives is included in the foreign exchange loss.
(Note 2) Valuation gain (loss) of interest rate derivatives is included in interest expenses.
(Note 3) The employee benefits expenses are the net amount of interest cost and the expected return on plan assets related to employee benefits.

31. Other Comprehensive Income

Amount arising during year, reclassification adjustments and tax effects for each component of “Other comprehensive income” for each fiscal 

year are as follows.

Millions of yen
2011

Amount 
arising 

Reclassification 
adjustments

Before  
tax effects Tax effects

Net of  
tax effects

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ¥(256,784) ¥    — ¥(256,784) ¥    — ¥(256,784)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of available-for-sale securities (7,148) (3,249) (10,397) 3,939 (6,458)
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit retirement plans (54,223) — (54,223) 19,762 (34,461)

Total ¥(318,155) ¥(3,249) ¥(321,404) ¥23,701 ¥(297,703)

Millions of yen
2012

Amount 
arising  

Reclassification 
adjustments  

Before  
tax effects  Tax effects  

Net of  
tax effects

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ¥(130,331) ¥ — ¥(130,331) ¥ — ¥(130,331)
Net gain (loss) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (556) 317 (239) 73 (166)
Net gain (loss) on change in fair value of financial assets  
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 6,248 — 6,248 (1,498) 4,750

Actual gains (losses) on defined benefit retirement plans (12,379) — (12,379) 1,709 (10,669)
Total ¥(137,017) ¥317 ¥(136,700) ¥ 284 ¥(136,416)

32. Earnings per Share

(1) Basis of Calculating Basic Earnings per Share
A. Profit Attributable to Ordinary Shareholders of the Parent Company

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Profit attributable to owners of the parent company ¥243,315 ¥320,883
Profit not attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent company — —
Profit used for calculation of basic earnings per share ¥243,315 ¥320,883

B. Weighted-Average Number of Ordinary Shares Outstanding During the Year
Thousands of 

shares
2011 2012

Weighted-average number of shares during the year 9,574 9,521

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012 133

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L IN

FO
R

M
A

T
IO

N



(2) Basis of Calculating Diluted Earnings per Share
A. Profit Attributable to Owners of Diluted Ordinary Shareholders 

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Profit used for calculation of basic earnings per share ¥243,315 ¥320,883
Adjustment — —
Profit used for calculation of diluted earnings per share ¥243,315 ¥320,883

B. Weighted-Average Number of Diluted Ordinary Shares Outstanding During the Year

Thousands of 
shares

2011 2012

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares during the year 9,574 9,521
Increased number of ordinary shares under subscription rights to share 3 4
Weighted-average number of diluted ordinary shares during the year 9,577 9,525

(3) Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Share 
Millions of yen

2011 2012

Profit used for calculation of adjusted diluted earnings per share ¥  243,315 ¥  320,883 
Impairment losses on goodwill 87 —
Restructuring-related income (11,254) (29,932)
Restructuring-related costs 13,920 29,039 
Adjustments on income taxes and non-controlling interests 2,005 2,025 
Adjustments on income taxes related to loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries — (31,207)

Adjusted profit for the year ¥  248,073 ¥  290,808 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (yen) ¥25,903.94 ¥30,530.39 

33. Non-cash Transactions

Important Non-cash Transactions

The amount of assets acquired under finance leases is ¥3,573 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥2,977 million for the year 

ended March 31, 2012, respectively.

34. Share-Based Payment

The Company adopts share option plans. Share options are granted 

by the resolution of the Board of Directors based on the approval at 

the Annual Shareholders Meeting.

The outline of the share option plan is as follows.

(1) Share Option Contract Conditions
Positions of persons granted :  Directors and Executive 

Officers

Settlement : Issuance of share

Effective period of granted share option :  30 years after the date of 

grant

Vesting conditions : None

Conditions related to the exercise of share options are as follows:

(a) The subscription rights to shares become exercisable when a 

holder of a subscription right to shares no longer holds a position 

as a director, a  corporate auditor, or an executive officer.

 In the subscription rights to shares allocation contract with 

 holders of such rights, it is provided for that the rights become 

exercisable from the date following the date on which one year 

has elapsed after leaving their positions (however, the rights 

become exercisable even within one year after leaving their 

positions only in the case where the Board of Directors find it to 

be unavoidable).

(b) In the case where any holders of subscription rights to shares 

waive such rights, they cannot exercise them.
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(2) Changes in the Number of Share Options
Share

2011 2012

Directors
Executive 

Officers Total Directors
Executive 

Officers Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,003 1,106 2,109 1,524 1,557 3,081
Granted 521 458 979 514 524 1,038
Exercised — (7) (7) — — —
Transfer — — — (163) 163 —
Balance at the end of the year 1,524 1,557 3,081 1,875  2,244 4,119
Exercisable balance at the end of the year — 283 283 — 430 430

(Note 1) The number of share options is presented as the number of underlying shares.
(Note 2) All share options are granted with the exercise price of ¥1.
(Note 3)  Share options were granted to 9 directors and 14 executive officers for the year ended March 31, 2011, and 8 directors and 15 executive officers for the year ended March 31, 

2012. And “Transfer” included in Changes in the Number of Share Options represents the number of share options for persons granted whose management position is changed 
during the year.

(Note 4) The weighted-average fair value of share options granted during the year is ¥198,386 for the year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥277,947 for the year ended March 31, 2012.
(Note 5)  The weighted-average share price of share options at the time of exercise during the period is ¥278,200 for the year ended March 31, 2011, and no share options were exercised 

for the year ended March 31, 2012.
(Note 6)  The weighted-average remaining contract year of unexercised share options at the end of the year is 28.3 years for the year ended March 31, 2011 and 27.8 years for the year 

ended March 31, 2012.

(3) Method of Measuring Fair Value of Share Options Granted During the Year
A. Valuation Model

Black-Scholes Model

B. Main Assumptions and Estimation

2011 2012

Share price ¥270,600 ¥367,000
Volatility of share price(Note 1) 34.4% 35.5%
Estimated remaining period(Note 2) 15 years 15 years
Estimated dividends(Note 3) ¥5,600/share ¥6,800/share

Risk free interest rate(Note 4) 1.41% 1.48%

(Note 1) Calculated based on share prices quoted for the period on and after the listing date of October 27, 1994.
(Note 2) With difficulty in reasonable estimation due to insufficient data, the remaining period is estimated based on the assumption that share option rights would be exercised at a midpoint 

of exercise period.
(Note 3) Based on the latest dividends paid. Prior year dividend record doesn’t include commemorative dividends of ¥200.
(Note 4) The yield of government bonds for a period of the expected remaining period.

(4) Share-Based Payment Expenses
The cost for share options included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of income is ¥203 million 

for the year ended March 31, 2011 and ¥265 million for the year ended March 31, 2012.

35. Financial Instruments

In accordance with the exemption from retrospective application set 

forth in IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 pursuant to IFRS 1, previous accounting 

principles (Japanese GAAP) are applied on the date of transition and 

for the year ended March 31, 2011. IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 are applied 

for the year ended March 31, 2012.

(1) Capital Management
The Group aims to maximize our corporate value through medium to 

long term sustainable growth.

In order to achieve the sustainable growth, we understand finan-

cial capacities should be maintained to make investments, through 

internal business investment or the acquisition of external resources, 

in an appropriate and prompt manner without missing investment 

opportunities, when there are opportunities for business growth, 

including business investments or the acquisition of external 

resources. For that reason, we aim to maintain a well-balanced 

capital structure by ensuring sound and flexible financial conditions 

for future investment as well as an appropriate return on equity.

JAPAN TOBACCO INC. Annual Report 2012 135

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L IN

FO
R

M
A

T
IO

N



The Group manages net interest-bearing debt, where cash and cash equivalents are deducted from interest-bearing debt, and capital (the 

part attributable to the owners of the parent company). The amounts as of each year end are as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Interest-bearing debt ¥  875,423 ¥  709,087 ¥  502,368 
Cash and cash equivalents (154,369) (244,240) (404,740)
Net interest-bearing debt 721,054 464,847 97,628 
Capital (equity attributable to owners of the parent company) 1,654,683 1,525,145 1,634,050 

There are specific rules for shares of the Company under the 

Japan Tobacco Inc. Act as follows.

The Japanese government shall hold more than one-third of all of 

the shares issued by the Company (excluding the type of shares, for 

which it is stipulated that voting rights may not be exercised on any 

matters that can be resolved by Annual Shareholders Meeting) 

(Article 2 (1)).

In cases where the Company intends to solicit persons to sub-

scribe for shares to be issued or subscription rights to shares or 

where the Company intends to deliver shares (excluding treasury 

shares), subscription rights to shares (excluding subscription right to 

own shares) or bonds with subscription right to shares (excluding 

bonds with subscription rights to shares) when exchanging with 

shares, the Company shall obtain the approval of the Minister of 

Finance (Article 2 (2)).

Disposal of shares owned by the Japanese government shall be 

within the limits on the number of shares decided by the Diet in the 

relevant annual budget (Article 3 (1)).

The Group monitors financial indicators in order to maintain a 

well-balanced capital structure by ensuring sound and flexible finan-

cial conditions for future investment as well as an appropriate return 

on equity. We monitor credit ratings for financial soundness and 

flexibility, and ROE (return on equity) for profitability, while focusing 

on changes in the domestic and overseas environment.

(2) Financial Risk Management
The Group is exposed to financial risks (credit risks, liquidity risks, 

foreign exchange risks, interest rate risks, and market price fluctua-

tion	risks)	in	the	process	of	its	management	activities;	and	it	man-

ages risks based on a specific policy in order to avoid or reduce said 

risks. The results of risk management are quarterly reported by the 

treasury division to the Executive Committee of the Company.

The Group policy limits derivatives to transactions for the pur-

pose for mitigating risks from transactions based on actual demand. 

Therefore, we do not transact derivatives for speculation purposes 

or trading purposes.

(3) Credit Risk
Receivables, such as note and account receivables, acquired from 

the operating activities of the Group are exposed to customer 

credit risk.

The Group holds mainly debt securities for surplus investment 

and equity securities of customers and suppliers to strengthen 

relationships	with	them;	those	securities	are	exposed	to	the	issuer’s	

credit risk.

In addition, derivative transactions that the Group conducts in 

order to hedge foreign exchange fluctuation risks and interest rate 

fluctuation risks, we are exposed to the credit risk of the financial 

institutions which are counterparties to these transactions.

In principle, the Group sets credit lines or transaction conditions 

with respect to trade receivables for major counterparties based on 

the Credit Management Guidelines in order to prevent the credit risk 

of counterparties from arising. In addition, the receivables balance of 

each customer is checked daily to reduce risk of default by custom-

ers. The Treasury Division of the Company regularly monitors the 

status of the occurrence and collection of bad debts, and reports 

them to the Executive Committee of the Company. There is no 

overconcentrated credit risks for a single customer.

With regard to the investment of cash surpluses and derivatives, 

the Group invests in debt securities and other financial instruments 

with a certain credit rating and transact with financial institutions 

with a high credit rating in principle in order to prevent credit risks 

from occurring and based on Group Financial Operation Basic Policy. 

In addition, the Treasury Division of the Company regularly monitors 

the performances of these transactions and reports the results to 

the Executive Committee of the Company.

The maximum exposure pertaining to credit risks for financial 

assets is the carrying amount after considering impairment in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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The analysis of the age of financial assets that are past due but not impaired as of the fiscal year end date is as follows:

The financial assets include amounts considered recoverable by credit insurance and collateral.

Millions of yen
2012

Amount past 
due

Total Within 30 days  
Over 30 days, 
within 60 days  

Over 60 days, 
within 90 days  Over 90 days

Trade and other receivables ¥2,635 ¥2,376 ¥60 ¥ 8 ¥191
Other financial assets 285 — — — 285

The Group reviews collectability of trade receivables depending on the credit conditions of counterparties and recognized allowance for 

doubtful accounts. The schedule of the allowance of doubtful accounts is as follows:

Millions of yen
2012

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥26,322
Addition 514
Decrease (intended use) (8,795)
Decrease (reversal) (2,120)
Other (55)
Balance at the end of the year ¥15,866 

(4) Liquidity Risk
The Group raises funds by borrowings, commercial paper and 

bonds;	however,	these	liabilities	are	exposed	to	the	liquidity	risk	that	

we would not be able to repay liabilities on the due date due to the 

deterioration of the financing environment.

In accordance with Group Financial Operation Basic Policy, the 

Group establishes a finance plan based on the annual business plan 

and the Treasury Division of the Company regularly monitors and 

collects information on the balance of liquidity-in-hand and interest-

bearing debt and reports it to the Executive Committee of the 

Company. In addition, the Group keeps necessary credit  facilities to 

manage liquidity risk by having commitment lines with several 

financial institutions.

The financial liability balance (including derivative financial instruments) by maturity as of each fiscal year end is as follows:

Millions of yen
2010

Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Due within 
one year  

Due after 
one year 
through 

two years  

Due after 
two years 

through 
three years  

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years  

Due after 
four years 

through  
five years  

Due after 
five years

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities
Trade and other payables ¥  301,880 ¥  301,880 ¥301,880 ¥       — ¥       — ¥     — ¥        — ¥  —
Short-term borrowings 109,263 109,263 109,263 — — — — —
Commercial paper 119,000 119,000 119,000 — — — — —
Current portion of  
long-term borrowings 23,025 23,025 23,025 — — — — —

Long-term borrowings 149,569 149,569 — 22,204 104,107 20,928 1,801 530
Current portion of bonds 50,395 50,300 50,300 — — — — —
Bonds 409,015 409,086 — 146,030 96,756 100 166,200 —

Total ¥1,162,148 ¥1,162,124 ¥603,469 ¥168,234 ¥200,863 ¥21,028 ¥168,001 ¥530
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Millions of yen
2011

Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Due within 
one year  

Due after 
one year 
through 

two years  

Due after 
two years 

through 
three years  

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years  

Due after 
four years 

through  
five years  

Due after 
five years

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities
Trade and other payables ¥  311,787 ¥  311,787 ¥311,787 ¥        — ¥       — ¥        — ¥       — ¥       —
Short-term borrowings 70,060 70,060 70,060 — — — — —
Current portion of  
long-term borrowings 21,491 21,491 21,491 — — — — —

Long-term borrowings 152,415 152,415 — 99,378 20,893 1,693 30,035 416
Current portion of bonds 126,486 126,480 126,480 — — — — —
Bonds 325,739 325,808 — 91,726 100 153,981 40,000 40,000

Total ¥1,007,977 ¥1,008,039 ¥529,817 ¥191,104 ¥20,993 ¥155,674 ¥70,035 ¥40,416

Millions of yen
2012

Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Due within 
one year  

Due after 
one year 
through 

two years  

Due after 
two years 

through 
three years  

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years  

Due after 
four years 

through  
five years  

Due after 
five years

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities
Trade and other payables ¥298,663 ¥298,663 ¥298,663 ¥    — ¥     — ¥    — ¥ — ¥     —
Short-term borrowings 43,486 43,486 43,486 — — — — —
Current portion of  
long-term borrowings 78,219 78,219 78,219 — — — — —

Long-term borrowings 49,277 49,277 — 20,593 1,103 27,158 23 401 
Current portion of bonds 90,061 90,109 90,109 — — — — —
Bonds 230,473 230,583 — 100 150,483 40,000 — 40,000 
Subtotal 790,179 790,337 510,477 20,693 151,586 67,158 23 40,401

Derivative financial liabilities 
(Note)
Foreign exchange forward 
contract 1,630 1,630 1,630 — — — — —

Interest rate swap 152 152 48 38 37 28 — —
Cross currency swap 3,350 2,472 (47) (94) (200) 2,813 — —
Subtotal 5,133 4,254 1,632 (56) (163) 2,841 — —

Total ¥795,311 ¥794,591 ¥512,109 ¥20,637 ¥151,423 ¥69,998 ¥23 ¥40,401 

(Note) Figure in parentheses ( ) represents the amount of the cash receipt.

The total of commitment lines and withdrawal as of March 31, 2012 are as follows:

Millions of yen
2012

Total committed line of credit ¥513,525 
Withdrawing 76,933 

Unused balance ¥436,592 
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(5) Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group operates businesses globally and, therefore, is exposed 

to the following risks due to foreign exchange fluctuation:

(i) The risk where the profit or loss and cash flow in each functional 

currency of the Group is influenced by foreign exchange fluctua-

tion as the result of external transactions and intergroup transac-

tions, including the payment and receipt of dividends, in currencies 

that are different from each functional currency of the Group.

(ii) The risk that the equity of the Group is influenced by foreign 

exchange fluctuation when equity denominated in each func-

tional currency of the Group are translated into Japanese yen and 

consolidated.

(iii) The risk that the profit or loss of the Group is influenced by 

foreign exchange fluctuation when profit or loss denominated in 

each functional currency of the Group is translated into Japanese 

yen and consolidated.

The Group hedges against risk (i) using derivatives or foreign 

currency-denominated interest-bearing debts when future cash flow 

is projected or when receivables and payables are fixed. The Group 

hedges against risk (ii) using foreign currency-denominated interest-

bearing debts and part of them are designated as net investment 

hedges. The Group does not hedge against risk (iii) in principle.

In order to mitigate risks mentioned above resulting from the 

foreign exchange fluctuation, in accordance with Group Financial 

Operation Basic Policy, the Group establishes a foreign currency 

hedge policy based on the current conditions and forecast of the 

foreign exchange market, implement the aforementioned hedges 

under the supervision of the Financial Risk Management 

Committee of the Company, and the Treasury Division of the 

Company regularly reports the performances to the Executive 

Committee of the Company.

The breakdown of currency derivatives are as follows:

Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Contract 
amount

Over  
one year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over  
one year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over  
one year Fair value

Foreign exchange 
forward contract
Buying ¥296,523 ¥2,894 ¥ 654 ¥204,216 ¥    — ¥ 2,945 ¥ 87,143 ¥— ¥(1,227)
Selling 133,768 2,416 (490) 85,173 — (1,238) 35,091 — 350

Currency swap
Buying 59,712 — (123) — — — — — —
Selling 2,260 2,260 (460) 1,782 1,782 (82) — — —

Currency option
Buying — — — 6,112 — 121 — — —

Total ¥492,262 ¥7,570 ¥(419) ¥297,283 ¥1,782 ¥ 1,745 ¥122,235 ¥— ¥  (877)

Foreign currency-denominated bonds and borrowings are designated as hedging instruments for consolidated subsidiaries in order to 

reduce fluctuation risk of foreign currency translation differences that are incurred by translating net investment in foreign operations into the 

reporting currency.

Bonds and borrowings that are designated as hedging instruments are as follows:

Millions of yen
2012

Carrying 
amount Due

Bonds in Euros ¥50,359 2014
Borrowings in Euros 13,226 2012
Borrowings in UK Pounds 48,592 2012
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Foreign Exchange Sensitivity Analysis

In cases where each currency other than the functional currency that 

denominates the financial instruments held by the Group as of 

March 31, 2012 increases by 10% in value against the functional 

currency, the impact on profit before income taxes in the consolidated 

statement of income is as follows:

The impact from the translation of functional currency- 

denominated financial instruments, and assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses of foreign operations into Japanese yen is not 

included. Also, it is based on the assumption that currencies other 

than the currencies used for the calculation do not fluctuate.

Millions of yen
2012

Profit before income taxes ¥1,178

(6) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk with the Group arises from interest-bearing debts 

after deducting cash equivalents. Borrowings and bonds with floating 

rates are exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk.

In accordance with Group Financial Operation Basic Policy, the 

Group establishes an  interest rate hedging policy based on the cur-

rent condition and the forecast of the interest rates to reduce the 

interest rate fluctuation risk related to borrowings and bonds, imple-

ment the hedges using derivatives under the supervision of the 

Financial Risk Management Committee of the Company and the 

Treasury Division of the Company regularly reports the performances 

to the Executive Committee of the Company.

The descriptions of interest rate derivatives are as follows:

(i) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Contract 
amount

Over one 
year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over one 
year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over one 
year Fair value

Interest rate swap 
Fixed rate receipt and 
floating rate payment ¥ 36,606 ¥36,606 ¥2,297 ¥31,576 ¥31,576 ¥2,192 ¥29,959 ¥    — ¥1,187 

Floating rate receipt 
and fixed rate 
payment — — — — — — 1,814 1,814 (150)

Interest rate cap 
Buying 297,744 36,606 161 31,576 31,576 14 29,959 — 0 

Total ¥334,351 ¥73,213 ¥2,458 ¥63,153 ¥63,153 ¥2,205 ¥61,732 ¥1,814 ¥1,037 

(ii) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied
Millions of yen

2010 2011 2012
Contract 
amount

Over one 
year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over one 
year Fair value

Contract 
amount

Over one 
year

Fair  
value(Note 2)

Interest rate swap 
Floating rate receipt 
and fixed rate 
payment ¥1,137 ¥437 (Note 1) ¥   357 ¥   198 (Note 1) ¥   198 ¥    58 ¥    (2)

Cross currency swap
Floating rate receipt 
and fixed rate 
payment — — — 30,000 30,000 (Note 1) 30,000 30,000 (3,350)
Total ¥1,137 ¥437 — ¥30,357 ¥30,198 — ¥30,198 ¥30,058 ¥(3,352)

(Note 1) The previous accounting principles (Japanese GAAP) were applied on the date of transition and for the year ended March 31, 2011 and they were accounted for as integrated into 
the long-term borrowings hedged. Therefore, the fair value is included in that of long-term borrowings.

(Note 2) Recognized at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position by application of cash flow hedge.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

In cases where the interest rate of financial instruments held by the 

Group as of March 31, 2012 increase by 100bp, the impact on profit 

before income taxes in the consolidated statement of income is as 

follows:

The analysis is subject to financial instruments affected by inter-

est rate fluctuation and based on the assumption that other factors, 

including the impacts of foreign exchange fluctuation, are constant.

Millions of yen
2012

Profit before income taxes ¥1,061

(7) Market Price Fluctuation Risk
With respect to securities, the Group regularly assesses the fair 

value and financial  conditions of the issuers, and each relevant 

department reviews the portfolio held by taking into account the 

relationship with counterparty  entities as necessary.

(8) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amount and fair value of financial instruments as of each fiscal year end are as follows:

Millions of yen
2010 2011 2012

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Long-term borrowings (Note) ¥172,594 ¥173,733 ¥173,906 ¥174,302 ¥127,496 ¥127,844
Bonds (Note) 459,410 474,273 452,225 462,476 320,534 328,767

(Note) Current portion is included.

With regard to short-term financial assets and short-term financial 

liabilities measured at amortized cost, their fair value approximates 

the carrying amount.

The fair value of long-term borrowings is calculated based on the 

present value which is obtained by discounting the total of the prin-

cipal and interest by the interest rate assumed in a case where the 

same loan is newly made.

The fair value of bonds issued by the Group is based on the 

market price for those having market prices, and based on the pres-

ent value that is obtained by discounting the total of principal and 

interest by the interest rate, for which the remaining period and 

credit risk of such bonds are taken into consideration.

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is categorized as follows from Level 1 to Level 3:

Level 1: Fair value measured at the quoted price in the active market

Level 2: Fair value that is calculated using the observable price other than categorized in Level 1 directly or indirectly

Level 3: Fair value that is calculated based on valuation techniques which include input that is not based on observable market data

Millions of yen
2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative assets ¥ — ¥ 1,941 ¥ — ¥ 1,941 
Equity securities 35,712 — 3,394 39,106 
Other 71 — 945 1,016 

Total ¥35,783 ¥ 1,941 ¥4,339 ¥42,063 
Derivative liabilities ¥ — ¥ 5,133 ¥ — ¥ 5,133 

Total ¥ — ¥ 5,133 ¥ — ¥ 5,133 
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The schedule in financial instruments that are classified in Level 3 is as follows:

Millions of yen
2012

Balance at the beginning of the year ¥4,530 
Total gain (loss)

Profit or loss (Note 1) (337)
Other comprehensive income (Note 2) 333 

Purchases 20 
Sales (206)
Balance at the end of the year ¥4,339 

(Note 1) Gains and losses included in profit or loss for the year ended March 31, 2012 are related to financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss as of the fiscal year end 
date. These gains and losses are included in “Financial income” and “Financial costs.”

(Note 2) Gains and losses included in other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2012 are related to financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income as of the fiscal year end date. These gains and losses are included in “Net gain (loss) on revaluation of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.”

36. Related Parties

Based on the Japan Tobacco Inc. Act, the Japanese government 

shall hold more than one-third of all of the shares issued by the 

Company (excluding the type of shares, for which it is stipulated that 

voting rights may not be exercised on any matters that can be 

resolved by Annual Shareholders Meeting). As of March 31, 2012, 

the Japanese government held 50.01% of all outstanding shares of 

the Company.

(1) Related-Party Transactions
Related-party transactions are conducted under the same conditions as regular business transactions.

(2) Remuneration for Directors and Corporate Auditors
Remuneration for executive officers for each fiscal year is as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Remuneration and bonuses ¥703 ¥762
Share-based payments 108 133

Total ¥811 ¥895

37. Commitments

(1) Commitments for the Acquisition of Assets
Commitments for the acquisition of assets after fiscal year end date are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ¥34,655 ¥32,541
Acquisition of intangible assets 859 8,183

Total ¥35,514 ¥40,724

(2) Procurement of Domestic Leaf Tobacco
With regard to the procurement of domestic leaf tobacco by the 

Company, based on the Tobacco Business Act, the Company enters 

into the purchase contracts with domestic leaf tobacco growers 

every year, and the contracts provide to determine the area under 

cultivation by type of tobacco and the prices by type and quality of 

tobacco leaf. Under the contracts the Company is obligated to pur-

chase all domestic leaf tobacco produced pursuant to such con-

tracts, except for any domestic leaf tobacco not suited for the 

manufacture of tobacco products
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38. Losses on the Great East Japan Earthquake

Losses on the Great East Japan Earthquake that are recognized in the consolidated statement of income for each fiscal year are as follows:

Millions of yen
2011 2012

Losses on the Great East Japan Earthquake ¥10,918 ¥15,048

Losses on the Great East Japan Earthquake for the year ended 

March 31, 2011 include loss on destruction of property, plant and 

equipment and restoration costs, as well as loss on destruction of 

inventories. 

Losses on the Great East Japan Earthquake for the year ended 

March 31, 2012 include loss on disposal of inventories and fixed 

costs incurred from the shutdown.

39. Contingencies

Contingent Liabilities
The Company and some of its subsidiaries are defendants in law-

suits. Provision is not accounted for in case it’s not practicable to 

reasonably estimate the final results of them.

The Group believes that our allegation on these lawsuits are 

based on substantial evidence and implement the system for the 

response to action liaising with the external lawyers.

1. SMOKING AND HEALTH RELATED LITIGATION

The Company and some of its subsidiaries become defendants in 

lawsuits filed by plaintiffs seeking damages for harm allegedly 

caused by smoking, the marketing of tobacco products, or exposure 

to tobacco smoke. As of March 31, 2012, there were a total of 25 

smoking and health related cases pending in which one or more 

members of the Group were named as defendant or for which the 

Company may have certain indemnity obligations pursuant to the 

agreement for the Company’s acquisition of RJR Nabisco Inc.’s 

overseas (non-U.S.) tobacco operations. 

The major ongoing smoking and health related cases are as follows:

a. Individual Claim

There is 1 individual case brought against the Company’s indemnitee 

in South Africa.

South Africa Individual Claim (Joselowitz): The individual claim 

was brought against the Company’s indemnitee in South Africa in 

October 2000. Plaintiff sought compensatory and punitive damages, 

alleging that the Company’s indemnitee marketed products which it 

knew to be dangerous to health, manipulated nicotine content to 

foster addiction, failed to comply with South African labeling require-

ments and participated in a clandestine worldwide operation to 

encourage children to smoke. This case has been dormant since 

February 2001.

In addition, there are 8 individual cases (some of which are 

stayed pending a ruling in one of the eight cases) brought against 

the Company’s subsidiary in Ireland, and 2 individual cases brought 

against the Company in Japan.

b. Class Actions

There are 8 ongoing class actions in Canada and 1 in Israel pending 

against the Company’s subsidiaries and/or the Company’s indemnitees.

Canada Quebec Class Action (Cecilia Letourneau): The class 

action was brought in September 1998, against the three Canadian 

tobacco manufacturers including JTI-Macdonald Corp. (hereinafter 

referred to as “JTI-Mac”), the Company’s Canadian subsidiary. 

Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory and punitive damages for class 

members, for a total amount of approximately ¥1,468.9 billion (CAD 

17.8 billion) (joint and several liability with co-defendants). The class 

was certified by the court in February 2005. The trial commenced in 

March 2012. The defendants filed a third-party claim against the 

Government of Canada seeking contribution and indemnity on the 

grounds that the Canadian government was highly involved in the 

tobacco industry in respect of smoking and health related matters.

Canada Quebec Class Action (Conseil Québécois sur le tabac et 

la santé):  The class action was brought in November 1998, against 

the three Canadian tobacco manufacturers including JTI-Mac. 

Plaintiffs are seeking compensatory and punitive damages for class 

members for a total amount approximately ¥420.9 billion (CAD 5.1 

billion) (joint and several liability with co-defendants). The class was 

certified by the court in February 2005. The trial commenced in 

Other than above losses, reversal of provision for losses esti-

mated for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 (¥1,811 million) , 

and, insurance claim received (¥5,081 million) covering loss on dis-

posal of property, plant and equipment, restoration costs and loss on 

destruction of inventories are recognized in “Other operating 

income” in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended 

March 31, 2012.
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March 2012. The defendants filed a third-party claim against the 

Government of Canada seeking contribution and indemnity on the 

grounds that the Canadian government was highly involved in the 

tobacco industry in respect of smoking and health matters.

Canada Saskatchewan Class Action (Adams): The class action 

was brought against tobacco industry members including JTI-Mac 

and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009. Plaintiffs are seeking 

unspecified compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of class 

members who allege to be or have been addicted to the nicotine 

contained in cigarettes manufactured by the defendants. The pre-

liminary motions are pending as the case has been dormant.

Canada Manitoba Class Action (Kunta): The class action was 

brought against tobacco industry members including JTI-Mac and 

the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009. Plaintiffs are seeking 

unspecified compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of class 

members who allege to be or have been addicted to the nicotine 

contained in cigarettes manufactured by the defendants. The state-

ment of claim was served on the Company’s indemnitees but not on 

JTI-Mac. The class action is currently dormant.

Canada Nova Scotia Class Action (Semple): The class action was 

brought against tobacco industry members including JTI-Mac and 

the Company’s indemnitees in June 2009. Plaintiffs are seeking 

unspecified compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of class 

members who allege to be or have been addicted to the nicotine 

contained in cigarettes manufactured by the defendants. The state-

ment of claim was served on the Company’s indemnitees but not on 

JTI-Mac. The class action is currently dormant.

Canada Alberta Class Action (Dorion): The class action was 

brought against tobacco industry members including JTI-Mac and 

the Company’s indemnitees in July 2009. Plaintiffs are seeking 

unspecified compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of class 

members who allege to be or have been addicted to the nicotine 

contained in cigarettes manufactured by the defendants. The state-

ment of claim was served on the Company’s indemnitees but not on 

JTI-Mac. The Company’s indemnitees are challenging the validity of 

service. The class action is currently dormant.

Canada British Columbia Class Action (Bourassa): The class 

action was brought against tobacco industry members including 

JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2010. Plaintiffs are 

seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive damages for class 

members. The preliminary motions are pending as the case is cur-

rently dormant.

Canada British Columbia Class Action (McDermid): The class 

action was brought against tobacco industry members including 

JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees in June 2010. Plaintiff is 

seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive damages for class 

members. The preliminary motions are pending as the case is cur-

rently dormant.

Israel Class Action (Navon): The class action was brought against 

tobacco industry members, including JT International AG 

Dagmersellen, the Company’s Swiss subsidiary, in December 2004. 

Plaintiffs allege that the defendants’ use of the “lights” descriptor is 

misleading, fraudulent and in breach of the Consumer Protection Act 

and seeks compensatory, emotional and punitive damages for their 

own economic losses and for those of all “lights” smokers in Israel. 

The case is currently stayed pending a ruling on class certification in 

another “lights” case ongoing in Israel to which none of the Group 

companies nor the Company’s indemnitees is a party.

c. Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation

There are 4 ongoing health-care cost recovery cases in Canada 

pending against JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees brought by 

the Provinces of British Columbia, New Brunswick, Ontario and 

Newfoundland and Labrador. These provinces filed lawsuits under 

their own provincial legislation which was enacted exclusively for 

the purpose of authorizing the provincial government to file a direct 

action against tobacco manufacturers to recoup the health-care 

costs the government has incurred and will incur, resulting from 

“tobacco related wrongs.”

Canada British Columbia Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation: 

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

British Columbia in January 2001 against tobacco industry members 

including JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees based on its 

provincial legislation, the “Tobacco Damages and Health-Care Costs 

Recovery Act.” The claim amount is unspecified. In 2001, several 

defendants challenged the legislation’s constitutionality and the 

challenge was ultimately rejected by the Supreme Court of Canada 

in September 2005. The action remains pending in the first instance. 

The defendants further filed a third-party claim against the 

Government of Canada seeking contribution and indemnity on the 

grounds that the Canadian government was highly involved in the 

tobacco industry in respect of smoking and health related matters. 

In July 2011, the Supreme Court of Canada ultimately dismissed the 

defendants’ third-party claim. The pre-trial discovery process is ongo-

ing, and the trial date is not yet scheduled.
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Canada New Brunswick Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation: 

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

New Brunswick in March 2008 against tobacco industry members 

including JTI-Mac and the Company’s indemnitees based on the 

legislation similar to that introduced in the Province of British 

Columbia. The claim amount is unspecified. The pre-trial discovery 

process is ongoing, and the trial date is not yet scheduled.

Canada Ontario Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation: The health-

care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of Ontario in 

September 2009 against tobacco industry members including JTI-

Mac and the Company’s indemnitees based on the legislation similar 

to that introduced in the Province of British Columbia. The statement 

of claim in this case contains allegations of joint and several liabilities 

among all the defendants but does not specify any individual amount 

or percentages, within the total amount of the claim ¥4,126.0 billion 

(CAD 50.0 billion). The pre-trial discovery process is ongoing, and the 

trial date is not yet scheduled.

Canada Newfoundland and Labrador Health-Care Cost Recovery 

Litigation: The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the 

Province of Newfoundland and Labrador in February 2011 against 

tobacco industry members including JTI-Mac and the Company’s 

indemnitees based on the legislation similar to that introduced in the 

Province of British Columbia. The claim amount is unspecified. The 

pre-trial process is ongoing, and the trial date is not yet scheduled.

In addition, there is 1 ongoing health-care cost recovery case 

pending against the Company’s subsidiaries in Spain.

2. OTHER LITIGATION

The Company and some of its subsidiaries are also named as 

defendants to other litigations such as commercial disputes, and 

tax disputes. 

Major ongoing cases are as follows:

Commercial Litigation

Japan Compensatory Damages Claim: In November 2008, 

Zhoushan Katoka Foods/Zhoushan Gangming Foods (hereinafter 

referred to as “Zhoushan Foods”) and their parent company, 

Zhejiang Haishi Industrial Group Co., Ltd. filed a claim against the 

Company’s food business subsidiary in Japan, the former Katokichi 

Co., Ltd. (renamed as TableMark Co., Ltd. after the acquisition by 

the Company). Zhejiang Haishi Industrial Group Co., Ltd. is not cur-

rently a party to this case. Plaintiff alleges that the defendant negli-

gently failed to take measures to avoid Zhoushan Foods’ default 

when the defendant transferred its stake in Zhoushan Foods to a 

third party resulting in default on bank loan due to change of control 

and is seeking compensatory damages including loss of profit and 

incidental damages allegedly incurred by the plaintiff. District court 

rendered in favor of defendant, and this case is currently pending at 

the appellate court.

Japan Compensatory Damages Claim: In February 2010, a former 

President & CEO of Katokichi Co., Ltd. (renamed as TableMark Co., 

Ltd. after the acquisition by the Company) filed a claim against 

TableMark Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary seeking damages allegedly 

incurred by the plaintiff from an asset purchase agreement between 

the plaintiff and Katokichi Co., Ltd and a joint and several guarantee 

provided by the plaintiff. The plaintiff argues the invalidity of the 

asset purchase agreement.

(Note) The amount of damages sought denominated in foreign currencies is trans-

lated into Japanese yen at the rates of 31 March 2012.

40. Subsequent Event

1. Share Split
The Company has announced the Board of Directors’ resolution, 

held April 13, 2012, concerning share split, adoption of share unit 

system and associated partial amendment to the articles of incorpo-

ration as follows. 

(1) Purpose of share split and adoption of share unit system

For the purpose of enlarging the Company’s investor base by further 

improving the environment to invest in our shares through reduction 

of the investment unit amount of the Company’s shares, the deci-

sion has been made to split the share at the ratio of 1:200 or 200 

shares to one share.

Further, in parallel with the share split, the Company will adopt 

the share unit system, which sets a share trading unit to 100 shares, 

in line with the Japanese Stock Exchanges Conference’s decision to 

designate a trading unit to either 100 shares or 1,000 shares by April 

1, 2014. As a result of the share split and adoption of the share unit 

system, the investment unit amount of the Company’s shares will 

be one-half or 1/2. 
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(2) Overview of the stock split 

a. Method of the split 

Shares of ordinary share held by shareholders listed or recognized in the final registry of shareholders as of the record date of Saturday, June 

30, 2012 will be split at a ratio of 200 shares to one share. 

b. Increase in shares resulting from the stock split 

Total number of shares issued prior to the share split: 10,000,000 shares 

Number of shares to be increased resulting from the share split: 1,990,000,000 shares 

Total number of shares issued following the share split: 2,000,000,000 shares 

c. Schedule 

Public notice of the record date: Thursday, May 31, 2012 

Record date: Saturday, June 30, 2012 

Effective date: Sunday, July 1, 2012 

(3) Adoption of the share unit system 

a. Size of the newly established share unit 

Contingent on the afore-mentioned share split coming into effect, the Company will adopt the share unit system, setting the size of a share 

unit at 100 shares. 

b. Schedule 

Effective date: Sunday, July 1, 2012 

Assuming the share split coming into effect at the beginning of the year ended March 31, 2011 (April 1, 2010) and the year ended March 31, 

2012 (April 1, 2011) , earnings per share for each fiscal year is as follows:

Yen
2011 2012

Basic earnings per share ¥127.07 ¥168.50
Diluted earnings per share 127.04 168.44
Adjusted diluted earnings per share 129.52 152.65

2. Acquisition of Shares
The Group has concluded an acquisition agreement for all outstand-

ing shares of Gryson NV headquartered in Belgium (hereinafter 

referred to as “Gryson”) which operates tobacco manufacturing and 

sales business of the Roll Your Own (“RYO”) and Make Your Own 

(“MYO”) in European countries and others with GT&Co BVBA on 

May 24, 2012. The acquisition of Gryson offers an attractive oppor-

tunity to enhance our presence in the growing and profitable RYO/

MYO market in Europe, and capitalization on Gryson’s well-managed, 

innovative and successful business and their expertise.

The transaction to acquire Gryson’s and its related companies’ 

share is valued (Note 1) at EUR 475 million (approximately ¥47,400 

million) (Note 2). The Group expects to complete the acquisition 

within the year ending March 31, 2013.

(Note 1) Interest-bearing debt and cash are not included in the estimation.

(Note 2) Translated at the rate of ¥99.89 per EUR.

3. Legal Matter
Subsequent to March 31, 2012 , the following health-care cost 

recovery litigations were filed.

JTI-Mac has not yet been served in the litigations filed by the 

Provinces of Alberta, Manitoba and Saskatchewan.

Canada Quebec Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

Quebec on June 8, 2012 against tobacco industry members includ-

ing JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees. The Province of 

Quebec is seeking recoupment of the health-care costs that the 

province has incurred and will incur, resulting from tobacco related 

diseases, for a total amount of CAD 60.7 billion (approximately 

¥4,690.0 billion (Note)) (joint and several liability with co-defendants) 

without specifying any individual amount or percentages for indi-

vidual defendant.
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41. First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

The consolidated financial statements under IFRS are disclosed for 

the first time for the year ended March 31, 2012. The most recent 

consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 

Japanese GAAP are those for the year ended March 31, 2011. The 

date of transition is April 1, 2010.

Reconciliations that are required to be disclosed under the first-

time adoption of IFRS are as follows:

Items that do not influence retained earnings and comprehensive 

income are included in “Reclassification” of the reconciliation, and 

items that influence retained earnings and comprehensive income 

are included in “Differences in recognition and measurement.”

Canada Alberta Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

Alberta on June 8, 2012 against tobacco industry members including 

JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees. The Province of Alberta is 

seeking recoupment of the health-care costs that the province has 

incurred and will incur, resulting from tobacco related diseases, for a 

total amount of at least CAD 10.0 billion (approximately ¥770.0 

billion (Note)) (joint and several liability with co-defendants) without 

specifying any individual amount or percentages for individual 

defendant.

Canada Manitoba Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

Manitoba on May 31, 2012 against tobacco industry members 

including JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees. The Province of 

Manitoba is seeking recoupment of the health-care costs that the 

province has incurred and will incur, resulting from tobacco related 

diseases. The claim amount is unspecified.

Canada Saskatchewan Health-Care Cost Recovery Litigation:

The health-care cost recovery litigation was filed by the Province of 

Saskatchewan on June 8, 2012 against tobacco industry members 

including JTI-Mac and the Company's indemnitees. The Province of 

Saskatchewan is seeking recoupment of the health-care costs that 

the province has incurred and will incur, resulting from tobacco 

related diseases. The claim amount is unspecified.

(Note) Translated at the rate of ¥77.43 per CAD.
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Reconciliation of equity as of April 1, 2010 (the date of transition to IFRS)

Millions of yen

Accounts under Japanese GAAP
Japanese 

GAAP Reclassification

Differences in 
recognition and 

measurement IFRS Notes Accounts under IFRS

Assets Assets
Current assets Current assets

Cash and Deposits ¥  155,444 ¥ (1,075) ¥     — ¥  154,369 (7) Cash and cash equivalents
Note and account 
receivables—trade

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (current assets)

293,262 15,847 (1,019) 308,091 (1), (7) Trade and other receivables

Merchandise and  
finished goods

Semifinished goods
Work in progress
Raw materials and supplies

555,100 (19,221) (3,931) 531,948 (1), (7) Inventories

Securities 11,950 9,678 — 21,629 (7) Other financial assets
Other (current assets) 153,471 (6,362) (25) 147,084 (7) Other current assets
Deferred tax assets  
(current assets) 26,615 (26,615) — — (7)

Total current assets 1,195,843 (27,749) (4,975) 1,163,120 Subtotal

— 1,406 (40) 1,366 (2), (7)
Non-current assets 
held-for-sale

1,195,843 (26,342) (5,015) 1,164,486 Total current assets

Non-current assets Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 679,561 (60,669) 29,688 648,580 (2), (7) Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill 1,387,397 — 747 1,388,144 (2) Goodwill
Trademark 381,667 12,912 111 394,690 (2), (7) Intangible assets
Other(intangible fixed assets) — 60,374 20,714 81,087 (2), (7) Investment property

— 23,391 (18,157) 5,234 (3), (7) Retirement benefit assets

— 23,311 — 23,311 (7)
Investments accounted for 
using the equity method

Investment securities
Other (investments and other 
assets) 142,751 (59,591) 342 83,502 (7) Other financial assets

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (investments and  
other assets)

Deferred tax assets 
 (investments and  
other assets) 85,376 26,615 10,116 122,107 (7) Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets 2,676,753 26,342 43,560 2,746,655 Total non-current assets
Total assets ¥3,872,596 ¥     — ¥  38,546 ¥3,911,142 Total assets
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Millions of yen

Accounts under Japanese GAAP
Japanese 

GAAP Reclassification

Differences in 
recognition and 

measurement IFRS Notes Accounts under IFRS

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities Liabilities

Current liabilities Current liabilities
Note and account 
payables—trade

Account payables—other ¥  223,201 ¥ 77,859 ¥     821 ¥  301,880 (7) Trade and other payables
Short-term loan payables
Commercial paper
Current portion of bonds
Current portion of long-term 
loan payables

301,683 — — 301,683 Bonds and borrowings

Income tax payables 54,058 — — 54,058 Income tax payables
— 12,484 737 13,221 (7) Other financial liabilities

Provisions (current liabilities) 39,610 (35,623) (39) 3,948 (7) Provisions
Lease obligations
Tobacco tax payables
Tobacco special tax payables
Tobacco local tax payables
Consumption tax payables
Other (current liabilities)

480,626 (60,223) 13,056 433,459 (4), (7) Other current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities  
(current liabilities) 2,357 (2,357) — — (7)

Total current liabilities 1,101,535 (7,861) 14,576 1,108,250 Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities
Bonds
Long-term loans payable 558,584 — — 558,584 Bonds and borrowings

— 28,984 355 29,339 (7) Other financial liabilities
Provision for retirement 
benefits 251,902 20,672 12,427 285,002 (3), (7) Retirement benefit liabilities

Provision for directors’ 
 retirement benefits 764 3,440 1,424 5,628 (7) Provisions

Lease obligations
Other (non-current liabilities)

141,954 (47,593) 3,620 97,982 (4), (7) Other non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 
 (non-current liabilities) 94,578 2,357 1,720 98,655 (7) Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 1,047,782 7,861 19,547 1,075,190 Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities 2,149,318 — 34,122 2,183,440 Total liabilities

Net assets Equity
Capital stock 100,000 — — 100,000 Share capital
Capital surplus 736,407 — — 736,407 Capital surplus
Treasury stock (74,575) — — (74,575) Treasury shares
Valuation and translation 
adjustments

Subscription rights to shares (422,822) — 435,431 12,609 (3), (5) Other components of equity
Retained earnings 1,310,670 — (430,427) 880,243 (6) Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Valuation and translation 
adjustments

Subscription rights to shares

1,649,679 — 5,004 1,654,683
Equity attributable to owners 
of the parent company

Minority interests 73,599 — (580) 73,019 Non-controlling interests
Total net assets 1,723,278 — 4,423 1,727,702 Total equity

Total liabilities and net assets ¥3,872,596 ¥      — ¥  38,546 ¥3,911,142 Total liabilities and equity
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Notes on Reconciliation (April 1, 2010)

(1) Adjustment to Trade Receivables and Inventories
Under Japanese GAAP the Group recognized income for certain sale 

of	goods	at	the	time	of	shipping;	however,	under	IFRS	the	Group	

recognizes such income at the time of delivery of goods to custom-

ers.	Sales	promotion	goods	in	supplies	under	Japanese	GAAP;	how-

ever, they do not meet the definition of assets under IFRS. 

Therefore, adjustments are made to retained earnings.

(2) Adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment; 
Goodwill; Intangible Assets; Investment Property; 
and Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale

With regard to the depreciation method of property, plant and equip-

ment (excluding leased assets), the Group mainly adopted the 

declining-balance	method	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	the	

Group has adopted the straight-line method under IFRS. With regard 

to assets acquired for advertising and general publicity, and for sales 

promotions, and gains and losses arising from exchange transactions 

that have commercial substance, adjustments are made to retained 

earnings. Based on the provisions of IFRS 3, the carrying amount of 

certain goodwill under Japanese GAAP is adjusted retrospectively.

(3) Adjustment to Employee Retirement Benefits and 
Mutual Pension Benefits

With regard to actuarial gains or losses, under Japanese GAAP the 

Group amortized them from the following year in which they 

occurred, over certain years determined based on the employee’s 

average remaining service period. Under IFRS, the Group fully recog-

nizes the actuarial gains or losses when occurred in other compre-

hensive income and immediately transfers them to retained 

earnings. Retirement benefit liabilities are recalculated in accordance 

with IFRS. Adjustments for the gain or loss that occurred due to the 

periodic allocation method of retirement benefit obligations are 

made to retained earnings. With regard to actuarial gains or losses 

on retirement benefits, recognized in net assets by foreign subsidiar-

ies that adopted U.S. GAAP previously, they are transferred to 

retained earnings under IFRS.

(4) Adjustment to Unused Paid Vacations
The Group recognizes unused paid vacation, which was not required 

under Japanese GAAP, in liabilities under IFRS and the adjustments 

are made to retained earnings.

(5) Adjustment to Other Components of Equity
The Group applied the exemption prescribed in IFRS 1 and 

t ransferred all of cumulative exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operation to retained earnings on the date of transition April 

1, 2010.

(6) Adjustment to Retained Earnings
Millions of yen

2010

Adjustment to Trade Receivables and Inventories (refer to (1)) ¥  (4,151)
Adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment, and Intangible Assets (refer to (2)) 48,938
Adjustment to Employee Retirement Benefits and Mutual Pension Benefits (refer to (3)) (30,722)
Adjustment to Unused Paid Vacation (refer to (4)) (15,170)
Adjustment to Other Components of Equity (refer to (5)) (435,431)
Other 4,517

Subtotal (432,018)
Adjustment of tax effects 1,011
Adjustment of Non-controlling interests 580
Adjustment to retained earnings ¥(430,427)

(7) Reclassification
In addition to the above, the Group makes reclassifications to 

comply with provisions of IFRS. The major reclassifications are  

as follows:

•	All	current	portions	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	

liabilities are reclassified to non-current portions.

•	“Investment	property”	and	“Non-current	assets	held-for-sale”	

are presented separately in accordance with IFRS.

•	Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	presented	separately	

in accordance with IFRS.

•	“Provisions”	and	“Retirement	benefit	liabilities”	are		partially	

reclassified based on the definitions and requirements under 

IFRS.
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Reconciliation of equity as of March 31, 2011 (the date of latest consolidated financial statements under Japanese GAAP)

Millions of yen

Accounts under Japanese GAAP
Japanese 

GAAP Reclassification

Differences in 
recognition and 

measurement IFRS Notes Accounts under IFRS

Assets Assets
Current assets Current assets

Cash and Deposits ¥  117,458 ¥ 126,782 ¥      — ¥  244,240 (8) Cash and cash equivalents
Note and account 
receivables—trade

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (current assets) 299,048 11,903 252 311,202 (1), (8) Trade and other receivables

Merchandise and finished 
goods

Semifinished goods
Work in progress
Raw materials and supplies

513,858 (21,161) (4,088) 488,609 (1), (8) Inventories

Securities 159,098 (121,749) — 37,349 (8) Other financial assets
Other (current assets) 133,684 4,226 — 137,910 (8) Other current assets
Deferred tax assets  
(current assets) 24,675 (24,675) — — (8)

Total current assets 1,247,821 (24,675) (3,836) 1,219,310 Subtotal
— 20,930 18,623 39,553 (2), (8) Non-current assets held-for-sale

1,247,821 (3,745) 14,787 1,258,863 Total current assets

Non-current assets Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 663,551 (55,025) 30,799 639,324 (2), (8) Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill 1,147,816 — 28,298 1,176,114 (3) Goodwill
Trademark
Other (intangible  
non-current assets)

313,671 12,512 4,011 330,194 (2), (8) Intangible assets

— 34,080 2,396 36,477 (2), (8) Investment property
— 22,807 (16,038) 6,769 (4), (8) Retirement benefit assets

— 19,072 — 19,072 (8)
Investments accounted for 
using the equity method

Investment securities
Other (investments and other 
assets)

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (investments and  
other assets)

116,741 (54,378) 298 62,661 (8) Other financial assets

Deferred tax assets  
(investments and other 
assets) 82,329 24,675 18,723 125,726 (8) Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets 2,324,107 3,745 68,486 2,396,338 Total non-current assets

Total assets ¥3,571,928 ¥      — ¥83,273 ¥3,655,201 Total assets
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Millions of yen

Accounts under Japanese GAAP
Japanese 

GAAP Reclassification

Differences in 
recognition and 

measurement IFRS Notes Accounts under IFRS

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities Liabilities

Current liabilities Current liabilities
Note and account 
payable—trade

Account payables—other
¥  237,950 ¥ 73,837 ¥      — ¥  311,787 (8) Trade and other payables

Short-term loan payables
Commercial paper
Current portion of bonds
Current portion of long-term 
loan payables

218,037 — — 218,037 Bonds and borrowings

Income tax payables 65,651 — — 65,651 Income tax payables
— 8,268 178 8,446 (8) Other financial liabilities

Provisions (current liabilities) 38,778 (34,543) (50) 4,184 (8) Provisions
Lease obligations
Tobacco tax payables
Tobacco special tax payables
Tobacco local tax payables
Consumption tax payables
Other (current liabilities)

500,717 (50,804) 13,174 463,088 (5), (8) Other current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities  
(current liabilities) 2,241 (2,241) — — (8)

Total current liabilities 1,063,374 (5,484) 13,302 1,071,192 Subtotal

— 6,297 — 6,297 (8)
Liabilities directly associated with 
non-current assets held-for-sale

1,063,374 814 13,302 1,077,490 Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities
Bonds
Long-term loans payable 478,154 — — 478,154 Bonds and borrowings

— 14,654 177 14,832 (8) Other financial liabilities
Provision for retirement 
benefits 231,601 21,967 58,348 311,917 (4), (8) Retirement benefit liabilities

Provision for directors’  
retirement benefits 376 4,136 — 4,512 (8) Provisions

Lease obligations
Other (non-current liabilities) 134,590 (43,813) 3,358 94,135 (5), (8) Other non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities  
(non-current liabilities) 72,630 2,241 (2,021) 72,850 (8) Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 917,351 (814) 59,863 976,400 Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities 1,980,725 — 73,165 2,053,889 Total liabilities

Net assets Equity
Capital stock 100,000 — — 100,000 Share capital
Capital surplus 736,410 — — 736,410 Capital surplus
Treasury stock (94,574) — — (94,574) Treasury shares
Other cumulative 
 comprehensive income

Subscription rights to shares (626,969) — 376,224 (250,745) (4)(6) Other components of equity
Retained earnings 1,400,189 — (366,135) 1,034,054 (7) Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Other cumulative  
comprehensive income 

Subscription right to shares

1,515,056 — 10,089 1,525,145
Equity attributable to owners of 
the parent company

Minority interests 76,147 — 19 76,166 Non-controlling interests
Total net assets 1,591,203 — 10,109 1,601,311 Total equity

Total liabilities and net assets ¥3,571,928 ¥      — ¥  83,273 ¥3,655,201 Total liabilities and equity
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Notes on Reconciliation (March 31, 2011)

(1) Adjustment to Trade Receivables and Inventories
Under Japanese GAAP the Group recognized income for sale of 

goods	at	the	time	of		shipping;	however,	under	IFRS	the	Group	rec-

ognizes such income at the time of delivery of goods. The Group 

recognized goods mainly for sales promotions in supplies under 

Japanese	GAAP;	however,	they	do	not	meet	the	definition	of	assets	

under IFRS. Therefore, adjustments are made to retained earnings.

(2) Adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment; 
Goodwill; Intangible Assets; Investment Property; 
and Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale

With regard to the depreciation method of property, plant and 

equipment (excluding leased assets), the Group mainly adopted the 

declining-balance	method	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	the	

Group has adopted the straight-line method under IFRS. With 

regard to assets acquired for advertising and general publicity, and 

for sales promotions, and gains and losses arising from exchange 

transactions that have commercial substance, adjustments are 

made to retained earnings.

(3) Adjustment to Amortization of Goodwill
Under Japanese GAAP, the Group estimated substantially the amor-

tization	period	and	goodwill	was	amortized	over	the	years	estimated;	

 however, since amortization after the date of transition is suspended, 

the adjustments are made to retained earnings under IFRS.

(4) Adjustment to Employee Retirement Benefits and 
Mutual Pension Benefits

With regard to actuarial gains or losses, under Japanese GAAP the 

Group amortized them from the following year in which they 

occurred, allocating the amounts over certain years determined 

based on the employee’s average remaining service period. Under 

IFRS, the Group fully recognizes the actuarial gains or losses when 

occurred in other comprehensive income and immediately transfers 

them to retained earnings. Retirement benefit liabilities are recalcu-

lated based on the provisions of IFRS. Adjustments for the gain or 

loss that occurred due to periodic allocation method of retirement 

benefit obligations are made to retained earnings. With regard to 

actuarial gains or losses on retirement benefits, recognized in net 

assets by foreign subsidiaries that adopted U.S. GAAP previously, 

they are transferred to retained earnings under IFRS.

(5) Reconciliation to Unused Paid Vacations
The Group recognizes unused paid vacation, for which accounting 

treatment was not required under Japanese GAAP, as liabilities 

under IFRS and adjustments are made to retained earnings.

(6) Adjustment to Other Components of Equity
The Group applied the exemptions prescribed in IFRS 1 and trans-

ferred all cumulative exchange differences on translation of foreigh 

operation to retained earnings on the date of transition April 1, 2010.

(7) Adjustment to Retained Earnings
Millions of yen

2011

Adjustment to Trade Receivables and Inventories (refer to (1)) ¥  (3,579)
Adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment, and Intangible Assets (refer to (2)) 55,479
Adjustment to Amortization of Goodwill (refer to (3)) 91,097
Adjustment to Employee Retirement Benefits and Mutual Pension Benefits (refer to (4)) (25,310)
Adjustments to Unused Paid Vacation (refer to (5)) (14,838)
Adjustments to Other Components of Equity (refer to (6)) (469,668)
Other 5,428
Subtotal (361,391)
Adjustment of tax effects (4,549)
Adjustment of Non-controlling Interests (195)
Adjustment to Retained Earnings ¥(366,135)

(8) Reclassification
In addition to the above, the Group makes reclassification to comply 

with the provisions of IFRS. Major reclassifications are as follows:

•	All	of	the	current	portions	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	

tax liabilities are reclassified as non-current portions.

•	“Investment	property,”	“Non-current	assets	held-for-sale”	and	

“Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held-for-

sale” are presented separately in accordance with IFRS.

•	Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	presented	separately	

in accordance with IFRS

•	“Provisions”	and	“Retirement	benefit	liabilities”	are	partially	

reclassified based on the definitions and requirements under IFRS.
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Adjustment to profit or loss and comprehensive income (Fiscal year ended March 31, 2011)  

(the latest fiscal year of consolidated financial statements prepared under Japanese GAAP)

Millions of yen

Accounts under Japanese GAAP
Japanese 

GAAP Reclassification

Differences in 
recognition and 

measurement IFRS Notes Accounts under IFRS

Consolidated statement of income Consolidated statement of income
Net sales ¥ 6,194,554 ¥(4,135,281) ¥     92 ¥2,059,365 (1) Revenue
Cost of sales (5,074,075) 4,117,153 3,062 (953,860) (1), (2), (3) Cost of sales
Gross profit 1,120,480 (18,129) 3,155 1,105,506 Gross profit

— 21,073 (443) 20,630 (3) Other operating income

— 2,330 — 2,330 (3)

Share of profit in  
investments accounted for 
using the equity method

Selling, general and  
administrative expenses (791,799) (36,951) 101,606 (727,144) (3), (4)

Selling, general and 
 administrative expenses

Operating income 328,681 (31,677) 104,318 401,321 Operating profit

Non-operating income 12,029 (12,029) — — (3)
Non-operating expenses (28,223) 28,223 — — (3)
Extraordinary income 20,601 (20,601) — — (3)
Extraordinary loss (52,590) 52,590 — — (3)

— 9,227 643 9,870 (3) Financial income
— (26,359) 410 (25,949) (3), (5) Financial costs

Income before income taxes 
and minority interests 280,498 (626) 105,371 385,242 Profit before income taxes

Income taxes—current
Income taxes—deferred (130,890) 626 (6,243) (136,506) Income taxes

Net profit for the year before 
minority shareholder profit or 
loss adjustment 149,608 — 99,128 248,736 Profit for the year

Consolidated statement of 
 comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment (196,361) — (60,423) (256,784) (6)

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations

Valuation difference on 
available-for-sale securities (6,458) — — (6,458)

Net gain (loss) on  
revaluation of available-for-
sale securities

Pension liability adjustment (1,216) — (33,245) (34,461) (7)

Actuarial gains (losses) on 
defined benefit retirement 
plans

Total other comprehensive 
income (204,035) — (93,668) (297,703)

Other comprehensive 
income, net of taxes

Comprehensive income ¥    (54,427) ¥         — ¥  5,460 ¥  (48,967)
Comprehensive income (loss) 
for the year
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Notes on Reconciliation (Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended March 31, 2011)

(1) Adjustment to Revenue
The Group included tobacco excise taxes and other transactions 

where the Group was involved as an agency in revenue under 

Japanese	GAAP;	however,	they	are	not	included	in	revenue	under	IFRS.

Certain sales rebates were presented in “Selling, general and 

administrative	expenses”	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	they	are	

presented as a deduction from revenue under IFRS.

The Group recognized income for certain sale of goods at the time 

of	shipping	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	under	IFRS	we	recog-

nize such income at the time of the delivery of goods to customers.

(2) Adjustment to Cost of Sales
The Group included tobacco excise taxes and other transactions 

where the Group was involved as an agency in cost of sales under 

Japanese	GAAP;	however,	they	are	not	included	in	cost	of	sales	

under IFRS.

With regard to the depreciation method of property, plant and 

equipment (excluding leased assets), the Group mainly adopted the 

declining-balance	method	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	it	has	

adopted the straight-line method under IFRS.

The calculation of retirement benefit liabilities under Japanese 

GAAP was recalculated based on the provisions of IFRS. With regard 

to actuarial gains (losses) under Japanese GAAP, the Group amor-

tized them from the following year in which they occurred, over 

certain years determined based on the employee’s average remain-

ing service period. Under IFRS, the Group fully recognizes all of the 

actuarial gains (losses) as other comprehensive income at that time 

of occurrence.

(3) Adjustment to Cost of Sales; Other Operating 
Income; Share of Profit on Investments Accounted 
for Using the Equity Method; Selling, General and 
Administrative Expenses; Financial Income and 
Financial Costs

The Group presented non-operating income, non-operating 

expenses, extraordinary income, and extraordinary loss under 

Japanese GAAP. Under IFRS, the Group presents financial-related 

items as financial income or financial costs and other items as cost 

of sales, other operating income, share of profit on investments 

accounted for using the equity method or “Selling, general and 

administrative expenses.”

(4) Adjustment to Selling, General and  
Administrative Expenses

Sales rebates were presented as “Selling, general and administrative 

expenses”	under	Japanese	GAAP;	however,	they	are	presented	as	a	

deduction from revenue under IFRS. With regard to the depreciation 

method of property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets), 

the Group mainly adopted the declining-balance method under 

Japanese	GAAP;	however,	it	has	adopted	the	straight-line	method	

under IFRS.

Under Japanese GAAP, we estimated substantially the amortiza-

tion	period	and	goodwill	was	amortized	over	the	years	estimated;	

however, goodwill is not amortized under IFRS.

The calculation of retirement benefit liabilities under Japanese 

GAAP is recalculated under IFRS. With regard to actuarial gains 

(losses) under Japanese GAAP, the Group amortized them from the 

year following the year in which they occurred, over certain years 

determined based on the employee’s average remaining service 

period Under IFRS, the Group recognizes all of the actuarial gains 

(losses) as other comprehensive income at the time of occurrence.

(5) Reconciliation of Financial Costs
The calculation of retirement benefit liabilities under Japanese GAAP 

is recalculated based in accordance with IFRS.

Interest costs and the expected return on plan assets in retire-

ment benefit expenses were recognized in the cost of sales or 

“Selling, general and administrative expenses” under Japanese 

GAAP;	however,	they	are	recognized	in	financial	costs	under	IFRS.

(6) Adjustment to Exchange Differences on Translation 
of Foreign Operations

Under Japanese GAAP, the Group recognized goodwill in JTIH 

Group in U.S. dollars, the functional currency of JTIH, and translated 

it into Japanese Yen, the presentation currency of the Group. 

However, under IFRS, the Group recognizes the goodwill in JTIH 

Group in the functional currency of each subsidiary under the JTIH 

Group, and translates them into Japanese Yen, the presentation 

currency of the Group.

(7) Adjustment to Actuarial Gains or Losses
With regard to actuarial gains or losses from the calculation of retire-

ment benefit liabilities under Japanese GAAP, the Group amortized 

them from the following year in which they occurred, over a certain 

years determined based on the employee’s average remaining ser-

vice period. Under IFRS, all of the actuarial gains or losses are recog-

nized as other comprehensive income at the time of occurrence.

Reconciliation of Cash Flows (Fiscal year ended March 31, 
2011) (the latest fiscal year of consolidated financial state-
ments prepared under Japanese GAAP)
There are no material differences between the consolidated state-

ments of cash flows that are disclosed in accordance with Japanese 

GAAP and the consolidated statements of cash flows that are  

disclosed in accordance with IFRS.
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A. Quarterly Information for the Year ended March 31, 2012

Millions of yen
Q1  

From April 1, 2011 to 
June 30, 2011

Q2  
From April 1, 2011 to 
September 30, 2011

Q3  
From April 1, 2011 to 

December 31, 2011

2012(Note 3)  
From April 1, 2011 to 

March 31, 2012

Revenue ¥ 588,176 ¥1,277,504 ¥1,947,123 ¥2,547,060
Profit before income taxes for the quarter 47,460 157,890 276,903 345,028
Profit for the quarter 22,707 95,875 160,424 227,399
Earnings per share for the quarter (yen) 2,384.80 10,069.35 16,848.66 23,882.77

Q1  
From April 1, 2011 to 

June 30, 2011

Q2  
From July 1, 2011 to 
September 30, 2011

Q3  
From October 1, 2011 
to December 31, 2011

Q4(Note 3) 
From January 1, 2012 

to March 31, 2012

Earnings per share for the quarter (yen) ¥2,384.80 ¥7,684.55 ¥6,779.30 ¥7,034.11

(Note 1) Quarterly information from the second quarter to the fourth quarter is provided based on the cumulative differences method.
(Note 2) Quarterly information for the year ended March 31, 2012 is prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP, and figures less than ¥1 million are rounded to the nearest million yen.
(Note 3) The audit or review is not conducted for the year ended March 31, 2012 and the fourth quarter by auditors.

B. Important Lawsuits

The important lawsuits of the Group are as stated in “39. Contingencies” and “40. Subsequent Event” in the note to consolidated financial 

statements.

Consolidated Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
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To the Board of Directors of 

Japan Tobacco Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of Japan Tobacco Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries (the 

“Company”) as of March 31, 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash 

flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in conformity 

with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial state-

ments. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 

of Japan Tobacco Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2012, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash 

flows for the year then ended in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has announced the Board of Directors’ resolution, held April 

13, 2012, concerning share split, adoption of share unit system and associated partial amendment to the articles of incorporation. Our opinion 

is not qualified in respect of this matter.

June 22, 2012

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Financial Data 159

Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business 168

International Tobacco Business 179

Pharmaceutical Business 181

Food Business 182

Number of Employees 183 

Financial data under Japanese GAAP for the years though the fiscal year ended March 2010 are basically 
rounded down.

Financial data under Japanese GAAP for the fiscal years ended March 2011 and 2012 and under IFRS for 
the same years are rounded off to the nearest million yen.

Since the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, the accounting method has been revised to deduct the amount 
equivalent to the amount of tobacco excise taxes from net sales and cost of sales. IFRS has been applied to JT 
International S.A. and other foreign subsidiaries. Accordingly, figures for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, 
based on the retroactive application of the accounting revision are disclosed.
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Financial Data

Net Sales Including  
Excise Taxes/ 
Gross Turnover

Net Sales Excluding  
Excise Taxes/Revenue

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012 

m m Total 4,664.5 4,637.6 4,769.3 6,409.7 6,832.3 6,134.6 6,222.7 6,621.9 6,212.2 6,610.8

Japanese Domestic 3,491.4 3,405.2 3,416.2 3,362.3 3,200.4 3,042.8 3,103.4 3,518.0

International 792.7 881.1 999.6 2,639.9 3,118.3 2,633.6 2,678.1 2,670.6

Pharmaceutical Business 57.6 49.2 45.4 49.0 56.7 44.0 47.0 50.6

Food Business 265.3 278.3 286.5 336.4 435.9 394.6 375.0 367.0

Other Business 57.2 23.5 21.4 21.8 20.7 19.5 19.2 15.7

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012 

m m Total 2,013.9 2,008.7 2,051.0 2,587.3 2,827.1 2,514.1 2,432.6 2,547.1 2,059.4 2,033.8

Japanese Domestic 1,203.8 1,173.2 1,147.2 1,122.2 1,070.3 1,016.7 1,027.9 1,147.5 665.8 646.2

International 429.7 484.3 550.3 1,057.7 1,243.3 1,039.1 963.5 966.3 963.5 966.3

Pharmaceutical Business 57.6 49.2 45.4 49.0 56.7 44.0 47.0 50.6 44.1 47.4

Food Business 265.3 278.3 286.5 336.4 435.9 394.6 375.0 367.0 367.5 359.4

Other Business 57.2 23.5 21.4 21.8 20.7 19.5 19.2 15.7 18.5 14.6

Adjusted Net Sales Excluding Excise Taxes*1/Core revenue*2

 Japanese Domestic 648.8 615.9 617.9 596.8 632.2 611.9

 International 1,080.8 906.7 887.8 894.6 887.8 894.6

*1  Excluding the imported tobacco, domestic duty free, the China Division and other peripheral businesses in the Japanese domestic tobacco business, in addition to the distribution, 
contract manufacturing and other peripheral businesses in the international tobacco business

*2  Excluding revenue from distribution business of imported tobacco, in the Japanese domestic, in addition to distribution, contract manufacturing and other peripheral business in 
the International tobacco.

SG&A Expenses

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m SG&A 677.4 596.6 592.6 750.2 914.1 815.5 788.3 786.2

 Personnel*1 183.9 150.8 158.5 206.0 231.5 216.0 217.1 222.6

 Advertising and General Publicity 27.4 23.9 23.4 22.9 25.6 21.9 20.9 20.4

 Sales Promotion 140.1 142.1 128.0 163.6 162.3 143.7 140.8 141.2

 R&D 40.4 37.5 41.2 45.1 47.2 49.6 53.3 53.6

 Depreciation 54.2 53.4 57.4 80.3 113.0 72.5 60.9 56.5

*1 Personnel expense is the sum of compensation, salaries, allowances, provision for retirement benefits, statutory benefits, employee bonuses and accrual of employee bonuses
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(Years ended March 31) 2011 2012

m SG&A 727.1 733.2

 Advertising and General Publicity 21.4 21.5

 Sales Promotion 131.5 128.0

 Freight and storage cost 28.0 27.9

 Commissions 42.2 41.0

 Employee benefits expenses 231.2 235.1

 R&D 48.9 51.5

 Depreciation and amortization 61.7 58.5

 Impairment losses 6.2 7.0

 Regulatory fine in Canada 12.8 —

 Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets and  
 investment properties 10.0 11.5

 Cooperation fee payment to leaf farmers  
 for termination of farming — 12.5

 Others 133.2 138.7

R&D Expenses

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m R&D 40.5 37.5 41.2 45.1 47.2 49.6 53.3 53.6 48.9 51.5

 Japanese Domestic 16.1 15.1 15.1 15.8 17.7 18.9 19.5 20.2 19.1 20.0

 International 2.1 0.9 1.3 3.3 3.8 6.1 5.0 5.2 5.0 5.2

 Pharmaceutical Business 20.5 19.9 23.4 24.4 23.8 23.1 27.2 26.7 23.4 24.9

 Food Business 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.7 1.1 0.7 0.8 0.6 0.8 0.6

Note:  R&D expense in FY3/2005 includes expenses posted as manufacturing cost 
The aforementioned research and development expenses includes 0.7 billion yen (FY3/2012; IFRS) relating to basic research not affiliated to any segment (plant biotechnology 
related research, etc.) and conducted by JT corporate division.

EBITDA/ 
Adjusted EBITDA

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA 400.1 433.3 464.6 602.0 646.2 526.7 542.6 581.1 522.0 577.1

 Japanese Domestic 296.0 305.7 326.4 306.7 272.2 257.6 257.7 272.5 247.2 262.3

 International 65.4 94.0 112.6 270.7 337.9 277.6 293.0 312.6 277.9 314.8

 Pharmaceutical Business 5.4 (1.8) (8.1) (6.2) 4.8 (9.6) (13.3) (12.3) (9.8) (10.0)

 Food Business 7.9 11.8 12.0 8.3 17.0 14.4 17.3 21.5 17.7 20.0

 Other Business 26.8 22.1 21.5 22.0 13.1 13.3 (12.1) (13.3) (11.0) (9.8)

Note:  EBITDA = operating income + depreciation and amortization 
Adjusted EBITDA = operating profit + depreciation + amortization of intangible fixed assets + impairment losses on goodwill ± restructuring-related income and costs 
Following the application of the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (ASBJ Statement No. 17) from FY3/2011, the 
allocation of capital expenditures to each segment has been partially revised. Thus, from FY3/2011, “Other Business” means “Others /Elimination and corporate.”

SG&A Expenses 
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Operating Income

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Operating Income 273.3 306.9 331.9 430.5 363.8 296.5 333.2 374.7 401.3 459.2

 Japanese Domestic 215.8 220.0 245.3 222.3 188.2 198.7 212.9 229.6 202.3 209.3

 International 44.4 71.0 81.0 205.3 174.7 136.9 164.1 185.3 225.9 252.4

 Pharmaceutical Business 1.8 (5.0) (11.2) (9.6) 1.0 (13.5) (17.4) (16.1) (13.3) (13.5)

 Food Business 1.9 6.3 6.7 0.6 (11.4) (13.6) (9.4) (6.3) (3.6) 2.0

 Other Business 10.4 8.6 9.3 10.4 9.6 10.5 (16.9) (17.9) (9.9) 9.0

Note:  Following the application of the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (ASBJ Statement No. 17) from FY3/2011, the 
allocation of capital expenditures to each segment has been partially revised. Thus, from FY3/2011, “Other business” means “Others/Elimination and corporate.”

Non-Operating Income  
and Expenses

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012  

m Non-Operating Income and Expenses (3.1) (9.1) (19.9) (67.8) (56.2) (41.1) (20.2) (11.9)

 Non-Operating Income 15.9 12.6 16.0 21.5 30.3 15.6 12.0 16.2

  Financial Income*1 3.3 5.9 12.1 13.4 12.2 6.9 3.0 4.3

 Non-Operating Expenses 19.0 21.7 35.9 89.4 86.5 56.7 32.2 28.1

  Financial Expense*2 5.1 5.7 6.9 42.0 51.3 26.3 17.3 14.3

*1  Financial income is the sum of interest income, interest on marketable securities, interest on investment securities, dividend income, profit on redemp-
tion of securities, etc.

*2 Financial expense is the sum of interest expense, bond interest paid, loss of redemption of securities, etc.

Recurring Profit

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Recurring Profit 270.2 297.8 312.0 362.6 307.5 255.3 313.1 362.7
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Financial Income  
and Expenses (IFRS)

(Years ended March 31) 2011 2012

m Financial Income 9.9 5.6
m Financial Expenses 25.9 23.4

Extraordinary Profit  
and Loss

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Extraordinary Profit and Loss (168.9) 3.1 25.1 9.9 (45.4) 20.6 (31.9) (17.7)
 Extraordinary Profit 79.2 65.4 50.8 68.9 48.3 58.5 20.6 41.1
  Gain on Sale of Property,  
  Plant and Equipment 73.3 60.0 47.5 66.7 46.4 32.3 12.2 30.3

 Extraordinary Loss 248.2 62.3 25.7 59.0 93.8 37.8 52.5 58.8
  Loss on Sale of Property,  
  Plant and Equipment 2.2 24.8 3.1 3.2 2.1 4.2 0.9 1.0

  Loss on Disposal of Property,  
  Plant and Equipment 13.6 12.2 10.4 6.3 11.5 6.3 7.3 8.5

  Business Restructuring Costs 224.8 8.0 — 6.4 24.3 9.9 4.3 8.7
  Impairment Loss 0.1 11.4 2.7 3.8 16.3 6.0 5.3 4.2
  Introduction Costs for Vending  
  Machines with Adult  
  Identification Functions — 0.1 5.7 12.8 13.4 — — —

  Regulatory fine in Canada — — — — — — 12.8 —
  Write-down of Investment Securities — — — 11.1 7.0 1.4 1.0 —
  Damages related to the  
  Great East Japan Earthquake — — — — — — 11.0 15.2

Net Income/Profit (attribut-
able to owners of the parent 
company)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
m m Net Income/Profit (attributable to owners of 

the parent company) 62.5 201.5 210.7 238.7 123.4 138.4 145.4 227.4 243.3 320.9
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Earnings per Share (EPS)/  
Basic Earning per Share

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m EPS/Basic Earning per Share 32,089 105,084 22,001 24,916 12,880 14,451 15,184 23,883 25,414 33,701

Diluted EPS 12,879 14,448 15,179 23,873 25,407 33,688

Note: A 5 for 1 stock split went into effect on April 1, 2006

Return on Equity (ROE)/ 
ROE (attributable to owners 
of the parent company)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc ROE/ROE (attributable to owners of the 

parent company) 4.2 12.4 11.3 11.8 6.8 8.6 9.3 15.0 15.3 20.3

Return on Assets (ROA)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc ROA 9.2 10.4 10.7 10.5 8.4 7.8 9.1 10.8 10.9 12.7

Note: ROA = (Operating Income + Financial Income) / Total Assets [average of beginning and ending figure for the period]
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IFRSOperating income margin/ 
Operating profit margin

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc Operating income margin/ 

Operating profit margin 5.9 6.6 7.0 6.7 5.3 4.8 13.7 14.7 19.5 22.6

Free Cash Flow (FCF)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m FCF 269.4 145.5 223.0 (1,493.7) 240.1 250.7 299.7 452.4 300.4 451.3

Note:  FCF = (cash flow from operating activities + cash flow from investing activities) excluding the following items:  
From “cash flow from operating activities”: Dividends received / interest received and its tax effect / interest paid and its tax effect  
From “cash flow from investing activities”: Cash outflow from purchase of marketable securities / proceeds from sales of marketable securities / cash outflow from purchases of 
investment securities / proceeds from sales of investment securities / others (but not business-related investment securities, which are included in the investment securities item)

Capital Expenditure  
(CAPEX)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Capital Expenditure 85.1 98.9 102.1 129.5 134.2 137.1 146.0 119.5 148.4 119.0

 Japanese Domestic 46.4 75.0 55.2 57.2 46.5 42.6 56.0 57.2 55.4 56.2

 International 18.7 24.9 32.0 48.4 59.7 64.5 60.9 39.1 60.9 39.1

 Pharmaceutical Business 3.1 2.1 3.0 4.2 3.4 2.6 2.9 2.9 6.2 3.9

 Food Business 7.3 4.5 4.8 6.0 23.2 23.4 25.0 15.5 25.0 15.4

 Other Business 10.6 19.3 8.0 14.7 1.1 0.3 1.2 4.7 0.9 4.3

Note:  Following the application of the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (ASBJ Statement No. 17) from FY3/2011, the 
allocation of capital expenditures to each segment has been partially revised. Thus, from FY3/2011, “Other Business” means “Others /Elimination and corporate.”
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Depreciation & 
Amortization

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Depreciation & Amortization 126.7 126.4 132.6 171.5 282.4 230.1 209.4 206.4 118.0 118.8

 Japanese Domestic 80.1 85.6 81.0 84.3 84.0 52.4 44.8 42.9 42.8 39.6

 International 21.0 23.0 31.5 65.3 163.1 140.7 129.0 127.3 51.6 55.2

 Pharmaceutical Business 3.6 3.2 3.0 3.3 3.8 3.9 4.1 3.8 3.5 3.5

 Food Business 5.9 5.5 5.3 7.6 28.4 28.1 26.7 27.8 16.5 17.5

 Other Business 16.3 13.4 12.2 11.6 3.4 2.7 4.8 4.6 3.5 3.1

Note:  Depreciation & Amortization = Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets + Amortization of Intangible Fixed Assets +  
Amortization of Long-Term Prepaid Expenses + Amortization of Goodwill 
IFRS=depreciation of tangible fixed assets + amortization of intangible fixed assets 
Following the application of the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (ASBJ Statement No. 17) from FY3/2011, the 
allocation of capital expenditures to each segment has been partially revised. Thus, from FY3/2011, “Other Business” means “Others /Elimination and corporate.”

Total Assets

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Total Assets 2,982.0 3,037.3 3,364.6 5,087.2 3,879.8 3,872.5 3,544.1 3,472.6 3,655.2 3,667.0

 Japanese Domestic 1,298.2 1,131.7 1,180.3 847.1 788.6 782.2

 International 838.5 994.8 1,275.0 3,804.4 2,700.0 2,765.9

 Pharmaceutical Business 117.8 117.9 106.1 111.4 111.5 114.0

 Food Business 141.6 141.4 158.8 353.2 332.6 311.1

 Other Business 197.0 194.4 249.6 90.0 87.4 85.0

Total Equity and Equity 
Ratio/Total Equity and 
Equity Ratio (attributable to 
owners of the parent 
company)
(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Total Equity 1,498.2 1,762.5 2,024.6 2,154.6 1,624.2 1,723.2 1,571.8 1,610.5 1,601.3 1,714.6
mc Equity Ratio/Total Equity and Equity Ratio 

(attributable to owners of the parent 
company) 50.2 58.0 58.3 40.8 40.0 42.6 42.2 44.0 41.7 44.6

Note: Total Equity in FY3/2005, FY3/2006 excludes Minority Interests
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Book Value per Share (BPS) 
/Book Value per Share 
(attributable to owners of 
the parent company)

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
m m BPS/Book Value per Share (attributable to 

owners of the parent company) 781,813 919,780 204,617 216,707 162,087 172,139 156,997 160,571 160,180 171,617

Notes:  Total Equity in FY3/2005, FY3/2006 excludes Minority Interests 
A 5 for 1 stock split went into effect on April 1, 2006

Liquidity and  
Interest-Bearing Debt

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m Liquidity*1 863.6 979.6 1,185.6 218.8 169.8 167.3 276.6 431.2 276.6 431.2
m Interest-Bearing Debt*2*3 230.7 216.6 219.2 1,389.2 996.0 874.3 708.7 505.2 709.1 502.4

*1 Liquidity = Cash and deposits + Marketable securities + Commercial Paper received under repurchase agreement
*2 Interest-Bearing Debt = Short-term Debt (includes current portion of Bonds and current portion of Long-term Debt) + Bonds + Long-term Debt
*3 Interest-Bearing Debt includes lease obligation from FY3/2009

Debt / Equity Ratio

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc Debt / Equity Ratio 0.15 0.12 0.11 0.67 0.64 0.53 0.47 0.33 0.46 0.31
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(Times)Interest Coverage Ratio

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc Interest Coverage Ratio 54.2 54.9 49.9 10.6 7.3 11.5 19.4 26.5 15.9 19.9

Note: Interest Coverage Ratio = (Operating Income + Financial Income) / Financial Expense

Annual Dividends  
per Share

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Annual Dividends per Share 13,000 16,000 4,000 4,800 5,400 5,800 6,800 10,000

(Retroactively Adjusted) 2,600 3,200 

Note: A 5 for 1 stock split went into effect on April 1, 2006

Dividend Payout Ratio on  
a Consolidated Basis

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012
mc  mc Dividend Payout Ratio 40.5 15.2 18.2 19.3 41.9 40.1 44.8 41.9 26.8 29.7

mc Goodwill amortization adjusted*1 18.0 19.0 22.6 23.6 27.9 30.7

*1 Payout Ratio before goodwill amortization
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Japanese Domestic Tobacco Business

Total Domestic Market

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Total Domestic Market 292.6 285.2 270.0 258.5 245.8 233.8 210.2 197.5

Source: Tobacco Institute of Japan

JT Sales Volume and  
JT Share

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m JT Sales Volume 213.2 189.4 174.9 167.7 159.9 151.8 134.6 108.4
mc JT Share 72.9 66.4 64.8 64.9 65.1 64.9 64.1 54.9

Sales Volume of  
China Division and  
Domestic Duty-Free

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Sales Volume 5.1 3.2 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.6 3.6 3.7

Note: China Division covers China, Hong Kong, and Macau markets
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Top 20 Selling Products in Japan by Market Share (FY ended March 31, 2012)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Mild Seven 32.9 32.2 31.6 32.0 32.3 32.1 31.8 29.5
m Seven Stars*1 8.3 8.7 9.0 8.9 9.4 9.9 9.4 7.4
m Caster 6.6 6.3 6.0 5.9 5.9 5.7 5.4 4.2
m Cabin 4.2 4.0 4.0 4.0 3.8 3.9 3.5 2.7
m Peace 2.9 2.9 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.7 2.5 1.8
m Pianissimo*2 — 2.8 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.6 2.6
m Hope 2.1 2.1 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.9 1.4
m Frontier 1.9 1.7 1.5 1.4 1.2 1.1 1.0 0.4
m Other Brands 14.0 5.7 4.8 4.7 4.5 4.4 5.2 5.1

*1 Retrospective of market share figures for “Alaska Menthol,” which were integrated into Seven Stars family in October 2011
*2 Retrospective of market share figures for “icene” and “Lucia,” which were integrated into Pianissimo family in January 2010

Product Brand Owner Share (%)

1 SEVEN STARS JT 4.3 
2 MILD SEVEN SUPER LIGHTS JT 4.0 
3 MILD SEVEN LIGHTS JT 3.3 
4 MILD SEVEN ONE 100's BOX JT 3.2 
5 MILD SEVEN JT 3.0 
6 MILD SEVEN EXTRA LIGHTS JT 2.7 
7 MARLBORO LIGHTS MENTHOL BOX PMJ 2.6 
8 ECHO JT 1.8 
9 KENT 1 100'S BOX BAT 1.8 
10 CASTER MILD JT 1.8 
11 MARLBORO KS BOX PMJ 1.7 
12 SEVEN STARS BOX JT 1.7 
13 MILD SEVEN ONE JT 1.6 
14 CASTER ONE 100'S BOX JT 1.5 
15 CABIN MILD BOX JT 1.5 
16 WAKABA JT 1.4 
17 MARLBORO GOLD ORIGINAL BOX PMJ 1.4 
18 MARLBORO ICE BLAST KS BOX PMJ 1.3 
19 LARK MILD KS BOX PMJ 1.2 
20 MILD SEVEN EXTRA LIGHTS BOX JT 1.2 

Source: Tobacco Institute of Japan
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Market Share by Tar Level  
(Market Share in Top 100 Sales Products)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m 1 mg 18.4 19.9 21.2 22.7 24.0 24.3 23.6 24.7
m 2–3 mg 6.7 7.4 7.0 8.2 8.5 8.6 8.7 8.2
m 4–6 mg 23.1 23.2 23.4 23.0 22.4 21.0 20.8 18.9
m 7–13 mg 39.8 37.7 36.3 34.1 32.9 33.6 33.8 35.2
m 14 mg or Higher 12.1 11.9 12.1 12.1 12.2 12.5 13.2 13.0

Source: Tobacco Institute of Japan

Market Share by Tar Level  
(JT Products)

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m 1 mg 8.5 11.7 12.9 14.0 14.7 15.1 15.4 13.2
m 2–3 mg 5.9 6.6 6.7 6.7 6.9 7.0 7.1 5.6
m 4–6 mg 16.5 14.5 13.9 14.2 14.2 13.6 12.8 10.8
m 7–13 mg 30.0 22.0 19.7 18.5 17.8 17.7 16.8 13.6
m 14 mg or Higher 12.0 11.6 11.6 11.5 11.5 11.5 12.0 11.7

Menthol Products  
Market Share

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
mc Menthol Products*1 16.4 17.2 17.4 19.3 19.8 19.8 21.0 22.0
mc Menthol JT Products 8.9 7.0 6.8 7.4 7.6 8.0 8.3 5.8

*1 Market Share in top 100 sales products
Source: Tobacco Institute of Japan
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Products Priced at ¥440 or  
more per pack and  
D-spec Products  
Market Share

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

mc
JT Products Priced at ¥440 or  
more per pack*1 11.8 6.3 5.5 5.4 5.2 5.1 9.3 13.4

mc D-spec Products*2 0.93 1.72 4.04 4.59 4.96 5.21 10.7 8.5

*1 ~ Jun. 06: ¥300 or more, Jul. 06 ~ Sep. 10 ¥320 or more
*2  D-spec products, reduced odor segment products (known as “Less Smoke Smell” products abroad), incorporate the company’s odorreducing technol-

ogy in response to customer demands for a reduction in the unpleasant smell of smoke

JT Net Sales per  
Thousand Cigarettes/ 
Revenue per 
Thousand Cigarettes

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
mc JT Net Sales Per Thousand Cigarettes/

Revenue per Thousand Cigarettes 3,941 3,864 3,990 4,057 4,057 4,056 4,582 5,502

Note: JT Net sales per thousand cigarettes/Revenue per thousand cigarettes =  (retail price sales – retailer margins – consumption tax  
– national tobacco excise tax – local tobacco excise tax  
– national tobacco special excise tax) / sales volume X 1,000

Composition of  
JT Products by Price Range

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Products Priced at ¥440 or more per pack*1 16.1 9.5 8.5 8.3 8.0 7.9 14.7 24.3
m Products Priced at ¥410 per pack*2 28.7 30.7 63.2 78.7 79.2 79.5 74.6 69.1
m Products Priced at ¥400 or less per pack*3 55.1 59.8 28.3 13.1 12.8 12.6 10.7 6.6

*1 ~ Jun. 06: ¥300 or more, Jul. 06 ~ Sep. 10: ¥320 or more
*2 ~ Jun. 06: ¥280, Jul 06 ~ Sep. 10: ¥300
*3 ~ Jun. 06: ¥270 or less, Jul. 06 ~ Sep. 10: ¥290 or less
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New Product Launches and Sales Area Expansion
Year ended March 31, 2012 (7 products)  
(D-spec: three products, Menthol: three products, Tar 1mg: one product, Products at ¥440 or more per pack: three products)

Date Product D-spec Menthol
Tar 

(mg)
Nicotine  

(mg)
Price Sales Region

Aug-11 Seven Stars Cutting Menthol  7 0.6 440 Nationwide

Nov-11 Pianissimo ViV Menthol   6 0.5 440 Nationwide

Dec-11 Zerostyle Bitter Leaf 410 Nationwide

Jan-12 Mild Seven Style Plus 6  6 0.5 410 Nationwide

Jan-12 Mild Seven Style Plus One  1 0.1 410 Nationwide

Feb-12 The Peace 10 1.0 1,000 Nationwide

Mar-12 Mild Seven Impact Menthol Box  5 0.4 410 Nationwide

Number of  
New Products Launches

Number of  
JT Cigarette Products

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Number of New Products Launches 18 14 9 3 6 7 8 7

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Number of JT Cigarette Products 95 117 106 94 96 98 96 79
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Smoking Rate (by age)

(At the time of survey) 2004 2005 2006(*) 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
mc All Adults 29.4 29.2 26.3 26.0 25.7 24.9 23.9 21.7
mc Male 46.9 45.8 41.3 40.2 39.5 38.9 36.6 33.7
mc Female 13.2 13.8 12.4 12.7 12.9 11.9 12.1 10.6

Note: The survey method, along with the sample number, was modified from 2006, resulting in a lack of comparability with results prior to 2006
Source: JT “Japan Smoking Rate Survey”

(Survey in 2011) Total 20s 30s 40s 50s over-60s

m Male 33.7 35.2 40.6 39.2 40.9 23.9
m Female 10.6 13.5 14.7 13.7 11.9 6.4

Source: JT “Japan Smoking Rate Survey”
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List price ¥400 per pack List price ¥410 per pack List price ¥440 per pack

Consumption Tax ¥ 19.0 4.76% ¥ 19.5 4.76% ¥ 21.0 4.76%

Retailer’s Margin ¥ 40.0 10.00% ¥ 41.0 10.00% ¥ 44.0 10.00%

Total Tobacco Excise Tax ¥244.9 61.22% ¥244.9 59.73% ¥244.9 55.65%

  National Tobacco  
 Excise Tax ¥106.0 26.51% ¥106.0 25.86% ¥106.0 24.10%

 Local Tobacco Excise Tax ¥122.4 30.61% ¥122.4 29.86% ¥122.4 27.83%

  National Tobacco Special  
 Excise Tax ¥ 16.4 4.10% ¥ 16.4 4.00% ¥ 16.4 3.73%

JT’s Proceeds ¥ 96.1 24.02% ¥104.6 25.51% ¥130.2 29.58%

Breakdown of Price Levels per Cigarettes Package

All tobacco products sold in Japan are subject to the national tobacco 
excise tax, the national tobacco special excise tax, and local tobacco 
excise tax. The national tobacco excise tax is set at ¥5,302 per thou-
sand cigarettes, the national tobacco special excise tax at ¥820 per 
thousand cigarettes, and the local tobacco excise tax is set at ¥6,122 
per thousand cigarettes. In addition, under the Consumption Tax Law, 

Taxation

a 5% consumption tax is imposed as with other goods and services. 
All tobacco excise taxes and consumption tax are imposed not only for 
tobacco products manufactured in Japan but also for imported tobacco 
products. From April 1987, no customs duties apply to imported 
tobacco products.

Changes of Tobacco Excise Taxes

Item

Tobacco Consumption Tax Tobacco Excise Tax

Apr-1985 May-1986 Apr-1989 Apr-1997 Dec-1998 May-1999 Jul-2003 Jul-2006 Oct-2010

Ad valorem
(%)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Ad  
valorem*

(%)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

Specific
(¥/1,000 

units)

National Tobacco Excise 
Tax 23.0 582 23.0 1,032 3,126 3,126 3,126 2,716 3,126 3,552 5,302

National Tobacco Special  
 Excise Tax — — — — — — 820 820 820 820 820

Local Tobacco Excise 
Tax 22.4 550 22.4 1,000 3,126 3,126 3,126 3,536 3,946 4,372 6,122

 Total Excise Tax 45.4 1,132 45.4 2,032 6,252 6,252 7,072 7,072 7,892 8,744 12,244

 Consumption Tax — — — — 3.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Tobacco Regulation  
 Changes

•  Tobacco Consumption  
Tax was introduced

* ¥1,000 was deducted from 
tax base for Ad valorem

•  Tobacco Consumption  
Tax was increased

•  Consumption 
Tax was 
introduced

•  Tobacco 
Consumption  
Tax was 
renamed 
Tobacco 
Excise Tax

•  Consumption 
Tax was 
increased

•  National 
Tobacco 
Special Excise 
Tax was 
introduced

•  Review of 
budget 
allocations in 
line with a 
revision  
of laws

•  Tobacco 
Excise Tax 
was increased

•  Tobacco 
Excise Tax 
was increased

•  Tobacco 
Excise Tax 
was increased

(Reference)

Retail Price of  
 Mild Seven per pack ¥200 ¥220 ¥220 ¥230 ¥250 ¥250 ¥270 ¥300 ¥410

Tax Incidence of
 Mild Seven per pack
 (incl. Consumption Tax) 56.7% 59.7% 59.7% 59.1% 61.3% 61.3% 63.2% 63.1% 64.5%

Net sales 
excluding 
excise taxes

Net sales 
including  
excise taxes

Retail price
sales
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Tobacco Manufacturing System

Tobacco Manufacturing-related Factory Location
As of March 31, 2012

Domestic 
leaf tobacco

Customer

Threshing

Retailer

Drying

Packaging

Packing 
into a case

Rolling

Storing

Flavoring

International 
leaf tobacco

Cutting Blending

Leaf processing factory

Decompose leaves into 
mesophyll and vein.

Dry leaves to adjust 
moisture content 
appropriate for storing 
and ripening.

Pack cigarettes into 
parcels or cartons and 
cardboard boxes.

Pack dried-leaves in 
an appropriate portion 
for storing and 
transporting.

Roll cigarettes.

Ripen leaves for a 
certain period.

Add aromatic 
essences called top 
dressing.

Cut leaves into 
smaller pieces.

Blend several leaves.

Cigarette manufacturing factory

 Cigarette manufacturing factories: 6
 Other tobacco related factories: 4

Koriyama factory

Kita-Kanto factory
Tomobe factory

Kansai factory

Hiratsuka factory

Tokai factory

Hamamatsu factory

Okayama printing factory

Hofu factory (closed on March 31, 2012)

Kyushu factory

Number of Domestic  
Cigarette Manufacturing  
Factories

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Domestic Cigarette Manufacturing Factories 18 10 10 10 10 9 7 6
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Tobacco Sales System

JT

Customers

The Minister of 
Finance

Foreign Tobacco 
Companies

Registered 
Importers

approval

imports

licensing requirement for selling

approval

requirement for the approval of retail priceapproval
registration notification

requirement for the approval of retail price

registration requirement for registered importers

by way of wholesalers
or direct sales

registration for the wholesale

sales

direct sales
WholesalersRetailers

Number of  
Tobacco Retailers

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Tobacco Retailers 304 304 302 298 293 289 279 274

Source: Ministry of Finance

Number of Tobacco  
Vending Machines

(As of December 31) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

m Total Tobacco Vending Machines 622 616 565 520 424 405 367 322

Source: Japan Vending Machine Manufacturers Association
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Number of Tobacco  
Vending Machines  
(JT Tobacco Vending Machines)

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m JT Tobacco Vending Machines 226 243 228 207 196 185 150 103

Number of Domestic  
Tobacco Growers and  
Area under Domestic  
Leaf Tobacco Cultivation

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Number of Domestic Tobacco Growers 18 14 14 13 13 12 11 9
mc Area under Domestic Leaf Tobacco 

Cultivation 21 19 18 17 16 15 14 13

Volume of Domestic and  
International Leaf Tobacco  
Purchase

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Domestic 52 46 37 37 38 36 29 23

m International 85 39 60 68 73 71 58 53
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Value of Domestic Leaf  
Tobacco Purchase and  
Price per 1   kg

Leaf Tobacco Reappraisal  
Profit/Loss

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Amount 98.0 84.3 68.5 69.2 69.4 68.0 54.1 44.0
mc Price per 1   kg 1,862 1,801 1,818 1,833 1,803 1,859 1,849 1,865

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Leaf Tobacco Reappraisal (9.8) (9.5) 9.5 4.1 4.1 4.1 — —

Note: (  ) indicates reappraisal loss
Reappraisal of leaf tobacco was terminated in FY3/2007. Reversal of reappraisal loss was allocated evenly over three years.
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Tobacco Shipment Volume  
(by Brand)

Tobacco Shipment Volume  
(by Cluster)

(Years ended December 31) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total 212.4 220.3 240.1 385.6 452.3 434.9 428.4 425.7

 GFB Total 131.4 133.8 149.1 203.2 245.5 243.4 249.8 256.5

m   Winston 70.1 76.4 93.9 111.0 126.4 121.2 125.0 130.7

m   Camel 35.1 35.2 35.4 38.6 42.3 41.6 42.2 40.5

m   Mild Seven 17.2 17.5 17.5 16.8 18.8 18.2 19.3 18.9

m   Benson & Hedges 8.3 11.2 10.7 10.7 10.6

m   Silk Cut 3.9 5.2 4.8 4.4 4.0

m   LD 17.5 29.0 34.3 36.4 40.5

m   Sobranie 1.2 2.3 1.4 1.3 1.3

m   Glamour 5.9 10.3 11.1 10.7 10.0

m  Other Brands 81.0 86.5 91.0 182.4 206.8 191.5 178.6 169.3

Notes: Shipment volume in the China Division (China, Hong Kong, and Macau) has been excluded
 GFB in FY2004–2006: Winston, Camel, Mild Seven, Salem
 GFB after FY2006: Winston, Camel, Mild Seven, Benson & Hedges, Silk Cut, LD, Sobranie, Glamour
 FY2009  –: Total shipment volume includes cigars, pipe tobacco and snus, but excludes contract manufactured products

(Years ended December 31) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total 212.4 220.3 240.1
m  Asia 40.6 33.5 29.1
m  Europe 38.1 39.2 44.1
m  Americas 9.9 9.3 8.8
m  CIS & Others 123.8 138.3 158.0

Total 240.1 385.6 452.3 434.9 428.4 425.7
m  North & Central Europe 5.7 39.3 50.8 47.5 45.0 49.1
m  CIS+ 108.6 195.1 219.7 214.6 203.6 197.8
m  South & West Europe 40.1 55.2 64.0 64.5 63.2 60.8
m  Rest-of-the-World 85.7 95.9 117.7 108.4 112.7 118.0

Notes: Shipment volume in the China Division (China, Hong Kong and Macau) has been excluded
 FY2009  –: Total shipment volume includes cigars, pipe tobacco and snus, but excludes contract manufactured products

International Tobacco Business
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Number of International  
Factories

International Tobacco Manufacturing-related Factory Location

Tobacco Tax Structure (in Russia)

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m International Cigarette and 
OTP Manufacturing Factories 15 15 15 29 28 24 24 23

m Other Tobacco Related Factories 1 2 2 2 2 5 5 5

Net Sales per Thousand  
Cigarettes/ 
Core Revenue per 
Thousand Cigarettes

(Years ended December 31) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

m Net Sales per Thousand Cigarettes 18.6 19.9 19.7 20.8 23.6
m Core Net Sales per Thousand Cigarettes/

Core Revenue per Thousand Cigarettes 24.0 22.5 24.0 26.6

Notes: Net sales in the China Division (China, Hong Kong, and Macau) has been excluded
  Core net sales per thousand cigarettes/Core revenue per thousand cigarettes are based on total volume, including cigars, pipe tobacco and snus, but 

excluding contract manufactured products, and joint ventures. (the revenues of which are not included)

(RUB) 2010 2011 Change

Minimum Tax (ths.cg.) 250.00 360.00 44%

Ad valorem tax (to retail price) (%) 6.50% 7.00% 8%

Specific tax (ths. cg.) 205.00 280.00 37%

VAT (%) 18.00% 18.00% 0%

[To weighted average price per pack] (RUB) 2010 2011 Change

Weighted average retail price 25.30 30.04 19%

Ad valorem tax 1.64 2.10 28%

Specific tax 4.10 5.60 37%

VAT 3.86 4.58 19%

Weighted average retail price before tax 15.70 17.76 13%

Canada

USA

Brazil

Russia(Yelets,Lipetskaya Oblast)

Germany

RomaniaSerbia

Ukraine

Poland

Switzerland

Turkey

Russia(Moscow)
Russia(Leningradskaya Oblast)
Russia(Saint Petersburg)

Sweden

UK (Northern Ireland)

Andorra

TunisiaCanary

Kazakhstan(Almaty)

Jordan

Republic of Sudan(Khartoum)

South Sudan(Juba)

Tanzania
Malaysia

South Africa

Malawi

Kazakhstan(Shymkent) 
(Closed on May 31, 2012)

As of December 31, 2011
 Cigarette and OTP manufacturing factories
 Other tobacco related factories
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Clinical Development
(As of April 26, 2012)

Code 
(Generic Name)

Stage Key Indication Mechanism /dosage 
form

Characteristics Rights

JTK-303 
(elvitegravir)

In preparation 
for NDA filing 
of single-tablet 
regimen con-
taining JTK-303 
(Japan)

HIV infection Integrase inhibitor 
/oral

Integrase inhibitor which works by blocking 
integrase, an enzyme that is involved in the 
replication of HIV 

Gilead Sciences (U.S.) 
obtained the rights to 
develop and commercialize 
this compound worldwide, 
with the exception of Japan.
The company has submitted 
the single-tablet regimen 
containing JTK-303 (elvite-
gravir) to the U.S. Food and 
Drug Administration (F

JTT-705 
(dalcetrapib)

Phase 2 
(Japan)

Dyslipidemia CETP modulator/
oral

Decreases LDL and increases HDL by 
modulation of CETP activity -CETP: 
Cholesteryl E

Roche (Switzerland) 
obtained the rights to 
develop and commercialize 
the compound worldwide, 
with the exception of Japan.
>Development stage by 
Roche:  Phase 3 (note)

JTT-302 Phase 2 
(Overseas)

Dyslipidemia CETP inhibitor/
oral

Decreases LDL and increases HDL by 
inhibition of CETP

JTT-751 
(Ferric Citrate)

Phase 3 
(Japan)

Hyperphosphatemia Phosphate binder 
/oral

Decreases serum phosphorous level by 
binding phosphate derived from dietary in 
the gastrointestinal tract 

JT obtained the rights to 
develop and commercialize 
this compound in Japan 
from Keryx 
Biopharmaceuticals (U.S.)   
(Developed jointly with Torii)

JTT-851 Phase 2 
(Japan)  
Phase 1 
(Overseas)

Type 2 diabetes 
mellitus

G protein-coupled 
receptor 40 
agonist/oral

Decreases blood glucose by stimulation of 
glucose-dependent insulin secretion

JTZ-951 Phase 1 
(Japan)  
Phase 1 
(Overseas)

Anemia associated 
with chronic kidney 
disease

HIF-PHD inhibitor/
oral

Increases red blood cells by accelerat-
ing production of erythropoietin, an 
erythropoiesis-stimulating hormone, via 
inhibition of HIF-PHD.
–HIF-PHD: Hypoxia Inducible Factar-Prolyl 
Hydroxylase Domain containing protein

JTE-051 Phase 1 
(Overseas)

Autoimmune/
allergic diseases

Interleukin-2 
inducible T cell 
kinase inhibitor/
oral

Suppresses overactive immune response 
via inhibition of the signal to activate T cells 
related to immune response

JTE-052 Phase 1 
(Japan)

Autoimmune/
allergic diseases

JAK inhibitor/oral Suppresses overactive immune response 
via inhibitation of Janus kinase (JAK ) 
related to  immune signal.

*Based on the first dose
(note) On May 7, 2012, Roche announced the termination of the development of JTT-705 (dalcetrapib).

Pharmaceutical Business

R&D Expense on a  
Non-consolidated Basis

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m R&D Expense on a Non-consolidated Basis 20.1 19.3 21.9 22.9 23.2 21.9 21.7 22.3
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Food Business

Net Sales

Number of Marking /  
Combined Vending  
Machines

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2011 2012

m m Food Business 265.3 278.3 286.5 336.4 435.9 394.6 375.0 367.0 367.5 359.4

 Processed Foods 87.8 93.0 95.7 141.4 248.6 208.5 182.6 170.6 181.7 170.7

 Beverages 177.4 185.3 190.7 194.9 187.3 186.1 192.4 196.3 185.8 188.8

(Years ended March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Vending Machines 226,000 237,000 250,500 257,000 254,000 257,000 265,000 265,000
m  JT-Owned 44,500 40,500 38,000 35,500 32,000 33,000 33,000 35,000
m  Combined 54,000 61,500 66,000 71,500 76,500 82,000 83,000 84,000

Note:  Number of vending machines includes machines operated by JT’s affiliates and cup vending machines. Combined vending machines focus on JT 
brand beverages but also sell non-JT brand beverages
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Number of Employees / Subsidiaries and Affiliates

Number of Employees

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Total 32,640 31,476 33,428 47,459 47,977 49,665 48,472 48,529

 Tobacco Business 24,350

  Japanese Domestic 11,795 11,534 11,548 11,281 11,282 11,191 11,092

  International 11,943 12,401 22,324 23,227 24,751 23,902 24,237

 Pharmaceutical Business 1,566 1,532 1,554 1,569 1,616 1,634 1,664 1,693

 Food Business 5,357 5,232 7,084 11,169 10,975 11,143 10,864 10,646

 Other Business 706 604 461 441 429 352 — —

 Corporate 661 370 394 408 449 503 851 861
Note: Number of employees is counted at working basis, unless otherwise indicated

(As of March 31) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

m Number of Employees (parent company) 10,124 8,855 8,930 8,999 8,908 8,961 8,928 8,936

Number of Employees Based on Enrollment 
(parent company) 11,300 9,931 9,984 10,010 9,973 9,883 9,842 9,824

(As of December 31) 2004

JT International  
(Thousands of Employees)*1 12.0   

*1 From FY3/2006, the data is disclosed as those of international tobacco business

Status of subsidiaries and affiliates

Name Location
Capital  

(Millions of yen)
Principal business

Holding rate of Voting rights 
(%)

TS Network Co., Ltd. Taito-ku, Tokyo 460 Japanese domestic tobacco 74.5

JT Logistics Co., Ltd. Shibuya-ku,Tokyo 207 Japanese domestic tobacco 100

Japan Filter Technology Co.,Ltd. Shibuya-ku,Tokyo 461 Japanese domestic tobacco 87.6

Fuji Flavor Co., Ltd. Hamura-shi,Tokyo 196 Japanese domestic tobacco 100

JT Engineering Inc. Sumida-ku,Tokyo 200 Japanese domestic tobacco 100

JT International Holding B.V. Netherlands
thousands EUR 

1,380,018
International tobacco

100 
(100)

JT International S.A. Switzerland
thousands CHF 

1,215,425
International tobacco

100 
(100)

Gallaher Ltd. U.K.
thousands GBP 

172,495
International tobacco

100 
(100)

JTI Marketing and Sales CJSC Russia
thousands RUB 

108,700
International tobacco

100 
(100)

Liggett-Ducat CJSC Russia
thousands RUB 

260,366
International tobacco

100 
(100)

LLC Petro Russia
thousands RUB 

328,439
International tobacco

100 
(100)

JT International Germany Germany
thousands EUR 

37,394
International tobacco

100 
(100)

JTI Tütün Urunleri Sanayi A.S. Turkey
thousands TRY 

148,825
International tobacco

100 
(100)

JTI-Macdonald Corp. Canada
thousands CAD 

124,996
International tobacco

100 
(100)

Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Chuo-ku,Tokyo 5,190 Pharmaceutical 54.5

Akros Pharma Inc. U.S.A.
thousands USD 

1
Pharmaceutical

100 
(100)

JT Beverage Inc. Shinagawa-ku,Tokyo 90 Food 100

Japan Beverage Holdings Inc. Shinjuku-ku,Tokyo 500 Food 66.7

TableMark Co., Ltd. Chuo-ku,Tokyo 47,503 Food 100

Notes:  In addition to the above, JT has 221 consolidated subsidiaries and 11 companies accounted for by the equity method 
The figures in parentheses in the “Holding rate of voting rights" column are indirect holding rates included in the figures outside the parentheses.
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Common Stock
Note: A 5 for 1 stock split was completed on April 1, 2006

Authorized: 40,000,000

Issued: 10,000,000

Number of shareholders: 51,995

Administration of the Registry of Shareholders
The Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation
4-5, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo

Stock Exchange Listings
First Sections of Tokyo Stock Exchange
First Sections of Osaka Securities Exchange
First Sections of Nagoya Stock Exchange
Fukuoka Stock Exchange
Sapporo Securities Exchange

Note:  JT applied for delisting from the Nagoya Stock  Exchange, the Fukuoka Stock Exchange and the Sapporo Securities Exchange on April 16, 2012, and have delisted its share on 
May 28, 2012.

Principal Shareholders
Name Shares held

The Minister of Finance 5,001,335

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 226,192

State Street Bank and Trust Company  
(Standing Agent: Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation, Tokyo branch) 210,864

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 193,972

Mizuho Trust and Banking Co., Ltd., re-trusted to Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd.,  
as retirement benefit trust assets 169,000

State Street Bank and Trust Company  
(Standing Agent: Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., settlement division) 140,185

GOLDMAN, SACHS & Co. REG  
(Standing Agent: Goldman Sachs Japan Co., Ltd.) 119,353

NT RE GOVT OF SPORE INVT CORP P. LTD  
(Standing Agent: Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation, Tokyo branch) 118,306

The Chase Manhattan Bank 385036  
(Standing Agent: Mizuho Corporate Bank.,Ltd., settlement division) 88,944

Mellon Bank N.A. as Agent for Its Client Mellon Omnibus U.S. Pension  
(Standing Agent: Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., settlement division) 88,414

Composition of Shareholders
(Years ended March 31)

 Individuals and others
 Foreign institutions and others
 Other institutions
 Securities companies
 Financial institutions
 Japanese government

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Shareholder Information
(As of March 31, 2012)
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(Yen) (Points)

Offering JT Shares by Government
1st Offering

Method Offering by Bids Offering by non-Bids

Offer Price
(Pricing Date)

Bid Price: From ¥1,362,000 to ¥2,110,000 
Weighted Average Price: ¥1,438,000 
(August 29, 1994)

¥1,438,000 
(August 31, 1994)

Number of Offering shares 229,920 shares 164,356 shares

Offering Term From August 15 to 18, 1994 From September 2 to 8, 1994
Note:  The Listing date 

 October 27, 1994: First Sections of Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange, and Nagoya Stock Exchange 
 November 7, 1994: Other Stock Exchanges

2nd and 3rd Offering
2nd Offering 3rd Offering

Method Offering by Book-Building formula Offering by Book-Building formula

Offer Price 
(Pricing Date) 

Bid Price: ¥815,000 
(June 17, 1996)

¥843,000 
(June 7, 2004)

Number of Offering shares Japan: 237,390 shares, International: 35,000 shares  
(Total: 272,390 shares)

Japan:198,334 shares, International: 91,000 shares  
(Total: 289,334 shares)

Offering Term From June 18 to 19, 1996 From June 8 to 10, 2004

Note: Due to a 5 for 1 stock split on April 1, 2006, stock prices reflect post-split levels

All Time High
Dec. 21, 2007: ¥708,000

All Time Low
Apr. 7, 2003: ¥128,800

(Pre-split: ¥644,000)

Stock Price Range and Trading Volume

Reference
TOPIX (right)

JT Stock Data
(Years ended March 31)

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

High (Yen) 240,000 204,000 204,000 208,000 262,000 308,000 193,800 182,800 178,000 163,600 266,000 435,000 604,000 708,000 555,000 358,000 352,000 474,500

Low (Yen) 153,200 142,000 149,600 156,400 174,000 137,200 138,000 139,000 137,600 128,800 152,800 238,000 362,000 492,000 216,000 227,000 243,900 282,600

Trading volume  
 (shares) 207,678 162,657 330,107 362,349 315,892 567,207 448,631 464,116 500,302 596,318 1,213,156 1,412,073 6,119,498 5,660,892 7,699,734 6,589,843 5,795,471 6,239,955

Notes: 1. Highs, lows, and trading volume of shares refer to those on the First Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange
 2. Due to a 5 for 1 stock split on April 1, 2006, stock prices reflect post-split levels
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Members of the Board

Chairman of the Board

Hiroshi Kimura

Representative Directors

Mitsuomi Koizumi

Yasushi Shingai

Noriaki Okubo

Akira Saeki

Members of the Board

Hideki Miyazaki

Mutsuo Iwai

Motoyuki Oka*

Main Kohda*

*  Outside Directors under the Companies Act of Japan

Auditors

Standing Auditors

Hisao Tateishi*

Futoshi Nakamura

Auditors

Koichi Ueda*

Yoshinori Imai*

*  Outside Corporate Auditors under the Companies 
Act of Japan

Executive Officers

President

Mitsuomi Koizumi
Chief Executive Officer

Executive Duputy Presidents

Yasushi Shingai
Compliance, Strategy, HR, General Administration,  

Legal and Operation Review & Business Assurance

Noriaki Okubo
Phamaceutical and Food Business

Akira Saeki
President, Tobacco Business

Hideki Miyazaki
CSR, Finance and Communications

Senior Executive Vice Presidents

Kenji Iijima
Chief Marketing & Sales Officer, Tobacco Business

Ryoji Chijiiwa
Compliance and General Affairs

Executive Vice President

Shinichi Murakami
Head of Domestic Leaf Tobacco General Division, 

Tobacco Business

Senior Vice President

Kazuhito Yamashita
Chief Corporate, Scientific & Regulatory Affairs Officer, 

Tobacco Business

Masahiko Sato
Head of Manufacturing General Division,  

Tobacco Business

Atsuhiro Kawamata
Head of China Division, Tobacco Business

Junichi Haruta
Head of Central Pharmaceutical Research Institute, 

Pharmaceutical Business

Ryoko Nagata
Head of Beverages Business 

Masamichi Terabatake
Chief Strategy Officer

Yasuyuki Tanaka
Chief Communications Officer

Yasuyuki Yoneda
Chief R&D Officer, Tobacco Business

Junichi Fukuchi
Head of Tobacco Business Planning Division,  

Tobacco Business

Muneaki Fujimoto
President, Pharmaceutical Business

Chito Sasaki
Chief Human Resources Officer

Naohiro Minami
Chief Financial Officer

Haruhiko Yamada
Chief General Affairs Officer

Kiyohide Hirowatari
Chief Legal Officer

Note:  Job title of Executive Officers are outlined in 
accordance with HR personnel appointment on 
July 1, 2012.

Members of the Board, Auditors, and Executive Officers
(As of June 22, 2012)
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Head Office

2-1, Toranomon 2-chome,

Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-8422, Japan

Tel: 81-3-3582-3111

Fax: 81-3-5572-1441

URL: http://www.jti.co.jp/JTI_E/

Date of Establishment

April 1, 1985

Paid-in Capital

¥100 billion

Number of Employees

48,529 (Consolidated)

8,936 (Parent Company)

Domestic Sales Offices

Hokkaido (Hokkaido)

Sendai (Miyagi)

Tokyo (Tokyo)

Nagoya (Aichi)

Osaka (Osaka)

Hiroshima (Hiroshima)

Shikoku (Kagawa)

Fukuoka (Fukuoka)

17 other sales offices

Domestic Factories

Kita-Kanto (Tochigi)

Tokai (Shizuoka)

Kansai (Kyoto)

Kyushu (Fukuoka)

6 other factories

Domestic Laboratories

Leaf Tobacco Research Center (Tochigi)

Tobacco Science Research Center (Kanagawa)

Central Pharmaceutical Research Institute (Osaka)

JT International S.A.

1, Rue de la Gabelle CH-1211 Geneva 26, Switzerland

Tel: +41(0)22-7030-777

Fax: +41(0)22-7030-789

URL: http://www.jti.com/

Members of JT International Executive Committee

(As of June 1,2012)

Pierre de Labouchere
President and Chief Executive Officer

Mutsuo Iwai
Executive Vice-President and Deputy CEO

Thomas A. McCoy
Chief Operating Officer

Paul Bourassa
Senior Vice-President Legal, Regulatory Affairs & Compliance

Martin Braddock
Regional President, CIS, Romania, Adriatica

Stefan Fitz
Regional President,  Asia Pacific

Roland Kostantos
Senior Vice-President Finance, Information Technology and Chief Financial Officer

Paul Neumann
Senior Vice-President Global Leaf

Howard Parks
Senior Vice-President Consumer & Trade Marketing

Fadoul Pekhazis
Regional President, Middle East, Near East, Africa, Turkey and World Wide Duty Free

Eddy Pirard
Regional President, Western Europe

Michel Poirier
Regional President, Americas

Jörg Schappei
Senior Vice-President Human Resources

Bill Schulz
Senior Vice-President Global Supply Chain

Takehisa Shibayama
Senior Vice-President Research & Development

Vassilis Vovos
Regional President, Central Europe

Frits Vranken
Senior Vice-President Business Development and Corporate Communications

Corporate Data
( As of March 31, 2012)
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This annual report is printed using ink that contains less than 1% of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs).

Printed in Japan


	JT_AR12E-1
	JT_AR12E-2
	JT_AR12E-3
	JT_AR_E-4
	抽出された名称未設定のページ



